
FULL COUNCIL

Please note that this Meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the 
Authority’s Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes 

within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the 
Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are 

consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings as outlined above.  

Dear Sir/Madam

You are hereby summoned to attend a Meeting of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council to be held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER on Wednesday, 19th December, 
2018 at 5.30 pm being a Meeting for the following purposes.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal responsibility 
to declare any personal and prejudicial interest in 
respect of matters contained in this agenda in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government and Finance Act 1992 relating to Council 
Tax, the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct

Note:



(a) Members are reminded that they must identify 
the item number and subject matter that their 
interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting as a 
consequence of the disclosure of a prejudicial 
interest they must notify the Chair when they 
leave

OPEN SESSION

Minutes

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 
To approve as accurate the Minutes of the following 
Meetings:

3.a  Full Council: 7/11/2018 5 - 6

3.b  Full Council: 21/11/2018 7 - 12

3.c  Cabinet: 21/11/2018 13 - 16

3.d  Planning, Regulatory and Licensing: 28/11/2018 17 - 22

3.e  SACRE: 23/10/2018 23 - 28

3.f  Scrutiny : Governance, Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate Services: 20/11/2018

29 - 32

3.g  Scrutiny : Regeneration and Public Protection: 
27/11/2018

33 - 36

3.h  Scrutiny : Social Services: 23/10/2018 37 - 42

Committee Report(s)

4. Council Tax Base for 2019/20 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 43 - 46

5. Treasury Management Outturn Report 2017/18 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 47 - 58



6. Treasury Management Half Year Review Report 2018-
19 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 59 - 68

7. Review of Statement Of Licensing Policy Under the 
Gambling Act 2005 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 69 - 128

8. Five Year Revision Of Statement of Licensing Policy 
under the Licensing Act 2003 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 129 - 188

9. Representatives to Other Bodies 2018-2019 (Updated) 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 189 - 192

10. Draft Local Toilet Strategy 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

193 - 226

11. Housing Renewal Policy 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

227 - 268

12. Homelessness Strategy for 2019-2024 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

269 - 326

Information Report(s)

13. Annual Scrutiny Report – Chairperson Comments 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 327 - 334

CLOSED SESSION

14. Exempt 
In order for the following to be considered in private, it 
is suggested that the public be excluded from the 
Meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 14 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 
100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.



15. Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station - Local Transport Fund 2018 
- 2021 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

335 - 338

16. Social Care Future Provision Planning 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social Services 339 - 342

17. Domiciliary Care Pressure Costs 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social Services 343 - 348

RE-OPENED SESSION

Other Items

18. To deal with any other urgent business or 
correspondence 

19. To receive communications from Her / His  Worship the 
Mayor 

By order of the Mayor

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


MINUTES OF MEETING

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 7TH NOVEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors   C Tovey (Chair)
                      H Barrett (Vice-Chair)
Councillors   J Amos, A Barry, C J Barry, B Carter, D Chaplin, 
M Colbran, C Davies, J Davies, L Davies, E Galsworthy, 
D Hughes, D Isaac, S Jago, C T Jones, D Jones, L Mytton, 
K O'Neill, G Richards, D Roberts, T Rogers, D Sammon, 
T Skinner, W R Smith, J Thomas, G Thomas, I Thomas and 
S Thomas

Officers:
G W Chapman (Chief Executive), C Kennedy (Head of Legal 
and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer), E Cooper 
(Deputy Chief Executive), S Jones (Head of Finance), 
M Thomas (Head of Corporate Services), L Curtis Jones (Chief 
Officer (Social Services)), S Walker (Chief Education Officer), 
A Owen (Chief Officer (Regeneration and Public Protection)), 
A Mogford (Business Change Manager), F Donnelly (H R 
Manager) and C Dinham (Communications, Consultation and 
Engagement Manager)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

498  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor P 
Brown, Councillor K Gibbs, Councillor H R Jones and 
Councillor G Lewis.

499  Declarations of Interest Councillor D Sammon Declared his Interest in Item Five – 
Cyfarthfa Park, Castle, Museum, Art Gallery and Heritage 
Assets Operated by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust as he is 
the Local Authority Representative on the Leisure Trust 
Board and has received Dispensation.

Councillor G Thomas Declared his Interest in Item Five – 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3a



Cyfarthfa Park, Castle, Museum, Art Gallery and Heritage 
Assets Operated by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust as he is 
the Local Authority Representative on the Leisure Trust 
Board and has received Dispensation.

Councillor A Barry Declared his Interest in Item Five – 
Cyfarthfa Park, Castle, Museum, Art Gallery and Heritage 
Assets Operated by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust as he is a 
former Local Authority Representative of the Leisure Trust 
Board.

Councillor K O’Neill Declared his Interest in Item Five – 
Cyfarthfa Park, Castle, Museum, Art Gallery and Heritage 
Assets Operated by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust as he is a 
former Chair of the Leisure Trust Board and has received 
Dispensation.

500  Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2019/20 
- 2022/23 - Update 1

Councillor A Barry referred the Council to the ‘Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2022/23 – Update 1’ report and 
moved the recommendations as set out in Paragraph 2.0 of 
the report.

Questions were then raised by the Members on the report 
and were responded to in detail by the Cabinet Members 
and the Officers.

A Vote was then taken on the recommendations as 
contained within the report and the motion was defeated.

501  Exempt Resolved that:

The public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 14 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A 
Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

502  Cyfarthfa Park, Castle, 
Museum, Art Gallery 
and Heritage Assets 
Operated by Merthyr 
Tydfil Leisure Trust

Resolved that:

The recommendations as contained within the report be 
accepted.

503  To deal with any other 
urgent business or 
correspondence

Remembrance Services

Councillor A Barry referred to the Remembrance Services 
taking place throughout the County Borough and gave 
details of the Services taking place.

The Council then viewed a Video by the Royal British 
Legion.

504  To receive 
communications from 
Her / His  Worship the 
Mayor

No Communications were received from His Worship the 
Mayor.

Page 6



MINUTES OF MEETING

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 21ST NOVEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors   C Tovey (Chair)
                      H Barrett (Vice-Chair)

Councillors   J Amos, A Barry, C J Barry, B Carter, D Chaplin, 
M Colbran, C Davies, J Davies, L Davies, E Galsworthy, 
K Gibbs, D Hughes, D Isaac, S Jago, C T Jones, D Jones, 
G Lewis, L Mytton, K O'Neill, G Richards, D Roberts, T Rogers, 
D Sammon, T Skinner, W R Smith, J Thomas, G Thomas, 
I Thomas and S Thomas

Officers:
C Kennedy (Head of Legal and Governance Services - 
Monitoring Officer), E Cooper (Deputy Chief Executive), S Jones 
(Head of Finance), S Walker (Chief Education Officer), C Evans 
(Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services)), A Owen (Chief Officer 
(Regeneration and Public Protection)), A Mogford (Business 
Change Manager), F Donnelly (H R Manager), A Lloyd (Head of 
Children's Services), S Peters (Head of Public Protection and 
Housing), R Carpenter (Disabled Facilities Grants) and 
J Overbury (PA to the Leader and Mayor's Office)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

528  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor P 
Brown and Councillor H R Jones.

529  Declarations of Interest Councillor K Gibbs Declared his Interest in Item Eight – 
Housing Renewal Policy as he has an Interest in the Policy.

530  Minutes of Previous 
Meeting(s)

The Council approves as accurate (subject to any 
amendments) the Minutes of the following Meetings:

Page 7

Agenda Item 3b



530a  Full Council: 
24/10/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Full Council Meeting held 24 October 
2018 be accepted as a correct record.

A Member also requested an update on Minute No: 457 – 
Winter Night Shelter 2018 – 19 and was responded to in 
detail by the Chief Officer Community Regeneration.

530b  Cabinet: 24/10/2018 Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held 24 October 2018 
be accepted as a correct record.

530c  Cabinet: 07/11/2018 Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held 7 November 2018 
be accepted as a correct record.

530d  Audit: 29/10/2018 Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Audit Meeting held 29 October 2018 be 
accepted as a correct record.

530e  Standards: 19/10/2018 Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Standards Committee held 19 October 
2018 be accepted as a correct record.

530f  Planning, Regulatory 
and Licensing: 
03/10/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing 
Committee held 3 October 2018 be accepted as a correct 
record.

530g  Planning, Regulatory 
and Licensing: 
31/10/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing 
Committee held 31 October 2018 be accepted as a correct 
record.

530h  Rights of Way: 
22/10/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Rights of Way Committee held 22 
October 2018 be accepted as a correct record.

530i  Licensing Committee: 
31/10/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Licensing Committee held 31 October 
2018 be accepted as a correct record.

530j  Scrutiny : 
Regeneration and 
Public Protection: 
30/10/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Regeneration and Public Protection 
Scrutiny Committee held 30 October 2018 be accepted as a 
correct record.

530k  Scrutiny : Social Resolved that:

Page 8



Services: 18/09/2018 The Minutes of the Social Services Scrutiny Committee held 
18 September 2018 be accepted as a correct record.

530l  Scrutiny : 
Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and 
Countryside: 23 
/07/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Neighbourhood Services, Planning and 
Countryside Scrutiny Committee held 23 July 2018 be 
accepted as a correct record.

530m  Scrutiny : 
Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and 
Countryside: 
10/09/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Neighbourhood Services, Planning and 
Countryside Scrutiny Committee held 10 September 2018 
be accepted as a correct record.

530n  Scrutiny : 
Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and 
Countryside: 
22/10/2018

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Neighbourhood Services, Planning and 
Countryside Scrutiny Committee held 22 October 2018 be 
accepted as a correct record.

531  Support the Lucy's Law 
Campaign

Notice of Motion 

Councillor T Skinner led the Council Members through the 
Notice of Motion.

Resolved that:

(a) The Council adds its support to the National 
Campaign to ban and outlaw third party puppy 
sales 

(b) The Council adds its name to a growing list of 
supporting Organisations and will pro-actively 
highlight the campaign to residents across the 
County Borough

(c) The Leader of the Council writes to the Welsh and 
UK Governments supporting the call for urgent 
action on this matter.

532  With Rule 4.01.16 (B) - 
Council 7th November 
2018 - Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2019/20 
to 2022/23 - Update 1

Notice of Motion

The Leader of the Council Councillor K O’Neill led the 
Council Members through the Notice of Motion.

Resolved that:

A further report on the Medium Term Financial Plan 
2019/20 to 2022/23 – Update 1 with amended 
recommendations be presented to Council on the 21 
November 2018 for consideration.

533  Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2019/20 
to 2022/23 – Update 1

Councillor A Barry referred the Members to the ‘Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2022/23 – Update 1’ report 
and proposed a Recorded Vote on the recommendations as 
contained within the report.

The Monitoring Officer advised that a Recorded Vote had to 
be supported by five Councillors.

Page 9



Five Councillors then supported the proposal for a 
Recorded Vote.

The Monitoring Officer then proceeded to take a Recorded 
Vote on the following Proposals:

(a) The implications of the Provisional Local 
Government Settlement for 2019/20 outlined in 
Section 5 of the report and Appendices 1 and 2 be 
noted and accepted

(b) The Cabinet recommended Corporate Additional 
Demands outlined in Section 6 of the report and 
Appendix 3 be approved subject to Scrutiny 
Committee deliberation

(c) The Cabinet recommended Corporate Budget 
Reductions outlined in Section 7 of the report and 
Appendix 4 be approved subject to Scrutiny 
Committee deliberation

(d) The Cabinet recommended Schools Budget 
Reductions outlined in Section 8 of the report be 
approved subject to appropriate consultation, 
Scrutiny Committee deliberation and further report 
to Cabinet and Council

  

Councillor For the 
Motion

Against the 
Motion

Julian Amos X
Howard Barrett X
Andrew Barry X
Chris Barry X
Paul Brown Absent Absent
Brent Carter X
David Chaplin X
Malcolm Colbran X
Chris Davies X
Jeremy Davies X
Lee Davies X
Ernie Galsworthy X
Kevin Gibbs X
David Hughes X
David Isaac X
Sherelle Jago X
Clive Jones X
David Jones X
Harvey Jones Absent Absent
Gareth Lewis X
Lisa Mytton X
Kevin O’Neill X
Gareth Richards X
Darren Roberts X
Tony Rogers X
Declan Sammon X
Tanya Skinner X
Bill Smith X
Geraint Thomas X
Ian Thomas X
John Thomas X

Page 10



Scott Thomas X
Clive Tovey X
Total: 31 0

The Monitoring Officer advised that the Motion was carried 
unanimously.

534  Independent 
Remuneration Panel 
for Wales (IRPW) Draft 
Annual Report

Resolved that:

(a) The content of the Draft Annual Report of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
(IRPW) for 2019/2020 be noted

(b) Comments be forwarded to Democratic Services for 
collation and forwarding on to the IRPW before the 
consultation deadline on Tuesday 27 November 
2018

535  Housing Renewal 
Policy

Councillor K Gibbs having Declared his Interest in this Item 
left the Chamber for the consideration of this Item.

Councillor G Thomas referred the Members to the ‘Housing 
Renewal Policy’ report together with the Paper that had 
been tabled in relation to ‘Addendum to the Approval 
Process in relation to the Housing Renewal Policy 
Background Paper’.

Councillor G Thomas then proposed the recommendation 
as contained within the report. 

A Member then proposed an amendment to the motion in 
that the report be deferred to the next Council Meeting for a 
more detailed report.

A vote was then taken on the amendment and the 
amendment was carried.

Resolved that:

The item be deferred.

536  Annual Report on 
Social Services 2017-
2018

Resolved that:

The report for Information be received.

537  To deal with any other 
urgent business or 
correspondence

The Mayor advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

538  To receive 
communications from 
Her / His  Worship the 
Mayor

The Mayor advised that he had received communication 
from a member of the Dowlais British Legion conveying 
thanks for the help received by the British Legion from the 
Council and the Councillors over the years.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

CABINET MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 21ST NOVEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors    K O'Neill (Chair)
                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors   A Barry, K Gibbs, D Hughes and G Thomas

Officers
E Cooper (Deputy Chief Executive), F Donnelly (H R Manager), 
C Evans (Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services)), C Kennedy 
(Head of Legal and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer), 
S Jones (Head of Finance), A Mogford (Business Change 
Manager), A Owen (Chief Officer (Regeneration and Public 
Protection)), M Thomas (Head of Corporate Services), S Walker 
(Chief Education Officer), P Davies (Waste Management), M 
Price (Revenue), V Robst (Corporate Communications) and 
C Hole (Head of Community Wellbeing)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

513  Apologies for absence No apologies for absence were received as all Members 
were present.

514  Declarations of Interest Councillor K Gibbs Declared his Interest in Item Thirteen – 
Direct Payments Support Service as his Step Daughter is a 
Service User.

515  Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 2018/19 – 
Quarter 2

Resolved that:

(a) The second Revenue Budget Monitoring report for 
the 2018/19 financial year based on 2nd Quarter 
projections be accepted

(b) Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be 
approved

Page 13

Agenda Item 3c



(c) Managers to urgently address projected budget 
deficits within their respective Service areas, 
identifying all possible remedial measures to offset 
projected deficits

(d) Managers to continue to monitor all Revenue 
Budgets and immediately notify the Chief Finance 
Officer of potential financial difficulties

516  Capital Monitoring 
Report 2018/19 – 
Quarter 2

Resolved that:

(a) The Capital Monitoring Report for the second 
quarter of 2018/19 be noted

(b) Approval be given to the budget amendments for 
Core Funded Projects as outlined in Paragraph 4.1 
of the report

(c) The requirement for Officers to continue to 
rigorously monitor budgets to ensure that 
expenditure remains within approved budgets be 
noted

(d) The requirement for Chief Officers to scrutinise 
project delivery to ensure expenditure remains 
within approved budgets be noted

517  Annual Risk 
Management Progress 
Report and Updated 
Corporate Risk 
Register for 2018-19

Resolved that:

(a) The Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19 be 
approved and the progress made in developing 
Risk Management be noted

(b) The continued progress made in considering the 
Risk Management requirements of the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the 
Council adopting the 4T’s of Risk Management be 
noted

(c) It be noted that Audit Committee will invite Lead 
Corporate Management Team Officers to attend the 
Committee on a rolling programme basis to report 
on progress in managing their Corporate Risks

(d) The proposals to continue to present Highlight 
Reports on the Corporate Risk Register to Cabinet 
be noted

518  School Reorganisation 
– 3 to 16 Voluntary 
Aided School

Councillor L Mytton led the Committee through the ‘School 
Reorganisation – 3 to 16 Voluntary Aided School’ report 
and proposed an amendment to the recommendations as 
contained within the report.

Resolved subject to the foregoing that:

(a) The information contained within the attached 
Consultation Report, which includes details of 
correspondence received during the Consultation 
exercise be noted (Appendix 1)

(b) A further 42 day Public Consultation be undertaken 
which names the proposed site for the build of the 
new 3-16 school starting in the New Year.

519  Call off Contract for the 
supply of refuse 
vehicles

Resolved that:

The Call Off Contract be approved through the Crown 

Page 14



Commercial Services (CCS) framework with Dennis Eagle 
Ltd, Heathcote Way, Heathcote Industrial Estate, Warwick, 
CV34 6TE

520  Public Open Space, 
Woodlands Avenue 
Treharris

Resolved that:

The following recommendation be endorsed:

Option 4.4 That the Council partly funds reinstatement of 
the area providing the Community take responsibility for the 
area by way of Lease or Licence and that External Funding 
can be secured.

521  Community Zone - 
Update

Resolved that:

The progress to date and revised Terms of Reference and 
Membership of the Implementation Group be noted.

522  Be Positive not Perfect 
- Parenting Marketing 
Campaign

Resolved that:

To note that a Digital Media Campaign will go live in 
December 2018.

523  Pontmorlais 
Promenade and 
Labour Exchange

Resolved that:

Cabinet approve in principle a proposal to re-grade and 
landscape the embankment subject to the completion of the 
further hydrological surveys and assessments and an 
acceptable scheme being provided.

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

Resolved that:

The public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12, 14 and 16 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A 
Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

524  Debt Write Off report Resolved that:

The write off of irrecoverable debts as identified in 
Appendices 1 and 2 be approved 

525  Direct Payments 
Support Service

Councillor K Gibbs having Declared his Interest in this item 
left the Chamber for the consideration of this item.

Resolved that:

The recommendation as contained within the report be 
accepted.

526  Land at Pant Industrial 
Estate, Merthyr Tydfil 

Resolved that:

Page 15



CF48 2SR The report for Information be received.

RE-OPENED SESSION

527  Any Other Business 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 16



MINUTES OF MEETING

PLANNING, REGULATORY 
AND LICENSING MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 28TH NOVEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors    H Barrett (Chair)
                       C Tovey (Vice-Chair)

Councillors J Amos, D Chaplin, M Colbran, C T Jones, G Lewis, 
J Thomas and S Thomas

Officers:
J Jones (Head of  Planning and Countryside), G Morgan 
(Solicitor), H Roberts (Group Leader Development Control), 
D Cross (Principal Planning Officer) and M Phillips (Democratic 
Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

573  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence received from the following 
committee members: Councillor E Galsworthy and 
Councillor K Gibbs.

574  Declarations of Interest Councillor C Tovey declared his interest in Item 9 as he is 
the Local Authority Governor at Ysgol-Y-Graig School. As a 
Local Authority representative he currently has dispensation 
to speak and vote.

Councillor H Barrett declared his interest in Item 9 as a 
Governor at Ysgol-Y-Graig and currently has dispensation 
to speak and vote.

575  Minutes of meeting 
Tuesday, 13 
November 2018 of 

The minutes of the Planning and Regulatory Fact Finding 
Visit held on 13th November 2018 – 34 Penderyn Close, 
Ynysfach, Merthyr Tydfil be accepted as a correct record.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 3d



Planning and 
Regulatory Fact 
Finding Visits

576  P/18/0199  -  34 
Penderyn Close, 
Ynysfach, Merthyr 
Tydfil, CF48 1AS

Change of use from dwelling (C3 use class) to house of 
multiple occupation (HMO)(C4 use class) (Retrospective 
Application)

The Planning officer introduced the item and led the 
committee through the report and presentation.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
were responded to by the Planning Officer.

 Are there several other 4 bedroom properties on 
the estate, it is a concern that this is a retrospective 
application.

 Concerns were raised that the property is still not 
Rent Smart Wales registered.

 Who is responsible within the authority for checking 
that rental properties are registered with the 
relevant agencies

 If another application was received would the 
housing department be consulted

After consideration by the committee, it was Resolved that:

In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Town Planning and Countryside, the application be 
approved subject to the condition outlined in the report.

577  P/18/0242  -  Former 
Ysgol Santes Tudful 
School, Queens Road, 
Twynyrodyn, Merthyr 
Tydfil

Residential Development

The Planning Officer introduced the item and led the 
committee through the power point presentation in relation 
to the application.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
were responded to by the Planning officer:

 This application has varied on a number of 
occasions, can you please indicate where the 
additional houses have been placed

 Concerns were raised about the staggered layout of 
the properties and the two access roads for the site

 Clarification was sort in relation to the term 
‘Appropriate Boundary Treatments’

 The access roads are currently very narrow, will 
they be widened or a one way system introduced

Page 18



 Concerns were raised about the access road near 
the property ‘The Mount’ as access to their 
driveway is in close proximity. Due to the increase 
in traffic would highway safety be an issue

After consideration by the committee, it was Resolved that:

In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Town Planning and Countryside, the application be 
approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report 
and the applicant (and anyone else with an interest in the 
land) Entering into a Section 106 Agreement

578  P/18/0286  -  Plot 5 & 
10 , Pengarnddu 
Industrial Estate, 
Dowlais, Merthyr 
Tydfil, CF48 2TA

Change of use of renewable energy facility with biomass 
boiler fuelled by virgin wood to renewable energy facility 
with biomass boiler fuelled by waste wood.

After consideration by the committee, it was Resolved that:

In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Town Planning and Countryside, the application be 
approved subject to the condition outlined in the report.

579  P/18/0287  -  St 
Margaret's Spiritualist 
Church, Lower 
Thomas Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 
0BY

Refurbishment of existing building and conversion to a 
house of multiple occupation

The Planning Officer introduced the item and led the 
committee through the power point presentation in relation 
to the application.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
were responded to by the Planning Officer:

 Concern was raised about the number of Houses of 
multiple occupation (HMO) in the surrounding area 
and the limited parking available to residents.

Councillor John Thomas moved that a site visit be called in 
relation to this application.

Resolved that:

 A Fact Finding Site Visit be convened and that the 
appropriate officers from Planning and Highways 
Department be invited to attend.

580  P/18/0288  -  St 
Margaret's Spiritualist 
Church, Lower 
Thomas Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 
0BY

This Item was not heard as it is subject to the Fact Finding 
Visit requested in the previous item. 

Page 19



581  P/18/0311 -  Former 
Vaynor and Penderyn 
School Site and 
Godre'r Coed Playing 
Field Site, Cefn Coed, 
Merthyr Tydfil

Construction of a new Primary School on the former school 
site and provision of internal access road, car park and 
games area on part of the Godre’r Coed playing field site

The Planning Officer introduced the item and led the 
committee through the report and the power point 
presentation. The Planning Officer also highlighted an email 
that was distributed to the committee from a member of the 
public raising number of concerns in relation to the 
application.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the planning officer.

 Confirmation was sought in relation to whether the 
application complies with the safe route to schools 
policy

 Will the current retaining wall be removed and if so 
can you provide the committee with the estimated 
height and length of the new retaining wall

 Is there any evidence that the traffic generated by 
Cyfarthfa park has been discounted in the transport 
assessment

 Will the construction of the school lead to 
Compulsory Purchase Orders of residential 
dwellings

 Clarification was sought in relation to a statement 
contained in the email received by the committee 
regarding a public meeting were it was allegedly 
stated that there would be a significant increase in 
traffic on Cefn Coed High Street due to the dualling 
of the A465, however the planning report states 
there will not be a significant increase. 

 Can you confirm if this is the proposed design or 
the final design

 Confirmation was sought on the design of the 
disabled access ramp

 Will the South Terrace access also be used by 
cyclists

 In relation to the previous question in relation to 
compulsory purchases of properties, can you 
confirm if there will be any compulsory purchases of 
any gardens

 Concern was raised in relation to the size of the 
cycle shelter

After further comments by the committee Councillor Julian 
Amos moved that a Planning Fact Finding Visit be called in 
relation to this application.

Page 20



Resolved that:

A Fact Finding Site Visit be convened and that the 
appropriate officers from Planning, Highways and 
Engineering be invited to attend.

582  Appeal Decision  -  
P/17/0358

Resolved that:

Appeal decision P/17/0358 be received.

583  Appeal Decision  -  
P/18/0179

Resolved that:

Appeal decision P/18/0179 be received.

584  Appeal Received  -  
P/18/0195

Resolved that:

Appeal P/18/0195 be received.

585  Delegated Report Resolved that:

Delegated report be received.

586  Any Other Business 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent and closed the meeting.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SACRE MEETING
TUESDAY, 23RD OCTOBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:    E Galsworthy (Chair)
                       Rev. M Prevett (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:     L Davies, D Hughes and I Thomas

Professional Associations:
A  Jones

Faith Communities:
A Star

Officers:
S Bowen (Inclusion and Wellbeing Manager) and M Turford 
(Consultant for Merthyr SACRE)

K Vokes (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

427  Election of Chair and 
Vice Chair

RESOLVED that:

 Councillor Ernie Galsworthy be formally re-elected 
as Chair.

 Rev. Mark Prevett be formally elected as Vice 
Chair. 

Councillor Ernie Galsworthy took the Chair

428  Welcome and 
apologies for absence

The Chair welcomed Maggie Turford, Consultant for 
Merthyr SACRE, to her first meeting.     Maggie Turford 
thanked members and gave a background of what her 
involvement will be with SACRE’s throughout Authorities.  

Page 23

Agenda Item 3e



Apologies for absence received from Sian Bernard 
Henderson, Leanne McCarthy, Mark Carrington, Justine 
Jones, Andy Pitt and David O’Keefe.

Members were advised that a letter of resignation had been 
received from Helen Price from Trelewis Community 
School, and it was agreed that a letter of thanks be sent to 
her for all her contribution. 

429  Declaration of Interests No declarations of interest were made.

430  Minutes of Previous 
Meeting(s)

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the meeting held on 14th June 2018 were 
submitted and approved.

431  Matters Arising from 
Previous Minutes

Maggie Turford referred to the number of faith denomination 
representatives on this Committee, which was discussed at 
the last meeting, and she confirmed that each individual 
SACRE Committee can decide on the number of 
representatives in each group.   

She also confirmed that a Humanist Representative would 
be part of Group A (religious denomination) and would 
report back an update to the Spring meeting so that she can 
liaise with other SACRE’s on their Humanist 
Representative.

432  SACRE Annual Report 
2017-18

Maggie Turford referred to the SACRE’s Annual Report for 
2017-18 and led the Committee through the Executive 
Summary.   She responded to questions raised in relation to 
continuing professional development for teachers and 
examination results for 2018.

RESOLVED that:

The Annual Report be circulated to Welsh Government 
together with the organisations as outlined in Appendix 5 of 
the report by the 30th December 2018. 

433  Inspection Synopsis  -  
September 2017 to 
June 2018

Maggie Turford advised the Committee that during the 
academic year (autumn 2017- summer 2018) 4 primary 
schools were inspected and that also a few schools were 
subject to a follow up monitoring visit but these were not in 
relation to RE or Collective Worship.  

The 4 primary schools inspected were Caedraw, 
Gwaunfarren, Trelewis and Heolgerrig and Maggie Turford 
led Committee through the outcomes.  

RESOLVED that:

Note the content of the inspection report.

434  Review of RE at KS2 
AND KS3

Maggie referred to Estyn’s report on the Religious 
Education at Key Stage 2 and 3 which judges standards, 
provision and leadership.    She advised that a number of 
schools across Wales were visited as part of this survey 

Page 24



and that the report is intended for the Welsh Government, 
headteachers and staff in schools, local authorities, regional 
consortia together with members of SACRE’s.  

Members were led through the report which covered the 
background, standards, provision and leadership.

RESOLVED that:

 Members note the contents of the report. 

 Maggie Turford to confirm whether SACRE’s have 
a role under the Prevent duty, relating to the 
Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015.    

435  Curriculum 
Development update 
from Workshop held on 
the 28th September 
2018

Members were advised that Maggie Turford and Rev Mark 
Prevett attended the Religious Education and the new 
Curriculum for Wales Workshop in Cardiff held on the 28th 
September 2018 where presentations were given by 
Professor Donaldson, Manon Jones (Welsh Government), 
Paula Webber and Libby Jones.      Maggie Turford and 
Rev. Mark Prevett took members through the presentation 
(copies were handed out to members at the meeting).

The main issues raised at these workshops were:

Professor Donaldson
 RE is integral to Humanities AoLE but has distinct 

contribution to make
 If separate subject would be vulnerable
 It will remain statutory but be strengthened as part of 

mainstream curriculum
 Need for learning to focus more on “purpose” rather than 

just “what” learned
 Importance of learners understanding nature of faith and 

belief
 RE is at centre of developing learners’ well-being
 SACREs will have a critical part to play in this 

developing curriculum

Manon Jones (Welsh Government): 
 Wider policy issues described, e.g. nursery schools , 6th 

Forms, need to amend locally agreed syllabi to ensure 
local arrangements support integration of RE into 
Humanities curriculum. Group to be set up to draft a 
framework to support this

Paula Webber
 A large number of changes to GCSE RE, involvement of 

learners, how will framework be translated into good 
practice? Will RE be easily identifiable?. Concern over 
the lack of RE specialist teachers.

 Knowledge skills and experience will be linked.  Schools 
need freedom to plan but core knowledge needs to be in 
new curriculum. Was there value in a cross-consortia 
approach to support teachers? As RE sits in Humanities 
any training will support RE within this framework.

Page 25



Libby Jones-the Supporting Framework for RE:
 Possible structure for the Supporting Framework for RE, 

including link to Successful Futures, outline of the “What 
Matters” approach and the role of the Framework 
document-the latter could be the Agreed Syllabus. In 
addition there would be an input from Professor 
Donaldson

 The importance of involving all in process-local 
authorities, consortia, schools, Challenge Advisers, 
SACREs

 Withdrawal from RE should be very much an exception 
in new framewo-14 statements to be considered as core 

  “What’s essential in RE”.    

Discussion ensued on reporting back to Welsh Government 
on the feedback questions, which were circulated at the 
meeting.  The general consensus by members was that 
there was still a lack of clarity about the curriculum.   The 
deadline date to Welsh Government for responses is the 
16th November 2018.          

RESOLVED that:

 The contents of the workshop presentations be 
noted. 

 Members wishing to respond directly to Welsh 
Government to send their response by the deadline 
date.  

 Or alternatively e-mail comments to Karen Vokes 
by Monday, 12th November so that responses can 
be collated and returned by the deadline date.   

436  WASACRE  -  
Summary of July 
meeting in Anglesey

WASACRE Meeting  -  6th July 2018  -  Anglesey
Maggie Turford led Committee through the minutes of the 
WASACRE meeting at Anglesey on the 6th July 2018.   
Concern was expressed to members that individual SACRE 
Committees have not had the opportunity to make 
comments or amendments on the WASACRE Constitution, 
and therefore could this be noted when the WASACRE 
Constitution is to be considered next.  

WASACRE Meeting  -  20th November 2018  -  Vale of 
Glamorgan
The Chair (Councillor Ernie Galsworthy) and Vice Chair 
(Rev. Mark Prevett) confirmed that they will be attending. 

WASACRE Spring Meeting  -  26th March 2019  -  Cardiff
Members to confirm with Karen Vokes if they wish to attend. 

437  Meeting venues, dates 
and possible agenda 
items including:

Self evaluation and development planning
This item to be included in the agenda for the 19th March 
2019 meeting. 

Teacher Workshops and inputs from Schools
Maggie Turford to update members in the next meeting. 

Page 26



Date of next meeting
The next meeting of SACRE will be held on Tuesday, 19th 
March 2019 at 3.45 pm in Conference Room 2 at the Civic 
Centre.   Maggie Turford to liaise with Karen Vokes on 
items for the meeting.  

438  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS 
CHANGE AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES MEETING
TUESDAY, 20TH NOVEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:   T Skinner (Chair)
                       G Lewis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: J Amos, D Sammon, W R Smith and C T Jones

Officers:
C Kennedy (Head of Legal and Governance Services - 
Monitoring Officer), C Evans (Chief Officer (Neighbourhood 
Services)) and M Purnell (Performance and Scrutiny Officer)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

504  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor H R 
Jones, J Beard Co-opted Member and K Sutton Youth 
Forum Representative.

505  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

Councillor G Lewis Declared his Interest in Item Three – 
Environmental Wellbeing as he is a Local Authority 
Governor for Abercainaid Primary School and has received 
Dispensation.

Councillor C Jones Declared his Interest in Item Three – 
Environmental Wellbeing as he is a Local Authority 

Page 29

Agenda Item 3f



Governor for Cyfarthfa High School and has received 
Dispensation.

Order of Agenda Items

The Chair advised that Item Four (GDPR) would be considered as the next item on the 
agenda. 

506  Environmental 
Wellbeing

The Chair welcomed Cheryllee Evans to the Meeting.

Cheryllee Evans then led the Committee in detail through 
the ‘Environmental Wellbeing’ report.

The following questions were then raised on the report and 
were responded to in detail by the Officer:

 Paragraph 6.2 – Key Performance Indicators – 
National Air Quality – Details requested on the 
Construction Reversal

 Fly – Tipping – How can litter thrown from Vehicles 
be monitored

 The role of Parking Wardens
 How are incidents of Fly- Tipping recorded – 

Available options on the Web Site – Confirmation of 
reporting

 Follow up of actions taken when incidents are 
reported via the Web Site – How does the person 
who lodged the incident know if it has been 
actioned – Is there a way Members could be 
advised of the follow up actions to advise residents 
on whose behalf the incident had been reported

 The necessity for Members to receive feedback and 
advice and if the incident has been actioned

 Recycling – Has any Council in Wales been fined 
for not meeting targets

 Percentage figure for reusable waste has dropped 
– What is the main reason for this – How will the 
Authority perform in relation to next year’s target

 Plastic Bag Recycling Pilot – When will this be 
introduced across the County Borough 

 Details requested in relation to the Units at 
Pentrebach

 Details requested on the Re-use Shop
 Update requested on Cefn Cemetery Extension
 Update requested on Abercanaid School Insulation 

– Further details to be supplied by the Officer to the 
Member

 The issue of Fly-Tipping on Private Land – The use 
by the Local Authority of available Legislation – The 
need to tackle this issue – The need to look at 
Policy and Process

 The involvement of the Community Safety Officer in 
this issue – Any feedback to be shared with the 
Committee

Resolved that:

Page 30



The content of the report be noted.

The Chair then thanked Cheryllee Evans for attending and 
the update to the Committee.

Councillor C T Jones left the Meeting at 5.15 pm.

507  General Data 
Protection Regulations 
(GDPR)

The Chair welcomed Carys Kennedy to the Meeting.

Carys Kennedy then led the Committee in detail through the 
‘Data Protection Progress Report’.

The following questions were then raised on the report and 
were responded to in detail by the Officer:

 Paragraph 5.6 – Request made for a breakdown by 
Department of the Subject Access Requests 
received

 Paragraph 6.1 – Update requested on ‘Guidance’ – 
How will Staff and Members be informed

 Paragraph 7.6 – Brexit implications
 Where does the information come from in relation 

to the incidents recorded
 Information Governance Team - Staff numbers / 

Structure – FOI requests
 Paragraph 5.3 – Explanation requested on numbers
 Paragraph 5.5 – Explanation requested in relation 

to ‘Criminal Offences’ and procedures for these 
Offences – Impact on the Council and how would 
the Council respond

Resolved that:

The content of the report be noted

The Chair then thanked Carys Kennedy for attending and 
the update to the Committee.

Councillor J Amos left the Meeting at 4.35 pm and returned 
at 4.37 pm.

508  Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust Update

This item was Deferred.

509  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair advised that there was no update on this Item.

510  Work Programme 
2018/19

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Work Programme 
2018/19’ report and the Committee agreed the Work 
Programme.

The Chair also proposed that in relation to the Committee 
Forward Work Programme for 2019/2020 that all Committee 
Chairs meet to discuss the future Work Programme and this 
was agreed by the Committee.

Page 31



511  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee referred in detail to the issues 
that had been considered at the Meeting.

512  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 32



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : REGENERATION 
AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 

MEETING
TUESDAY, 27TH NOVEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors   J Amos (Chair)
                     C J Barry (Vice-Chair)

Councillors   M Colbran, G Lewis and S Thomas

L Davies (Substitute Member)

Cooptees:
M Ellis (Youth Forum Representative)

Other Councillors in Attendance:
G Thomas (Cabinet Member)

Officers:
A Owen (Chief Officer (Regeneration and Public Protection)), 
M Purnell (Performance and Scrutiny Officer), C Long 
(Economic Development & Strategic Tourism Manager), 
D Ryan-Newton (Community Services Officer), J Green 
Economic Development), L Whitely (Manager Orbit Business 
Centre) and R Prosser (Town Centre Manager)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

556  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor P 
Brown and H Hopkins and H Jackson Co-opted Members. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 3g



557  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

558  Economic Growth 
Strategy and 
Partnership

The Chair welcomed Alyn Owen, Chris Long, Jared Green 
and Deb Ryan-Newton to the Meeting.

Alyn Owen referred the Committee to the ‘Economic Growth 
Strategy and Partnership’ report and together with the other 
Officers responded in detail to the following questions that 
were raised:

 Paragraph 1.2 – Who is the point of contact – Who 
forms the Strategic and Operational groups – Is 
there a criteria list that residents can access – What 
does each group do – Who do they feed back to – 
What is the involvement of Partners

 How are Outcomes measured – Are there targets to 
see how well the Council is doing

 Further explanation requested in relation to ‘Visual 
Modular’

 Is there a shortfall of skills in a particular area – 
Training for this shortfall

 Staff Retention
 Working families living in poverty – Is enough being 

done to bring wages into the County Borough
 What scope is there to offer training facilities within 

Companies
 The impact of Brexit
 Request for a diagram illustrating how the groups 

are linked together

Resolved that:

The progress made to date on the production of an 
Economic Growth Strategy be noted.

The Chair then thanked the Officers for the update to the 
Committee.

559  Introduction to the 
Geosense Intelligence 
System

The Chair welcomed Rhian Prosser and Lance Whiteley to 
the Meeting.

Chris Long outlined to the Committee the function of the 
Geosense Intelligence System in that it was a digital footfall 
system to show economic activity in the Town Centre.

Lance Whiteley then made a Presentation to the Committee 
giving details of the System and how it works.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
on the System and were responded to in detail by the 
Officers:

 GDPR Implications
 Difference between those working and those 

shopping in the Town Centre
 Expansion Costs

Page 34



 What are the trends that can been seen
 Percentage of vacant properties – Position of the 

County Borough against the Welsh average
 Can there be benchmarking against a similar Town 

The Chair then thanked the Officers for attending and the 
Presentation to the Committee.  

560  Welsh National Library 
Standards

Resolved that:

This item be deferred.

561  Work Programme 
2018/19

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Work Programme’ 
report and the Committee agreed the Programme.

562  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
Up Actions

The Chair advised that there was no update for this item. 

563  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the 
issues that had been considered at the Meeting.

564  Any Other Business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL 
SERVICES MEETING

TUESDAY, 23RD OCTOBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:  W R Smith (Chair)
                     S Jago (Vice-Chair)

Councillors T Rogers, D Sammon and I Thomas

Other Councillors in Attendance:
Councillor  David Hughes (Cabinet Member for Social Services)

Officers:
L Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social Services)), A Lloyd (Head 
of Children's Services), S Lyons (Performance and Scrutiny 
Officer) and M Phillips (Democratic Services Officer)

Outside Bodies:
Nicola Kingham (Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board) and Duncan 
Marshall (Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW))

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

418  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor G 
Richards.

419  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were received.

420  Children’s Services 
Inspection

The Chair welcomed Duncan Marshall from Care 
Inspectorate Wales to the meeting.

Page 37

Agenda Item 3h



Annabel Lloyd introduced the item to the committee and 
highlighted the salient points within the report. 

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to by the appropriate officers:

 In relation to item six of the Post Inspection Action 
Plan it states staff contribute to staff briefings where 
we develop our service strategy. Hasn’t this been 
introduced previously and is there any change in 
the process

 Can you provide the committee with an explanation 
of the 1 minute guide for staff briefings

 In relation to item 3 of the Post Inspection Action 
Plan is there a transition period when care leavers 
reach 16 years of age and leave children’s 
services.

 Referring to the outcome Manageable caseloads 
can you inform the committee of the situation with 
caseload size previously and what the caseloads 
size is currently

 Is the number of children and the complexity of 
each individual case assessed to distribute the 
workload evenly

 Care leavers are supported by personal advisors 
from the age of 16, where does the statutory 
responsibility for these children having a social 
worker end

 How many personal advisors are employed by 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC and is there a ratio of how many 
individuals they work with

 Why are not all 16 year olds in Merthyr Tydfil 
having personal advisors

 RAG (Red, Amber & Green) status can’t be 
identified can the name of the colour be printed for 
ease and also there is a distinct lack of information 
in the update/review column can this be populated 
for future meetings

  Can you provide a description of what the colour 
status represents along with the colour status on 
future reports

Page 38



 Item 2 of the Action Plan states that a Quality 
assurance group will oversee development of a 
guide to staff about assessment and analysis - 
setting out what good looks like. Who will be 
included in the group and how are they qualified to 
say what good looks like

Councillor Ian Thomas left the meeting.

 When will an update be provided to this committee

The Chair thanked Annabel Lloyd and Duncan Marshall for 
the report and their attendance at the meeting.

 

421  Cwm Taf Safeguarding 
Board Annual Report 
2017-2018

The Chair advised the committee that Item 4 Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board Annual Report would be presented first 
while waiting on the arrival of another officer.

Nicola Kingham (Business Manager for the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board) introduced the item to the committee 
and highlighted the key points within the report.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the appropriate officer:

 The is a lack of figures and percentages within the 
report to allow comparisons and scrutiny of data, 
can this be rectified in future reports

 In relation to the number of delegates who attended 
the 150 multi-agency safeguarding training would 
you have the breakdown of how many delegates 
were from the Merthyr Tydfil area

 Is the service meeting the safeguarding demands 
for our  practitioners across Merthyr Tydfil and the 
Cwm Taf area

 In relation to the priority outcomes listed in the 
report for 2018/19 where were the outcomes 
decided and agreed and who was involved in that 
process

 In relation to safeguarding individuals how long is 
contact maintained once it is established they no 
longer need intervention

 In the linked report the percentage attendance for 
four Board meetings is listed and the figures show 
0% attendance from Merthyr Tydfil Education, 
Merthyr Tydfil Housing Association and Public 
Protection attended 50%. Are there plans in place 
to get all agencies to come together and attend 
these meetings

Page 39



The Chair requested that the concerns of the committee be 
raised in relation to agency attendance at the next Board 
Meeting.

The Chair thanked Nicola Kingham for her report and 
attendance at the meeting.

Resolved that:

The scrutiny committee noted and endorsed the content of 
the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Report for 2017-
18 

422  Annual Report on 
Social Services 2017-
2018

Lisa Curtis-Jones introduced the report to the committee 
and stated that it is a reflection on 2017/18.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the appropriate officers.

 Concerns were raised in relation to the amount of 
funding being received from Welsh Government. If 
the funding doesn’t match the plan for 2018/19 will 
a new plan be developed

 In future could the report reflect the monetary value 
of what the service costs or what percentage of the 
budget is available to Social Services as this would 
influence decision making. Also could it also 
highlight what has been spent in each financial year

 As a new member of the committee it was difficult 
to compare the data as there was a lack of 
quantitative data within the report which shows the 
journey of where you were and where you are now. 
If this is unachievable could a RAG (Red, Amber, 
Green) status be included to aid members

 Under the title ‘Taking steps to protect and 
safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm’ a 
key piece of data that could be used to measure the 
success is the percentage of re-registrations onto 
the child protection register. Is this data available 
for 2016/17 and 2017/18 

 On page 43 under the title ‘Encouraging and 
supporting people to learn, develop and participate 
in society’ what percentage of care leavers in 
education, employment or training are still in 
education, employment or training twelve months 
after they leave the care system

 Page 45 ‘How far did we succeed and what 
difference did we make’ Do you know why demand 
has increased, also are more preventative services 
required, and are we not meeting the needs of the 
service

Page 40



The Chair thanked the officers for the excellent report and 
they left the meeting.

Resolved that:

The committee members note the contents of the report

423  Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 
2018/19

The Scrutiny Officer provided the committee with an update 
in relation to the following items being added to the work 
programme:

 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 
Annual Report – January 2019

 Corporate Parenting Update Report – January 2019

 Children’s Services Inspection – March 2019

424  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair raised the issue around the local authority and 
outside agencies reporting crimes and it was agreed that 
Councillor Sammon will take it forward. 

425  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the issues that 
had been considered.  

426  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

No other business was deemed urgent by the Chair.  

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Council Tax Base for 2019/20

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Council has to set the Council Tax base each year in accordance with the          
prescribed regulations, (see 3.1). This is the first stage in setting the Council Tax and           
also provides the precepting authorities with a key component to determine their           
financial requirements for the coming year.

           
1.2 The calculation is made with reference to the number of banded properties within           

the local authority area adjusted to take into account discounts and exemptions. The            
calculation also takes into account changes to the valuation list that appear likely to            
occur during 2019-20.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Taking into account the number of properties in each valuation band, discounts,            
reductions for disabilities and future likely changes in the valuation list, I would           
recommend that the Council passes the following resolution:

          That pursuant to this report and in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation           
of Council Tax Base) and Council Tax (Prescribed class of Dwellings) (Wales)          
(Amendments) regulations 2004, the number calculated by the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council for 2019/20 shall be 18,227.63 (18,098.08 – 2018/19) and for the 
area covered by the Bedlinog Community Council for 2019/20 shall be 1,169.67 
(1,148.02 – 2018/19).

 

Date Written 19th November 2018
Report Author Mike Parry
Service Area Revenues
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 43

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 It is a requirement of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations           
1995 as amended by the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) and            
Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings) (Wales) (Amendments) Regulations            
2004, that a Council resolution is made each year confirming the Council Tax base            
for the Council area as a whole and for the area covered by the Bedlinog Community            
Council.

3.2      The latest Valuation list shows the following information:

Band Valuation Spread           No of Properties
2017/18    2018/19

%

A Less than £44,000                    14109 14149 51.7
B £44,001 - £65,000 6643 6665 24.4
C £65,001 - £91,000 2180 2196 8.0
D £91,001 - £123,000 2145 2160 7.9
E £123,001 - £162,000 1468 1471 5.4
F £162,001 – £223,000 556 562 2.0
G £223,001 – £324,000 145 147 
H £324,001 - £424,000 2 2 <1
I £424,001 and over 7 7 <1

27255 27359

3.3    Liable persons for each property are charged on the basis of the Band D charge         
declared by the Council as follows:

Band           Ratio to Band D
A                            6/9                           
B                            7/9
C                            8/9
D                            9/9
E                           11/9
F                           13/9
G                           15/9
H                           18/9
I                             21/9

3.4    The Council Tax Base must now be determined by Council for the County Borough         
area and the Bedlinog Community Council area. The declaration to be made refers 
to what is termed the ‘Band D’ equivalent of all properties. Referring to paragraph 
3.3, members will note that Band A properties pay 6/9 of the charge and count as 6/9 
of a property when compared to Band D. Similarly, Band B properties as 7/9 of a 
property and so on. 

 

Page 44



3.5    The assumed collection rate for 2019/20 has been set at 96%, the same figure as          
2018/19.

 
 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This report sets the Council Tax Base for 2019/20 from which the Council Tax will            
be derived.

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

No positive or negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, 
the Sustainable Development Principles and Biodiversity.

.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 45



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Valuation Office Agency 
number and band report 

29th October 2018 Revenue Section

Northgate Council Tax 
Base Report

31st October 2018 Revenue Section

Welsh Government CT1 
Report

08th November 2018 Revenue Section

Integrated Impact  
Assessment 

19th November 2018 Electronic Library

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 46



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Treasury Management Outturn Report 2017/18 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Treasury Management Outturn Report outlines the Council’s performance in 
respect of:

 The management of the organisation’s cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions.

 The effective control of the risks associated with those activities.
 The pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Treasury Management Outturn Report for 2017/18 be received.

2.2 The actual 2017/18 Treasury Indicators be received.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Treasury Management Outturn Report for 2017/18 is attached at Appendix A, 
for Members’ attention.  This report is a requirement of the Chartered Institute for 
Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management.

3.2 The Council employs Arlingclose as its Treasury Management consultant to give 
specialist advice on all Treasury Management matters including borrowing and 
investment requirements.  This advice has been followed in producing the Treasury 
Management Outturn Report.

Date Written 5th December 2018
Report Author Adele Lewis
Service Area Accountancy
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Financial and performance information is included within the body of the report.

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1
Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4  0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the Treasury Management Policy and Annual 
Investment strategy supports the Council to achieve its Well-being Objectives through its 
Treasury Management Activities.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location
Prudential Indicators 

2017/18
Council 22nd March 

2017
Accountancy/Intranet Committee 

Agendas and Minutes
Treasury Management 

Policy and Annual 
Investment Strategy 

2017/18

Council 22nd March 
2017

Accountancy/Intranet Committee 
Agendas and Minutes

Page 48



Audited Statement of 
Accounts for Year 

Ended 31st March 2018

26th September 2018 Accountancy/Intranet Committee 
Agendas and Minutes 

Final Accounts Working 
Papers 2017/18

April 2018 to September 
2018

Accountancy

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 49



Appendix A

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL ANNUAL 

TREASURY REPORT 2017/18

1.0 Introduction and Background

1.1 In March 2010 the Authority adopted he Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the 
CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve a treasury management 
annual report after the end of each financial year. This report fulfils the Authority’s 
legal obligation to have regard to the CIPFA Code. 

1.2 The Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2017/18 was approved at full 
Council on 22nd March 2017.

The Authority has borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and is therefore 
exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested sums and the revenue effect 
of changing interest rates. The successful identification, monitoring and control of 
risk are therefore central to the Authority’s treasury management strategy.

2.0 External Context

2.1 Appendix 1 outlines an Economic Commentary and Local Authority Regulatory 
Changes for the 2017/18 financial year. 

3.0 Treasury Management Summary 
3.1 On 31st March 2018, the Authority had net borrowing of £83m arising from its 

revenue and capital income and expenditure. The Authority’s strategy was to 
maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known 
as internal borrowing, in order to reduce risk and keep interest costs low. The 
Treasury management position as at 31st March 2018 and the year on year change 
is shown in table 1 below

Table1 Treasury Management Summary

Description

31st 

March 
2017     
£'000

2017/18 
Movement 

£'000

31st 

March 
2018    
£'000

Rate/ 
Return 

%
Long term borrowing 64,134 (3,186) 60,948 6.68
Short term borrowing 20,550 14,637 35,187 1.39
Total Borrowing 84,684 11,451 96,135 4.74
Long term investments 0 0 0 0.00
Short term investments 0 13,500 13,500 0.65
Total Investments 0 13,500 13,500 0.65
Net Borrowing 84,684 (2,049) 82,635 5.41

Page 50



4.0 Borrowing activity

4.1 At 31st March 2018, the Authority held £96m loans, an increase of £11m to the 
previous year. The year-end borrowing position and the year on year change is 
shown in table 2 below:

Table 2 Borrowing Position

Description

31st 

March 
2017     
£'000

2017/18 
Movement 

£'000

31st 

March 
2018    
£'000

Rate/ 
Return 

%
Public Works Loan Board 54,684 (2,549) 52,135 7.35
Banks (Lender's Option Borrower's Option  Loans) 12,000 0 12,000 4.50
Banks (fixed-term) 0 0 0 0.00
Local authorities (short-term) 18,000 14,000 32,000 0.61
Total Borrowing 84,684 11,451 96,135 4.73

4.2 The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty 
over the period for which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans 
should the Authority’s long-term plans change being a secondary objective. 

4.3 This strategy allowed the Authority to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk.

4.4 For the majority of the year the “cost of carry” analysis performed by the Authority’s 
treasury management advisor Arlingclose did not indicate value in borrowing in 
advance for future years’ planned expenditure and therefore none was taken. 
The Authority continues to hold £12m of LOBO (Lender’s Options Borrower’s Option) 
loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at 
set dates, following which the Authority has the option to either accept the new rate 
or to repay the loan at no additional cost. No banks exercised their option during 
2017/18.

5.0 Investment activity

5.1 The Authority holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. The year end investment position and 
the year on year change is shown in table3 below

Page 51



Table 3 Investment Position

Description

31st 

March 
2017     
£'000

2017/18 
Movement 

£'000

31st 

March 
2018    
£'000

Rate/ 
Return 

%
Banks 0 0 0 0
Building Societies 0 10,000 10,000 0.61
Government (inc local authorities) 0 3,500 3,500 0.75
Total investments 0 13,500 13,500 0.65

5.2 Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its 
funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 
before seeking the highest rate of return or yield. The Authority’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment income.

6.0 Performance and Financial Implications

6.1 The Authority measures the financial performance of its treasury management 
activities in terms of its impact on the revenue budget as shown in table 4 below.

Table 4 Performance

Description
Estimate 

£'000
Outturn 

£'000
Public Works Loan Board Loans 4,046 4,041
Lender's Option Borrower's Option  Loans 539 540
Short Term Borrowing 44 66
Short Term Investments (9) (31)
Total Borrowing 4,620 4,616

6.2 The outturn for debt interest paid in 2017/18 was £4.647m against a budgeted 
interest of £4.629m.

6.3 The outturn for investment income received in 2017/18 was £31,000 against a 
budgeted interest of £9,000.

7.0 Compliance Report

7.1 The Chief Finance Officer is pleased to report that all treasury management activities 
undertaken during 2017/18 complied fully with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the 
Authority’s approved Treasury Management Strategy. Compliance with specific Debt 
and investment limits are demonstrated in tables 5 and 6 below.

Page 52



Table 5 Debt limits

Description

2017/18 
Maximum     

£'000

31.3.18 
Actual 
£'000

2017/18 
Operational 
Boundary     

£'000

2017/18 
Authorised 

Limit          
£'000 Complied

Borrowing 97,957 97,957 107,240 117,914 

7.2 Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not 
significant if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in 
cashflow, and this is not counted as a compliance failure.

Table 6 Investment Limits

Description

2017/18 
Maximum     

£'000

31.3.18 
Actual 
£'000

2017/18 
Limit     
£'000 Complied

Banks and Building Societies 5,000 4,000 5,000 

UK Local Authorities 3,500 3,500 5,000 

8.0 Treasury Management Indicators

8.1 The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 
using the following indicators.

8.1.1 Interest Rate Exposures:

This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk. The upper 
limits on fixed and variable interest rate exposures, expressed as the amount of net 
interest payable was:

Description

31.3.18 
Actual 
£'000

2017/18 
Limit     
£'000 Complied

Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure 4,570 4,833 

Upper limit on variable interest rate exposure 554 586 

8.1.2 Maturity structure of Borrowing:

This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper 
and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were:

Page 53



Description
31.3.18 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit Lower Limit Complied

Under 12 months 6% 5% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 6% 6% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 20% 17% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 18% 23% 0% 

10 years and above 50% 49% 0% 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

This indicator is showing as non-compliant for three areas, the indicator was set 
using the 31st March 2017 year end position as an estimate and should have been 
forecast to the 31st March 2018 position. The result is that several loans have been 
repaid within 2017/18 and have moved into a lower bracket of one year less.

8.1.3 Principal Sums invested for Periods longer than 364 days:

The purpose of this indicator is to control the Authority’s exposure to the risk of 
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments. Long-term principal 
sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end were:

Description 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days 0 0 0

Complied   

Page 54



Appendix 1
External Context (Data as at 09/4/18)

Economic commentary

2017-18 was characterised by the push-pull from expectations of tapering of 
Quantitative Easing (QE) and the potential for increased policy rates in the US and 
Europe and from geopolitical tensions, which also had an impact.

The UK economy showed signs of slowing with latest estimates showing GDP, 
helped by an improving global economy, grew by 1.8% in calendar 2017, the same 
level as in 2016.  This was a far better outcome than the majority of forecasts 
following the EU Referendum in June 2016, but it also reflected the international 
growth momentum generated by the increasingly buoyant US economy and the re-
emergence of the Eurozone economies. 

The inflationary impact of rising import prices, a consequence of the fall in sterling 
associated with the EU referendum result, resulted in year-on-year CPI rising to 
3.1% in November before falling back to 2.7% in February 2018. Consumers felt the 
squeeze as real average earnings growth, i.e. after inflation, turned negative before 
slowly recovering.  The labour market showed resilience as the unemployment rate 
fell back to 4.3% in January 2018.  The inherent weakness in UK business 
investment was not helped by political uncertainty following the surprise General 
Election in June and by the lack of clarity on Brexit, the UK and the EU only reaching 
an agreement in March 2018 on a transition which will now be span Q2 2019 to Q4 
2020. The Withdrawal Treaty is yet to be ratified by the UK parliament and those of 
the other 27 EU member states and new international trading arrangements are yet 
to be negotiated and agreed.

The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) increased Bank Rate by 
0.25% in November 2017. It was significant in that it was the first rate hike in ten 
years, although in essence the MPC reversed its August 2016 cut following the 
referendum result. The February Inflation Report indicated the MPC was keen to 
return inflation to the 2% target over a more conventional (18-24 month) horizon with 
‘gradual’ and ‘limited’ policy tightening. Although in March two MPC members voted 
to increase policy rates immediately and the MPC itself stopped short of committing 
itself to the timing of the next increase in rates, the minutes of the meeting suggested 
that an increase in May 2018 was highly likely. 

In contrast, economic activity in the Eurozone gained momentum and although the 
European Central Bank removed reference to an ‘easing bias’ in its market 
communications and had yet to confirm its QE intention when asset purchases end 
in September 2018, the central bank appeared some way off normalising interest 
rates.  The US economy grew steadily and, with its policy objectives of price stability 
and maximising employment remaining on track, the Federal Reserve Open Market 
Committee (FOMC) increased interest rates in December 2017 by 0.25% and again 
in March, raising the policy rate target range to 1.50% - 1.75%. The Fed is expected 
to deliver two more increases in 2018 and a further two in 2019.  However, the 
imposition of tariffs on a broadening range of goods initiated by the US, which has 

Page 55



led to retaliation by China, could escalate into a deep-rooted trade war having 
broader economic consequences including inflation rising rapidly, warranting more 
interest rate hikes.  

Financial markets 

The increase in Bank Rate resulted in higher money markets rates: 1-month, 3-
month and 12-month LIBID rates averaged 0.32%, 0.39% and 0.69% and at 31st 
March 2018 were 0.43%, 0.72% and 1.12% respectively.
Gilt yields displayed significant volatility over the twelve-month period with the 
change in sentiment in the Bank of England’s outlook for interest rates. The yield on 
the 5-year gilts which had fallen to 0.35% in mid-June rose to 1.65% by the end of 
March. 10-year gilt yields also rose from their lows of 0.93% in June to 1.65% by 
mid-February before falling back to 1.35% at year-end. 20-year gilt yields followed an 
even more erratic path with lows of 1.62% in June, and highs of 2.03% in February, 
only to plummet back down to 1.70% by the end of the financial year.

The FTSE 100 had a strong finish to calendar 2017, reaching yet another record high 
of 7688, before plummeting below 7000 at the beginning of 2018 in the global equity 
correction and sell-off.  

Local Authority Regulatory Changes

Revised CIPFA Codes

CIPFA published revised editions of the Treasury Management and Prudential 
Codes in December 2017. The required changes from the 2011 Code are being 
incorporated into Treasury Management Strategies and monitoring reports.

The 2017 Prudential Code introduces the requirement for a Capital Strategy which 
provides a high-level overview of the long-term context of capital expenditure and 
investment decisions and their associated risks and rewards along with an overview 
of how risk is managed for future financial sustainability. Where this strategy is 
produced and approved by full Council, the determination of the Treasury 
Management Strategy can be delegated to a committee. The Code also expands on 
the process and governance issues of capital expenditure and investment decisions. 
The Authority will prepare a Capital Strategy for the 2019/20 financial year. 

In the 2017 Treasury Management Code the definition of ‘investments’ has been 
widened to include financial assets as well as non-financial assets held primarily for 
financial returns such as investment property. These, along with other investments 
made for non-treasury management purposes such as loans supporting service 
outcomes and investments in subsidiaries, must be discussed in the Capital Strategy 
or Investment Strategy.  Additional risks of such investments are to be set out clearly 
and the impact on financial sustainability is be identified and reported. 

Page 56



Amendments to Capital Finance Legislation

The Welsh Government published the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 in March 2018. It amends and 
clarifies erstwhile regulations so that investments in corporate bonds and shares in 
FCA (Financial Conduct Authority) approved UCITS (Undertakings for the Collective 
Investment of Transferable Securities) funds, Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) 
and investment schemes approved by HM Treasury are no longer treated as capital 
expenditure. This legislation came into effect in the 2017/18 financial year. It enables 
the Authority to invest in these instruments, if appropriate for the Authority’s 
circumstance and objectives, without the potential revenue cost of MRP (Minimum 
Revenue Provision) and without the proceeds from sale being considered a capital 
receipt.

MiFID II  

As a result of the second Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II), from 
3rd January 2018 local authorities were automatically treated as retail clients but 
could “opt up” to professional client status, providing certain criteria was met which 
includes having an investment balance of at least £10 million and the person(s) 
authorised to make investment decisions on behalf of the authority have at least a 
year’s relevant professional experience. In addition, the regulated financial services 
firms to whom this directive applies have had to assess that that person(s) have the 
expertise, experience and knowledge to make investment decisions and understand 
the risks involved.  

The Authority has met the conditions to opt up to professional status and has done 
so in order to maintain its erstwhile MiFID II status prior to January 2018. The 
Authority will continue to have access to products including money market funds, 
pooled funds, treasury bills, bonds, shares and to financial advice. 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Treasury Management Half Year Review Report 
2018/19

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Treasury Reports outline the Council’s performance for the first six months of 
2018/19 in respect of:

 The management of the organisation’s cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions.

 The effective control of the risks associated with those activities.
 The pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Treasury Management Half Year Review Report for 2018/19 be received.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Treasury Management Half Year Review Report 2018/19 is attached at 
Appendix A, for Members’ attention. This Report is a requirement of the Chartered 
Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management.

3.2 The Council employs Arlingclose as its Treasury Management consultant to give 
specialist advice on all Treasury Management matters including borrowing and 
investment requirements. This advice has been followed in producing the Annual 
Treasury Report.

Date Written 16th November 2018
Report Author Adele Lewis
Service Area Accountancy
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Financial information and performance is included within the body of the report.

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1
Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4  0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the Treasury Management Policy and Annual 
Investment strategy supports the Council to achieve its Well-being Objectives through its 
Treasury Management Activities.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Prudential Indicators – 
Council Tax 2018/19

Council 7th March 2018 Accountancy/Intranet Committee 
Agendas and Minutes

Treasury Management 
Policy and Annual 

Council 7th March 2018 Accountancy/Intranet Committee 
Agendas and Minutes

Page 60



Investment Strategy 
2018/19 (Included within 
Medium Term Financial 
Plan Report 2018-19 to 

2021-22)
Treasury Management 

2018/19 Working 
Papers

April 2018 to September 
2018

Accountancy

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 61



Appendix A

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REVIEW REPORT 2018/19

1.0 Introduction and background
1.1 In March 2010 the Authority adopted he Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the 
CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve treasury management semi-
annual and annual reports. 

1.2 The Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2018/19 was approved at full 
Council on 7th March 2018.The Authority has borrowed and invested substantial 
sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of 
invested sums and the revenue effect of changing interest rates. The successful 
identification, monitoring and control of risk are therefore central to the Authority’s 
treasury management strategy.

1.3 Following consultation in 2017, CIPFA published new versions of the Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (Prudential Code) and the Treasury 
Management Code of Practice but has yet to publish the local authority specific 
Guidance Notes to the latter. 

1.4 The updated Prudential Code includes a new requirement for local authorities to 
provide a Capital Strategy, which is to be a summary document approved by full 
Council covering capital expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-
treasury investments. The Authority will be producing its Capital Strategy later in 
2018-19 for approval by full Council. 

1.5 The Welsh Government (WG) asked for comments on changes to its Guidance on 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  These include clarification or changes to 
terminology and the calculation of MRP. 

2.0 External Context

2.1 Appendix 1 outlines an Economic for the first six months of the 2018/19 financial 
year.

3.0 Treasury Management Summary 

3.1 On 31st March 2018, the Authority had net borrowing of £83m arising from its 
revenue and capital income and expenditure. The Authority’s strategy was to 
maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known 
as internal borrowing, in order to reduce risk and keep interest costs low. The 
Treasury management position as at 30th September 2018 and the change during 
the period is shown in table 1 below

Page 62



Table1 Treasury Management Summary

Description

31st 

March 
2018     
£'000

2018/19 
Movement 

£'000

30th 

September 
2018    
£'000

Rate/ 
Return 

%
Long term borrowing 60,948 (1,275) 59,673 7.14
Short term borrowing 35,187 3,000 38,187 1.43
Total Borrowing 96,135 1,725 97,860 4.91
Long term investments 0 0 0 0.00
Short term investments 13,500 (3,500) 10,000 0.69
Total Investments 13,500 (3,500) 10,000 0.69
Net Borrowing 82,635 5,225 87,860 5.39

4.0 Borrowing activity

4.1 At 30th September 2018, the Authority held £98m loans, an increase of £2m to the 
31st March 2018 position, as part of its strategy for funding previous and current 
years’ capital programmes. Outstanding loans on 30th September are summarised in 
table 2 below:

Table2 Borrowing Position

Description

31st 

March 
2017/18    

£'000

2018/19 
Movement 

£'000

30th 

September 
2018    
£'000

Rate/ 
Return 

%
Public Works Loan Board 52,135 (1,275) 50,860 7.23
Banks (Lender's Option Borrower's Option  Loans) 12,000 0 12,000 4.50
Banks (fixed-term) 0 0 0 0.00
Local authorities (short-term) 32,000 3,000 35,000 0.72
Total Borrowing 96,135 1,725 97,860 4.57

4.2 The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty 
over the period for which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans 
should the Authority’s long-term plans change being a secondary objective. 

4.3 In keeping with these objectives, no new long term borrowing was undertaken, while 
£1.275m of existing loans were allowed to mature without replacement to the 30th 
September 2018. This strategy enabled the Authority to reduce net borrowing costs 
(despite foregone investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. 

4.4 With short-term interest rates remaining much lower than long-term rates, the 
Authority considered it to be more cost effective in the near term to use short-term 
loans instead.

4.5 The Authority continues to hold £12m of LOBO (Lender’s Options Borrower’s Option) 
loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at 

Page 63



set dates, following which the Authority has the option to either accept the new rate 
or to repay the loan at no additional cost. No banks exercised their option during the 
period.

5.0 Investment activity

5.1 The Authority holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. The investment position is shown in 
table 3 below

Table 3 Investment Position

Description

31st 

March 
2018    
£'000

2018/19 
Movement 

£'000

30th 

September 
2018    
£'000

Rate/ 
Return 

%
Banks 0 0 0 0
Building Societies 10,000 0 10,000 0.69
Government (inc local authorities) 3,500 (3,500) 0 0.00
Total investments 13,500 (1,275) 10,000 0.69

5.2 Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its 
funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 
before seeking the highest rate of return or yield. The Authority’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment income.

6.0 Performance and Financial Implications

6.1 The Authority measures the financial performance of its treasury management 
activities in terms of its impact on the revenue budget as shown in table 4 below.

Table 4 Performance

Description
Estimate 

£'000
Outturn 

£'000
Public Works Loan Board Loans 3,777 1,919
Lender's Option Borrower's Option  Loans 0 271
Short Term Borrowing 280 81
Short Term Investments (35) (39)
Total Borrowing 4,022 2,232

The estimate detailed above is the full year position, the outturn is the position to 30th 
September 2018. The estimates were calculated on the basis of repaying the 
Authority’s Lender Option Borrower Option Loans (LOBO), variances against budget 

Page 64



will now be experienced at year end as the LOBO loans were not repaid at the start 
of the financial year as reported to Cabinet on 25th July 2018.

7.0 Compliance Report

7.1 The Chief Finance Officer reports that all treasury management activities undertaken 
during the period complied fully with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the Authority’s 
approved Treasury Management Strategy. Compliance with specific debt and 
investment limits are demonstrated in tables 5 and 6 below.

Table 5 Debt limits

Description

2018/19 
Maximum     

£'000

30.9.18 
Actual 
£'000

2018/19 
Operational 
Boundary     

£'000

2018/19 
Authorised 

Limit          
£'000 Complied

Borrowing 99,682 99,682 117,211 128,667 

Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not 
significant if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in 
cashflow, and this is not counted as a compliance failure.

Table 6 Investment Limits

Description

2018/19 
Maximum     

£'000

30.9.18 
Actual 
£'000

2018/19 
Limit     
£'000 Complied

Banks and Building Societies 5,000 5,000 5,000 

UK Local Authorities 2,000 0 5,000 

UK Government 0 0 As required 

8.0 Treasury Management Indicators

8.1 The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 
using the following indicators.

8.1.1 Interest Rate Exposures:

This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk. The upper 
limits on fixed and variable interest rate exposures, expressed as the amount of net 
interest payable was:

Page 65



 

Description

30.9.18 
Actual 
£'000

2018/19 
Limit     
£'000 Complied

Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure 2,210 4,022 

Upper limit on variable interest rate exposure 268 201 

The estimate detailed above is the full year position, the outturn is the position to 30th 
September 2018. The estimates were calculated on the basis of repaying the 
Authority’s Lender Option Borrower Option Loans (LOBO), however the Authority’s 
LOBO loans were not repaid at the start of the financial year as reported to Cabinet 
on 25th July 2018. The result of not repaying the LOBO loans is that the interest 
payable on these loans will now be reflected as Variable interest rather than fixed.

8.1.2 Maturity structure of Borrowing:

This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper 
and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were:

Description
30.9.18 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit Complied

Under 12 months 6% 7% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 5% 7% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 20% 20% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 18% 17% 0% 

10 years and above 51% 51% 0% 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

The position to 30th September 2018 is non-compliant for one timescale bracket. The 
indicator limits have been calculated to the year end position by which time loans will 
be repaid and will move within the brackets to comply with the final year end position.

8.1.3 Principal Sums invested for Periods longer than 364 days:

The purpose of this indicator is to control the Authority’s exposure to the risk of 
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments. The limits on the 
long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end were:

Page 66



Description 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days 0 0 0
Complied   

9.0 Outlook for the remainder of 2018/19

9.1 Having raised policy rates in August 2018 to 0.75%, the Bank of England’s Monetary 
Policy Committee (MPC) has maintained expectations of a slow rise in interest rates 
over the forecast horizon.

9.2 The MPC has a definite bias towards tighter monetary policy but is reluctant to push 
interest rate expectations too strongly. While policymakers are wary of domestic 
inflationary pressures over the next two years, it is believed that the MPC members 
consider both that (a) ultra-low interest rates result in other economic problems, and 
that (b) higher Bank Rate will be a more effective weapon should downside Brexit 
risks crystallise and cuts are required. 

9.3 Arlingclose’s central case is for Bank Rate to rise twice in 2019. The risks are 
weighted to the downside. The UK economic environment is relatively soft, despite 
seemingly strong labour market data. GDP growth recovered somewhat in Q2 2018, 
but the annual growth rate of 1.2% remains well below the long term average

9.4 The view is that the UK economy still faces a challenging outlook as the minority 
government continues to negotiate the country's exit from the European Union. 
Central bank actions and geopolitical risks, such as prospective trade wars, have 
and will continue to produce significant volatility in financial markets, including bond 
markets.

Page 67



Appendix 1
External Context

Economic background
Oil prices rose by 23% over the six months to around $82/barrel. UK Consumer Price 
Inflation (CPI) for August rose to 2.7% year/year, above the consensus forecast and 
that of the Bank of England’s in its August Inflation Report, as the effects of sterling’s 
large depreciation in 2016 began to fade.  The most recent labour market data for 
July 2018 showed the unemployment rate at 4%, it’s lowest since 1975. The 3-month 
average annual growth rate for regular pay, i.e. excluding bonuses, was 2.9% 
providing some evidence that a shortage of workers is providing support to wages.  
However real wages (i.e. adjusted for inflation) grew only by 0.2%, a marginal 
increase unlikely to have had much effect on households. 

The rebound in quarterly GDP growth in Q2 to 0.4% appeared to overturn the 
weakness in Q1 which was largely due to weather-related factors. However, the 
detail showed much of Q2 GDP growth was attributed to an increase in inventories.  
Year/year GDP growth at 1.2% also remains below trend. The Bank of England 
made no change to monetary policy at its meetings in May and June, however 
hawkish minutes and a 6-3 vote to maintain rates was followed by a unanimous 
decision for a rate rise of 0.25% in August, taking Bank Rate to 0.75%.  

Having raised rates in March, the US Federal Reserve again increased its target 
range of official interest rates in each of June and September by 0.25% to the current 
2%-2.25%. Markets now expect one further rise in 2018. 

The escalating trade war between the US and China as tariffs announced by the 
Trump administration appeared to become an entrenched dispute, damaging not just 
to China but also other Asian economies in the supply chain. The fallout, combined 
with tighter monetary policy, risks contributing to a slowdown in global economic 
activity and growth in 2019. 

The EU Withdrawal Bill, which repeals the European Communities Act 1972 that took 
the UK into the EU and enables EU law to be transferred into UK law, narrowly made 
it through Parliament. With just six months to go when Article 50 expires on 29th 
March 2019, neither the Withdrawal Agreement between the UK and the EU which 
will be legally binding on separation issues and the financial settlement, nor its annex 
which will outline the shape of their future relationship, have been finalised, 
extending the period of economic uncertainty.

Financial markets
Gilt yields displayed marked volatility during the period, particularly following Italy’s 
political crisis in late May when government bond yields saw sharp moves akin to 
those at the height of the European financial crisis with falls in yield in safe-haven 
UK, German and US government bonds.  Over the period, despite the volatility, the 
bet change in gilt yields was small.  The 5-year benchmark gilt only rose marginally 
from 1.13% to 1.16%.  There was a larger increase in 10-year gilt yields from 1.37% 
to 1.57% and in the 20-year gilt yield from 1.74% to 1.89%.  The increase in Bank 
Rate resulted in higher in money markets rates. 1-month, 3-month and 12-month 
LIBID rates averaged 0.56%, 0.70% and 0.95% respectively over the period.

Page 68



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Review Of Statement Of Licensing Policy Under 
The Gambling Act 2005

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council in accordance with the Gambling Act 2005 
has a legal requirement to review its Gambling Licensing Policy every three years.

1.2 The Gambling Licensing Policy sets out how the Council will regulate gambling 
licensed premises, permits and authorisations for the temporary use of premises 
amongst other matters.

1.3 On the 18th July 2018 a revised policy was put before the Planning Regulatory & 
Licensing Committee with members resolving that the same be put for public 
consultation. 

1.4 The revised Gambling Licensing Policy must come into force on the 31st January 
2019. The Act requires that the Gambling Licensing Policy is published for a period 
of at least 4 weeks before the date on which it comes into effect.

1.5 The consultation has concluded and after taking into account the responses received 
during the consultation period the policy was revised by the Head of Public 
Protection and Housing. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The revised Statement of Licensing Policy 2019 – 2022 be approved and to come 
into force on the 31st January 2019.

Date Written 4th December 2018
Report Author Simon Jones
Service Area Licensing & Trading Standards
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires a Licensing Authority to prepare and 
publish a statement of its Licensing Policy at least every three years. The Authority’s 
existing statement came into effect on the 31st January 2016 and therefore the policy 
needs to be reviewed with a revised statement of licensing principles in force by the 
31st January 2019. This will be the fourth time the Policy has been revised.

3.2 The current Statement of Licensing Policy 2016 – 2019 came into force on the 31st 
January 2016 and in accordance with the statutory requirements is effective for three 
years which means that the Council’s new Revised Policy must be adopted and 
published to take effect from the 31st January 2019. This Policy will then be effective 
for a three year period ending on the 31st January 2022. 

3.3 To comply with this requirement, a revised Statement of Licensing Policy was drafted 
in line with national guidance and in accordance with current legislation. On the 18th 
July 2018 the revised Policy was considered and approved by the Planning 
Regulatory & Licensing Committee. 

3.4 Following approval and in accordance with guidance it was put for Consultation over 
a 12 week period from the 20th August 2018 to the 12th November 2018. This 12 
week period was consistent with previous policy consultations and proportionate 
when considering the changes proposed to the policy. 

3.5 The Gambling Act 2005 states that before determining its Policy for any three year 
period, the licensing authority must consult the consultees listed at section 349(3) of 
the Act namely: 

a) the chief officer of police for the area;

b) one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area; and

c) One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s 
functions under this Act.

The authority consulted with those organisations/persons/bodies set out in paragraph 
1.5 on page 6 of the draft policy.

3.6 A copy of the draft Policy was published on the Council’s website, facebook and 
twitter. It was also put for consultation using Smart Survey.

3.7 There were no responses to the public consultation with the only response from the 
statutory consultees. The responses came from Gosschalks Solicitors who act for 
the Association of British Bookmakers (ABB) and another response was from the 
organisation GamCare. 

3.8 The suggested amendments were considered by the Head of Public Protection and 
Housing and the Policy was amended to reflect the suggested amendments. 

Page 70



Appendix 2 lists the suggestions made in the consultation responses and the reason 
why they have been included fully/partially accepted or omitted. A copy of the draft 
policy reflecting the amendments is contained in the background papers to this 
report.

3.9 Should Council resolve to adopt the Policy the Licensing Department will  prior to the 
Policy coming into force on 31 January 2019 publish the revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy at least 4 weeks before the date the policy will take effect in the 
following ways:-

a) Publish the revised Statement of Licensing Policy on the Council’s website 
and make the Policy available for inspection by the public at one or more 
public libraries in the borough.

b) Publish a notice no later than the first day on which the revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy is made available on the Council’s website in one or more of 
the following places:

(i)   a local newspaper circulating in the area covered by the statement;
(ii)   a local newspaper, circular, or similar document circulating in the area 

covered by the statement;
(iii)  a public notice board in or near the principal office of the authority;
(iv)  a public notice board on the premises of public libraries in the area 

covered by the statement.

c) The notice shall specify:

(i)    the date on which the statement will be published;
(ii)   the date on which the statement will come into effect;
(iii)  the internet address where the statement will be published;
(iv)  the address of the library at which the statement  is published.

4.0 NO CASINOS RESOLUTION

4.1 Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 allows a licensing authority to resolve not to 
issue casino premises licenses within its boundaries.

4.2 At all previous Full Council meetings where the Gambling Policy has been 
considered, the Council has decided to approve a “no-casinos” resolution.

4.3 The adoption of a no-casinos resolution requires ratification every three years.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no costs linked to approval of the Licensing Policy. However if adopted by 
Full Council there may be a cost incurred if the public notice is published in a local 
newspaper circulating in the area.  If this is done the cost of the same will be met 
from the Licensing Department’s budget .

Page 71



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5  0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language)  0 of 10  0 of 10  10 of 10

4. Biodiversity  0 of 1  0 of 1  1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that this will allow the public and the licencing trade to 
plan ahead knowing the Council’s policy for the next 3 years

The main negative impacts are - none

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER

 FOR GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 72



APPENDIX 1

GAMBLING LICENSING POLICY CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Gosschalks Solicitors have suggested a variety of alterations to the Gambling Licensing Policy which 
are as follows:

1. Paragraph 1.4 in relation to the Licensing Objectives the word ‘promote’ has been changed to 
‘have regard’ in two places. 

This has been accepted and the revised policy has been amended, to maintain the distinction 
of the Gambling Act 2005 premises licences and those issued under the Licensing Act 2003.

2. Paragraph 2.4 the removal of the penultimate sentence.

The sentence states that:

“Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling premises should 
not be located, this Statement will be updated.” 

This has been accepted and the revised policy has been amended. It envisaged is likely to be 
unlawful and is certainly contrary to the overriding principle that the licensing 
authority must “aim to permit” the use of premises for gambling.

3. Section 2.8 the request from Gosschalks Solicitors states that ‘to include that that the 
mandatory and default conditions are usually sufficient to ensure operation that is 
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. This should be made clear and the 
draft policy should state that the starting point for consideration of any application is 
that it will be granted only subject to the mandatory and default 
conditions. Thereafter, the policy should state that additional conditions will only be 
imposed where there is clear evidence of a risk to the licensing objectives in the 
circumstances of a particular case that requires that the mandatory and default 
conditions be supplemented.’

This has been accepted in part and the following sentence is added to the section:

“The mandatory and default conditions are usually sufficient to ensure that the operation of a 
premises is consistent with the licensing objectives. Additional conditions may only be imposed 
where there is a risk to the licensing objectives requiring the mandatory and default conditions 
to be supplemented.”  

The request to state in the policy that there must be clear evidence of a risk to the licensing 
objectives in order to impose additional conditions has not been included. It is envisaged that 
there may be limited evidence if the application relates to a brand ‘New Premises’. To include 
this part of the request would be limiting to the Licensing Committee whose role it is to make 
such decisions based on the information in front of them with for which they must provide 
clear and concise reasons.

4. Chapter 6 ‘Risk Assessment – Premises’ under ‘Matters relating to children and young 
persons’ the request is to remove the following statement

Page 73



 “Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti social behaviour, including such 
activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking, etc.” 

 This request has been accepted as it is over prescriptive and covered under two other areas 
in this section which are “Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, café’s, 
shops and any other place where children are attracted” and “known anti-social behaviour 
issues”

5. Chapter 6 ‘Risk Assessment – Premises’ under ‘Matters relating to vulnerable adults’ the 
request is to remove the following statement:

“Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit 
payments.” 

Gosschalks Solicitors stated that they would not request the removal of this statement if the 
licensing authority has pre-determined that persons in receipt of benefits are automatically 
vulnerable or more likely to commit crime as a result of gambling. This is the only way that 
this could be relevant to an assessment of any risk assessment of any risk to the licensing 
objectives.

This section is for matters to be ‘considered’ when making a risk assessment. The authority 
has not pre-determined that persons in receipt of benefits are automatically vulnerable but It 
is reasonable that should a Licensed Gambling Premises identify a pattern of such gaming 
trends, they should identify and address this in their local risk assessment as a responsible 
premise. The above statement therefore remains within the Policy.

6. Chapter 6 ‘Risk Assessment – Premises’ under ‘Other issues that may be considered’ the 
request is to remove the following statement:

“Matters of faith, including all religious or faith denominations including proximity to churches, 
mosques, temples or any other place of worship.”

Traditionally such premises are considered as only being used as places of worship, however in 
recent years local churches have become actively involved in help with the homeless in the 
County Borough providing assistance, food and shelter. The use of local churches and halls may 
also provide other active schemes forms of community support which may attract children, 
young people, or vulnerable adults.  It is envisaged that there will be occasions when Licensed 
Gambling Premises may have to consider such premises in their risk assessments. This request 
has therefore not been accepted. 

7. Chapter 6 ‘Risk Assessment – Premises’ under ‘Other issues that may be considered’ the 
request is to remove the following statements:

“the economic make-up of the area”
“the surrounding night time economy”
“known anti-social behaviour issues”

It is not accepted that these should be removed. This section includes items which ‘may’ be 
considered this would be dependent on the location of the Gambling Premises and it has 
been determined these would be relevant issues in some areas of the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough.

Page 74



These additional conditions are also included in the Gambling Licensing Forum 
Monmouthshire  Gambling Licensing Groups draft Policy.

8. Section ‘Local Risks and Control measures’ it has been requested that this section is overly 
prescriptive and the draft policy does not make it clear that the form and content of 
any risk assessment it a matter for the operator.   The policy should be clear that it 
contains advice and recommendations rather than outlining requirements with regard 
to the content and form of any risk assessment.   Accordingly this section has been 
redrafted.

As there is no format for a risk assessment set out in the Licensing Act or Regulations the 
following sentence is to be included at the start of the section:

 “The form and content of the risk assessment is a matter for the operator. However the 
paragraphs below provide advice and recommendations for the potential content and form of 
any risk assessment”.  

GamCare sent an email response received from GamCare is a generic one as GamCare do not have 
the resources available to respond individually to each Licensing Authority. GamCare provided a list 
of factors which they believe would be helpful for consideration.

On assessment the draft Licensing Policy covered almost all the factors raised. There was one 
exception. Under Chapter 6 ‘Risk Assessment – Premises’ ‘Matters relating to children and young 
persons GamCare suggested the inclusion of “the proximity to colleges”. The revised Gambling 
Licensing Policy has been updated to include this factor.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL 
COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

GAMBLING ACT 2005

STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

Approved:              
Commencement:        6th January 2019

Draft v.2 – July 2018

Further information can be obtained from:
Licensing Section
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Civic Centre
Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil
CF47 8AN
Tel: 01685 725000
Email: licensing@merthyr.gov.uk

Page 77



1

Contents
1. Statement of Licensing Policy........................................................................3

1.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................3
1.2 Profile of the Borough ...............................................................................4
1.3 Objectives .....................................................................................................5
1.4 The Licensing Authority Functions .......................................................5
1.5 Consultation.................................................................................................6
1.6 Responsible Authorities ...........................................................................7
1.7 Interested Parties........................................................................................7
1.8 Exchange Of Information..........................................................................8
1.9 Enforcement.................................................................................................8
1.10 Fundamental Rights ...............................................................................9
1.11 Integrating Strategies and Avoiding Duplication ...........................9
1.12 Sustainable Development Community Strategy...........................10

2. Premises Licences .............................................................................................10
2.1 General Principles ....................................................................................10
2.2  Appropriate Licence Environment..........................................................13
2.3  Premises “ready for gambling” ...............................................................13
2.4  Other Considerations .................................................................................14
2.5  Duplication with other Regulatory Regimes: .......................................14
2.6  Licensing Objectives:.................................................................................15
2.7  Bet-Watch: .....................................................................................................17
2.8  Conditions:....................................................................................................17
2.9  Door Supervisors: ...................................................................................... 19
2.10  Adult Gaming Centres..............................................................................19
2.11 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres......................................20
2.12 Casinos ....................................................................................................20
2.13  Bingo Premises..........................................................................................20
2.14  Betting Premises .......................................................................................21
2.15  Tracks ...........................................................................................................22
2.16  Gaming Machines: ....................................................................................23
2.17  Betting Machines: .....................................................................................23
2.18  Applications and plans:...........................................................................23

    2.19 Travelling Fairs ...........................................................................................24
2.20  Provisional Statements............................................................................24

3. Permits/Temporary And Occasional Use Notices...................................25

Page 78



2

3.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits
26

3.2  (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits ..................26
3.3  Prize Gaming Permits.................................................................................27
3.4 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits .........................................28
3.5 Temporary Use Notices ..........................................................................29
3.6 Occasional Use Notices..........................................................................30

4. Small Society Lotteries ..................................................................................30
5.    Decision Making ..............................................................................................32

5.1 Administration, Exercise and Delegation of Functions .................32
5.2 Appeals Procedure...................................................................................32
5.3 Giving Reasons for Decisions ..............................................................33
5.4 Implementing the Determination of The Magistrates’ Court.........33
5.5 Complaints against Licensed Premises .............................................33
5.6 Reviews .......................................................................................................33

6. Licensing Conditions and Codes of Practice 2015 (LCCP) ..................35
7. Further Information .........................................................................................43
Appendix A   Access to Premises ......................................................................45
Appendix B   Schedule of Delegation of Licensing Functions and Decisions
......................................................................................................................................46
Appendix C     Definitions .....................................................................................48
Appendix D    Summary of Machine Provisions by Premises.....................49

Page 79



3

1. Statement of Licensing Policy

1.1 Introduction

The Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council to prepare and publish a “Statement 
of Licensing Policy” that sets out the principles the Council proposes to apply in 
exercising its licensing functions when dealing with applications for Premises 
Licences, as required by the Act.

This Policy Statement takes effect on 31st January 2016. This Licensing Authority 
will update and publish a new Licensing Policy whenever necessary but in any 
case within 3 years of the date of this Policy, and will fully consult with partners, 
trade associations and residents groups as appropriate at that time, any 
representations received will be considered at that time.  

However where updates are required due to changes in national legislation, 
statutory guidance or contact details the council reserves the right to amend this 
policy without consultation where it is necessary to ensure the policy reflects 
national legislation or statutory guidance.

In producing the final Policy Statement the Council declares that it has had regard 
to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission, any codes of practice and any 
responses from those consulted on the Policy Statement.

The Council has a legal obligation to comply with all legislation that promotes 
equality it has a policy in place to promote equality to all.  The Planning and 
Public Protection Service Area has its own equalities framework which is 
available for inspection on our website. Licensing of persons and premises under 
the Gambling Act 2005 will actively promote equality of service and enforcement 
to all members of the community.

The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the European Convention on Human 
Rights and makes it unlawful for a local authority to act in a way that is 
incompatible with such a right. The council will have regard to the Human 
Rights Act when considering any licensing issues, and particularly in respect of 
the way in which applications are considered and enforcement activities are 
carried out.

The council acknowledges that it may need to depart from this Policy and from 
the guidance issued under the Act in individual and exceptional circumstances, 
and where the case merits such a decision in the interests of the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. Any such decision will be taken in consultation with the 
appropriate legal advisors for the Licensing Authority, and the reasons for any 
such departure will be fully recorded.

Page 80



4

1.2 Profile of the Borough

Merthyr Tydfil is a place of exceptional history. The County Borough lies at the 
top of the Taff Valley, 25 miles north of the Bristol Channel and at the foot of the 
Brecon Beacons mountains.  Nearly 1/5 of the Authority lies within the Brecon 
Beacons National Park. 

Nowadays the County Borough is home to 59,065 people. The town is 
strategically located at the intersection of the A470 and the A465 Heads of the 
Valleys Road. The A470 links Merthyr Tydfil with the M4 motorway and Cardiff, 
the capital city of Wales, which is approximately a 30 minute drive. 

Page 81



5

1.3 Objectives

In exercising most of its functions under the Gambling Act 2005 the Council, as 
the Licensing Authority, must have regard to the following licensing objectives:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime;

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way;
 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed 

or exploited by gambling.

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated:  “The requirement 
in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling”.
 
The Licensing Authority is aware that, as per Section 153, in making decisions 
about premises licences and temporary use notices it should aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling insofar as it thinks it:

 In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission;

 In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

 Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives;
 In accordance with the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy.

1.4 The Licensing Authority Functions

The Council is required under the Act to:

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are 
to take place by issuing Premises Licences;

    Issue Provisional Statements;
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 

undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits 
and/or Club Machine Permits;

    Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs;
 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 

unlicensed family entertainment centres;
 Receive notification from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing 

Act 2003) of the use of two or fewer gaming machines;
 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed 

to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines;

   Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds;
    Issue Prize Gaming Permits;
    Receive and endorse Temporary Use Notices;
    Receive Occasional Use Notices;

Page 82



6

 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 
licences issued (see section below on information exchange);

 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 
functions.

It should be noted that local licensing authorities are not involved in licensing 
remote gambling at all, which is regulated by the Gambling Commission via 
Operator Licences.  

The Council recognises that the licensing function is only one means of having 
regard to the three objectives and should not therefore be seen as a means for 
solving all problems within the community.  The Council will therefore continue to 
work in partnership with neighbouring authorities, South Wales Police, 
Community Safety Partnership, local businesses, local people and those involved 
in child protection to have regard to the licensing objectives as outlined.  In 
addition, the Council recognises its duty under Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998, with regard to the prevention of crime and disorder.

1.5 Consultation

The Council has consulted widely upon this Statement before finalising and 
publishing.  A list of those persons consulted is provided below, in line with the 
Act and the Gambling Commission’s Guidance.  Further details, together with a 
list of comments made and the consideration by the Council of those comments is 
available on request.

 The Chief Officer of Police;
 The Fire Authority;
 Representatives of the holders of various licences for premises within the 

County Borough who will be affected by this Policy;
 Bodies representing businesses and residents in the County Borough;
 Departments (including Responsible Authorities) within the Council with an 

interest in the licensing of gambling;
 Local Safeguarding Children Board;
 H.M. Revenue and Customs;
 Local Health Board.

Consultation took place between the 17th August 2018 and the 9th November 
2018 and, as far as practicable, the Council followed the Consultation Principles 
issued by the government and is available at  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance 

This policy was approved at a meeting of the Full Council on the XXXXXXX and 
was published on the XXXXXXXXX and made available for inspection at the 
Merthyr Tydfil Central Library and on the Council’s website at 
www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance


7

1.6 Responsible Authorities

In exercising the Council’s powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, 
in writing, a body that is competent to advise the Council about the protection of 
children from harm, the following principles have been applied:

 The need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of 
the Council’s area;

 The need for the body to include senior and responsible representatives of 
appropriate public bodies in the county borough area, who have as a 
principal duty, responsibility for the protection of children from harm

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance this Council designates 
the Safeguarding manager, Social Services for this purpose.  Details of the 
bodies identified under the Act that are to be treated as Responsible Authorities 
are available from the Licensing Section.

1.7 Interested Parties

Interested Parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply 
for a review of an existing licence based on the three licensing objectives as 
detailed in paragraph 1.3 of this Policy Statement.
An Interested Party is someone who:-

(a) Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities;

(b) Has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities;   
or

(c)   Represents persons in either of the two groups above.

The principles the Council will apply to determine whether a person is an 
Interested Party are:

Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This Council will not apply a rigid rule 
to its decision-making.  It will consider the examples of considerations provided in 
the Gambling Commissions’ Guidance for local authorities.  It will also consider 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance that “business interests” should be given 
the widest possible interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups, 
medical practices and the Local Health Board.

Interested Parties can be persons who are democratically elected, such as 
Councillors and MP’s.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an 
interested person will be required as long as the Councillor/MP represents the 
ward likely to be affected.  Likewise, parish councils likely to be affected will be 
considered as interested parties. Other than these, however, this Council will 
generally require written evidence that a person, body (e.g. an advocate/relative) 
‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or business interests that 
might be affected by the authorised activities.   Correspondence from one of 
these persons, requesting the representation is sufficient.

Page 84



8

If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views, 
then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the Licensing and 
Gambling Sub-Committee dealing with the licence application or in any other way 
have a personal interest that would preclude them from participating in a hearing.  
If there are any doubts then please contact the Licensing Section.

It should be noted that, unlike the Licensing Act, the Gambling Act does not 
include as a specific licensing objective the prevention of public nuisance.  There 
is, however, other relevant legislation, which deals with public nuisance.

1.8 Exchange Of Information

The principle that the Council will apply in respect of the exchange of information 
between it and the Gambling Commission and those bodies listed in Schedule 6 
of the Act is that it will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 
2005 which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 1998 will not be 
contravened.  The Council will also have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission to Local Authorities on this matter, as well as any relevant 
regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the 
Gambling Act 2005.

1.9 Enforcement

The Council’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to local authorities, the Regulators Code and the council’s enforcement 
policy.  It will endeavour to be:

 Proportionate:  regulators should only intervene when necessary, 
remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and 
minimised;

 Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject 
to public scrutiny;

 Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented 
fairly;

 Transparent:  regulators should be open, keep regulations simple and 
user friendly;  and

 Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise 
side effects.

As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, the 
Council will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 
possible.

The Council carries out an inspection programme, based on:

 The licensing objectives;
 Relevant codes of practice;
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36;
 The principles set out in this Statement of Licensing Policy.

Page 85



9

 The council’s enforcement policy.

The main enforcement and compliance role for this Council in terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and other 
permissions, which it authorises.  The Gambling Commission is the enforcement 
body for the Operator and Personal Licences.  Concerns about manufacture, 
supply or repair of gaming machines are dealt with by the Council but should be 
notified to the Gambling Commission.

The council will take account of the Gambling Commissions guidance document 
issued in February 2015 (or any subsequent amendments) ‘Approach to Test 
Purchasing’ when considering making test purchases at gambling premises.  The 
council will also follow its own policies and procedures regarding the use of 
underage test purchasers.

The Council also keeps itself informed of developments as regards the work of 
the Better Regulation Delivery Office in its consideration of the regulatory 
functions of local authorities.

1.10 Fundamental Rights

Under the terms of the Act any individual/company may apply for a variety of 
permissions and have their applications considered on their individual merits.  
Equally, any Interested Party or Responsible Authority has a right to make 
relevant representations on an application or to seek a review of a licence or 
certificate where provision has been made for them to do so in the Act.

Applicants and those making relevant representations in respect of applications to 
the Council have a right of appeal to the Magistrates Court against the decisions 
of the Council.

1.11 Integrating Strategies and Avoiding Duplication

By consulting widely prior to this Policy Statement being published, the Council 
will take full account of local policies covering crime prevention, culture, transport, 
planning and tourism as part of an integrated strategy for the Council, Police and 
other agencies.  Many of these strategies may not be directly related to the 
promotion of the three licensing objectives, but may indirectly impact upon them.

When considering any application, the Council will avoid duplication with other 
regulatory regimes so far as possible.  Therefore, the Council will not attach 
conditions to a licence unless they are considered necessary, reasonable and 
proportionate to the use of premises for gambling consistent with the licensing 
objectives.

Page 86



10

1.12 Sustainable Development Community Strategy

The Local Government Act 2000 requires all local authorities to produce a 
community strategy within the framework of the UK Sustainable Development 
Strategy – “A better Quality of Life” and relevant regional strategies. The 
Wellbeing and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires all Welsh local 
authorities to think about the long-term impact of their decisions, to work better 
with people, communities and each other, and to prevent persistent problems 
such as poverty, health inequalities and climate change.

Community strategies provide a focal point for the identification of local issues 
and aspirations on social inclusion, environmental protection, employment and 
economic development.

Local strategic partnerships, typically involving the police, local authorities, 
primary care trusts, and representatives from education, business and the 
voluntary sector organisations, are responsible for the achievement of locally set 
objectives.

Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 local authorities must have regard to the 
likely effect of the exercise of their functions on, and do all they can to prevent 
crime and disorder in the area.  The Council will have particular regard to the 
likely impact of licensing on related crime and disorder in the County Borough, 
particularly when considering the location, impact, operation and management of 
all proposed licence/permit applications, renewals and variations of conditions.

2.   Premises Licences

2.1 General Principles

Premises Licences authorise the provision of gambling facilities on the following:-

 Casino Premises;
 Bingo Premises;
 Betting Premises (including race tracks used by betting intermediaries);
 Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs);
 Family Entertainment Centres (FECs).

Except in the case of Tracks (where the occupier may not be the person offering 
gambling), Premises Licences will only be granted to those issued with an 
Operating Licence by the Gambling Commission.

Premises Licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling Act 
2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions, which 
are detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  Licensing authorities 
are able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed 
to be appropriate.

Page 87



11

The Council is aware that in making decisions about Premises Licences it should 
aim to permit the use of premises for gambling insofar as it thinks it:-

 In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

 In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

 Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 In accordance with this Policy Statement.

It is appreciated that as per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local 
authorities “moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject 
applications for Premises Licences” and also that unmet demand is not a criterion 
for a licensing authority.

This Council may also consider measures to meet the licensing objectives when 
making such decisions, for example:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances/machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare;
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with children on the premises, 

for example, suspected truancy from school.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

The Licence Conditions and Code of Practice (LCCP) issued by the Gambling 
Commission places the onus on licence holders to complete a risk assessment.  
The council will have regard to this code when considering applications.  This is 
covered in detail in Section 6 of this statement.

Definition of “Premises”:  

Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”.     Section 152 therefore prevents 
more than one premises licence applying to any place.  But a single building 
could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for 
different parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be 
reasonably regarded as being different premises.  This approach has been taken 
to allow large, multiple unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or 

Page 88



12

shopping mall to obtain discrete premises licences, where appropriate safeguards 
are in place.  However, licensing authorities should pay particular attention if 
there are issues about sub-divisions of a single building or plot and should ensure 
that mandatory conditions relating to access between premises are observed.

The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities that:  
“In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot will be the subject of 
an application for a licence.  But, that does not mean that a single building plot 
cannot be the subject of separate premises licence, e.g. the basement and 
ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether different parts of a 
building can properly be regarded as being separate premises will depend on the 
circumstances.  The location of the premises will clearly be an important 
consideration and the suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for 
discussion between the operator and the licensing officer.  

However, the Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are 
artificially or temporarily separated, for example, by ropes or moveable partitions, 
can properly be regarded as different premises.”

The Council takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 
local authorities which states that licensing authorities should take particular care 
in considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to 
a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular, 
they should be aware of the following –

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed 
by gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking 
part in gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to 
gambling.  Therefore, premises should be configured so that children are 
not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe 
gambling where they are prohibited from participating;

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not 
“drift” into a gambling area.  In this context it should normally be possible to 
access the premises without going through another licensing premises or 
premises with a permit;

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 
premises licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors, which the licensing authority should be 
aware of, which may include:

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?
 Is the Premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or 

someone else?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 

passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises?

Page 89



13

2.2  Appropriate Licence Environment

The Guidance to Local Authorities and the Licence Conditions and Codes of 
Practice (LCCP), set out additional matters that the council should take into 
account when considering licence applications for premises licences.  

The Guidance prescribe restrictions on gambling activities on a premises, 
previously known as primary gambling activity. The council will consider any 
application based on the provisions in these codes and guidance.

Where gambling facilities are provided at premises as a supplementary activity to 
the main purpose of the premises; e.g. motorway service areas and shopping 
malls, the council will expect the gambling area to be clearly defined to ensure 
that customers are fully aware that they are making a choice to enter into the 
gambling premises, and that the premises is adequately supervised at all times.

The Council will consider these and any other relevant factors in making its 
decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance for relevant access provisions for each 
premises type is reproduced in Appendix A:

2.3  Premises “ready for gambling”

The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be 
issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied are 
going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the premises 
are brought into use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or 
if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a 
provisional statement should be made instead.

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, the Council will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration 
process:

 First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling;
 Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be 
before gambling takes place.

Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate 
to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a 
licence. More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence 
may be granted can be found in the Guidance.

Page 90



14

2.4  Other Considerations

Location: 

The Council is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with regard to the 
location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing objectives 
are relevant to its decision making.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
for local authorities, the Council will pay particular attention to the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as 
well as issues of crime and disorder.  It should be noted that any such policy does 
not preclude any application being made and each application will be decided on 
its merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how potential concerns can 
be overcome.

Planning

The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states:

 In determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take into 
consideration all relevant matters and not to take into consideration any 
irrelevant matters, i.e. those not related to gambling and the licensing 
objectives.  One example of an irrelevant matter would be the likelihood of 
the applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations 
approval for their proposal.

The Council will not take into account irrelevant matters as per the above 
guidance.  In addition, the Council notes the following excerpt from the Guidance:

 When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the 
licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings 
have or comply with the necessary planning or building consents.  Those 
matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control and building 
regulation powers, and not form part of the consideration for the premises 
licence.  Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking 
into account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining 
planning or building consent when considering a premises licence 
application.  Equally the grant of a gambling premises licence does not 
prejudice or prevent any action that may be appropriate under the law 
relating to planning or building.

2.5  Duplication with other Regulatory Regimes:  

The Council seeks to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems where possible, including planning.  The Council will not consider 
whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning permission or 
building regulations approval in its consideration of it.  It will though listen to, and 
consider carefully, any concerns about conditions, which are not able to be met 
by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.

Page 91



15

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the 
Council will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents.  Fire or health and safety risks will not 
be taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under relevant planning 
control, buildings and other regulations and must not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.

2.6  Licensing Objectives:  

Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives.  With regard to these objectives, the Council has considered the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities and some comments 
are made below.

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime:  

The Council is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a leading role in 
preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance does, however, envisage that licensing authorities should pay attention 
to the proposed location of gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective.  
Thus, where an area has known high levels of organised crime, the Council will 
consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there 
and whether conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door 
supervisors.  The Council is aware of the distinction between disorder and 
nuisance and will consider factors such as whether police assistance was 
required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it, so as 
to make that distinction.  Issues of nuisance cannot be addressed via the 
Gambling Act provisions.

Ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way:  

The Council has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it does not 
expect licensing authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way, as this will be addressed via operating and 
personal licences.  There is, however, more of a role with regard to tracks, which 
is explained in more detail in the “tracks” section.

Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling:  

The Council has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities 
states that this objective means preventing children from taking part in gambling 
(as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or 
are, particularly attractive to children).  The Council will, therefore, consider, as 
suggested in this Guidance, whether specific measures are required at particular 
premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may 
include supervision of entrances/machines, segregation of areas, etc.

Page 92



16

The Council is also aware of the Codes of Practice, which the Gambling 
Commission issues as regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific 
premises. 

As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling 
Commission does not seek to offer a definition but states that “it will for regulatory 
purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble more than they 
want to; people who gamble beyond their means; and people who may not be 
able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental 
impairment, alcohol or drugs”.  The Council will consider this licensing objective 
on a case by case basis.  

The Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authorities sets out considerations 
that an operator must make in order to protect children and young people from 
accessing gambling premises.

The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) prescribe how operators 
must prevent children from using age restricted gaming or gambling activities, 
particularly where gaming machines are licensed.

In particular operators must ensure that;
 all staff are trained, 
 that all customers are supervised when on gambling premises
 must have procedures for identifying customers who are at risk of 

gambling related harm.

The council will expect all operators to have policies and procedures in place as 
required by the LCCP codes on social responsibility to cover all aspects of the 
code, in particular staff training records and self-exclusion records

Further provisions with regard to self-exclusion and marketing are included in the 
social responsibility code.  The council will take all conditions and codes into 
account when considering applications or performing enforcement activities.

See section 6 of this policy statement for further details and on the council’s 
requirements in relation to the LCCP.

The Council will have regard to the Chief Medical Officer for Wales report to 
support the licensing objective in order to protect children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.

The Council would expect applicants and licence holders to carry out the 
necessary checks on all relevant members of staff to ensure their suitability for 
employment, particularly in respect of premises where children and vulnerable 
people have access.  

Page 93



17

2.7  Bet-Watch:

The council will support local operators should they wish to create and maintain 
an information sharing network to discuss issues of problem gamblers that are 
identified.  This will also be an opportunity for operators to discuss issues with the 
licensing officers.

2.8  Conditions:  

The mandatory and default conditions are usually sufficient to ensure that the 
operation of a premises is consistent with the licensing objectives. Additional 
conditions may only be imposed where there is a risk to the licensing objectives 
requiring the mandatory and default conditions to be supplemented.

Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:

 Relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility;

 Directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 Fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and
 Reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures the Council will consider utilising 
should there be a perceived need, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate 
signage for adult only areas, etc. Specific regard will be against the local risk 
assessment for each premise, when making such decisions.  There are specific 
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below.  The 
Council will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as 
to ways in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively, in conjunction 
with mandatory conditions specified in the Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and 
Default Conditions) (England and Wales) Regulations 2007.

Conditions the Council may impose on a licence could include;

Security conditions
 A minimum of two members of staff after 10pm;
 The premises will have an intruder alarm and panic button;
 A monitor shall be placed inside the premises above the front door 

showing CCTV images of customers entering the premises.

Anti-social behaviour conditions
 The licensee shall develop and agree a protocol with the police as 

to incident reporting, including the type and level of incident and 
mode of communication, so as to enable the police to monitor any 
issues arising at or in relation to the premises;

 The licensee shall place and maintain a sign at the entrance which 
states that ‘only drinks purchased on the premises may be 
consumed on the premises’;

Page 94



18

 The licensee shall implement a policy of banning any customers 
who engage in crime or disorder within or outside the premises.

Underage controls
 Customers under 21 will have to provide ID;
 No machines in the Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre to be 

sited within one metre of the Adult Gaming Centre entrance;
 Staff training records or certified copies should be available at the 

premises for inspection.

Player protection controls
 There shall be no cash point or ATM facilities on the premises;
 The licensee shall train staff on specific issues related to the local 

area and shall conduct periodic refresher training. Participation in 
the training shall be formally recorded and the records produced to 
the police or licensing authority upon request;

 Prominent GamCare documentation will be displayed at the 
premises.

This list is not exhaustive and merely gives an example of the type of conditions 
which may be imposed depending on the circumstances at each premises.

The Council will also consider specific measures, which may be required for 
buildings, which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may 
include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling 
areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-
adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.  
These matters are in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance and 
Codes of Practice(s).

The Council will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on 
offer in premises to which children are admitted:

 All such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which 
is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance;

 Only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;
 Access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 The area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by the staff or the licence holder; and
 At the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 

displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons 
under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises, including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable.

Page 95



19

The Council is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  
As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this Council will consider the 
impact upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to 
each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling 
areas where they are not permitted to enter.

It is noted that there are conditions, which the Council cannot attach to premises 
licences, which are:

 Any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply 
with an operating licence condition;

 Conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation;

 Conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required 
(the Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement 
for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated); 
and

 Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

2.9  Door Supervisors:  

The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to licensing authorities that if 
it is concerned that a premises may attract disorder, or be subject to attempts at 
unauthorised access (e.g. by children and young persons) then it may require that 
the entrances to the premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled 
to impose a premises licence to this effect.

Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for 
particular cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or not 
will be necessary.  It will not be automatically assumed that they need to be 
licensed as the statutory requirements for different types of premises vary.

2.10  Adult Gaming Centres

The Council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the Council that there will be sufficient measures to, for 
example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.

Where gambling facilities are provided at premises as a supplementary activity to 
the main purpose of the premises; e.g. motorway service areas and shopping 
malls.  The council will expect the gambling area to be clearly defined to ensure 
that customers are fully aware that they are making a choice to enter into the 
gambling premises and that the premises is adequately supervised at all times.

This Council may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV

Page 96



20

 Supervision of entrances/machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

2.11 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres

The Council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the Council, for example, that there will be sufficient measures 
to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming 
machine areas.

The Council may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:

 Proof of Age Schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances/machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare.
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with children on the premises, 

for example, suspected truancy from school.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

2.12 Casinos

No Casinos resolution
There are currently no casinos operating within the Borough. A resolution was 
passed not to issue casino licences within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough  as 
provided for in section 166 Gambling Act 2005.  This resolution was reviewed by 
the Council at its meeting on the XXXXXX and they resolved to renew the 
decision not to issue casino licences.  

2.13  Bingo Premises

Page 97



21

Licensing Authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in 
any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence.  This will be a 
relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises applies 
to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing premises from its ambit and 
then applies for a new premises licence, or multiple licences, for that or those 
excluded areas.

A holder of bingo premises licences may make available for use of a number of 
category B gaming machines, not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming 
machines, which are available for use on the premises

Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however, they are 
not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are 
made available for use, these must be separated from areas where children and 
young people are allowed.

Where Category C or above machines are available in the bingo premises to 
which children are admitted, the Council will seek to ensure that;

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier to prevent access other 
than through a designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located;
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by staff or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to, and inside any such area, notices are prominently 

displayed indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 
18.

Where bingo is permitted in alcohol-licensed premises, this must be low turnover 
bingo only and applicants are expected to comply with any Codes of Practice and 
advice issued by the Gambling Commission. High turnover bingo will require a 
Bingo Operating Licence.

2.14  Betting Premises

Betting machines: 

Self Service Betting Terminals (SSBTs):

The Act provides that a machine is not a gaming machine if it is designed or 
adapted for use to bet on future real events.  Betting premises may make 
available machines that accept bets on live events, such as horseracing, as a 
substitute for placing a bet over the counter.  These “betting machines” are not 
gaming machines: they merely automate the process, which can be conducted in 
person and, therefore, do not require regulation as a gaming machine.

Page 98



22

However, where a machine is made available to take bets on virtual races (that is, 
results and/or images generated by computer to resemble races or other events) 
that machine is a gaming machine and counts towards the maximum permitted 
number of gaming machines, and must meet the relevant category limitations for 
the premises.

The Council will, as per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, take into account 
the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-
person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by 
children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer. The premises should also display notices 
with contact for help organisations e.g. GamCare.

The Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises 
within its area. In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised and 
resolved at the earliest stage, operators are requested to give the authority a 
single named point of contact who should be a senior individual and to whom the 
Authority will contact first should any compliance queries or issues arise.

2.15  Tracks

The Council is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  
As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, the Council will especially consider 
the impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to 
ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.

The Council will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate 
suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only 
gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to 
enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog 
racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that they are still prevented from 
entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D machines) are 
provided.

The Council may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives, such as:-

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances/machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours

Page 99



23

 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare

The list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

2.16  Gaming Machines: 

There are many categories of gaming machine permitted at licensed and other 
premises and the number of such machines that may be permitted in each type of 
gambling premises are set out in the Act.  The Council does not have the power 
to set different limits or further expand or restrict the categories of machine that 
are permitted. The exception to this is alcohol-licensed premises that hold gaming 
machine permits, where licensing authorities have discretion to specify the 
number of permitted gaming machines.  In addition, limits are set separately in 
the Act for certain types of permit issued by licensing authorities.  A table setting 
out gaming machine entitlement at each type of premises is attached at Appendix 
C.

There is a minimum age of 18 for all players for all category A, B and C 
machines, including category B3A gaming machines offering lottery style games.  
However there is no minimum age for players of category D machines.  The 
holder of any permit or premises licence must comply with the codes of practice 
issued by the Commission on the location of and access to gaming machines by 
children and young persons, and the separation from category C and B machines 
where those are also located on the same premises. 

Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than Category D 
machines) should be located in areas from which children are excluded.

2.17  Betting Machines:

The Council will, as per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, take into account 
the size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor the use of machines by 
children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer.  

2.18  Applications and plans: 

The Gambling Act and Regulations requires applicants to submit plans of the 
premises with their application, in order to ensure that the Council has the 
necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the 
premises are fit for gambling.  They will also be used for the Council to plan future 
premises inspection activity.

Plans for tracks should be drawn to scale sufficiently detailed to include the 
information required by regulations.

Page 100



24

Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not 
defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks.  In 
such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may 
erect temporary structures to restrict access to premises.

In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the 
track in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of 
sporting events or races.  In such cases betting facilities may be better provided 
through occasional use notices where the boundary premises do not need to be 
defined.

The Council appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise location 
of betting areas on tracks.  The precise location of where betting facilities are 
provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that 
betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties 
associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of track.  Applicants 
should provide sufficient information that this Council can satisfy itself that the 
plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place.  For racecourses in 
particular, any betting area subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known as 
betting rings) must be indicated on the plan.

2.19  Travelling Fairs

This Council is responsible for deciding whether, where category D machines 
and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for 
use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling 
amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met.

The Council will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair contained in Section 286 of the Gambling Act 2005.

It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a 
fair, is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs 
are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs 
occupying the land.  The Council will work with its neighbouring authorities to 
ensure that land, which crosses our boundaries, is monitored so that the statutory 
limits are not exceeded.

2.20  Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this Council for provisional statements before 
entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a 
development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises 
licence.  There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to 
apply for a provisional statement.

Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to 
the Council for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she:

Page 101



25

 expects to be constructed;
 expects to be altered;  or
 expects to acquire a right to occupy.

The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same 
as that for a premises licence application.  The applicant is obliged to give notice 
of the application in the same way as applying for a premises licence.  
Responsible authorities and interested parties may make representations and 
there are rights of appeal.

In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to 
hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission 
(except in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the 
premises in respect of which their provisional application is made.

The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once 
the premises are constructed, altered or acquired.  The Council will be 
constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence 
application, and in terms of representations about premises licence applications 
that follow the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from 
relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless:

 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the 
provisional statement stage;  or

 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.

In addition, the Council may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement 
stage;

 which in the Council’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances;  or

 where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application.  This must be a substantial change to the 
plan and this Council notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the 
applicant before making a decision.

3. Permits/Temporary And Occasional Use Notices

These forms of authorisations are as follows;

 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres (uFEC) Permits
 Prize Gaming Permits
 Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits
 Club Gaming Permits
 Club Gaming Machine Permits
 Temporary Use Notices (TUNs)

Page 102



26

 Occasional Use Notices (OUNs)

A table setting out gaming machine entitlement is attached at Appendix D.

3.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits

Only premises that are wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines 
available may hold an Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre.  As a result, it is 
generally not permissible for such premises to correspond to an entire shopping 
centre, airport, motorway service station or similar. Typically, the machines will be 
in a designated enclosed area and clearly defined when making an application to 
the Council.

Where a premises does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide 
category D gaming machines, it may apply to the Council for this permit.

It should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or 
mainly used for making gaming machines available for use and would, therefore, 
exclude any premises primarily used for any other purposes, e.g. canteens, fast 
food takeaways, leisure centres, garages and petrol filling stations, taxi offices.

An application for a permit may be granted only if the Council is satisfied that the 
premises will be used as an unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre and the 
Chief Officer of Police has been consulted on the application.

The Council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 
procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not 
limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  
The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their 
merits.  However, they may include appropriate measures/training for staff as 
regards suspected truant school children on the premises, measures/training 
covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the 
premises, or children causing perceived problems on/around the premises.

This Council will also expect, as per Gambling Commission Guidance, that 
applicants demonstrate:-

 A full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 
that is permissible in unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres;

 That the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act);

 That staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes.

It should be noted that the Council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

3.2  (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits

Page 103



27

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption 
on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C 
and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the licensing authority.  The 
Council can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular 
premises if:

 Provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives;

 Gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 
Section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided 
to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that any relevant 
code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine has been complied with);

 The premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 An offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, and “such matters as the 
Council think relevant.”   The Council considers that “such matters” will be 
decided on a case by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to 
protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the Council that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only 
gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the Council that there will be no 
access may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of 
staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  
Notices and signage may also be of help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable 
persons, applicants may wish to consider the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises 
licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most 
likely need to be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises 
licence.

It should be noted that the Council can decide to grant the application with a 
smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that 
applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached.

It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of 
the machine.

3.3  Prize Gaming Permits

The Council has the right in accordance with this ‘Statement of Principles’ to 
specify matters that this authority propose to consider in determining the 
suitability of the applicant for a permit.

It also specifies that the applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or 
she is intending to offer and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:-

Page 104



28

 That they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations;

 And that the gaming offered is within the law;
 Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from 

harm.

In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority does 
not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any 
Gambling Commission guidance.

It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which 
the permit holder must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot attach 
conditions.  The conditions in the Act are:-

 The limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations,  must be 
complied with;

 All chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises 
on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be 
played and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result 
of the game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is 
played;

 The prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set 
out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-
monetary prize);  and

 Participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling.

3.4 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

Members Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may 
apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machines Permit.  The Club 
Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines 
of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance.  Members 
Clubs and Miners’ Institutes and also Commercial Clubs may apply for a Club 
Machine Permit.  A Club Gaming Machine Permit will enable the premises to 
provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D).  Commercial 
Clubs may not site category B3A gaming machines offering lottery games in their 
club.

The Council has to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements of the Act to 
obtain a club gaming permit.  In doing so it will take into account a number of 
matters as outlined in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance.  These include the 
constitution of the club, the frequency of gaming, and ensuring that there are 
more than 25 members.

The club must be conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, 
unless the gaming is permitted by separate regulations.  The Secretary of State 
has made regulations and these cover bridge and whist clubs.

Page 105



29

 The Council may only refuse an application on the grounds that:

(a) The applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled 
to receive the type of permit for which it has applied;

(b) The applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons;

(c) An offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by 
the applicant while providing gaming facilities;

(d) A permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or

(e) An objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.

There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which 
hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 
paragraph 10).  Commercial clubs cannot hold Club Premises Certificates under 
the Licensing Act 2003 and so cannot use the fast track procedure. As the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities states: "Under the fast-
track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the 
Commission or the police, and the grounds upon which an authority can refuse a 
permit are reduced." and "The grounds on which an application under the process 
may be refused are:

(a) That the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming 
prescribed under schedule 12;

(b) That in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities 
for other gaming; or

(c) That a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant 
in the last ten years has been cancelled."

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any 
relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of 
gaming machines.

3.5  Temporary Use Notices

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 
premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  Premises that might be suitable 
for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling Commission, would 
include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.

The Council can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or company 
holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence.

Page 106



30

The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be 
authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this Statement, 
the relevant regulations (S1 no. 3157:  The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use 
Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to 
permit the provision of facilities or equal chance gaming, where the gaming is 
intended to produce a single winner, which in practice means poker tournaments.

There are a number of statutory limits as regards temporary use notices.   The 
meaning of "premises" in part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling 
Commission Guidance.  As with "premises", the definition of "a set of premises" 
will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is 
given.  In the Act "premises" is defined as including "any place".  In considering 
whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", the Council needs 
to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the 
premises. 

This Council expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect would 
be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of 
premises; as recommended by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
licensing authorities.

3.6  Occasional Use Notices

Where there is betting on a track on 8 days or fewer in a calendar year, betting 
may be permitted by an occasional use notice (OUN)without the need for a full 
premises licence.  The intention behind OUNs is to permit licensed betting 
operators with appropriate permission from the Commission, to use tracks for 
short periods for conducting betting, where the event upon which the betting is to 
take place is of a temporary, infrequent nature (the OUN dispenses with the need 
for a betting premises licence for the track in these circumstances).

Non-commercial, fundraising race nights can be run as betting events at sporting 
venues under the authority of an OUN, whether or not the sporting event on 
which the bets are taken is held at that venue.  The sporting event on which the 
bets are or will be taken also need not be taking place at the same time as the 
betting under the OUN.

The Council has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from 
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  The 
Council will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is 
permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.  

4. Small Society Lotteries

The Gambling Act 2005 sets out a definition of a lottery, detailed below, and 
provides that promoting or facilitating a lottery is illegal, unless it falls into one of 
two categories of permitted lottery, namely:

Page 107



31

 licensed lotteries – these are large society lotteries and lotteries run for the 
benefit of local authorities that are regulated by the Commission and 
require operating licences;

 exempt lotteries – there are four types of exempt lottery that are expressly 
permitted under Schedule 11 of the Act, including the small society lottery.

A lottery is any arrangement that satisfies all of the criteria contained within the 
statutory description of either a simple lottery or a complex lottery, in accordance 
with section 14 of the Act.

A ‘society’ is the society, or any separate branch of such a society, on whose 
behalf a lottery is to be promoted, and has been established as a non-commercial 
organisation.  Section 19 of the Act defines a society as such if it is established 
and conducted:

 for charitable purposes, as defined in section 2 of the Charities Act 2006;

 for the purpose of enabling participation in, or of supporting, sport, athletics 
or a cultural activity;

 for any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain.

The society must have been established for one of the permitted purposes as set 
out in section 19 of the Act, and that the proceeds of any lottery must be devoted 
to those purposes.  It is not permissible to establish a society whose sole purpose 
is to facilitate lotteries.

Local authorities are entitled to operate their own lotteries, but may only do so if 
licensed by the Gambling Commission.  Local authorities must commit a 
minimum of 20% of the proceeds from such lotteries for a purpose for which they 
have power to incur expenditure, and must also adhere to the other relevant 
provisions in the Act.  They may also need to hold a remote gambling operating 
licence, in the event that they wish to sell lottery tickets via electronic or other 
remote technological methods such as over the telephone, email or via the 
internet.

Applications for small society lottery registrations must be in the form prescribed 
by the Secretary of State and must be accompanied by a registration fee and a 
copy of the terms and conditions and the constitution to prove that they are a non-
commercial society.  Paragraphs 47 and 48 of Schedule 11 of the Act set out the 
grounds for licensing authorities to refuse a small society lottery registration 
application. 

The Council will adopt a risk based approach towards its enforcement 
responsibilities for small society lotteries.   The Council considers that the 
following list, although not exclusive, could affect the risk status of the operator:

Page 108



32

 submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three 
months after the date on which the lottery draw was held)

 submission of incomplete or incorrect returns
 breaches of the limits for small society lotteries

Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial event, 
either as an incidental or principal activity at the event.  Events are non-
commercial if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain.  The proceeds of 
such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is organised:

 by, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes
 to enable participation in, or support of, sporting, athletic or cultural 

activities.

5.    Decision Making

5.1 Administration, Exercise and Delegation of Functions

The powers and duties of the Council under the Act may be carried out by the 
Licensing Committee, by a Sub-Committee or by one or more officers acting 
under delegated authority.

It is considered that many of the functions will be largely administrative in nature 
with no perceived areas of contention.  In the interests of efficiency and cost 
effectiveness these will, for the most part, be carried out by officers.

The following schedule sets out the recommended delegation of functions and 
decisions by guidance. The Council may, nevertheless, refer any matter to the 
Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee.

The schedule of delegation of licensing functions is attached at Appendix B.

5.2 Appeals Procedure

Entitlements to appeal for parties aggrieved by decisions of the Council are set 
out in Sections 206 to 209 of the 2005 Act.  Appeals must be made to the 
Magistrates Court for the area in which the licensing authority, which has 
considered the application, is situated.

An appeal has to be commenced by giving notice of the appeal by the appellant 
to;  The Clerk to the Justices, Merthyr Tydfil Magistrates Court, The Law Courts, 
Glebeland Place, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8BU,  within a period of 21 days, 
beginning with the day on which the appellant was notified by the Council of the 
decision to be appealed against.

Page 109



33

On determining an appeal, the Court may:

 Dismiss the appeal;
 Substitute the decision appealed against with any other decision that could 

have been made by the licensing authority;  
 Remit the case to the licensing authority to dispose of the appeal in 

accordance with the direction of the Court.
 Make an order about costs.

5.3 Giving Reasons for Decisions

In anticipation of such appeals, the Council will give comprehensive reasons for 
its decisions.  The Council will address the extent to which decisions have been 
made with regard to any relevant codes of practice and guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission, reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and in 
accordance with this Policy Statement.

5.4 Implementing the Determination of The Magistrates’ Court

As soon as the decision of the Magistrates’ Court has been notified to all parties, 
the Council will not delay its implementation and necessary action will be taken 
forthwith unless ordered by a higher court to suspend such action (for example, 
as a result of an ongoing judicial review).  The Act provides for no other appeal 
against the determination of the Magistrates’ Court.

5.5 Complaints against Licensed Premises

The Council will investigate complaints against licensed premises in relation to 
matters relating to the licensing objectives for which it has responsibility.  In the 
first instance, complainants are encouraged to raise the complaint directly with 
the licence holder or business concerned to seek a local resolution.

Where an interested party has made either a valid representation about licensed 
premises or a valid application for a licence to be reviewed, the Council may 
initially arrange a conciliation meeting to address and clarify the issues of 
concern.

This process will not override the right of any interested party to ask that the 
Licensing and Gambling Sub-Committee consider their valid objections, or for any 
licence holder to decline to participate in a conciliation meeting.

Due consideration will be given to all relevant representations unless they fit the 
exceptions in 5.6 below.

5.6 Reviews

Requests for a review can be made by Interested Parties or Responsible 
Authorities.  However, it is for the Council to decide whether the review is to be 

Page 110



34

carried out based upon any relevant codes of practice and guidance issued by 
the Gambling Commission, reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives 
and in accordance with this Policy Statement.

The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the Council 
as to whether it is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will not cause this Council to 
alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is substantially the same as 
previous representations or requests for review.

The Council can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a 
particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason, which it thinks is 
appropriate.

Once a valid application for a review has been received by the Council, 
representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties 
during a 28 day period.  This period begins 7 days after the application was 
received by the Council, who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of 
receipt.

The Council must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day period 
for making representations has passed.

The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the Council should take 
any action in relation to the licence.  If action is justified, the options open to the 
Council are:-

 add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the Council;
 exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. 

opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion;
 suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months;  

and
 revoke the premises licence.

In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the Council 
must have regard to the principles set out in Section 153 of the Act, as well as 
any relevant representations.

In particular, the Council may also initiate a review of a premises licence on the 
grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at 
the premises.  This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a 
speculative manner without intending to use them.

Once the review has been completed, the Council must, as soon as possible, 
notify its decision to:

 the licence holder;
 the applicant for review (if any);
 the Commission;
 any person who made representations;
 the chief officer of police or chief constable;  and

Page 111



35

 Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs.

6. Licensing Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP)

The Gambling Act 2005 requires the Gambling Commission to issue one or more 
codes of practice about the manner in which facilities for gambling are provided.  
The codes may be directed at the holders of operating or personal licences, or 
any other person involved in providing facilities for gambling.

The Act also requires licensing authorities to take into account when exercising 
their functions, any relevant code of practice issued by the Commission under 
section 24, in this case:-

 The Commission’s Licence conditions and codes of practice (LCCP), 
which apply to holders of Gambling Commission operating or personal 
licences;

 Other codes - these are the Commission’s code of practice for equal 
chance gaming and its code of practice for gaming machines in clubs and 
premises with an alcohol licence 

The LCCP contains two types of code provision: 

Social responsibility code provisions 

These are provisions describing arrangements which should be made by persons 
providing facilities for gambling for the purpose of:-

(a) ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 
(b) protecting children and other vulnerable persons form being harmed or 

exploited by gambling; and 
(c) making assistance available to persons who are or may be affected by 

problems related to gambling. 

Compliance with these is a condition of operator licences; therefore any breach of 
them by a licensed operator may lead the Commission to review the operator’s 
licence with a view to suspension, revocation or the imposition of a financial 
penalty and would also expose the operator to the risk of prosecution; these 
provisions are in shaded boxes in the remainder of this document. 

Ordinary code provisions 

These do not have the status of licence conditions in the case of licensed 
operators, but set out good practice; 

Codes of practice are admissible in evidence in criminal or civil proceedings and 
must be taken into account in any case in which the court or tribunal think them 
relevant, and by the Commission in the exercise of its functions; any departure 
from code provisions by an operator may be taken into account by the 

Page 112



36

Commission, for example on a licence review (but could not lead to imposition of 
a financial penalty). 

However, the Commission has made it clear that licensed operators may adopt 
alternative approaches to those set out if they have actively taken account of the 
provision and can demonstrate that an alternative approach is reasonable in the 
particular circumstances; or that to take an alternative approach would be acting 
in a similarly effective manner.

Risk Assessments - Premises

The LCCP requires all existing licensees that provide gambling at their premises 
to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives and have policies, procedures 
and control measures to reduce those risks.  Licensees must take into account 
any relevant matters identified in the licensing authorities (gambling) Statement of 
Policy when making their risk assessments. 

A local risk assessment should also be undertaken or updated by a licensee, 
when applying for:-

 A new premises licence;
 When applying for a variation of an existing premises licence;
 To take into account any local significant changes in the local area;
 When there are significant changes within their premises that may affect 

the existing local risk assessment.

Operators are required to make the risk assessment available to licensing 
authorities when an application is submitted and a copy should be kept at the 
premises or otherwise on request, and this will form part of the Council’s 
inspection regime or investigating complaints.

The code requires the Council to set out matters they expect the operator to take 
account of in the risk assessment in its statement of policy and this council 
expects the following matters to be considered by operators when making their 
risk assessment.

Betting Track Premises – The Gambling Commission states within it’s LCCP 
code that Operators are required to make a risk assessment.  However, Betting 
Track Premises are not required to seek an Operators Licence with the Gambling 
Commission and as such are not required to conduct a risk assessment.  
However, in the interest of the objectives of the Gambling Act 2003, namely i) 
preventing gambling being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime; ii) ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way; iii) protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, this Council would expect a 
Betting Track Premises to conduct a risk assessment for their premises.

The council expects the following matters to be considered by operators when 
making their risk assessment.

Page 113



37

Matters relating to children and young persons, including;
 Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young 

persons should be expected such as schools, colleges, youth clubs, parks, 
playgrounds and entertainment venues such as bowling allies, cinemas 
etc;

 Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, café’s, 
shops, and any other place where children are attracted;

 Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling ;
 children’s homes and care facilities.

Matters relating to vulnerable adults, including;
 Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 

underage gambling;
 Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay 

days or benefit payments;
 Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-

exclusions and gaming trends;
 Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such 

as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor’s surgeries, 
council housing offices, addiction clinics or help centres, places where 
alcohol or drug dependant people may congregate, etc. 

 presences of rough sleepers;
 hostel and support services for the homeless;
 alcohol and drug support facilities.

Other issues that may be considered could include:
 Matters of faith, including all religious or faith denominations including 

proximity to churches, mosques, temples or any other place of worship;
 community buildings;
 the economic make-up of the area;
 the surrounding night-time economy;
 known anti-social behaviour issues.

These lists are not exhaustive and other factors not in this list that are identified 
must be taken into consideration.

Significant changes to the premises

From time to time operators will undertake a refresh of the premises' layout and 
décor, which is unlikely to prompt a review of the risk assessment for that 
premises. However, where there is a significant change at the premises that may 
affect the mitigation of local risks, then an operator must review its risk 
assessment and if necessary update it, taking into account the change and how it 
may affect one or more of the licensing objectives. 

Page 114



38

It is expected that gambling operators will undertake this risk assessment process 
as a matter of course for any premises refit, changes to layout or internal control 
measures. If any changes do require a review of the risk assessments for that 
premises gambling operators should ensure that they have a system in place to 
record and action any measures identified in that review. 

The gambling operator will be responsible for identifying when a significant 
change to the premises has occurred. In order to assist gambling operators the 
Council has provided the following list of examples of what could be classified as 
a significant change to the premises (some of which may also require a variation 
to the existing premises licence). 

 Any building work or premises refit where gambling facilities are relocated 
within the premises. 

 The premises licence is transferred to a new operator who will operate the 
premises with its own procedures and policies which are different to those 
of the previous licensee. 

 Any change to the operator’s internal policies which as a result requires 
additional or changes to existing control measures; and/or staff will require 
retraining on those policy changes.

 The entrance or entrances to the premises are changed, for example, the 
door materials are changed from metal with glazing to a full glass door or 
doors are reallocated from egress to ingress or vice versa.

  New gambling facilities are made available on the premises which were 
not provided previously, for example, bet in play, handheld gaming 
devices for customers, Self Service Betting Terminals, or a different 
category of gaming machine is provided.

  The premises operator makes an application for a licence at that 
premises to provide an activity under a different regulatory regime, for 
example, to permit the sale of alcohol.

As with the examples of significant changes in local circumstances, the list above 
is not an exhaustive list of significant changes to premises. 

The Council will not, as general practice, request a copy of the reviewed risk 
assessment if a significant change to the licensed premises has occurred, unless 
the change is one that will necessitate a variation application.

Variation of the premises licence 

Variations to premises licences are only those required to be made under section 
187 of the Act and will not include changes of circumstances such as a change of 
premises' name or a change of licensee's address, etc. 

The Commissions LCCP social responsibility code provision 10.1.1 requires that 
gambling operators must undertake a review of the local risk assessment and 
update it if necessary when preparing an application to vary the premises licence. 
Operators submitting a variation application to the Council may consider 
submitting a copy of the reviewed local risk assessment when submitting the 
application. This will then negate the need for the Council requesting to see a 

Page 115



39

copy of this risk assessment and could potentially reduce the likelihood of a 
representation being made to the application.

Regular review of risk assessment 

As a matter of best practice the Council recommends that operators establish a 
regular review regime in respect of their local risk assessments. This review 
programme can be carried out alongside other reviews on Health and Safety risk 
assessments for the premises. This review programme would ensure that, 
regardless of whether or not any of the trigger events set out above have 
occurred, these risk assessments are considered at regular intervals and updated 
if necessary. 

It will be up to the gambling operator as to the frequency of these reviews but it is 
recommended that no more than three years should pass before these 
assessments are reviewed. Operators may wish to synchronise their reviews of 
the local risk assessments with the publication of the Council’s Statement of 
Licensing Principles for Gambling. This would enable gambling operators to 
consider the Local Area Profile, which has been published in the Council’s 
Statement of Licensing Principles for Gambling.

Local risks and control measures 

There are two specific parts to the risk assessment process: 
 the assessment of the local risks 
 the determination of appropriate mitigation to reduce those risks 

The form and content of the risk assessment is a matter for the operator. 
However the paragraphs below provide advice and recommendations for the 
potential content and form of any risk assessment.

The risks that operators should identify relate to the potential impact a gambling 
premises and its operation may have on the licensing objectives. It is 
recommended the gambling operator should identify and list all of the local risks 
within the assessment that they have identified. The level of such risks can range 
from being low to very high depending on the potential impact that the gambling 
operator has assessed it to have on the licensing objectives. The level of any 
given risk will have a direct impact on the type and extent of the control measures 
that the gambling operators deems as being necessary to mitigate such risk.

Operators will already be assessing locations when looking for new sites or when 
reviewing the performance of their premises. The design of premises may also be 
assessed to ensure that it meets the needs of the gambling operation and will 
provide protection for staff and customers; and will have facilities for recording 
crime. Operators may also have implemented policies and procedures for the 
operation of premises in line with statutory and other regulatory requirements 
placed upon them by the Commission and other agencies.

Operators will already be familiar with identifying risks in relation to health and 
safety and food hygiene legislation. Risk assessments are also used for security 

Page 116



40

and crime purposes, for example for money laundering and as part of trade 
association best practice, such as the Safe Bet Alliance. 

This local risk assessment process, although similar requires a much broader 
range of considerations when identifying local risk. The requirement of the 
Commissions LCCP social responsibility code provision 10.1.1 is that gambling 
operators consider the local area in which the premises are situated and the 
impact that the premises operation may have on the licensing objectives.

Local area risks 

There are a number of factors relating to the local area that operators may 
consider which is independent of who the operator believes is their target market. 
It will be for the gambling operator to identify these risks. However, there may be 
occasions that the Commission or the Council will provide information on what 
they perceive as being a local risk. This may be specified in the Statement of 
Licensing Policy or in a separate guidance document, both of which will be found 
on the Council’s website.

The local area will be different depending on the premises and the size of its 
operation. For example a large Bingo hall may have a wider catchment area than 
a neighbourhood betting shop as the Bingo hall attracts customers from further 
afield.

Gambling operational risks

The gambling operation relates to how the premises will be or is run. It is advised 
that the risk assessment includes the operator’s policies and procedures which 
have been put in place to meet the requirements of the business, the Act and/or 
specific code provisions within the LCCP. 

Gambling operators should identify operational risks in the local area to the 
licensing objectives and then consider whether there are control measures in 
excess of those already in place that would mitigate the risk. For example if there 
is a known illegal drug use in the local area the gambling operator may consider 
using control measures such as maglocks on the toilet doors or change the 
design to the toilet to deter people from using it for illegal drug use.

It is likely that the identification of risks associated with this element of the 
assessment will be very similar for all premises with slight variations depending 
on any specific factors that relate to the premises or the local area.
 
The control measures that operators will put in place to mitigate any risk 
associated with the gambling operation will be dependent on the type of gambling 
activities provided, how the company operates and the size of the organisation.

Premises design risks

Page 117



41

The design of the premises is an extremely important factor when considering 
local risks. For example, an Adult Gaming Centre which is located within an area 
which has a high number of children and young people present throughout the 
day may identify that the doors on either side of the premises are being used by 
local children as a short cut to access the adjacent street. The appropriate 
mitigation in this case may be that the gambling operator closes off one of the 
doors to prevent it being used as a short cut.

As part of the design process, the layout of the premises is a major consideration 
as poorly conceived design may create significant risks to one or more of the 
licensing objectives. Gambling operators are experienced in premises design and 
often these considerations are made during the planning phase. It is advisable 
that gambling operators ensure that there is a process in place to record these 
key decisions at an early stage of the planning process for the premises design 
so that this can be included in their risk assessment.

Interior design risks 

The internal design and layout will reflect the premises operation and the type of 
gambling facilities that it offers. For some premises the design will be subject to 
certain limitations due to mandatory conditions on the gambling premises licence, 
such as the distance between gaming tables and other gambling facilities in 
casinos, and restrictions on the location of ATMs. 

Operators are advised to assess the risk presented by the internal layout of the 
premises and the location of gambling facilities within them. For example, if a 
gaming machine is placed within the direct line of sight of the cashier counter 
then staff will be able to monitor player behaviour and undertake interventions if 
there is a concern over the customers’ spending habits. Staff can also monitor the 
use of the machines and can challenge any customers who are believed to be 
under the age of 18, or who damage the machines, or who appear to be 
attempting to launder money. By a simple assessment of the optimum location for 
these machines, operators can significantly reduce the risk to the licensing 
objectives.

Exterior design risks 

The exterior of premises will be a major advertisement for the gambling operator. 
However, the design should be assessed based on the associated risk. Operators 
may identify a risk associated with the design and introduce control measures 
based on that perceived risk. For example, if the premises have a large amount of 
glass frontage in an area prone to criminal damage, operators may consider the 
risk of damage to the standard toughened glass to be high and introduce a 
control measure such as roller shutters and/or external CCTV cameras.

Control measures 

Depending on the nature of the risk factors, the control measures identified to 
mitigate the perceived risk may be a combination of systems, design and physical 

Page 118



42

measure. Control measures that relate to systems may be measures that have 
been put in place though policies and procedures. These can either be systems 
that apply to all of the operator’s premises or systems that have been developed 
specifically for particular premises to deal with a specific local risk factor. System 
control measures may include staff training, security policies and procedures. 
They may also relate to having security personnel on entrances, implementing 
membership criteria and/or providing support to local vulnerable groups through 
financial or other means. 

Design control measures are measures that are built into the design of the 
premises. These can include the location of gambling facilities and the design and 
location of cashier counters within the premises, and the exterior design of 
premises. For example, a control measure for the interior of the premises could 
involve moving a cashier counter from the rear of the premises to the front of the 
shop next to the main entrance. An external design control measure may involve 
the exterior design being tailored to address local risks, for example, more open 
window displays to enable staff can see out of the premises or a design to avoid 
attracting children to the premises.

The final control measures relate to specific physical measure that will address an 
identified risk factor. These physical control measures may, for example, include 
alarms, CCTV cameras, doors, magnetic locks, time locks on safes, spit kits, 
window shutters, fogging systems, UV lights in toilets.

The control measures identified to mitigate a perceived risk may involve a 
combination of systems, design and physical measures. For example to address 
the risk factors relating to children gaining access to an over 18 restricted 
gambling premises, the operator may identify the following control measures: 

Systems: PASS card or age verification policies, challenge 21 scheme, staff 
training and door staff. 
Design: Exterior design which will not attract children into the premises, the 
entrance layout will enable staff and security to watch those entering the 
premises and challenge them on the grounds of age. 
Physical: Magnetic door locks and ID scans.

Step 1: Undertaking a local risk assessment 

It is recommended that the risk assessment should be carried out through a step-
by-step approach. Gambling operators may first assess the local area and identify 
the relevant risk factors, then assess the gambling operation, and finally assess 
the premises design, both internal and external. Once the risk factors have been 
identified, the control measures to mitigate the risks should be considered. These 
control measures will either already be in place or will need to be implemented.

 Assessors should start by identify the local risk factors surrounding the 
premises. The risk factors will differ from location to location so an 
understanding of the specific characteristics of the local area and the 
people who live, work or visit that area is important.

Page 119



43

Step 2: Gambling operation and physical design

In assessing the risk factors associated with a gambling operation it is 
recommended the assessor should take into account the local risks which are 
commonly accepted by broader stakeholders and how that gambling operation 
may affect that risk. 

The physical design of the premises is a key consideration as this could have a 
significant impact on the risk to the licensing objectives. In assessing the risk 
factors associated with the premises design and layout reference is needed to the 
local area risks factors already identified to ensure the design doesn’t add to that 
risk. The design, both internal and external should be considered and specific risk 
factors identified and noted.

Step 3: Control measures

Once the risk factors have been identified, the assessor should seek to identify 
control measures that would mitigate the identified risks. Such control measures 
will relate to one of the three categories of control measures mentioned above 
(systems, design and physical). Some risk factors may require a combination of 
control measures to adequately mitigate the risk.

Step 4: Action Plan 

Once the assessment has been carried out an action plan should be completed 
so that any identified actions are documented and a deadline for completing the 
required piece of work is set and agreed.

Completed assessment 

The control measures must be implemented on the premises and, if applicable, 
staff on the premises should be trained in their use or trained on the new policy or 
procedure. The assessment must be retained and should be reviewed whenever 
a trigger occurs or as part of a regular review regime

7.  Further Information

Further information about the Gambling Act 2005, this Statement of Licensing 
Policy or the application process can be obtained from:

Licensing Section
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Civic Centre

Page 120



44

Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil
CF47 8AN

Telephone:  01685 725000
Email: licensing@merthyr.gov.uk

Information is also available from:

The Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Birmingham
B2 4BP
Telephone:  0121 230 6666
Fax: 0121 230 6720
Email: info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk 
Website:  www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

The Department for Culture, Media and Sport
2– 4 Cockspur Street
London
SW1Y 5DH
Telephone: 020 7211 6200
Website:  www.culture.gov.uk
Telephone: 020 7211 6200
Website:  www.culture.gov.uk

Page 121

mailto:info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/
http://www.culture.gov.uk/
http://www.culture.gov.uk/


45

Appendix A   Access to Premises

Casinos

 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street;
 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or 

mainly by children and/or young persons;
 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other 

premises, which holds a gambling premises licence.

Adult Gaming Centre

 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other 
licensed gambling premises.

Betting Shops

 Access must be from a street or from another premises with a betting 
premises licence;

 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the 
retail sale of merchandise or services.  In effect there cannot be an 
entrance to a betting shop from a shop of any kind and you could not have 
a betting shop at the back of a café – the whole area would have to be 
licensed.

Tracks

No customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 
 a casino;
 an adult gaming centre.

Bingo Premises

No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:
 a casino;
 an adult gaming centre;
 a betting premises, other than a track.

Family Entertainment Centre

No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:
 a casino;
 an adult gaming centre;
 a betting premises, other than a track.

Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities contains 
further guidance on this issue, which this authority will also take into account in its 
decision-making.

Page 122



46

Appendix B   Schedule of Delegation of Licensing 
Functions and Decisions

Matters to be dealt 
with

Full 
Council Sub-Committee Officers

Three year Gambling 
Policy

x

Policy not to permit 
casinos

x

Fee Setting – when 
appropriate

X

Application for 
Premises Licence

Where 
representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a 
variation to a licence

Where 
representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a 
transfer of a licence

Where 
representations 
have been received 
from the 
Commission

Where no 
representation has been 
received from the 
Commission

Application for a 
provisional statement

Where 
representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Review of a 
Premises Licence x

Revocation of a 
premises licence for 
failure to pay annual 
licence fee

x

Application for club 
gaming/club machine 
permits

Where objections 
have been made 
(and not withdrawn)

Where no objections 
made/objections have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club 
gaming/club machine 
permits

All other cases Where it has been 
confirmed that the club 
is no longer in existence

Applications for other 
permits

Where objections 
have been made 
and not withdrawn

Where no objections 
made/objections have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of 

Page 123



47

Matters to be dealt 
with

Full 
Council Sub-Committee Officers

licensed premises 
gaming machine 
permits

x

Consideration of 
temporary use notice x

Decision to give a 
counter notice to a 
temporary use notice

x

Registration of a 
Small Society Lottery

x

Refusal of a Small 
Society Lottery

x

Revocation of a 
Small Society Lottery All other cases Where the annual fee 

has not been paid

Page 124



48

Appendix C     Definitions

NOTE:  In this Policy, the following definitions are included to provide an 
explanation to certain terms included in the Act and, therefore, in the Statement of 
Licensing Policy.  In some cases they are an abbreviation of what is stated in the 
Gambling Act 2005 or an interpretation of those terms.  For a full definition of the 
terms used, the reader must refer to the Gambling Act 2005.

‘The Council’ means Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, acting as the 
Licensing Authority as defined by the Gambling Act 2005.

‘The Act’ means the Gambling Act 2005.

‘The County Borough’ means the county borough of Merthyr Tydfil.

‘The Licensing Authority’ the authority in whose area the premises is wholly/partly 
situated.  The Licensing Authority (as in the issuing authority) is also a 
responsible authority.

‘The Gambling Commission’ a body set up by the Government as the unified 
regulator for gambling, replacing the Gaming Board.

‘Responsible Authority’ means a public body that must be notified of certain 
applications for premises licences and permits, and are entitled to make 
representations on any of the licensing objectives.

‘Children’ means individuals who are less than 16 years old.

‘Young person’ means individuals who are aged less than 18 years old and 16 
years and over.

‘Vulnerable person’ will not be defined but the assumption is that this group 
includes people who gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond 
their means, and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.

‘Mandatory Conditions’ means a specified condition provided by regulations to be 
attached to premises licences.

‘Default Conditions’ means a specified condition provided for by regulations to be 
attached to a licence unless excluded by the Council.

‘Premises’ means any place, including a vessel or moveable structure.

‘Tracks’ means a horse-race course, dog track or other premises on any part of 
which a race or other sporting event takes place or is intended to take place.
 

Page 125



49

Appendix D    Summary of Machine Provisions by 
Premises

Machine category
Premises type A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 
Large casino 
(machine/table ratio of 
5-1 up to maximum) 

Maximum of 150 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A 
machines), within the total limit of 150 (subject to machine/table 

ratio) 

Small casino 
(machine/table ratio of 
2-1 up to maximum) 

Maximum of 80 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A 
machines), within the total limit of 80 (subject to machine/table 

ratio) 
Pre-2005 Act casino 
(no machine/table ratio) 

Maximum of 20 machines categories B to D (except B3A 
machines), or any number of C or D machines instead 

Betting premises and tracks 
occupied by pool betting 

Maximum of 4 machines categories B2 to D (except B3A 
machines) 

Bingo premises 1 Maximum of 20% of the total number of 
gaming machines which are available for use 

on the premises categories B3 or B4 

No limit on category 
C or D machines 

Adult gaming centre 2 Maximum of 
20% of the total number of gaming machines 
which are available for use on the premises 

categories B3 or B4 

No limit on category 
C or D machines 

Licensed family entertainment 
centre 3 

No limit on category 
C or D machines 

Family entertainment 
centre (with permit) 

No limit on 
category D 
machines 

Clubs or miners’ welfare 
institute (with permits) 4 5

Maximum of 3 machines in 
categories B3A or B4 to D 

Qualifying alcohol-licensed 
premises 

1 or 2 machines of 
category C or D 
automatic upon 

notification 
Qualifying alcohol-licensed 
premises (with licensed premises 
gaming machine permit) 

Number of category C-D machines as specified 
on permit 

Travelling fair No limit on 
category D 
machines 

Page 126



50

1 Bingo premises licence are entitled to make available for use a number of category B 
gaming machines not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines on the 
premises. Where a premises licence was granted before 13 July 2011, they are entitled 
to make available eight (The Gambling Act 2005 (Gaming Machines in Bingo Premises) 
Order 2009) category B gaming machines, or 20% of the total number of gaming 
machines, whichever is the greater. Category B machines at bingo premises are 
restricted to sub-category B3 and B4 machines, but not B3A machines.

2 Adult gaming centres are entitled to make available for use a number of category B 
gaming machines not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are 
available for use on the premises and any number of category C or D machines. Where a 
premises licence was granted before 13 July 2011, they are entitled to make available 
four category B gaming machines, or 20% of the total number of gaming machines, 
whichever is the greater. Category B machines at adult gaming centres are restricted to 
sub-category B3 and B4 machines, but not B3A machines.

3 Only premises that are wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines available 
may hold an unlicensed FEC gaming machine permit or an FEC premises licence. 
Category C machines may only be sited within licensed FECs and where an FEC permit 
is in force. They must be in a separate area to ensure the segregation and supervision of 
machines that may only be played by adults. There is no power for the licensing authority 
to set a limit on the number of machines under the FEC permit.

4 Members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes with a club gaming permit or with a club 
machine permit, are entitled to site a total of three machines in categories B3A to D but 
only one B3A machine can be sited as part of this entitlement.

5 Commercial clubs with club machine or gaming permits are entitled to a total of three 
machines in categories B4 to D.

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Five Year Revision Of Statement Of Licensing 
Policy Under The Licensing Act 2003

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 
has a legal requirement to review its Licensing Policy every five years. The Licensing 
Policy sets out how the Council will regulate licensed premises, qualifying members’ 
clubs, personal licences and temporary events.

1.2 One the 18th July 2018, a revised policy was put before the Planning Regulatory & 
Licensing Committee with members resolving that the same be put for public 
consultation.

1.3 The consultation has concluded and after taking into account the responses received 
during the consultation period the policy was further revised by the Community 
Safety and Regulatory Compliance Manager in consultation with the Chair of the 
Planning Licensing & Regulatory Committee. That revised policy is now put before 
Full Council for members to consider.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The revised Statement of Licensing Policy 2019 – 2024 be approved and to come 
into force on the 7th January 2019

Date Written 4th December 2018
Report Author Simon Jones
Service Area Licensing
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 129

Agenda Item 8



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 as amended (the Act) requires a Licensing 
Authority to prepare and publish a statement of its licensing policy (the Policy) every 
five years. Previously it had been a requirement to do this every three years. This will 
be the fourth time the Policy has been revised.

3.2 The current Statement of Licensing Policy 2014 – 2019 came into force on the 7th 
January 2014 and in accordance with statutory requirements it is effective for five 
years which means that the Council’s new Revised Policy must be adopted and 
published to take effect from the 7th January 2019. This Policy will then be effective 
for a 5 year period ending on the 7th January 2024. 

3.3 To comply with this requirement, a revised Statement of Licensing Policy was drafted 
in line with national guidance and in accordance with current legislation. On the 18th 
July 2018 the revised Policy was considered and approved by the Planning 
Regulatory & Licensing Committee. Following approval the Policy was put for 
consultation over a 11 week period from the 6th August 2018 to the 23rd October 
2018. The length of the consultation period was consistent with previous policy 
consultations and proportionate when considering the changes proposed to the 
policy.

3.4 The Licensing Act 2003 states that before determining its Policy for any five year 
period, the licensing authority must consult the consultees listed at section 5(3) of the 
Act namely: 

a) the chief officer of police for the area;

b) the fire and rescue authority for the area;

c) the Local Health Board for the area;

d) persons/bodies representative of local holders of premises licences;

e) persons/bodies representative of local holders of club premises certificates;

f) persons/bodies representative of local holders of personal licences; and

g) persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents in its area.

3.5 A copy of the draft Policy was published on the Council’s website, facebook and 
twitter. It was also put for consultation using Smart Survey.

3.6 There were no responses to the public consultation with the only response from the 
statutory consultees detailed in 3.4 above coming from South Wales Police.

South Wales Police suggested that the Policy be amended as follows:-

Page 130



Section 19.4 be amended to remove from the Policy “participation in local “Night Net 
Radio”.

In addition, South Wales Police suggested that the Policy include the following 
requirement:-
For new licence applications, where a licence requires the provision of SIA Door 
Staff it will be a requirement that at least the head door staff will wear a body worn 
surveillance camera.

Finally South Wales Police suggested that sections 26.2 & 26.3 be replaced with the 
following:-

Inspections of licensed premises will be carried out on a risk analysis based on local 
intelligence.

3.7 The suggested amendments were considered by the Chair of the Licensing 
Committee, Community Safety and the Regulatory Compliance Manager who 
determined that the draft Policy be amended to reflect the suggested amendments. A 
copy of the draft policy reflecting the amendments is contained in the background 
papers to this report.

3.8 Should Council resolve to adopt the Policy the Licensing Department will  prior to the 
Policy coming into force on 7 January 2019 publish the revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy in the following ways:-

a) Publish the revised Statement of Licensing Policy on the Council’s website 
and make the Policy available for inspection by the public at one or more 
public libraries in the borough.

b) Publish a notice no later than the first day on which the revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy is made available on the Council’s website in one or more of 
the following places:

(i)   a local newspaper circulating in the area covered by the statement;
(ii)  a local newspaper, circular, or similar document circulating in the area 

covered by the statement;
(iii)  a public notice board in or near the principal office of the authority;
(iv) a public notice board on the premises of public libraries in the area 

covered by the statement.

c) The notice shall specify:

(i)    the date on which the statement will be published;
(ii)   the date on which the statement will come into effect;
(iii)  the internet address where the statement will be published;
(iv)  the address of the library at which the statement  is published.

Page 131



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no costs linked to approval of the Licensing Policy. However if adopted by 
Full Council there may be a cost incurred if the public notice is published in a local 
newspaper circulating in the area.  If this is done the cost of the same will be met 
from the Licensing Department’s budget.

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5  0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language)  0 of 10  0 of 10  10 of 10

4. Biodiversity  0 of 1  0 of 1  1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that this will allow the public and the licencing trade to 
plan ahead knowing the Council’s policy for the next 5 years

The main negative impacts are - none

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Revised Licensing Act 
2003 Policy

2019 -2024 Licensing Department

Page 132



Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20191

MERTHYR TYDFIL 
COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Public Protection and Housing

LICENSING SECTION

LICENSING POLICY 2019 - 2024

Page 135



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20192

LICENSING POLICY 2019-2024

CONTENTS
ITEM PAGE
The Licensing Objectives 3
Merthyr Tydfil 3
Consultation 3
The Purpose of Licensing 4
Activities to be licensed 6
Discrimination 6
Duplication 6
Live Music, Dancing and Theatre 7
Planning 7
Licensing as a Responsible Authority 8
Temporary Events Notice 8
Cumulative Impact and Special Policies 9
Early Morning Restriction Orders 10
Licensing Hours 11
Home Delivery  Service of Alcohol 11
Making Representations 11
Petitions 12
The Four Licensing Objectives - General 13
Objective 1 - Prevention of Crime & Disorder 13
Objective 2 - Public Safety 14
Objective 3 - The Prevention of Public Nuisance 15
Objective 4 - Protection of Children from Harm 16
Licence Reviews 19
Licence Suspensions 20
Enforcement 21
Inspection of premises 21
Administration, Exercise and Delegations Function 22
The Licensing Committee 22
The Licensing Sub Committee 22
Licensing Officers 23
Appeals Procedure 25
Appeals to Magistrates Court 25
Contact Details / Advice and Guidance 26
Review of policy 26
Appendix A – Maps of Merthyr Tydfil 27
Appendix B – Pool of Model Conditions 28
                       Part 1 Conditions Relating to Crime & 
                       Disorder

30

                       Part 2 Conditions relating to Public Safety 36
                       Part 3Theatres, Cinemas Concert Halls and 
                       Similar  Venues

41

                       Part 4 Conditions Relating to Public Nuisance                                                       46
                       Part 5 Conditions Relating to Protection of 
                      Children from Harm

49

Page 136



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20193

   1.   THE LICENSING OBJECTIVES

1.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (“the Licensing Authority”) will carry 
out its functions under the Licensing Act 2003 (“the Act”) with a view to 
promoting the following four licensing objectives set out in the Act, each of 
which is of equal importance:

a) the prevention of crime and disorder;
b) ensuring public safety;
c) the prevention of public nuisance, and
d) the protection of children from harm.

1.2  The Licensing Authority makes this Licensing Policy Statement (“the Policy”) in 
accordance with section 5 of the Act.  In doing so the Licensing Authority has 
taken into account the Licensing Act 2003 together with the ‘Guidance issued 
under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003’ (“the Guidance”) issued by the 
Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport.

1.3   If, in developing its Policy, the Licensing Authority departs from the Guidance, 
it will give full reasons for such departure.  This will be a key consideration for 
the courts should departure from the Guidance result in a determination which 
gives rise to an appeal or judicial review.

2. MERTHYR TYDFIL 

2.1   Merthyr Tydfil is a place of exceptional history. The County Borough lies at the 
top of the Taff Valley, 25 miles north of the Bristol Channel and at the foot of 
the Brecon Beacons mountains.  Nearly 1/5 of the Authority lies within the 
Brecon Beacons National Park. 

2.2 Nowadays the County Borough is home to 59,065 people. The town is 
strategically located at the intersection of the A470 and the A465 Heads of 
the Valleys Road. The A470 links Merthyr Tydfil with the M4 motorway and 
Cardiff, the capital city of Wales, which is approximately a 30 minute drive. 

2.3   Two maps can be found in Annex A.

3.     CONSULTATION 

3.1   Licensing Authorities are required by the Act to publish a statement of policy 
which they propose to apply when exercising their functions. The final form of 
the Licensing Policy has been drawn up after consultation with:

 South Wales Police
 South Wales Fire and Rescue Services
 Persons/bodies representing local holders of Premises Licences
 Persons/bodies representing local holders of Club Premises Certificates
 Persons/bodies representing local holders of Personal Licences
 Local businesses and their representatives

Page 137



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20194

 Local residents and their representatives, specifically through tenants’ and 
residents’ associations

 Children’s Safeguarding Unit
 Cwm Taf Local Health Board (added in as a responsible authority)
 Merthyr Tydfil Magistrates’ Court
 Prince Charles Hospital, Gurnos, Accident and Emergency Department.
 British Transport Police
 The Community Safety Partnership
 Any relevant association(s) of Licensing Officers
 The Events Safety Advisory Group
 Such other organisations as appear to the Licensing Authority to be 

affected by licensing matters covered by this policy

3.2   Our consultation took place between xxxxx to the xxxx. we followed the 
Cabinet Office Consultation Principles (published July 2012) which is 
available at: (updated)

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance   

3.3   The full list of comments made and the consideration by Licensing Authority of 
those comments is available by request to: Community Safety and Regulatory 
Compliance  Manager, Licensing Section, Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr 
Tydfil, CF47 8AN.

3.4   The policy was given final approval at a meeting of the Full Council on the 
xxxxxx and was published via our website on the xxxxxx. Copies were placed 
in the public libraries of the County Borough as well as being available in the 
Civic Centre.

3.5    It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any 
person to make an application, make representations about an application, or 
apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits 
and according to the statutory requirements of the Licensing Act 2003.

4.     THE PURPOSE OF LICENSING

4.1   The aims of this Licensing Policy are to: -

(a) Help to create a fair and prosperous society that properly balances the 
rights of individuals with those of their communities. 

(b)  Integrate its aims and objectives with other initiatives that will: -

 Reduce alcohol-related crime and disorder
 Encourage tourism and the hospitality and leisure industry
 Promote a broad range of entertainment, particularly live music, 

dancing and theatre
 Reduce alcohol misuse
 Encourage the self-sufficiency of local communities

Page 138

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance


STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20195

 Reduce the burden imposed by regulation on businesses
 Provide greater choice for consumers
 Encourage family friendly premises
 Encourage regeneration to increase investment in the County 

Borough and improve employment opportunities.

4.2   Licensing is about the regulation of licensed premises, qualifying members’ 
clubs, personal licence holders and temporary events.  Terms and conditions 
attached to the various permissions granted under the Act will be focused on 
matters within the control of the individual licensees and other relevant 
permissions.  

4.3  Licensing law is not a mechanism for the general control of anti-social 
behaviour by individuals once they are beyond the direct control of the 
person, club or business holding the licence, certificate or permission 
concerned.  As a matter of policy, the Licensing Authority expects every 
holder of a licence, certificate or permission to be responsible for minimising 
the impact of their activities and any anti-social behaviour demonstrated by 
their patrons within the immediate vicinity of their premises. Whether any 
place falls within the meaning of ‘vicinity’ will be a question of fact in each 
individual case.

4.4  The Licensing Authority recognises that balancing the interests of owners, 
employees, customers and neighbours of pubs, clubs and off-licences will not 
always be straightforward, but it will always be guided by the four principal 
licensing objectives of the Act.  The Licensing Authority will use its powers to 
promote best practice in relation to the operation of licensed premises and to 
deter poor practice. 

 
4.5   This Licensing Policy does not seek to undermine the right of any individual to 

apply under the terms of the Act for a variety of permissions and to have any 
such application considered upon its individual merits.  It does not seek to 
override the right of any person to make representations on an application or 
seek a review of a licence or certificate where provision has been made for 
them to do so in the Act.

4.6   Each licence application that is received by the Licensing Authority will be 
considered on its own merits in the context of the four licensing objectives. 
Where no relevant representations are received from responsible authorities 
or interested parties in respect of an application, there is no provision for a 
licensing authority to impose conditions on a licence other than those 
proposed within an applications and the mandatory statutory conditions. 

4.7   The Licensing Authority will pay due regard to the guidance issued to it by the 
Secretary of State under Section 182 of the Act. (Where it is necessary to 
depart from such guidance either in this Licensing Policy or at any other time 
the Licensing Authority will give clear and cogent reasons for doing so.)

Page 139



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20196

5.     ACTIVITIES TO BE LICENSED 

5.1  The Policy relates to the following activities that are required to be licensed      
under the Act:

(A) The sale by retail of alcohol (including sales made via the internet or 
mail order). This includes the sale to the general public of alcohol in 
wholesale quantities.

(B) The supply of alcohol to members of qualifying clubs.

(C) The provision of regulated entertainment. The definition of ‘regulated 
entertainment’ is set out in Schedule 1 of the Act and includes:

 a performance of a play
 a film exhibition
 an indoor sporting event
 boxing or wrestling events
 a contest, exhibition or display which combines boxing or 

wrestling with one or more martial arts (combined fighting sports) 
 a performance of live music 
 the playing of recorded music (except incidental music)
 a performance of dance
 entertainment of similar description to live music, the playing of 

recorded music and performance of dance, but only where 
provided as entertainment in the presence of an audience

(D) The provision of late night refreshments (i.e. the supply of hot food 
or drink between 11pm and 5am).  This applies to any premises, 
including mobile vehicles.

6.    DISCRIMINATION

6.1  The Licensing Authority will not tolerate discrimination towards any section of 
the public on the grounds of colour, race, ethnic or national origin, disability, 
religious beliefs, sexual orientation or gender.

7.     DUPLICATION 

7.1  The Licensing Authority recognises the need to avoid duplication of existing 
legislation and other regulatory regimes that place obligations on employers 
& operators e.g. The Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 and the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.

Page 140



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20197

7.2  This will be reflected by a commitment to only attach conditions of licence 
that will promote the licensing objectives. However it is recognised that the 
primary legislation of other agencies will not always adequately address 
specific issues that arise as a result of licensable, or ancillary activity 
associated with a premises. In such circumstances supplementary 
conditions will be imposed, proportionate to the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.

8.   LIVE MUSIC, DANCING AND THEATRE 

8.1 The Licensing Authority wishes to encourage and promote live music, dance 
and theatre for the wider cultural benefit of the community. The Licensing 
Authority notes that the Live Music Act 2012 already exempts live music, 
from the need for a licence in specific circumstances. The Licensing 
Authority also notes the de-regulation of the performance of plays, 
exhibitions of dance and indoor sporting events in specific circumstances. 

8.2   For those activities that will still require licensing, the Licensing Authority will 
carefully balance the cultural need with the necessity of promoting the 
licensing objectives.  

8.3  The Licensing Authority will only impose such conditions strictly necessary 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives and should be attached to 
licences for activities of this nature. The Licensing Authority is aware of the 
need to avoid unnecessary or disproportionate measures that could deter 
live music, dancing and theatre by imposing indirect costs of a substantial 
nature.

8.4  The Licensing Authority may also seek premises licences for public spaces 
in the community in its own name.  This could include, for example, open 
spaces, town centre squares, community halls and similar spaces.  With 
regard to those places, performers and entertainers will not need to obtain a 
licence or give a temporary event notice themselves in order to perform.  
Instead, they would require permission form the Licensing Authority as the 
premises licence holder.  

9.   PLANNING

9.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that Planning and Licensing are distinct, 
but complementary disciplines. Planning primarily controls use of land, 
whereas Licensing is concerned with the operation and management of the 
premises that are not addressed by planning concerns.

9.2 In general, the Licensing Authority will expect applicants to have an 
appropriate planning consent for their premises, prior to a licence 
application being made. The Licensing Committee may refuse to grant a 
licence following representations from the local Planning Authority that one 
of the licensing objectives are likely to be undermined. For example, 

Page 141



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20198

granting a premises licence for longer hours than permitted in a planning 
permission may undermine the prevention of public nuisance objective.

9.3 The aim is to provide consistency in areas of common concern, where key 
criteria overlap. To further this aim the Licensing Authority & local Planning 
Authority are committed to the sharing of information in the investigating of 
breaches of either licences or planning control.

9.4  A Planning authority may make representation as a responsible authority 
providing the representations relate to the licensing objectives.

10. LICENSING AS A RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY 

10.1 The PRSR Act amended the 2003 Act to include the Licensing Authority as 
a Responsible Authority. This Licensing Authority will therefore be 
empowered to fulfil the same functions as other Responsible Authorities 
under the Act including making relevant representations to new 
licence/certificate applications and variations and reviewing an existing 
licence/certificate.

10.2 The Local Authority shall generally only make representations where it has 
relevant evidence/information; where an application conflicts with our 
statement of policy or in order to improve upon conditions that might be 
offered in an operating schedule and which has not been resolved through 
negotiation.

10.3 In cases where the Licensing Authority is also acting in its capacity as a 
Responsible Authority it will ensure that there is a separation of 
responsibilities within the Council to ensure procedural fairness and 
eliminate conflict of interests. The Officer acting as a Responsible Authority 
shall not be involved in the application process. However, a separate 
Licensing Officer will receive and process these applications. 
Communications between both Officers shall remain formal and separate 
throughout the process. Thus a separation will be achieved by allocating 
distinct functions to different Officers. Essentially, the Licensing Officer 
advising the Licensing Sub Committee shall be different from the officer who 
is acting as the Responsible Authority.

11.   TEMPORARY EVENTS NOTICE 

11.1 The Act provides that certain occasions are to be designated as small scale 
events (that is, for no more than 499 people at a time and lasting for no 
more than 168 hours) and so may be classified as “Temporary Events” and 
do not require a licence.  

11.2 The Licensing Authority recommends that at least three months’ notice be 
given of the intention to hold such temporary events in the interests of public 
safety and in order to allow it to help organisers to plan their events.  Any 
longer period than this may mean that organisers do not have all the details 

Page 142



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 20199

available at the time the notice is submitted, and allowing any lesser time 
may mean that planning for the event could necessarily be rushed and 
haphazard.  

11.3 The organiser of the event must serve the Licensing Authority with a 
Temporary Event Notice (i.e. advance notice) no later than 10 working days, 
excluding day of service and day of event. A “late” Temporary Event Notice 
can be received between 5 and 9 clear working days, excluding the day of 
service and the day of the event. A fee is payable to the Licensing Authority.  
Notices served outside this timescale will be deemed invalid.

11.4 The Temporary Event Notice must be copied to the Police and the Council’s  
Environmental Health Department. The TEN can be served on the Police at: 
Merthyr Tydfil Police Station, Swan Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8ES and 
Environmental Health at the Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN.

11.5 Conditions may be added to a temporary event notice for existing licensed 
premises if representations have been made by the police or Environmental 
Health. Event organisers should be aware that an event cannot take place if 
an objection is made to a “late” temporary event notice, whereas objections 
to a “standard” temporary event notice will usually result in the notice being 
determined by the licensing sub-committee. 

11.6 The Licensing Authority has established an Events Safety Advisory Group 
consisting of the Emergency Services and other statutory agencies such as 
the highways authority, to advise and to co-ordinate planning for public 
events held within the County Borough, whether or not a Premises Licence 
or a Temporary Event Notice is needed. 

11.7 Organisers of temporary events are therefore strongly advised to contact the 
Council’s Licensing Officers for advice at the earliest opportunity when 
planning events.  Where necessary, the advice of the Events Safety 
Advisory Group can be obtained, or discussions can be held with the Police 
in order to avoid any unnecessary objections being made due to any 
misunderstanding or confusion as to what precisely was being proposed. 

12.   CUMULATIVE IMPACT AND SPECIAL POLICIES

12.1 In determining an application the Licensing Authority will not give 
consideration to the need, i.e. the commercial demand, for such premises.

12.2 However, in the interests of the public the Licensing Authority will consider 
representations, where supported by evidence, that the cumulative effect of 
existing licences, new licences, or variations to existing licences, is leading 
to an over concentration of premises in an area, creating exceptional 
problems of disorder and nuisance over and above the impact from the 
individual premises.

Page 143



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201910

12.3 Where satisfied that the cumulative effect of licensed premises, within an 
area, gives rise or will give rise to exceptional problems of public disorder 
and nuisance, in the surrounding vicinity, the Authority may consider it 
appropriate to adopt a “Special Policy” of refusing new licences, or relevant 
variations to existing licences, in that area.

12.4 In the event that the Authority becomes satisfied, after considering available 
evidence, and following consultation in accordance with Section 5(3) of the 
Act, that it is appropriate and necessary to have a cumulative impact 
“special policy”, it will indicate that it is adopting such a policy in this 
Statement. Any “special policy” will be kept under review to ensure that the 
evidence underpinning it is still current and relevant.

12.5 The effect of adopting a policy of this kind is to create rebuttable 
presumption that applications for new Premises Licences, Club Premises 
Certificates or variations will normally be refused, if relevant representations 
to that effect are received, unless it can demonstrate that the operation of 
the premises involved will not add to the cumulative impact already being 
experienced. Therefore such a policy would still allow for circumstances of 
each application to be considered properly and for licences that are unlikely 
to add significantly to saturation to be approved.

12.6 It should be noted that the absence of such a policy does not prevent any 
responsible authority or interested party making representations on an 
application for the grant or variation of a licence on the grounds that the 
premises will give rise to a negative cumulative impact on one or more of 
the licensing objectives.

13.   EARLY MORNING RESTRICTION ORDERS 

13.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (“the PRSR Act”) 
gives the Licensing Authority the discretion to restrict sales of alcohol by 
introducing an Early Morning Restriction Order (“EMRO”) to restrict the sale 
or supply of alcohol between the hours of midnight and 6am to tackle high 
levels of alcohol-related crime and disorder, nuisance and anti-social 
behaviour.

13.2. The decision to implement an EMRO must be evidence based and the 
Licensing Authority must be satisfied that such an Order would be 
appropriate to promote the licensing objectives. Furthermore, the Licensing 
Authority shall consider the potential burden that would be imposed on 
premises licence/certificate holders.

13.3 As an EMRO is a powerful tool and a very stringent approach in tackling 
issues, the Licensing Authority will first consider whether other measures 
may address the problems and achieve the same goal.

Page 144



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201911

14.   LICENSING HOURS

14.1 There is no general presumption in favour of lengthening licensing hours, 
but applicants are encouraged to consider staggering their operating hours 
in comparison to neighbouring premises to avoid concentrations of patrons 
leaving premises at the same time.

14.2 When the licensing authority’s discretion is engaged, consideration will be 
given to the individual merits of an application but the presumption will be to 
grant the hours requested, unless there are objections to those hours raised 
by responsible authorities or interested parties on the basis of the licensing 
objectives.

14.3 The Licensing Authority will consider licensing shops, stores & 
supermarkets to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises at any times 
when they are open for trading, unless representations raise reasons, 
based on the licensing objectives, for restricting those hours.

15. HOME DELIVERY SERVICE OF ALCOHOL 

15.1 The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to include details of any home 
delivery services for the sale of alcohol in their application. This will include 
the procedures and conditions that will be in place to ensure that alcohol 
sales are made responsibly; that suitable checks and record keeping will be 
in place; and that deliveries of alcohol are only made to recipients over the 
age of 18.

16.   MAKING REPRESENTATIONS 

16.1 Relevant Representations can be made in opposition to, or in support of an 
application for a new premises licence/club certificate, the variation, minor 
variation or review of an existing licence. 

16.2 For a representation to be a valid (i.e. relevant) one which the Licensing 
Authority can properly consider it must be about the likely effect of the 
application on the promotion of the four licensing objectives. It must:

 Relate to the effect the grant or variation of the licence on the promotion 
of the licensing objectives.

 Be made by a responsible authority or other person (this includes any 
individual, body or business entitled to make representations) 

 Not have been withdrawn
 Not be frivolous, vexatious or repetitive of an earlier representation

16.3 Representations from responsible authorities and other persons can be 
made:

 When applications are made to the Licensing Authority for the issue of a 
new licence, variation or minor variation of an existing one.

 At any time by requesting the review of a premises licence.

Page 145



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201912

16.4 Initially a decision will be taken by the Licensing Authority’s Licensing 
Officers as to whether the representation is vexatious or frivolous or merely 
repeats an earlier representation which it believes it has already dealt with 
satisfactorily.

16.5 If the Licensing Authority considers that the representations are bona fide it 
must hold a hearing to consider those representations (unless all agree that 
this is unnecessary).

16.6 In accordance with statutory requirements, copies of representations will be 
forwarded to the applicant in order that they may respond.

16.7 In exceptional cases, where the Licensing Authority consider that an 
interested party has a genuine and well founded fear of intimidation, an 
alternative approach will be adopted, which will seek to maintain the 
anonymity of the interested party concerned. Such action will only be taken 
where the Licensing Authority is satisfied the representation is neither 
frivolous nor vexatious and genuine cause for concern has been 
established.

17 PETITIONS 

17.1 For a petition to be accepted as a relevant representation, the following 
should be stated on each individual page:

 The title of the petition
 The reason for it, including which of the four objectives it refers to.
 Clearly states the full name address and signature of the author
 Each individuals full name, address and signature.

17.2 All signatories should be over the age of 18 and should not be collected by 
children.

17.4  Prior to initiating a petition as a means of representation, the Licensing 
Authority strongly advises that contact be made with the Licensing Section 
in order that appropriate advice can be given.

Page 146



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201913

THE FOUR LICENSING OBJECTIVES

18.   GENERAL

18.1 The four licensing objectives set out in the Act, each of which is of equal 
importance is:

1. the prevention of crime and disorder
2. ensuring public safety
3. the prevention of public nuisance, and 
4. the protection of children form harm

18.2 In respect of each of the four licensing objectives, it will be in the interests of 
applicants to provide evidence that suitable and sufficient measures which 
are relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises are 
detailed in their operating schedule.

18.3 In the absence of relevant representations the licensing Authority must grant 
an application subject only to statutory mandatory conditions and such 
conditions that are consistent with the applicant’s operating schedule. 

18.4 However, where relevant representations are received, conditions may be 
imposed at the discretion of the Licensing Authority which are deemed to be 
necessary to promote the licensing objectives, providing each case remains 
to be treated on its own merit. These conditions may be drawn from the 
Pool of Conditions set out in the Guidance (see Annex B of this document) 
or any other conditions which the Licensing Authority thinks necessary. 
There will be no blanket standard conditions imposed by the Licensing 
Authority.

18.5 Where the considerations apply in respect of late-night refreshment 
premises, they shall only be taken to apply to their operation between the 
hours of 11 p.m. and 5 a.m. when a Premises Licence would be required.

19. OBJECTIVE 1 - PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER

19.1 The Licensing Authorities starting point is to seek a reduction in crime and 
disorder throughout the County Borough, in accordance with its statutory 
duty under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  Licences may 
be granted if applicants can demonstrate that a positive reduction in crime 
and disorder will result, or that crime and disorder will not increase, as a 
result of the application being granted.

19.2 The fact that the Designated Premises Supervisor is of good standing or 
that the premises themselves are well run may not in themselves be 
sufficient reasons to justify any departure from this policy.  An applicant who 
makes an application which involves poorly run premises should not expect 
to be granted a licence. 

Page 147



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201914

19.3 Applicants are advised that they should discuss the crime prevention 
procedures relating to their premises with the Licensing Authority and with 
the Police before any formal application is made.

19.4 In particular, the Licensing Authority will expect applicants to address the 
following matters in their operating schedules:

 The capability of the person in charge to ensure effective and 
responsible management of the premises

 The training given to staff in crime prevention measures
 Procedures for risk assessing events and promotions
 Physical security features installed in the premises (i.e. location and 

standard of CCTV equipment, toughened drinking glasses etc)
 Employment of SIA licensed door supervisors
 Participation in an appropriate crime prevention scheme (e.g. pubwatch)
 Measures to be taken for the prevention of violence and disorder
 The measures employed at the premises in order to prevent the 

consumption or the supply of illegal drugs, including any search 
procedures and entry policies;

 Where premises are subject to age restrictions, the procedures which 
are in place to conduct age verification checks;

 The likelihood of any violence, public disorder or policing problems 
which may be experienced if the licence was to be granted.

 Queuing arrangements outside the entrance to the licensed activity;
 Location of designated smoking areas so as to facilitate supervision.

19.5  For new licence applications, where a licence requires the provision of SIA 
Door Staff it will be a requirement that at least the head door staff will wear 
a body worn surveillance camera.

19.6 If not volunteered by the applicant in their operating schedule and following 
relevant representations, the Licensing Authority may need to attach 
conditions to licences to address crime and disorder issues. These 
conditions will only seek to secure the most effective solution, taking 
account of the nature of each individual premises.

        ‘Pubwatch’ Schemes

19.6 The Licensing Authority strongly recommends the participation of licensees 
and/or premises managers in such schemes, where they exist. It is 
considered to be a key element of positive partnership working, to address 
issues of concern and promote good practice.

Page 148



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201915

20. OBJECTIVE 2 -  PUBLIC SAFETY

20.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that different types of premises will 
present differing issues of public safety that will need to be addressed. For 
example, the safety considerations of public houses, nightclubs, 
restaurants, hotels (with entertainment), theatres and cinemas will raise 
issues particular to them.

20.2 The prime responsibility, however, is placed on those who provide 
entertainment, refreshment (alcohol & food) or events to secure the safety 
and well being of their customers and staff.

20.3 Where an applicant identifies an issue in regard to public safety (including 
fire safety), which is not covered by existing legislation the applicant, should 
identify in their operating schedule the steps that will be taken to ensure 
public safety.

20.4 In particular, the Licensing Authority will expect applicants to address the 
following matters in their operating schedules:

 Capacity
 Design and layout of the premises and means of escape
 The necessary Health and Safety and Fire Risk Assessments and other 

measures for the premises to reduce risk to public safety are in place.
 The nature of licensable activities provided

20.5 If not volunteered by the applicant in their operating schedule and following 
relevant representations, the Licensing Authority may need to attach 
conditions to licences to address safety issues. These conditions will only 
seek to secure the most effective solution, taking account of the nature of 
the premises and the scale or type of entertainment to be provided   

21.  OBJECTIVE 3 - THE PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE

21.1 The Licensing Authority is concerned to protect the amenity of residents 
and businesses in the vicinity of licensed premises. Whether any particular 
resident or business is within the ‘vicinity’ will be a finding of fact in each 
case.

21.2 The Licensing Authority intends to interpret ‘public nuisance’ in its widest 
sense and takes it to include such issues as noise, light, odour, litter and 
disturbance from customers in the immediate vicinity of the licensed 
premises, where these matters impact on those living or working in an area.

21.3 In considering all licence applications, the Licensing Authority will consider 
the adequacy of measures which are proposed to deal with the potential for 
nuisance and/or anti-social behaviour having regard to all the circumstances 

Page 149



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201916

of the application.  In particular, the Licensing Authority will expect 
applicants to address the following matters in their operating schedules:

 The location of premises and proximity to residential and other noise 
sensitive premises, such as hospitals, hospices and places of worship.

 The hours of operation particularly between 10.00 p.m. and 8.00 a.m.
 The nature of activities to be provided and whether they are to be held 

inside and/or outside the premises structure.
 Measures taken to prevent noise and vibration escaping from the 

premises from such sources as music, noise from ventilation equipment 
and human voices.

 The use of beer gardens, patios and other open-air areas
 The siting of external lighting, including security lighting, that is   installed 

inappropriately 
 Any history of previous nuisance complaints which have been proved 

against the premises, particularly where statutory notices have been 
served on the present licensee(s).

 The steps taken or proposed to be taken by the applicant to prevent 
queuing.  If some queuing is inevitable then queues should be diverted 
away from neighbouring premises or should be managed to prevent any 
disturbance or obstruction from arising

 External smoking areas must be selected so as to minimize any 
disturbance to the neighbourhood, should be covered effectually by 
CCTV or be supervised. Access to the smoking area must be controlled 
such that noise from any entertainment does not become intrusive to 
neighbouring premises. Arrangements must be put into place for the 
collection of smoking waste at the entrances and exits from the 
premises so as to minimize the effect of smoking litter on the local 
environment

 Whether the premises would lead to the increased storage of refuse or 
to disposal problems, or to additional litter (including fly posters and 
illegal placards) within the vicinity of the premises

21.4 If not volunteered by the applicant in their operating schedule and following 
relevant representations, the Licensing Authority may need to attach 
conditions to licences to address public nuisance issues. These conditions 
will only seek to secure the most effective solution, taking account of the 
location and nature of the premises.   

22.   OBJECTIVE 4 - PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM

22.1 The Licensing Authority recognises the great variety of premises for which 
licences may be sought. These will include Theatres, Cinemas, 
Restaurants, Pubs, Nightclubs, Café’s, Takeaways, Community Halls and 
Schools. 

22.2 While the Act does not generally prohibit children from accessing licensed 
premises it does prohibit children under the age of 16, unless accompanied 
by an adult, from accessing licensed premises which are: 

Page 150



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201917

 primarily or exclusively for the supply and consumption of alcohol on 
the premises 

 and, in any event, between the hours of midnight and 5.00 a.m.

22.3 Furthermore, the Licensing Authority recognises that additional limitations 
may have to be considered where it appears necessary to protect children 
from harm. In particular where Licensee’s premises are being used to 
coordinate activates for children or vulnerable adults, it is best practice that 
the Licensee ask the Group / Organisation / Coordinator to develop a Child 
Protection and / or Protection of Vulnerable Adult Policy. This will highlight 
the duty of everybody to be alert to the need to report any child protection or 
protection of vulnerable concerns

22.4 The Licensing Authority will consult with the Children’s Safeguarding Unit or 
alternatively the Integrated Children’s services on any application that 
indicates that there may be concerns over access for children.

22.5 The Licensing Authority will judge the merits of each separate application 
before deciding whether to impose conditions limiting the access of children 
to individual premises.  The following are examples of premises that will 
raise concern:

 Where there have been convictions for serving alcohol to minors or 
where there has been a reputation for underage drinking

 With a known association with drug taking or dealing
 Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises
 Where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is commonly 

provided
 Where the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the 

exclusive or primary purpose of the services being provided on the 
premises.

 Sales of tobacco to underage customers will also be an area of 
concern.

22.6 The Licensing Authority will consider any of the following options when 
dealing with a licence application where limiting the access of children is 
considered necessary to prevent harm to them:

 Limitations on the hours when children may be present
 Limitations on ages below 18
 Limitations or exclusion when certain activities are taking place
 Requirements for an accompanying adult
 Full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any 

licensable activities are taking place
 Limitation on parts of premises to which children are given access
 Requiring licensees to specify in their operating schedules the 

measures they intend to take to verify the age of potential customers 
(i.e. ‘Proof of Age’ schemes)

Page 151



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201918

22.7 The Act does not give the Licensing Authority the power to impose a 
condition requiring that children be admitted to any premises and so this is 
largely a matter for the discretion of the individual licensee.

22.8 The Licensing Authority supports the Portman Group Code of Practice on 
the ‘Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks’. 

Showing of Films, Videos, etc

22.9 In the case of premises giving film exhibitions the Licensing Authority will 
require licensees to impose conditions that children will be restricted from 
viewing age-restricted films classified according to recommendations of the 
British Board of Film Classification, that is:

U -  Universal:  Suitable for all.
PG - Parental Guidance: Some scenes may be unsuitable for young 
children.
12A  – Passed only for viewing by persons aged 12 years or older or 
younger persons accompanied by an adult. 
15 – Passed only for viewing by persons aged 15 years or older.
18 - Passed only for viewing by persons aged 18 years or older.
Restricted 18 - For viewing by persons aged 18 years or older who are 
members of a properly constituted club or their guests aged of 18 or over.

Children and Public Entertainment

22.10 Many children go to see and/or take part in an entertainment arranged 
especially for them, for example, children’s film shows and dance or drama 
school productions, and additional arrangements are required to safeguard 
them while at the premises.

22.11 Where regulated entertainment is specially presented for children, the 
Licensing Authority will require the following arrangements in order to 
control their access and egress and to assure their safety:

 An adult member of staff is to be stationed in the vicinity of each of 
the exits from any level, subject to there being a minimum of one 
member of staff per 50 children or part thereof

 No child unless accompanied by an adult to be permitted in the front 
row of any balcony

 No standing to be permitted in any part of the auditorium during the 
performance.

22.12 The Licensing Authority will consider attaching Conditions to licences and 
to permissions in order to prevent harm occurring to children.

Page 152



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201919

23. LICENCE REVIEWS 

23.1 The Licensing Authority can only review a licence where it is alleged that the 
Licensing Objectives have been or are being breached.  

23.2 A review can be called by a ‘responsible authority’ or other person and must 
be:

 relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives, and
 be directly attributable to a particular premises, where a licence is in force.

23.3 The Licensing Authority will take a particularly serious view of any 
application for the review of any Premises Licence where any of the 
following have been involved:

 Sale/distribution of illegal substances
 Sale/distribution of illegal firearms
 evasion of copyright in respect of pirated films and/or music
 the underage purchase and consumption of alcohol 
 prostitution or for the sale of unlawful pornography
 the use of the licensed premises by organised groups of paedophiles to 

groom children
 as the base for the organisation of criminal activity
 unlawful gaming/gambling
 organisation or promotion of racist activity or attacks
 sale of smuggled tobacco or goods 
 sale of stolen goods
 knowingly employing a person who is unlawfully in the UK or who cannot 

be employed as a result of a condition on that person’s leave to enter 

23.4 Or, where management practices are failing to address adverse impact to 
the community in respect of the following criteria:

 where the Police have been called frequently to attend to incidents of 
disorder 

 where there have been prolonged and/or repeated instances of public 
nuisance

 where there have been repeated incidents of excessive littering by 
patrons following attendance at the premises.

 where risks to public safety have been identified and the management is 
unable or unwilling to correct them

 where serious risks to children have been identified 
 Continuous non compliance with conditions of licence, which indicates 

that the premises is being operated contrary to the operating schedule.

23.6 The Licensing Authority will work closely with all partners to seek to promote 
a culture of social responsibility and good management, intended to 

Page 153



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201920

facilitate sustainable business for the benefit of both the community and 
trader.

23.7 To this end, the Licensing Authority and partners will adopt a stepped 
approach, where early warning of concerns will be given to licensees to 
allow opportunity to address problems. A failure to take heed of a warning 
and effect an improvement is likely to result in a review. In cases when the 
crime prevention objective is being undermined it is expected that 
revocation of the licence – even in the first instance - will be seriously 
considered. 

23.8 When considering a review application, the Licensing Committee may take 
such steps as it considers necessary for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives:

 Decide not to alter the licence and/or issue a warning as to improvement
 Amend the licence conditions
 Exclude a licensable activity
 Remove the designated premises supervisor
 Suspend the licence for a period of not exceeding 3 months
 Revoke the licence

23.9 Where a premises licence/club premises certificate is revoked in response to a 
review, there will be a presumption to refuse any subsequent application for 
licensable activity at the premises for a minimum period of 12 months, or such 
other period as considered necessary by the Licensing Committee.

Where an applicant wishes an exception to this policy to be considered, it will be 
the responsibility of the applicant to demonstrate why an exception should be 
made.

24. LICENCE SUSPENSIONS

24.1 The Licensing Act requires a licensing authority to suspend a premises 
licence or club premises certificate if the annual fee is not paid when it is 
due. However this does not apply immediately if:

 the payment was not made before or at the time of the due date 
because of an administrative error. An administrative error can 
include an error by the Licensing Authority or the licence/certificate 
holder. 

 Where the licence/certificate holder has a dispute realating to liability 
to pay the fee or the amount of the fee they must notify the licensing 
authority on or before the date on which the fee becomes due. 

24.2 Where there is a adminitrative error or dispute there is a 21 day period for 
the problem to be resolved afterwhich the licence/certificate will be 
suspended if the fee remains unpaid.

Page 154



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201921

24.3 When the Licensing Authority suspends a licence they notify the holder in 
writing specifying the date on which the suspension will take place, the 
suspension date will be 21 days after the authority has given the notice. The 
suspension will cease to have effect on the day on which the licensing 
authority receives payment of the outstanding fee. 

25.   ENFORCEMENT

25.1 The Licensing Authority will exercise its enforcement functions, based 
around the principles of consistency, transparency and proportionality. 

25.2 The Licensing Authority will take a graduated response where offences 
against licensing legislation are found or where licence conditions have 
been contravened.  An isolated administrative offence – such as failing to 
maintain certain records – may be dealt with purely by way of a written 
warning. More serious offences, those which have been continually 
committed over a period of time or which jeopardise the licensing objectives 
may result in a referral for prosecution.

25.3 The Licensing Authority will establish protocols with the Police and others 
who have enforcement functions (e.g. the Fire Service) with a view to 
providing for a more efficient deployment of its own staff, Police officers and 
the staff of other organisations with enforcement duties. The protocols will 
provide for the targeting of problem premises and businesses which 
consistently fail to promote the licensing objectives or fail to comply with the 
conditions of their licences.  

25.4 The Licensing Authority will work with the owners of businesses and their 
representative organisations to promote best practice in the trade. The 
Licensing Authority will liaise widely with local businesses and organisations 
to encourage measures which will reduce crime and disorder in the county 
borough.

25.5 The Licensing Authority will continue to employ Licensing Officers to 
investigate allegations of unlicensed activities and to ensure that licence 
conditions are complied with.

26.   INSPECTION OF PREMISES 

26.1 The Licensing Authority will inspect every premises that it has not previously 
licensed in order to ensure that the Act’s Licensing Objectives and this 
Licensing Policy are complied with. The Licensing Authorities Licensing 
Officers will determine on a case-by-case basis which applications require 
an inspection and they will arrange for such an inspection to take place.

26.2 Inspections of licensed premises will be carried out on a risk analysis based 
on local intelligence.  

Page 155



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201922

26.3 The frequency of unannounced inspections will be based on factors such as 
response to complaints from the public or responsible authorities, and any 
other relevant factor.

27. ADMINISTRATION, EXERCISE AND DELEGATIONS FUNCTION

27.1 The Licensing Authority will administer its licensing duties through the 
following three tiers of administration:

 The Licensing Committee 
 The Licensing Sub Committee
 Licensing Officers

               The Licensing Committee 

27.2 The Act requires that each Licensing Authority establishes a Licensing 
Committee. The Licensing Committee will consist of 11 Councillors and will 
be have overall responsibility for deciding policy matters.  It will determine 
from time to time any standard conditions applicable to and detailed policies 
governing the issue of licences, permits and consents. All other functions 
will normally be carried out by the Licensing Sub Committee.

        The Licensing Sub Committee

27.3 A Licensing Sub Committee of three Councillors, chosen from the Licensing 
Committee, will sit to hear every application where representations have 
been received from interested parties and responsible authorities.

27.4 The Chairman of the Licensing Sub Committee shall on each occasion be 
the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Licensing Committee.

27.5 Ward Councillors will not sit on the Licensing Committee or Licensing Sub 
Committee when an application within their own Ward falls to be decided.

27.6 The function of the Licensing Sub Committee is to hear and to determine 
licensing applications made under the Act or otherwise and to deal with all 
related and detailed matters including the transfer, modification, variation, 
suspension and revocation of licences relating to temporary events notices, 
Personal and Premises Licences and Club Registration Certificates, 
especially where representations have been received from the Police and 
other responsible authorities.

27.7 Where a Councillor who is a member of the Licensing Committee or the 
Licensing Sub Committee has a direct or indirect interest in an application 
before them, in the interests of good governance they will disqualify 
themselves from any involvement in the decision-making process affecting 
the premises which are applying for the licences in question.

.

Page 156



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201923

27.8 Every determination of a licensing decision by the Licensing Committee or 
the Licensing Sub Committee shall be accompanied with clear, cogent 
reasons for the decision.  

27.9 If any decision of the Licensing Committee or Sub Committee differs from 
the Licensing Policy the Committee will give clear and cogent reasons why 
they have so acted.  This will be important in the event of an appeal against 
the decision.

        Licensing Officers

27.10 The Licensing Authorities Licensing Officers will deal with all other routine 
licence applications where either no representations have been received, or 
where representations have been received and it is agreed by the parties 
that a hearing is not necessary.

27.11 The Licensing Authorities Licensing Officers will make the decision on 
whether representations or applications for a licence review should be 
referred to the Licensing Sub Committee.  Where representations are 
rejected, the person making that representation will be given written 
reasons as to why such is the case.  

27.12 The Licensing Authority will ensure that members and officers are 
appropriately trained to carry out their duties under the Act.

              Delegation of Functions 

27.13 Guidance on how functions under this Act are to be delegated is as 
follows:-

Matter to be dealt with Licensing 
Committee

Licensing Sub
Committee

Officers

Application for Personal 
Licence 

All cases

Application for Personal 
Licence with unspent 
convictions

All cases where the 
Licensing Sub 
Committee is unable 
to deal with the matter

If a Police objection If no objection 
made

Application for Premises 
Licence/club premises 
certificate 

If a representation 
made

If no relevant 
representation 
made

Application for provisional 
statement

If a representation 
made

If no relevant 
representation 
made

Application to vary Premises 
Licence/club premises 
certificate

If a representation 
made 

If no relevant 
representation 
made

Page 157



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201924

Matter to be dealt with Licensing 
Committee

Licensing Sub
Committee

Officers

Application to vary a 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor

If a Police objection If no objection 
made

Request to be removed as 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor

All cases

Application for transfer of 
Premises Licence

If a Police objection If no objection 
made

Application for Interim 
Authorities 

If a Police objection If no objection 
made

Application to review 
Premises Licence/club 
premises certificate

All cases where the 
Licensing Sub 
Committee is unable 
to deal with the 
matter

All cases

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant 
frivolous vexatious etc

All cases

Determination of an objection 
to a standard temporary event 
notice 

All cases

Determination of an objection 
to a late temporary event 
notice 

All cases

Application for a minor 
variation

All cases

Decision on which 
Responsible Authorities are 
relevant for consultation with 
a Minor Variation

All cases

Application requesting the 
condition requiring a 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor be disapplied to a 
premises

If a Police objection If no objection 
made

Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and 
not the relevant authority 
considering the application 

All cases 

Decision to suspend a 
premises licence or club 
premises certificate for non 
payment of annual fees.

All cases

Page 158



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201925

Matter to be dealt with Licensing 
Committee

Licensing Sub
Committee

Officers

Decision to specify the date 
on which a suspension takes 
effect for non payment of 
fees.

All cases

Power to make 
representations as a 
Responsible Authority for 
Licensing

All cases

28.   APPEALS PROCEDURE

28.1 Entitlement to appeal for parties aggrieved by decisions of the Licensing 
Authority are set out in Schedule 5 of the Act.

29.   APPEALS TO THE MAGISTRATES’ COURT

29.1 An appeal has to be commenced by the giving of a notice of appeal by the 
Appellant to the Clerk to the Justices of the Magistrates’ Court within a 
period of 21 days from the day upon which the Appellant was notified by the 
Licensing Authority of the decision appealed against.  The Appellant will be 
deemed to have been served with such Notification 3 days after the date of 
posting of the Notice.

30.  CONTACT DETAILS /ADVICE AND GUIDANCE 

Further information on any aspect of the licensing regime, including applications 
and representations can be obtained from:

Licensing Section
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Civic Centre
Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil
CF47 8AN

Tel: 01685 725000

Information about the Licensing Authority’s Licensing Policy can be obtained 
from:

Page 159



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201926

Steve Peters
Head Of Public Protection and Housing
Civic Centre
Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil
CF47 8AN
Tel: 01685 725000

Information is also available from:

Home Office
4th Floor Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF
www.gov.uk/alcohol-licensing 

31.    REVIEW OF POLICY 

28.1 This Policy Statement takes effect on xxxxxxx and will remain in force for a 
period of not more than 5 years. It will be subject to regular review and 
further consultation prior to xxxxxx 

Page 160

http://www.gov.uk/alcohol-licensing


STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201927

APPENDIX A – MAPS OF MERTHYR TYDFIL

Page 161



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201928

APPENDIX B – POOL OF MODEL CONDITIONS

General 

1. When applicants for premises licences or club premises certificates are 
preparing their operating schedules, responsible authorities are considering 
such applications and when licensing authorities are considering applications 
following the receipt of any relevant representations, they should consider 
whether the measures set out below are necessary, to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

2. Any risk assessment to identify necessary measures should consider the 
individual circumstances of the premises (including local knowledge) and take 
into account a range of factors including:

 The nature and style of the venue;
 The activities being conducted there;
 The location; and
 The anticipated clientele.

Under no circumstances should licensing authorities regard these conditions 
as standard to be automatically imposed in all cases. 

3. Any individual preparing an operating schedule or club operating schedule is 
at liberty to volunteer any measure, such as those described below, as a step 
they intend to take to promote the licensing objectives. When measures are 
incorporated into the licence or certificate as conditions, they become 
enforceable under the law and a breach of such a condition could give rise to 
prosecution. 

4. Licensing authorities should carefully consider conditions to ensure that they 
are not only necessary but realistic, practical and achievable, so that they are 
capable of being met. Failure to comply with any conditions attached to a 
licence or certificate is a criminal offence, which on conviction would be 
punishable by fine up to £20.000 or up to six months imprisonment or both. 
As such, it would be wholly inappropriate to impose conditions outside the 
control of those responsible for the running of the premises. It is also 
important that conditions which are imprecise or difficult to enforce should be 
avoided.

Page 162



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201929

5. It should be borne in mind that club premises operate under codes of 
discipline to ensure the good order and behaviour of members and that 
conditions enforcing offences under the Act are necessary.

Page 163



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201930

Part 1. Conditions relating to the prevention of crime and 
disorder 
Text/Radio pagers 

Text and radio pagers connecting premises licence holders, designated 
premises supervisors, managers of premises and clubs to the local police can 
provide for rapid response by the police to situations of disorder which may be 
endangering the customers and staff on the premises. 

Such pagers provide two-way communication, allowing licence holders, 
managers, designated premises supervisors and clubs to report incidents to the 
police, and the police to warn those operating a large number of other premises 
of potential trouble-makers or individuals suspected of criminal behaviour who 
are about in a particular area. Pager systems can also be used by licence 
holders, door supervisors, managers, designated premises supervisors and clubs 
to warn each other of the presence in an area of such people. 

The Secretary of State recommends that text or radio pagers should be 
considered for public houses, bars and nightclubs operating in city and town 
centre leisure areas with a high density of licensed premises. These 
conditions may also be appropriate and necessary in other areas.

It is recommended that a condition requiring the text/radio pager links to the 
police should include the following requirements: 

• the text/pager equipment is kept in working order at all times; 

• the pager link be activated, made available to and monitored by the 
designated premises supervisor or a responsible member of staff at all 
times that the premises are open to the public; 

• any police instructions/directions are complied with whenever given; and 

• all instances of crime or disorder are reported via the text/radio pager link 
by the designated premises supervisor or a responsible member of staff 
to an agreed police contact point. 

Door supervisors 

Conditions relating to the provision of door supervisors and security teams may 
be valuable in: 

Page 164



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201931

• preventing the admission and ensuring the departure from the premises 
of the drunk and disorderly, without causing further disorder; 

• keeping out individuals excluded by court bans or by the licence holder); 

• searching and excluding those suspected of carrying illegal drugs, or 
carrying offensive weapons; and 

• maintaining orderly queuing outside of venues. 

Where the presence of door supervisors conducting security activities is to be 
a condition of a licence, which means that they would have to be registered 
with the Security Industry Authority, conditions may also need to deal with:

 the number of such supervisors;

 the displaying of name badges;

 the carrying of proof of registration;

 where, and at what times, they should be stationed on the premises; 
and

 whether at least one female supervisor should be available (for 
example, if female customers are to be the subject of body searches). 

Door supervisors also have a role to play in ensuring public safety and the 
prevention of public nuisance.

Bottle bans 

Glass bottles may be used as weapons inflicting more serious harm during 
incidents of disorder. A condition can prevent sales of drinks in glass bottles for 
consumption on the premises. This should be expressed in clear terms and 
include the following elements: 

 no bottles containing beverages of any kind, whether open or sealed, shall 
be given to customers on the premises whether at the bar or by staff 
service away from the bar; 

 no customers carrying open or sealed bottles shall be admitted to the 
premises at any time that the premises are open to the public (note: this 
needs to be carefully worded where off-sales also take place); 

In appropriate circumstances, the condition could include exceptions, for 
example, as follows: 

Page 165



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201932

 but bottles containing wine may be sold for consumption with a table meal 
by customers who are seated in an area set aside from the main bar area 
for the consumption of food. 

Bottle bans may also be a relevant necessary measure to promote public safety.

Plastic containers and toughened glass 

Glasses containing drinks may be used as weapons and in untoughened form, 
can cause very serious injuries. Where necessary, consideration should 
therefore be given to conditions requiring the use of safer alternatives which 
inflict less severe injuries. Location and style of the venue and the activities 
carried on there are particularly important in assessing whether a condition is 
necessary. For example, the use of glass containers on the terraces of some 
outdoor sports grounds may obviously be of concern, and similar concerns may 
also apply to indoor sports events such as boxing matches. Similarly, the use of 
such plastic containers or toughened glass may be a necessary condition during 
the televising of live sporting events, such as international football matches, 
when there may be high states of excitement and emotion fuelled by alcohol. 

The use of plastic or paper drinks containers and toughened glass may also 
be relevant as measures necessary to promote public safety. 

Open containers not to be taken from the premises

Drinks purchased in licensed premises or clubs may be taken from those 
premises for consumption elsewhere. This is lawful where premises are licensed 
for the sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises. However, consideration 
should be given to a condition preventing customers from taking alcoholic and 
other drinks from the premises in open containers (eg glasses and opened 
bottles) for example, by requiring the use of bottle bins on the premises. This 
may again be necessary to prevent the use of these containers as offensive 
weapons in surrounding streets after individuals have left the premises.

Restrictions on taking open containers from the premises may also be relevant 
necessary measures to prevent public nuisance.

CCTV 

The presence of CCTV cameras can be an important means of deterring and 
detecting crime at and immediately outside licensed premises. Conditions should 
not just consider a requirement to have CCTV on the premises, but also the 
precise siting of each camera, the requirement to maintain cameras in working 
order, and to retain recordings for an appropriate period of time. 

Page 166



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201933

The police should provide individuals conducting risk assessments when 
preparing operating schedules with advice on the use of CCTV to prevent crime. 

Restrictions on drinking areas 

It may be necessary to restrict the areas where alcoholic drinks may be 
consumed in premises after they have been purchased from the bar. An example 
would be at a sports ground where the police consider it necessary to prevent the 
consumption of alcohol on the terracing of sports grounds during particular sports 
events. Conditions should not only specify these areas, but indicate the 
circumstances in which the ban would apply and times at which it should be 
enforced.

Restrictions on drinking areas may also be relevant necessary measures to 
prevent public nuisance.

Capacity limits 

Capacity limits are most commonly made a condition of a licence on public 
safety grounds, but should also be considered for licensed premises or clubs 
where overcrowding may lead to disorder and violence. If such a condition is 
considered necessary, door supervisors may be needed to ensure that the 
numbers are appropriately controlled. 

Proof of age cards 

It is unlawful for children under 18 to attempt to buy alcohol just as it is unlawful 
to sell or supply alcohol to them. To prevent the commission of these criminal 
offences, licensed premises should have in place an age verification policy. This 
requires the production of “proof of age” before such sales are made. The 
Secretary of State strongly supports the PASS accreditation system which aims 
to approve and accredit various proof of age schemes that are in existence. This 
ensures that such schemes maintain high standards, particularly in the area of 
integrity and security. While age verification policies may refer directly to PASS 
accredited proof of age cards, they should also allow for the production of other 
proof which bears a photograph, the individual’s date of birth and a holographic 
mark, such as photo-driving licences, National Identity Cards, some student 
cards and passports. 

Since many adults in England and Wales do not currently carry any proof of age, 
the wording of any condition will require careful thought. For example many 
premises have adopted “Challenge 25”, “Challenge 21” or other similar initiatives. 

Page 167



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201934

Under these initiative those premises selling or supplying alcohol require sight of 
evidence of age from any person appearing to be under the specified age and 
who is attempting to buy alcohol.

Crime prevention notices 

It may be necessary at some premises for notices to be displayed which warn 
customers of the prevalence of crime which may target them. Some premises 
may be reluctant to volunteer the display of such notices for commercial reasons. 
For example, in certain areas, a condition attached to a premises licence or club 
premises certificate might require the displaying of notices at the premises which 
warn customers about the need to be aware of pickpockets or bag snatchers, 
and to guard their property. Similarly, it may be necessary for notices to be 
displayed which advise customers not to leave bags unattended because of 
concerns about terrorism. Consideration could be given to a condition requiring a 
notice to display the name of a contact for customers if they wish to report 
concerns. 

Drinks promotions 

Licensing authorities should not attach standardised blanket conditions 
promoting fixed prices for alcoholic drinks to premises licences or club premises 
certificates in an area as this is likely to breach competition law. It is also likely to 
be unlawful for licensing authorities or police officers to promote voluntary 
arrangements of this kind as this can risk creating cartels. Discounting at 
individual premises may be permissible provided it is consistent with the licensing 
objectives.

Irresponsible drinks promotions are addressed through mandatory licensing 
conditions. Licensing authorities are reminded that there may be a judgement 
needed on whether a specific promotion is responsible or irresponsible. It is 
therefore vital that they consider these matters objectively in the context of the 
licensing objectives and before pursuing any form of restrictions at all, take their 
own legal advice.

Signage 

It may be necessary for the normal hours at which licensable activities are 
permitted to take place under the terms of the premises licence or club 
premises certificate to be displayed on or immediately outside the premises 
so that it is clear if breaches of the terms of the licence or certificate are taking 
place. 

Page 168



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201935

Similarly, it may be necessary for any restrictions on the admission of children 
to be displayed on or immediately outside the premises to deter those who 
might seek admission in breach of those conditions. 

Large capacity venues used exclusively or primarily for the “vertical” 
consumption of alcohol (HVVDs) 

Large capacity “vertical drinking” premises, sometimes called High Volume 
Vertical Drinking establishments (HVVDs), are premises with exceptionally high 
capacities, used primarily or exclusively for the sale and consumption of alcohol, 
and have little or no seating for patrons. 

Where necessary and appropriate, conditions can be attached to licences for 
these premises which require adherence to: 

• a prescribed capacity; 

• an appropriate ratio of tables and chairs to customers based on the capacity; 
and 

• the presence of security staff holding the appropriate SIA licence or exemption 
to control entry for the purpose of compliance with the capacity limit. 

Page 169



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201936

Part 2. Conditions relating to public safety (including fire 
safety) 

The attachment of conditions to a premises licence or club premises certificate will 
not in any way relieve employers of the statutory duty to comply with the 
requirements of other legislation including the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 
1974, associated regulations and especially the requirements under the 
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 and the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 to undertake risk assessments. Employers should 
assess the risks, including risks from fire, and take measures necessary to avoid 
and control them. Conditions enforcing those requirements are therefore 
unnecessary. 

From 1 October 2006 the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 replaced 
previous fire safety legislation. Licensing authorities should note that under article 
43 of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 any conditions imposed by 
the licensing authority that relate to any requirements or prohibitions that are or 
could be imposed by the Order have no effect. This means that licensing 
authorities should not seek to impose fire safety conditions where the Order 
applies.

General 

Additional matters relating to cinemas and theatres are considered in Part 3. It 
should also be recognised that special issues may arise in connection with 
outdoor and large scale events.

In addition, to considering the points made in this Part, those preparing 
operating schedules or club operating schedules, licensing authorities and 
responsible authorities should consider: 

• Model National and Standard Conditions for Places of Public Entertainment 
and Associated Guidance ISBN 1 904031 11 0 (Entertainment Technology 
Press – ABTT Publications) 

• The Event Safety Guide – A guide to health, safety and welfare at music 
and similar events (HSE 1999)(“The Purple Book”) ISBN 0 7176 2453 6 

• Managing Crowds Safely (HSE 2000) ISBN 0 7176 1834 X 

• 5 Steps to Risk Assessment: Case Studies (HSE 1998) ISBN 07176 15804 

• The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (The Stationery Office, 1997) (“The 
Green Guide”) ISBN 0 11 300095 2 

Page 170



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201937

• Safety Guidance for Street Arts, Carnival, Processions and Large Scale 
Performances published by the Independent Street Arts Network, copies of 
which may be obtained through: 
www.streetartsnetwork.org.uk/pages/publications.htm 

• The London District Surveyors Association’s “Technical Standards for 
Places of Public Entertainment” ISBN 0 9531229 2 1 

The following British Standards should also be considered: 

• BS 5588 Part 6 (regarding places of assembly) 

• BS 5588 Part 9 (regarding ventilation and air conditioning systems) 

• BS 5588 Part 9 (regarding means of escape for disabled people) 

• BS 5839 (fire detection, fire alarm systems and buildings) 

• BS 5266 (emergency lighting systems) 

In most premises existing legislation will provide adequately for the 
safety of the public or club members and guests. However, where this is 
not the case, consideration might be given to the following conditions: 

Safety checks 

 safety checks are carried out before the admission of the public; and 

 details of such checks are kept in a Log-book. 

Escape routes 

 exits are kept unobstructed, with non-slippery and even surfaces, free of 
trip hazards and clearly identified; 

 where chairs and tables are provided in restaurants and other premises, 
internal gangways are kept unobstructed;

 all exits doors are easily openable without the use of a key, card, code or 
similar means; 

 doors at such exits are regularly checked to ensure that they function 
satisfactorily and a record of the check kept; 

 any removable security fastenings are removed whenever the premises 
are open to the public or occupied by staff; and

Page 171



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201938

 the edges of the treads of steps and stairways are maintained so as to be 
conspicuous. 

Disabled people 

 when disabled people are present, adequate arrangements exist to enable 
their safe evacuation in the event of an emergency; and disabled people 
on the premises are made aware of those arrangements. 

Lighting 

 in the absence of adequate daylight, the lighting in any area accessible to 
the public, members or guests shall be fully in operation when they are 
present;  

 emergency lighting is not altered; 

 emergency lighting batteries are fully charged before the admission of the 
public, members or guests; 

 in the event of the failure of normal lighting, where the emergency lighting 
battery has a capacity of one hour, arrangements are in place to ensure 
that the public, members or guests leave the premises within 20 minutes 
unless within that time normal lighting has been restored and the battery is 
being re-charged; and, if the emergency lighting battery has a capacity of 
three hours, the appropriate period by the end of which the public should 
have left the premises is one hour. 

Curtains, hangings, decorations and upholstery 

 Curtains, hangings and temporary decorations are arranged so as not to 
obstruct exits.

 temporary decorations are not used without prior notification to the 
licensing authority/relevant authority. 

Capacity limits 

 Arrangements are made to ensure that any capacity limit imposed under 
the premises licence or club premises certificate are not exceeded. 

 The licence holder, a club official, manager or designated premises 
supervisor should be aware of the number of people on the premises and 
required to inform any authorised person on request. 

Access for emergency vehicles 

 Access for emergency vehicles is kept clear and free from obstruction. 

Page 172



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201939

First aid 

 Adequate and appropriate supply of first aid equipment and materials is 
available on the premises. 

 If necessary, at least one suitably trained first-aider shall be on duty when 
the public are present; and if more than one suitably trained first-aider that 
their respective duties are clearly defined. 

Temporary electrical installations 

 Temporary electrical wiring and distribution systems are not provided 
without notification to the licensing authority at least ten days before 
commencement of the work and/or prior inspection by a suitable qualified 
electrician. 

 Temporary electrical wiring and distribution systems shall comply with the 
recommendations of BS 7671 or where applicable BS 7909.

 Where they have not been installed by a competent person, temporary 
electrical wiring and distribution systems are inspected and certified by a 
competent person before they are put to use. 

With regard to the first bullet above, it should be recognised that ten days notice 
may not be possible where performances are supported by outside technical 
teams. For example, where temporary electrical installations are made in 
theatres for television show performances. In such circumstances, the key 
requirement is that conditions where necessary should ensure that temporary 
electrical installations are only undertaken by competent qualified persons, for 
example, employed by the television company. 

Indoor sports entertainments 

 If necessary, an appropriately qualified medical practitioner is present 
throughout a sports entertainment involving boxing, wrestling, judo, karate 
or other sports entertainment of a similar nature; 

 Any ring is constructed and supported by a competent person and 
inspected by a competent authority.

 At any wrestling or other entertainments of a similar nature members of 
the public do not occupy any seat within 2.5 metres of the ring.

 At water sports entertainments, staff adequately trained in rescue and life 
safety procedures are stationed and remain within the vicinity of the water 
at all material times (see also Managing Health and Safety in Swimming 

Page 173



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201940

Pools issued jointly by the Health and Safety Commission and Sport 
England). 

Special effects 

The use of special effects in venues of all kinds being used for regulated 
entertainment is increasingly common and can present significant risks. Any 
special effects or mechanical installation should be arranged and stored so as 
to minimise any risk to the safety of the audience, the performers and staff. 
Further details are given in Part 3.

Alterations to the premises 

Premises should not be altered in such a way as to make it impossible to 
comply with an existing licence condition without first seeking a variation of the 
premises licence to delete the relevant public safety condition. The applicant will 
need to propose how they intend to take alternative steps to promote the public 
safety objective in a new operating schedule reflecting the proposed alteration 
to the premises. The application for variation will enable the responsible 
authorities with expertise in safety matters to consider whether the proposal is 
acceptable. 

Other measures

Other measures previously mentioned in relation to the Prevention of Crime and 
Disorder may also be relevant as necessary to promote public safety. These 
might include the provision of door supervisors, bottle bans, and requirements to 
use plastic or toughened glass containers (see Part 1 for further detail).

Page 174



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201941

Part 3.Theatres, cinemas, concert halls and similar 
places (promotion of public safety) 

In addition to the points made in Part 2, there are particular public safety matters 
which should be considered in connection with theatres and cinemas.

Premises used for closely seated audiences

Attendants 

a) The number of attendants on each floor in a closely seated auditorium 
should be as set out on the table below: 

Number of members of the audience 
present on a floor 

Minimum number of attendants required 
to be present on that floor 

1 – 100 One 

101 – 250 Two 

251 – 500 Three 

501 – 750 Four 

751 -1000 Five 

And one additional attendant for each additional 250 persons (or part thereof) 

b) Attendants shall not be engaged in any duties that would prevent them 
from prompt discharging their duties in the event of an emergency or 
requirel their absence from that floor or auditorium where they are on duty. 

c) Any attendant shall be readily identifiable to the audience (but this need 
not entail the wearing of a uniform). 

d) The premises shall not be used for a closely seated audience except in 
accordance with seating plan(s), a copy of which is available at the 
premises and shall be shown to any authorised person on request. 

e) No article shall be attached to the back of any seat which would reduce 
the clear width of seatways or cause a tripping hazard or obstruction. 

f) A copy of any certificate relating to the design, construction and loading of 
any temporary seating shall be kept available at the premises and shall be 
shown to any authorised person on request. 

Page 175



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201942

Seating

Where the potential audience exceeds 250 all seats in the auditorium should, 
except in boxes accommodating not more than 8 persons, be either securely 
fixed to the floor or battened together in lengths of not fewer than four or more 
than twelve.

Standing and sitting in gangways etc. 

a) Sitting on floors shall not be permitted except where authorised in the 
premises licence or club premises certificate. 

b) Waiting or standing shall not be permitted except in areas designated in 
the premises licence or club premises certificate. 

c) In no circumstances shall anyone be permitted to-

i. sit in any gangway; 

ii. stand or sit in front of any exit; or 

iii. stand or sit on any staircase including any landings. 

Drinks 

Except as authorised by the premises licence or club premises certificate, no 
drinks shall be sold to or be consumed by a closely seated audience except in 
plastic and paper containers. 

Balcony Fronts 

Clothing or other objects shall not be placed over balcony rails or upon balcony 
fronts. 

Special effects 

Any special effects or mechanical installation should be arranged and stored so 
as to minimise any risk to the safety of the audience, the performers and staff. 

Specials effects include: 

• dry ice machines and cryogenic fog; 

• smoke machines and fog generators; 

• pyrotechnics, including fireworks; 

Page 176



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201943

• real flame; 

• firearms; 

• motor vehicles; 

• strobe lighting; 

• lasers; 

• explosives and highly flammable substances. 

In certain circumstances, it may be necessary to require that certain special 
effects are only used with the prior notification of the licensing authority or 
[inspection by] fire authority. In these cases, the licensing authority should 
notify the fire and rescue authority, who will exercise their inspection and 
enforcement powers under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.

Further guidance can be found in the following publications:

 HSE Guide ‘The radiation safety of lasers used for display purposes’ 
(HS(G)95;

 ‘Smoke and vapour effects used in entertainment’ (HSE Entertainment 
Sheet No 3);

 ‘Special or visual effects involving explosives or pyrotechnics used in film 
and television production’ (HSE Entertainment Sheet No 16);

 ‘Electrical safety for entertainers’ (HSE INDG 247);

 ‘Theatre Essentials’ – Guidance booklet produced by the Association of 
British Theatre Technicians 8.

Ceilings 

All ceilings in those parts of the premises to which the audience are admitted 
should be inspected by a suitably qualified person who will decide when a further 
inspection is necessary and a certificate concerning the condition of the ceilings 
forwarded to the licensing authority. 

Page 177



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201944

Premises used for film exhibitions

Attendants – premises without a staff alerting system 

Where the premises are not equipped with a staff alerting system the number 
of attendants present should be as set out in the table below: 

Number of members of the audience 
present on the premises 

Minimum number of attendants 
required to be on duty 

1 – 250 Two 

And one additional attendant for each additional 250 members of the audience 
present (or part thereof) 

Where there are more than 150 
members of an audience in any 
auditorium or on any floor 

At least one attendant shall be 
present in any auditorium or on any 
floor 

Attendants – premises with a staff alerting system 

a) Where premises are equipped with a staff alerting system the number of 
attendants present should be as set out in the table below: 

Number of members of 
the audience present on 
the premises 

Minimum number of 
attendants required to be 
on duty 

Minimum number of 
other staff on the 
premises who are 
available to assist in the 
event of an emergency 

1 – 500 Two One 

501 – 1000 Three Two 

1001 – 1500 Four Four 

1501 or more Five plus one for every 
500 (or part thereof) 
persons over 2000 on the 
premises 

Five plus one for every 
500 (or part thereof) 
persons over 2000 on 
the premises 

b) Staff shall not be considered as being available to assist in the event of an 
emergency if they are: 

Page 178



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201945

i. the holder of the premises licence or the manager on duty at the 
premises; or 

ii. a member of staff whose normal duties or responsibilities are likely 
to significantly affect or delay his response in an emergency 
situation; or 

iii. a member of staff whose usual location when on duty is more than 
60 metres from the location to which they are required to go on 
being alerted to an emergency situation. 

c) Attendants shall as far as reasonably practicable be evenly distributed 
throughout all parts of the premises to which the public have access and 
keep under observation all parts of the premises to which the audience 
have access. 

d) The staff alerting system shall be maintained in working order.

Minimum lighting 

The level of lighting in the auditorium should be as great as possible consistent 
with the effective presentation of the film; and the level of illumination maintained 
in the auditorium during the showing of films would normally be regarded as 
satisfactory if it complies with the standards specified in BS CP 1007 (Maintained 
Lighting for Cinemas). 

Page 179



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201946

Part 4. Conditions relating to the prevention of public 
nuisance 

It should be noted that provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and 
the Noise Act 1996 and the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
provide some protection to the general public from the effects of noise nuisance. 
In addition, the provisions in Part 8 of the Licensing Act 2003 enable a senior 
police officer to close down instantly for up to 24 hours licensed premises and 
premises carrying on temporary permitted activities that are causing nuisance 
resulting from noise emanating from the premises. These matters should be 
considered before deciding whether or not conditions are necessary for the 
prevention of public nuisance. 

Hours 

The hours during which the premises are permitted to be open to the public or 
to members and their guests can be restricted by the conditions of a premises 
licence or a club premises certificate for the prevention of public nuisance. But 
this must be balanced by the potential impact on disorder which results from 
artificially early fixed closing times. However, there is no general presumption 
in favour of lengthening licensing hours and the four licensing objectives 
should be paramount considerations at all times.

Restrictions could be necessary on the times when certain licensable activities 
take place even though the premises may be open to the public at such times. 
For example, the playing of recorded music after a certain time might be 
prohibited, even though other licensable activities are permitted to continue. Or 
the playing of recorded music might only be permitted after a certain time where 
conditions have been attached to the licence or certificate to ensure that any 
potential nuisance is satisfactorily prevented.

Restrictions might be necessary on the parts of premises that might be 
used for certain licensable activities at certain times. For example, while the 
provision of regulated entertainment might be permitted while the premises 
is open to the public or members and their guests, regulated entertainment 
might not be permitted in garden areas of the premises after a certain time. 

In premises where existing legislation does not provide adequately for the 
prevention of public nuisance, consideration might be given to the following 
conditions.

Page 180



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201947

Noise and vibration 

In determining which conditions are necessary and appropriate, licensing 
authorities should be aware of the need to avoid unnecessary or disproportionate 
measures that could deter the holding of events that are valuable to the 
community, such as live music. Noise limiters, for example, are very expensive to 
purchase and install and are likely to be a considerable burden for smaller 
venues. The following conditions may be considered:

a) Noise or vibration does not emanate from the premises so as to cause a 
nuisance to nearby properties. This might be achieved by one or more of 
the following conditions:

i. A simple requirement to keep doors and windows at the premises 
closed;

ii. Limiting live music to a particular area of the building;

iii. Moving the location and direction of speakers away from external 
walls or walls that abut private premises;

iv. Installation of acoustic curtains;

v. Fitting rubber seals to doorways;

vi. Installation of rubber speaker mounts;

vii. Requiring the licensee to take measure to ensure that music will not 
be audible above background level at the nearest sensitive 
location;

viii. Require licensee to undertake routine monitoring to ensure external 
levels of music are not excessive and take appropriate action 
where necessary;

ix. Noise limiters on amplification equipment used at the premises (if 
other measures have been unsuccessful).

b) Prominent, clear and legible notices are displayed at all exits requesting 
the public to respect the needs of local residents and to leave the 
premises and the area quietly.

c) The use of explosives, pyrotechnics and fireworks of a similar nature 
which could cause disturbance in surrounding areas are restricted.

Page 181



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201948

d) The placing of refuse – such as bottles – into receptacles outside the 
premises takes place at times that will minimise the disturbance to nearby 
properties. 

Noxious smells 

 Noxious smells from licensed premises are not permitted so as to cause a 
nuisance to nearby properties and the premises are properly vented. 

Light pollution 

 Flashing or particularly bright lights on or outside licensed premises do not 
cause a nuisance to nearby properties. Any such condition needs to be 
balanced against the benefits to the prevention of crime and disorder of 
bright lighting in certain places. 

Other measures

Other measures previously mentioned in relation to the Prevention of Crime and 
Disorder may also be relevant s necessary to prevent public nuisance. These 
might include the provision of door supervisors, open containers not to be taken 
from the premises, and restrictions on drinking glasses (see Part 1 for further 
detail)
 

Page 182



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201949

Part 5. Conditions relating to the protection of children 
from harm 
An operating schedule or club operating schedule should indicate any decision 
for the premises to exclude children completely. This would mean there would be 
no need to detail in the operating schedule steps that the applicant proposes to 
take to promote the protection of children from harm. Otherwise, where entry is to 
be permitted, the operating schedule should outline the steps to be taken to 
promote the protection of children from harm while on the premises.

Access for children to licensed premises – in general 

Restrictions on the access of children under 18 to premises where licensable 
activities are being carried on should be made where it is necessary to protect 
children from harm. Precise policy and details will be a matter for individual 
licensing authorities. 

The Secretary of State recommends (unless there are circumstances justifying 
the contrary) that: 

 for any premises with known associations (having been presented with 
evidence ) with or likely to give rise to: 

 heavy or binge or underage drinking;

 drugs;

 significant gambling, or entertainment (whether regulated 
entertainment or not) of a clearly adult or sexual nature, 

there should be a strong presumption against permitting any access at all for 
children under 18 years. 

 For any premises, not serving alcohol for consumption on the premises, 
but where the public are allowed on the premises after 11.00 p.m. in the 
evening, there should be a presumption against the presence of children 
under the age of 12 unaccompanied by adults after that time.

Applicants wishing to allow access under the above circumstances, should when 
preparing operating schedules or club operating schedules or variations of those 
schedules: 

 explain their reasons; and 

Page 183



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201950

 outline in detail the steps that they intend to take to protect children from 
harm on such premises.

In any other case the Secretary of State recommends that, subject to the 
premises licence holder’s or club’s discretion, the expectation would be for 
unrestricted access for children subject to the terms of the 2003 Act.

Age Restrictions – specific 

Whilst it may be appropriate to allow children unrestricted access at particular 
times and when certain activities are not taking place, licensing authorities will 
need to consider: 

the hours of day during which age restrictions should and should not apply. For 
example, the fact that adult entertainment may be presented at premises after 
8.00 p.m. does not mean that it would be necessary to impose age restrictions 
for earlier parts of the day; 

 types of event or activity in respect of which no age restrictions may be 
needed, for example; 

o family entertainment; or 

o non-alcohol events for young age groups, such as under 18s 
dances, 

 types of event or activity which give rise to a more acute need for age 
restrictions than normal, for example; 

o during “Happy Hours” or on drinks promotion nights; 

o during activities outlined in the first bullet point in the first paragraph 
above. 

Age restrictions – cinemas 

The British Board of Film Classification classifies films in accordance with its 
published Guidelines which are based on extensive research into public opinion 
and professional advice. The Secretary of State therefore recommends that 
licensing authorities should not duplicate this effort by choosing to classify films 
themselves. The classifications recommended by the Board should be those 
normally applied unless there are very good local reasons for a licensing 
authority to adopt this role. Licensing authorities should note that the provisions 
of the 2003 Act enable them to specify the Board in the licence or certificate 
and, in relation to individual films, to notify the holder or club that it will make a 
recommendation for that particular film.

Page 184



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201951

Licensing Authorities should be aware that the BBFC currently classifies films in 
the following way:

U – Universal. Suitable for audiences aged four years and over 

PG – Parental Guidance. Some scenes may be unsuitable for young 
children. 

12A – Passed only for viewing by persons aged 12 years or older or 
persons younger than 12 when accompanied by an adult. 

15 – Passed only for viewing by persons aged 15 years and over. 

18 – Passed only for viewing by persons aged 18 years and over. 

Licensing authorities should note that these classifications may be subject to 
occasional change and consult the BBFC’s website at www.bbfc.co.uk before 
applying relevant conditions.

The Secretary of State considers that, in addition to the mandatory condition 
imposed by section 20, conditions restricting the admission of the children to film 
exhibitions should include that:

 Where the licensing authority itself is to make recommendations on the 
admission of children to films, the cinema or venue operator must submit 
any film to the authority that it intends to exhibit 28 days before it is 
proposed to show it. This is to allow the authority time to classify it so that 
the premises licence holder is able to adhere to any age restrictions then 
imposed;

 immediately before each exhibition at the premises of a film passed by the 
British Board of Film Classification there shall be exhibited on screen for at 
least five seconds in such a manner as to be easily read by all persons in 
the auditorium a reproduction of the certificate of the Board or, as regards 
a trailer advertising a film, of the statement approved by the Board 
indicating the classification of the film; 

 when a licensing authority has made a recommendation on the restriction 
of admission of children to a film, notices are required to be displayed both 
inside and outside the premises so that persons entering can readily be 
made aware of the classification attached to any film or trailer. Such a 
condition might be expressed in the following terms: 

“Where a programme includes a film recommended by the licensing authority as 
falling into an age restrictive category no person appearing to be under the age 
shall be admitted to any part of the programme; where a programme includes a 
film recommended by the licensing authority as falling into a category requiring 

Page 185

http://www.bbfc.co.uk/


STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201952

any persons under a specified age to be accompanied by an adult, and the 
licence holder shall display in a conspicuous position a notice clearly stating the 
relevant age restrictions and requirements. For example:

PERSONS UNDER THE AGE OF [INSERT APPROPRIATE AGE] 
CANNOT BE ADMITTED TO ANY PART OF THE PROGRAMME 

Where films of different categories form part of the same programme, the notice 
shall refer to the oldest age restriction. 

This condition does not apply to members of staff under the relevant age while 
on-duty provided that the prior written consent of the person’s parent or legal 
guardian has first been obtained.

Theatres 

The admission of children to theatres, as with other licensed premises, is not 
expected to normally be restricted unless it is necessary to promote the 
licensing objective of the protection of children from harm. However, theatres 
may be the venue for a wide range of activities. The admission of children to the 
performance of a play is expected to normally be left to the discretion of the 
licence holder and no condition restricting the access of children to plays should 
be attached. However, theatres may also present entertainment including, for 
example, variety shows, incorporating adult entertainment. A condition 
restricting the admission of children in such circumstances may be necessary. 
Entertainment may also be presented at theatres specifically for children (see 
below). 

Licensing authorities are also expected to consider whether a condition 
should be attached to a premises licence which requires the presence of a 
sufficient number of adult staff on the premises to ensure the well being of 
children present on the premises during any emergency (See Part 3). 

Page 186



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201953

Performances especially for children 

Where performances are presented especially for unaccompanied children in 
theatres and cinemas, licensing authorities will also wish to consider conditions 
to specify that: 

 an attendant to be stationed in the area(s) occupied by the children, in the 
vicinity of each exit, provided that on each level occupied by children the 
minimum number of attendants on duty should be one attendant per 50 
children or part thereof. 

Licensing authorities should also consider whether or not standing should be 
allowed. For example, there may be reduced risk for children in the stalls than at 
other levels or areas in the building.

Children in performances 

There are many productions each year that are one-off shows where the cast is 
made up almost entirely of children. They may be taking part as individuals or as part 
of a drama club, stage school or school group. The age of those involved may range 
from 5 to 18. The Children (Performances) Regulations 1968 as amended set out 
requirements for children performing in a show. Licensing authorities should 
familiarise themselves with the requirements of these Regulations and not duplicate 
any of these requirements. However, if it is necessary to consider imposing 
conditions, in addition to these requirements, for the promotion of the protection of 
children from harm then the licensing authority should consider the matters outlined 
below. 

 Venue – the backstage facilities should be large enough to accommodate 
safely the number of children taking part in any performance. 

 Special effects – it may be inappropriate to use certain special effects, 
including smoke, dry ice, rapid pulsating or flashing lights, which may trigger 
adverse reactions especially with regard to children. 

 Care of children – theatres, concert halls and similar places are places of 
work and may contain a lot of potentially dangerous equipment. It is therefore 
important that children performing at such premises are kept under adult 
supervision at all times including transfer from stage to dressing room and 
anywhere else on the premises. It is also important that the children can be 
accounted for at all times in case of an evacuation or emergency. 

Page 187



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2014 - 201954

The Portman Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and 
Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks 

The Portman Group operates, on behalf of the alcohol industry, a Code of Practice 
on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks. The Code seeks to 
ensure that drinks are packaged and promoted in a socially responsible manner and 
only to those who are 18 years old or older. Complaints about products under the 
Code are considered by an Independent Complaints Panel and the Panel’s decisions 
are published on the Portman Group’s website, in the trade press and in an annual 
report. If a product’s packaging or point-of-sale advertising is found to be in breach of 
the Code, the Portman Group may issue a Retailer Alert Bulletin to notify retailers of 
the decision and ask them not to replenish stocks of any such product or to display 
such point-of-sale material, until the decision has been complied with. The Code is 
an important mechanism in protecting children from harm because it addresses the 
naming, marketing and promotion of alcohol products sold in licensed premises in a 
manner which may appeal to or attract minors. Consideration can be given to 
attaching conditions to premises licences and club premises certificates that require 
compliance with the Portman Group’s Retailer Alert Bulletins.

Page 188



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:   Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Representatives to Other Bodies 2018-2019 (Update)

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To approve a change in the membership of the Appeals Committee.

1.2 To advise of the establishment of a new Community Zone Group in the Gurnos Ward 
and appoint the four Ward Members as the authority’s representatives.

 
1.3 To note the appointment of a new Chair of Audit Committee, change to Champion 

roles and other body representation.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS THAT:

2.1 The appointment of Councillor David Hughes to the Appeals Committee be 
approved.

2.2 The establishment of a Gurnos Community Zone Group be noted.

2.3 The appointment of the four Gurnos Ward Members as local authority 
representatives on the Gurnos Community Zone Group be approved.

2.4 The appointment of Councillor Clive Jones as Chair of Audit Committee be noted.

2.5 The changes to the Champion and Other Body Representation be noted.

Date Written 27 November 2018
Report Author Ann Taylor
Service Area Democratic Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 19 December 2018

Page 189

Agenda Item 9



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 At its Annual General Meeting each year Full Council appoints Champions and 
elected member representatives to sit on outside bodies for the forthcoming 
Municipal Year.  At the meeting in 2018 not all the posts were filled so it was 
resolved that in the event of a vacancy for Champions or representatives to other 
bodies, delegated authority be granted to the Political Leaders to nominate.

3.2 As a consequence of changes to committee and vice chair appointments that were 
approved by Full Council on 24 October 2014, political leaders used their delegated 
powers to nominate new representatives and this report provides an update on those 
changes for Full Council to note at Item 4.0.

3.3 The changes agreed also created a vacancy for Chair of Audit Committee and at 
their meeting on 29 October 2018, in accordance with the rules of appointment, the 
committee elected Councillor Clive Jones to the post. 

3.4 Whilst delegated authority has been granted for Champions and other body 
representation, there is also a vacancy on the Appeals Committee that Councillor 
David Hughes has been nominated to fill; and this appointment requires Full Council 
approval.

4.0 CHANGES TO CHAMPIONS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIVES

4.1 Champions 

Equalities & Diversity Champion Councillor Kevin O’Neill

Welsh Language Champion Councillor Geraint Thomas

4.2 Partnerships / Outside Bodies

Gurnos Community Zone 
Implementation Group

Councillor Jeremy Davies
Councillor Lee Davies
Councillor Bill Smith 
Councillor Clive Tovey

4 Councillors
(Gurnos Ward Members)

Merthyr Valleys Homes Board Councillor Jeremy Davies 1 Councillor

South Wales Police and Crime 
Panel

Councillor Sherelle Jago 1 Councillor

Wales Council for the Blind Councillor Andrew Barry
Councillor Lisa Mytton

2 Councillors

Page 190



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no additional financial implications associated with this report.

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

1 of 5 0 of 5 4 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that we are ensuring to meet legal requirements so that 
there are no future challenges

There are no negative impacts

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR KEVIN O’NEILL
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

No Background Papers
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Draft Local Toilet Strategy

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Part 8 of the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017: Provision of Toilets came into force on 
31st May 2018 and places a duty on each local authority in Wales to prepare and 
publish a local toilets strategy for its area. 

1.2 Local authorities in Wales now have the responsibility to: 

• carry out an assessment of the need for toilets in its area by mapping existing 
toilets available for public use, identifying  gaps through engagement with 
communities and working with partners to find solutions;

• produce a local toilets strategy; 
• review the strategy, update and publicise revisions.

1.3 A working group led by the Environmental Health Manager has produced a           
draft toilet strategy. 

1.4 The draft Toilet Strategy is required to undergo a 12 week minimum public 
consultation.

 
1.5 The Toilet Strategy is required to be published by local authorities by 31st May 2019. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 Council undertakes a minimum of 12 weeks public consultation on the draft local 
toilet strategy from January 2019 to March 2019. 

Date Written 19th November 2018 **
Report Author Susan Gow
Service Area Environmental Health
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 193

Agenda Item 10



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Toilets for public use matter to everybody who goes “away from home”. They are, 
however, even more important to certain groups within society, including older 
people, people with disabilities, people with particular needs (including certain 
medical problems), women, children and young people and their families. These 
groups can be disproportionately affected by poor provision; for example, poor 
provision is understood to have particular negative impacts on older people, as some 
may be less likely to leave their homes without having confidence that adequate 
facilities will be available to them. This can contribute to increased social isolation 
and inactivity, as well as affecting people’s ability to maintain independence and 
dignity in later life.

3.2     The provision of toilets accessible to the public provides the infrastructure necessary 
to facilitate the enjoyment of the County Borough by visitors and residents alike. Well 
managed and maintained toilets can make a significant impact upon the comfort of 
individuals and families who visit public spaces in the area, and their perception of 
Merthyr Tydfil as a desirable place to visit. 

3.3 Although the Welsh Government, Public Health (Wales) Act 2017, Part 8 focuses on 
‘Provision of Toilets’, the provision and maintenance of toilets in public places is a 
discretionary function of local authorities who have the power under section 87 of the 
Public Health Act  1936 to provide public conveniences.  There is no duty for local 
authorities to provide public toilets directly. In considering the provision and 
maintenance of toilets for public use, the Council has to balance a competing local 
demand for a broad range of public services. Therefore The Council must take a 
strategic view on how facilities can be provided and accessed by the local 
population.

3.4   The Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 requires each local authority in Wales to    
prepare and publish a local toilets strategy for its area by 31st May 2019. In line with 
the statutory guidance a draft strategy has been produced.

4.0 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES
4.1 The overarching aim of this strategy will be to provide or facilitate the provision of 

clean, safe, accessible and sustainable toilets for residents and visitors to the County 
Borough at locations where the need for such facilities has been identified. 

5.0 ASSESSMENT OF NEED
5.1   The draft strategy incorporates feedback following a public consultation exercise 

undertaken during September 2018. The consultation was designed to assess the 
needs of residents, and people visiting or working within the county borough. The 
responses received have been used to inform the content of the draft strategy. 

Page 194



5.2 The draft strategy has been developed following a public consultation was 
undertaken throughout September 2018. The consultation sought to assess the 
needs of residents, and people visiting or working within the county borough with a 
view to identifying gaps in provision and how these might be addressed. The public 
consultation was publicised via the Council’s online consultation system and by 
contact with interested groups. A total of 438 responses were received comprising 
149 complete and 289 partial responses. The majority of respondents to the needs 
assessment survey, 88% are resident in the Borough.

5.3 The main findings of the needs assessment was that there is:

 A significant gap between need and provision of toilet facilities available for 
public use, which has a direct impact on whether people will venture away 
from home.

 People were reluctant to use outlets where they felt they needed to make a 
purchase and there were concerns about the cleanliness of some toilets, and 
safety. 

 There was an almost universal view that there is insufficient information on 
where the toilets actually are.

6.0   IMPROVING ACCESS TO TOILET FACILITIES:

6.1 Recognising that there is no quick fix and that austerity measures mean that the 
Council is continuing to face financial pressures the draft strategy commits Council to 
take action to mitigate the gaps between what toileting provision is available and 
identified need.

6.2  The draft strategy sets out proposals, spanning the next two years and for exploring 
ways to increase the provision of toilets available for public use within the County 
Borough.  This includes the expansion of the current Council toilet portfolio by the 
building of a new bus station in the town centre. However, more than ever success of 
any strategy is about working in partnership to get the most from scarce resources. 
This will include establishing a new relationship between the public, private and 
voluntary sectors to drive forward sustainable toilet provision.

6.3 Mapping will be an important part of our strategy so that people who need to visit a 
toilet can easily access information about the location, opening times, accessibility and 
type of facilities available. Locations of toilets will be promoted via mapping on the Lle 
and Dewis websites and via apps specifically designed for mobile technology and 
smart phones. Participating premises will also display a sticker in a prominent place, 
indicating that toilets are available for the public. The sticker will display the logo 
stipulated by Welsh Government. 

Page 195



7.0 NEXT STEPS- PUBLIC CONSULTATION
7.1 The next step is to conduct a formal 12 public consultation to seek views from a wide 

range of stakeholders on the proposals contained within the draft strategy. The 
consultation will commence in January 2019. 

7.2 The results of the consultation will be considered and the draft strategy finalised. The 
local toilet strategy will then be published on or before 31st May 2019 in accordance 
with the requirements of the Statutory Guidance.

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

8.1 As the recommendations in this report are to consider and review matters there are 
no direct financial implications at this stage. However, financial implications may 
arise if and when the matters under review are implemented with or without any 
modifications and may include: costs associated with the new bus station toilets; 
making a Community toilet grant available; and physical signage in town centre

9.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

1. Summary

As a result of completing this Impact Assessment, how many positive and negative 
impacts does your proposal have?

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 5 of 10 0 of 10 5 of 10

4. Biodiversity
0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Page 196



Summary:

The main positive impacts are: enabling access to toilet facilities is important to 
everyone but can become even more important to those with a disability, young families 
or health condition. By mapping publicly accessible toilet provision residents and visitors 
will be able to easily find out where the toilets are located within the County Borough, the 
opening times and what facilities are available at each location.

There are no negative impacts.

ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location
Part 8 of the Public 
Health (Wales) Act 
2017: Provision of 

Toilets

2017

The Provision of Toilets 
in Wales: Local Toilet 
Strategies Statutory 

Guidance 

June 2018

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Draft Local Toilet Strategy 

December 2018                                    

Page 199



2

Executive Summary

Toilets for public use matter to everybody who goes “away from home”. They are, 
however, even more important to certain groups within society, including older 
people, people with disabilities, people with particular needs (including certain 
medical problems), women, children and young people and their families. These 
groups can be disproportionately affected by poor provision; for example, poor 
provision is understood to have particular negative impacts on older people, as some 
may be less likely to leave their homes without having confidence that adequate 
facilities will be available to them. This can contribute to increased social isolation 
and inactivity, as well as affecting people’s ability to maintain independence and 
dignity in later life.

Part 8 of the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017: Provision of Toilets came into force on 
31st May 2018 and places a duty on each local authority in Wales to prepare and 
publish a local toilets strategy for its area. 

Local authorities in Wales now have the responsibility to: 

• assess the need for toilet provision for their communities; 
• plan to meet those needs;
• produce a local toilets strategy; and
• review the strategy, update and publicise revisions.

Although the Welsh Government, Public Health (Wales) Act 2017, Part 8 focuses on 
‘Provision of Toilets’, the provision and maintenance of toilets in public places is a 
discretionary function of local authorities who have the power under section 87 of the 
Public Health Act  1936 to provide public conveniences.  There is no duty for local 
authorities to provide public toilets directly. In considering the provision and 
maintenance of toilets for public use, the Council has to balance a competing local 
demand for a broad range of public services. Therefore The Council must take a 
strategic view on how facilities can be provided and accessed by the local 
population.

The overarching aim of this strategy is to provide or facilitate the provision of clean, 
safe, accessible and sustainable toilets for residents and visitors to the County 
Borough at locations where the need for such facilities has been identified.

Locations of toilets will be promoted via mapping on the Lle and Dewis websites and 
via apps specifically designed for mobile technology and smart phones. Participating 
premises will also display a sticker in a prominent place, indicating that toilets are 
available for the public. The sticker will display the logo stipulated by Welsh 
Government. Mapping is an important part of our strategy so that people who need 

Page 200



3

to visit a toilet can easily access information about the location, opening times, 
accessibility and type of facilities available.

This strategy incorporates feedback following a public consultation exercise 
undertaken during September 2018. The consultation was designed to assess the 
needs of residents, and people visiting or working within the County Borough. The 
responses received have been used to inform the content of the draft strategy. 

This strategy sets out proposals, spanning the next two years, for exploring ways to 
increase the provision of toilets available for public use within the County Borough. 
This includes the expansion of the current Council portfolio by the building of a new 
bus station in the town centre and engagement with third parties to build on existing 
community partnerships. 

Background

The Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 requires each local authority in Wales to prepare 
and publish a local toilets strategy for its area by 31st May 2019. In line with the 
statutory guidance Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, has set out a strategy to 
address the need for toilets in the community to try to improve both the standards 
and availability of publicly accessible toilets. The strategy is built around the 
principles of co-production, through local authority engagement with a broad range of 
potential providers and users.

 Introduction
Wherever people go, outside of their own homes, they depend on toilet facilities for 
the enjoyment of their visit. Visitors to Merthyr Tydfil, who may be some distance 
from their homes, also depend on provision to accessible toilets. 

The provision of public conveniences has implications for public and individual 
health, transportation, crime prevention, urban design, economic and cultural 
development and social equity and accessibility. It is an important factor in delivering 
a ‘people friendly’ environment for everyone who goes to shopping centres, leisure 
and entertainment venues, sports facilities, parks and green spaces, everyone who 
moves about on foot, or bicycle, car, van, lorry or public transport, whether for work 
or pleasure.

Toilets for public use matter to everybody who goes “away from home”. They are, 
however, even more important to certain groups within society, including older 
people, people with disabilities, people with particular needs (including certain 
medical problems), women, children and young people and their families. These 
groups can be disproportionately affected by poor provision; for example, poor 
provision is understood to have particular negative impacts on older people, as some 
may be less likely to leave their homes without having confidence that adequate 

Page 201



4

facilities will be available to them. This can contribute to increased social isolation 
and inactivity, as well as affecting people’s ability to maintain independence and 
dignity in later life.

Consequently the provision of toilets accessible to the public provides the 
infrastructure necessary to facilitate the enjoyment of the County Borough by visitors 
and residents alike. Well managed and maintained toilets can make a significant 
impact upon the comfort of individuals and families who visit public spaces in the 
area, and their perception of Merthyr Tydfil as a desirable place to visit.

Why do we need a strategy for providing toilet facilities?

This strategy should contribute toward achieving accessible and clean toilets 
wherever people live, work or visit. The County Borough is predicted to continue to 
grow with an expected 8% increase in resident population1, which will include a 
significant increase in the proportion of elderly people, by 2024. Together with 
increasing numbers of visitors to the Borough this is an opportune time to set a 
strategy for ensuring toilet facilities are available where they are needed.

Local authorities in Wales now have the responsibility to: 

• assess the need for toilet provision for their communities; 

• plan to meet those needs;

• produce a local toilets strategy; and

• review the strategy, update and publicise revisions.

Although the Welsh Government, Public Health (Wales) Act 2017, Part 8 focuses on 
‘Provision of Toilets’, the provision and maintenance of toilets in public places is a 
discretionary function of local authorities who have the power under section 87 of the 
Public Health Act  1936 to provide public conveniences.  There is no duty for local 
authorities to provide public toilets directly. In considering the provision and 
maintenance of toilets for public use, the Council has to balance a competing local 
demand for a broad range of public services. Therefore The Council must take a 
strategic view on how facilities can be provided and accessed by the local 
population.

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 puts in place a ‘sustainable 
development principle’ which tells public bodies how to go about meeting their duty 
under that Act. 

In order to create a more sustainable Wales The Wellbeing of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 requires public bodies to work towards seven Well-being Goals:

1 Reference Deposit Local Development Plan 2016-31

Page 202



5

The sustainable development principle is made up of five ways of working that public 
bodies should follow. These are:

 looking to the long term so we do not compromise the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs;

 taking an integrated approach;
 working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions;
 involving a diversity of the population in the decisions affecting them; and
 acting to prevent problems from occurring or getting worse.

Due regard has been made to the above five ways of working when preparing, 
reviewing, consulting on and publishing this strategy and is included in the integrated 
impact assessment. 

Page 203



6

How does this strategy fit in with other Council strategies and 
plans?           

In order to succeed our local toilet strategy needs to integrate with other existing 
strategies and plans such as Our Cwm Taf – Cwm Taf well-being plan 2018-2023, 
Local Development Plan 2016-31, Economic Growth Strategy for Merthyr Tydfil 
2018-2033  Destination Management Plan 2016-18, and the  Taff Bargoed Valley 
Regeneration Strategy & Action Plan (2018). 

Our Cwm Taf – Cwm Taf well-being plan 2018-2023 and the Local Development 
Plan 2016-31 act as overarching documents that set the strategic direction at a 
regional and local level. 

Our Cwm Taf – Cwm Taf well-being plan 2018-2023 has three aims: strong 
economy; thriving communities; and healthy people. The objectives of the plan are 
to: 

 grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that attracts people to 
live, work and play in Cwm Taf. 

 promote safe, confident, strong, and thriving communities improving the 
wellbeing of residents and visitors and building on our community assets 

 help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any challenges

The Deposit Local Development Plan 2016-31’s vision is “To strengthen Merthyr 
Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the Valleys within the Cardiff 
Capital Region, to encourage a sustainable level of population growth and be a place 
to be proud of where:

 People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions;
 People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life; and
 People visit, enjoy and return.”

It recognises that a collective effort is required to ensure the County Borough attracts 
investment and remains an attractive place where people want to live and are proud 
of. It states that over the plan period opportunities presented by the ‘City Deal’ within 
the context of the Cardiff Capital Region must be maximised. In particular, transport 
connections will be improved by the ‘South Wales Metro’, the dualling of the A465 
and development of ‘Active Travel’ routes.

Access to open space and impacts on the rivers and lakes of the borough is 
repeatedly referenced acknowledging the importance of these assets both as 
resources for physical activity maintaining wellbeing, and tourist attractions that 
deliver visitor experiences

Page 204



7

The Council’s Corporate Wellbeing plan “Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our 
Community” 2017-22 identifies 4 overarching Wellbeing Objectives to help improve 
wellbeing for the people of Merthyr Tydfil and maximise our contribution to the seven 
Wellbeing Goals.

 Best Start to Life
 Working Life
 Environmental Wellbeing
 Living Well.

The local toilet strategy cuts across a number of these wellbeing objectives and aims 
to support these objectives by:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Enhance and promote our natural environment, countryside, heritage and 

cultural assets
 Developing safer communities
 People having good physical and mental health
 People live independently  

Looking back at historic provision of public toilet facilities in 
Merthyr Tydfil to where we are now

Increasingly the Council has and continues to face challenges to maintain standards 
of toilet provision, maintenance and cleaning due to limited funding and pressure on 
resources. In 2013 the Council undertook a review of public convenience provision in 
the County Borough against a background of efficiency savings. At that time the 
Council operated 7 facilities throughout the Borough three of which provided just a 
men’s urinal facility. The decision was taken to close all of the existing facilities to 
facilitate savings of £65,380. In doing so the Council recognised that:  

 Those with particular needs like families with babies and children, older 
people, people with disabilities or people with specific health concerns, the 
oversees tourist and visitors to the town could be disadvantaged.  

 Visitors to the town will have their overall experience and impression of the 
town influenced by the lack of important facilities.

 Facilities would have to be sold, demolished or permanently made safe.

Following these efficiency savings a local community group expressed an interest in 
taking over one of the closed toilets located in the rural village of Pontsticill, as they 
were experiencing problems with walkers and tourists relieving themselves in 
improper locations.  The group demonstrated that they were able to sustain the 
running costs to be incurred with the toilets.  Following Cabinet approval the 

Page 205



8

community group was granted a 25 year lease at a market rent (index linked) and 
supported via a rental grant and other economic development grants. To date this 
model has been very successful.

Historically in order to encourage local businesses to open up their toilets and 
increase the number of toilets available for public use Welsh Government (WG) 
offered a Community Toilet Scheme Grant. Businesses were offered an annual 
recompense payment of £500. Unfortunately in Merthyr Tydfil there was zero take up 
of the grant aid. The reasons given were due to the onerous conditions, disabled 
access, 7 day opening etc. for such little money and the additional costs that would 
be incurred in terms of cleaning and consumables. In 2014/15 this funding was 
transferred by WG Revenue Support Grant and the Council ceased to support a 
Community Toilet Scheme. 

Today the current provision of public toilets in Merthyr Tydfil focuses on parks and 
leisure facilities. The model is a complex one with premises either owned or leased 
by the Council or Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust and variable arrangements in place for 
cleaning and maintenance. These activities are undertaken either directly or via 
service level agreements between the parties. 

It is arguable that since the introduction of the power to provide public toilets in the 
Public Health Act 1936, the dependence on public toilets to accommodate the 
toileting needs of the population, while away from home, has diminished significantly. 
Indeed, in the main, many of these commercial facilities benefit from more design 
standards when compared to traditional public toilets.  In recent years Merthyr Tydfil 
has experienced considerable investment which has resulted in the regeneration of 
many locations. Consequently many private retailers and leisure facilities now 
provide public conveniences as part of their developments under building regulations  
e.g. Cyfarthfa Retail Park, Rhydycar Leisure Village and Trago Mills all provide high 
quality separate toilet facilities, incorporating WC’s, baby and adult changing facilities 
and fully accessible toileting available over extended opening hours, and therefore 
designed  to satisfy increased footfall. Whilst these are not public toilets, they are 
facilities which may be used by the public when visiting a particular store or shopping 
centre and means that there is less of an imperative for the Council to provide 
traditional Council run facilities.

Tourism continues to be an important component of the regional  and local economy. 
Merthyr Tydfil is fast becoming a hub for activity tourism and is recognised as being 
one of the most desirable regions in Wales in terms of adventure tourism.    It is a 
base for walking and cycling (close proximity to Brecon Beacons and Bike Park 
Wales) means that the availability of clean, accessible toilets available to the public 
is increasingly important to the local economy.

Going forward there are positive plans to increase the provision of public toilets in 
the town centre as part of the relocation and construction of a major new bus station 

Page 206



9

development.  The Council aspires to locate 11 public toilets within the new bus 
station facility proposed for the town. The current scheme is pending a funding 
award from Welsh Government, if successful work could commence as soon as 
Summer 2019. The scheme would have 2 disabled facilities, 4 female, 5 male 
(including 3 urinals) and 2 baby changing facilities. Rainwater harvesting would also 
be used to flush the public and tenant area conveniences. A history of abuse of the 
toilet facilities which were previously located at the existing bus station in terms of 
drug use, vandalism and cleanliness means that users of the new facilities are likely 
to incur a small charge.

Aims and Objectives

The overarching aim of this strategy is to provide or facilitate the provision of clean, 
safe, accessible and sustainable toilets for residents and visitors to the Borough at 
locations where the need for such facilities has been identified. 

Objectives:

 Identify the current level of provision of public toilets
 Identify where there are gaps in the current provision
 Expand the offering of clean, safe and well maintained facilities by working 

with partners and community engagement 
 Facilities accessible to all  
 Facilities suitable for the location making it viable and inclusive
 Enough facilities for the local population and users
 Evening and overnight provision at key locations where specific need is 

established
 Increased awareness and easily found facilities 
 User information available through mapping of provision on Lle and Dewis 

websites.
 Use of new technologies and communications leading  to an increased 

awareness of the locations of toilets available for public use 
 Maximise availability through Council partnership and commercial provision
 Provision of adequate temporary toilets by the promoters/organisers at one off 

events
 Sustainable provision within the budget available.

Reviewing the Strategy

Once the strategy has been put in place there is a requirement for it to be 
periodically reviewed. The Council will publish an interim progress report setting out 
the steps taken in accordance with this strategy every 2 years commencing from 
when the Council last published or 2 years from the date of the last post-election 
review of this strategy. Publication of the review is required within 6 months. 

Page 207



10

Consequently this strategy will be reviewed in May 2021 and the report published in 
November 2021.

How has this strategy been developed?

Recognising the importance and challenges associated with production of the 
strategy a multidisciplinary task group was put together so that it would been 
developed with input from a cross section of Local Authority departments. This 
approach was considered vital in order to capture all available baseline line data and 
to maximise opportunities to improve toilet provision in the County Borough. 
Members of the task group included representatives from Environmental Health, 
Planning, Estates, Economic Development, Regeneration and tourism, Rights of 
Way, Environmental Services, Corporate Communications, Business Change, and 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust. The Cabinet member for Regeneration and Public 
Protection was also a member of the group demonstrating political commitment to 
the strategy.

Due regard has been made to demographic and local health data contained at 
Appendix 3.

Engagement with other public bodies, community groups, private enterprise and the 
public has been undertaken to understand what is currently on offer and how any 
gaps in this offering can be mitigated.

 A public consultation was undertaken throughout September 2018 to assess the 
needs of residents, and people visiting or working within the county borough with a 
view to identifying gaps in provision and how these might be addressed. The public 
consultation was publicised via the Council’s online consultation system. A total of 
438 responses were received comprising 149 complete and 289 partial responses. It 
is recognised that the number of responses is statistically small and the results must 
therefore be considered with caution. A summary analysis the needs assessment 
consultation can be found at Appendix 1.

At the same time the Council contacted all of the national retailers who operate 
within the Borough as part of a collaborative exercise across Wales to seek an 
agreement in principle that their toilet facilities could be used by the general public. 
The purpose was to establish whether these businesses would be prepared to be 
part of the strategy by allowing their toilet facilities to be used by non-customers, 
signposted via national websites and phone apps and agreeing to display a sticker 
showing the national toilet logo. Only 1 business located within the Borough 
volunteered to offer their toilet facilities to the public and to be mapped. However, 
feedback obtained from the needs assessment survey, indicates that the public do in 
fact use and rely on facilities provided by the larger stores such as the supermarkets 
particularly in the town centre. 

Page 208



11

A similar exercise was also conducted whereby the Council contacted 141 local 
businesses to ascertain whether they would be prepared to participate. There were 
13 responses and 6 agreed to allow their facilities to be used by the public and to be 
mapped. Using the overall findings of the assessment, which identified the main 
gaps in provision specific businesses which have or had previous relationships with 
the Council were targeted for individual follow up contact. 

In addition the Cwm Taf Health Board and healthcare premises including doctors, 
dentists and opticians were also contacted to establish whether there are premises 
with toilets that are publicly accessible that could be mapped and sign posted for 
public use.

How will publicly available toilets be signposted and mapped?

This is an important part of our strategy so that people who need to visit a toilet can 
easily access information about the location, opening times, accessibility and type of 
facilities available. 

The Council will periodically review and update the Welsh Government “Lle” data 
repository to allow access to accurate information by guide and map publishers, 
residents and visitors. Lle is a geo- portal that serves as a hub for data and 
information covering a wide spectrum of topics, but primarily around the 
environment. Lle will generate all-Wales maps based on the datasets provided by 
local authorities that can be configured to focus on either the national picture, or on 
more local areas. The data included in the Lle map will be available as an open data 
service accessible to everyone. The link to the Lle portal is below.

http://lle.gov.wales/home

The dataset will be available in Welsh and English. The public will be able to see and 
search the data as it appears on the Lle website, to see the whole of Wales or to 
look at particular areas.

The Welsh Government has not developed an app, as many people are unable to 
use a smartphone for a number of reasons. It is more appropriate to focus on 
ensuring the information is available online through a wide range of websites and via 
traditional offline methods. 

However, as the data provided by local authorities is to be made available as open 
data, it will be available for reuse by third parties, via the joined dataset behind the 
Lle map. This might include other online map services, app developers or 
commercial interests, as well as being available for reuse by other public sector 
organisations. It is envisaged that the locations of toilets will be promoted via a 
mapping app specifically designed for mobile technology and smart phones via third 
parties. 

Page 209

http://lle.gov.wales/home


12

Participating premises will also display a sticker in a prominent place, indicating that 
toilets are available for the public. The sticker will display the logo stipulated by 
Welsh Government. The British Toilet Association (BTA)  also recommends signs be 
fitted on the outside with information like opening hours, contact information for 
reporting problems and the specific facilities provided inside, such as if there is a 
baby-changing room.

The Council will also post information on the Dewis website. 

A list of publicly available toilets where there has been agreement that they can be 
mapped is contained at Appendix 2. Full details of location, opening times and 
facilities available will be included on the Lle and Dewis websites and updated at 
regular intervals.

What did we learn from conducting the needs assessment?

The key findings of the needs assessment are:

General Overview

The majority of respondents to the needs assessment survey, 88% are resident in 
the Borough. As part of the needs assessment respondents were asked which areas 
they visited most often. The results are summarised in the chart below with 3 areas 
identified as being the most popular  namely town ward with 56% followed by 
Treharris 17% and Cyfarthfa with 6%. 

Page 210

https://www.dewis.wales/home


13

The chart below shows summarises the main findings of the needs assessment 
taking into account all areas. The most striking, and not unexpected gap between 
need and provision is the overall lack of toilet facilities available for public use, which 
has a direct impact on whether people will venture away from home. People were 
reluctant to use outlets where they felt they needed to make a purchase and there 
were concerns about the cleanliness of some toilets, and safety. 

There was an almost universal view that there is insufficient information on where 
the toilets actually are.

The chart also shows that there were no significant differences between the in the 
responses received relating to able or disabled toilet provision.

Page 211



14

. * Includes those respondents with long-term illnesses.

P
age 212



15

Town Centre

The town centre is the most popular destination identified by the needs assessment 
and is the main transport hub for people arriving by train or bus. Council toilet 
provision should be primarily for shoppers and visitors in areas of high volume 
footfall. We know from our continuous monitoring of footfall using GEO-Sense that 
there are 1,485,994 average visitors per year which equates to 212,285 per month 
and an average of 45,030 per week. The data captures both repeat and new visitors 
to the town, how long they visit and the times that they visit. The BTA makes 
recommendations on the number of toilet facilities needed in an area based on 
population density, gender mix and footfall. The ideal level is recommended as 1 
cubicle per 550 females and 1 cubicle or urinal per 1100 males, which is a ratio of 
2:1 in favor of women. One accessible toilet and also one baby change facility 
should be provided for every 10,000 population. 

Significantly, there is no signposting to toilet facilities and there are currently no 
publicly funded toilet facilities provided. Toilet provision is totally reliant on private 
businesses which offer facilities for customers, some of which lock their toilets to 
prevent non customer use. Telephone feedback from local businesses confirmed the 
latter practice is prevalent in the immediate vicinity of the bus station because of 
concerns about anti-social behaviour1, vandalism and drug abuse. It was suggested 
by business owner that some financial incentive may persuade some businesses to 
change their approach.

The table below gives an overview of the responses received about the provision of 
toilet facilities in the town centre. There is a clear message from respondents that the 
provision of toilet facilities in the town area is insufficient either because toilets are 
not available or inadequate. Respondents confirmed they felt uncomfortable using 
toilets in some businesses because they felt they needed to make a purchase. More 
detailed analysis has found that identified gaps in toilet provision in the town centre 
are more pronounced on weekends and bank holidays. The indoor market, located in 
the town centre, offers customer toilet facilities. Comments made by individual tell us  
these facilities are valued and well used, but these facilities are unavailable on 
Sundays and bank holidays (except Good Friday when they are open) which 
correlates  with the findings of the survey.

Page 213



16

Graphs Showing Respondents' opinion of the adequacy of toilet provision in 
Town on Weekdays (top) and Sundays / Bank Holidays (bottom)

Inner Circle
Whole Day Before 9am 9am to 6pm After 6pm

Don't Know
None Available
Inadequate
Adequate
Don't Visit

Outer Circle

Re
sp

on
se

Page 214



17

Facilities provided by shops and others are normally limited to the place’s opening 
hours for safety and security reasons. Respondents have commented that there is 
no toilet provision after 6pm unless the public use customer facilities in public 
houses/restaurants. Development of the night time economy and changes in 
demographics and human activity in town centres means they are increasingly 
becoming leisure and entertainment hubs rather than predominantly centres for 
retail/commercial trade. Night time economy growth has unfortunately led to an 
increase in alcohol-related anti-social behaviour acts which includes 'street fouling' 
and the need for night toilet facilities. This situation is compounded by rough 
sleepers who frequent the town centre for whom there are no available toilet 
facilities.
 
It is also recognised that in order to avoid urination and fouling in public places 
publicly accessible facilities need to be in close proximity to key night-time gathering 
points such as taxi ranks, car parks, railway/bus stations and bus stops. The new 
tram trains which will be introduced as part of the South Wales Metro will not have 
toilets on board so any upgrading of the railway stations will need to take this into 
consideration. Passengers wherever they are on the tram-train network should be no 
more than 14 minutes away from a toilet. 

There is a significant gap between toileting needs and the facilities that are currently 
available in the town ward. The current offering needs to be reviewed to see what 
steps the Council can undertake to facilitate an improvement.

Attractions

The region is fast becoming a hub for activity tourism and is recognised as being one 
of the most desirable regions in Wales in terms of adventure tourism. 

Parks such as Cyfarthfa and Parc Taf Bargoed attract tourists and residents and can 
often include children’s play areas; whilst enjoying the parks it is unlikely that there 
will be other facilities close by which people can use,. 

Parc Taf Bargoed has Green Flag status and offers walks, sports and water 
adventure. The needs assessment identified that there are no public facilities open in  
Parc Taf Bargoed on a Saturday and the toilets close at 3.30pm on the days when 
they are open. The public commented that would like to see provision throughout the 
weekend and longer opening hours as these are popular times for people to visit. In 
addition there are no facilities available for baby changing. Consequently the focus 
should be on maintaining existing access to toilet provision in these areas and 
exploring ways that opening hours and facilities could be extended.

Comments relating to the poor cleanliness of the toilets at the entrance to Cyfarthfa 
Park were a recurring theme.

Page 215



18

Improving access to toilet facilities:

Recognising that there is no quick fix and that austerity measures mean that the 
Council is continuing to face financial pressures the Council is committed to the 
following actions to mitigate the gaps between what toileting provision is available 
and identified need:

Provide facilities suitable for the location- Review provision of publiclly 
available toilets at key transport interchanges and key entry points including the 
bus and train station stations located in the Town centre. This has been identified 
as the area where the greatest needs gap exists. It is proposed that new public 
toilets will be provided that will be owned and managed by the Council. Use of 
the toilets will incur a charge to aid with sustainable upkeep and reduce antisocial 
behaviour. The toilets will be located in the proposed new bus station 
development which is part of a wider programme of town centre regeneration. 
Consideration to be given to location of the new toilets bearing in mind the BTA 
recommendation that people should not have to walk more than 500m to a toilet 
facility.

Clean, well maintained and safe- An undertaking that all toilets in Merthyr Tydfil 
Council County Borough Council  and Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust buildings will 
be open and signposted for public use. (except for schools, care homes and 
other buildings where the facilities are located in sensitive areas not accessible to 
the public). The Council will review cleansing operations and standards on a 
periodic basis to ensure the most efficient and effective provision within allocated 
resources. The Council will continue to work with the Police, Community Safety 
and residents, community groups and others to ensure that the facilities are as 
safe as possible.

Sustainable provision within the budget available-The Council is committed 
to sustainability in its own operations, including the provision of toilet facilities, as 
well as across the district more widely through climate change and carbon 
management plans. Going forward sustainability will be factored in to all new 
Council developments.

To provide accessible information via mapping of toilet provision- Improve 
awareness and information available on toilet provision in the County Borough by 
updating information on the Lle open access data repository with WG and also 
updating the Dewis website. A link will be provided from the Merthyr Tydfil 
Council website.

Easily found facilities with good direction signage and individual facility 
information signs- Consideration to providing physical signposts to direct the 
public to available toilets in areas associated with transportation hubs e.g. indoor 

Page 216



19

market and the new bus station. Display of the toilet logo using stickers displayed 
at entrances at all Council, Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust, Cwm Taf Health Board, 
community facilities and businesses that have agreed to being mapped.

Maximise availability through partnership and commercial provision- 
Continue to work with local businesses to promote use of their toilet facilities. A 
commitment to revisit the Community Toilet Scheme to financially incentivise 
businesses to open their toilets up to the public in areas where gaps in provision 
have been identified by the needs assessment. Explore options to increase local 
toilet provision through sponsorship, advertising and partnership working.

Liaise and work with Town and Community Councils to provide toilets in as 
many locations as possible. Explore opportunities to increase the provision of 
publicly accessible toilets in key rural locations along the Taff Trail by working 
with community groups.

Letting policies- Although there are currently no Council owned commercial 
town centre properties available consideration could be given to the introduction 
of a clause in future Council leasing agreements. The clause would require 
suitable business like a shop or café, to include public access to toilet facilities. 
This would need to be balanced against any potential backlash such as a 
decrease in rental income or that the requirement could conceivably deter 
prospective tenants from taking a lease. 

Provision of adequate toilet facilities by the promoters/organisers at one-off 
events- Toilet facilities for people attending special, one-off outdoor events need 
to be considered, whether through temporary installations or through the use of 
existing facilities at or near the event location, by agreement with the Council. 
The Events Safety Advisory Group provides guidance for event organisers and 
including the use of land for events in the open, including highways under the 
direct control of the Council. Advice and guidance on temporary toilet facilities is 
provided as part of a consistent, proactive and integrated approach to the 
provision of support services and regulatory functions for events and a sound 
financial framework for this support, as well as ensuring compliance with Health & 
Safety standards. The Event Safety Advisory Group will continue to work with 
event organisers to ensure they provide adequate toilet facilities for people 
attending. Smaller temporary events organised at short notice are more 
challenging but the Council will work with organisers to try to secure adequate 
toilet provision. 

Green spaces- Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council recognises that there are 
strong links applicable to the need for toilet facilities in parks including play areas 
and more informal green spaces such as the country parks. Popular attractions 
such as Cyfartha Park and Parc Taf Bargoed attract tourists and residents and 
include children’s play areas. It is unlikely that there will be other facilities close 

Page 217



20

by which people can use, whilst enjoying the park therefore the Council will strive 
to maintain toilet provision in these areas and explore ways that might allow for 
extended opening hours. For example- Once the Parc Taf Bargoed Hydro Project 
is revenue producing and lease obligations fully complied with it may be possible 
to permit the current warden post to be fully funded from the Project. This could 
provide the release of funds from current park warden budgets to provide 
additional facilities e.g. baby changing and additional opening hours

Tackling homelessness- Explore options for providing facilities for the rough 
sleepers to reduce the amount of human fouling in the town centre and along the 
Taff Trail.

Legal powers- Powers may be used to ensure that public toilets are provided 
and maintained for public use in relevant commercial premises. The Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 section 20 allows a local 
authority to require any business classed as a place of entertainment or selling 
food and drink to the public for consumption on the premises, to provide public 
toilets. These powers will be exercised where possible.

Consideration will be given to including local toilet provision in new 
schemes devised under the Community Infra-structure Levy. - Community 
Infra-structure Levy enables the Merthyr Tydfil local planning authority to raise 
funds from developers undertaking new building projects in their area. The funds 
can be used for a wide range of infrastructure costs, such as education, 
healthcare, police and fire rescue, that is needed as a result of new housing for 
example. This may be one way to secure funding for future public toilet provision 
within or near new developments, on a need and demand-driven basis and 
depending on the prioritisation between new infrastructure needs. 

Conclusions

More than ever success of any strategy is about working in partnership to get the 
most from scarce resources. This will include establishing a new relationship 
between the public, private and voluntary sectors to drive forward sustainable 
public toilet provision.

We know from our needs assessment consultation exercise that the gap between 
what is needed and what is currently on offer is significant, particularly in the town 
centre. The Council has taken on board the comments received as part of the 
needs assessment.  We realise as a local authority we cannot afford to plug this 
gap by working in isolation. 

In order to achieve this aim we propose a series of actions that we can take over 
the next 2 years at the end of which the strategy will be subject to review. 

Page 218



21

We propose to improve the level of clean, safe publicly available toilets by 
increasing our own toilet portfolio linked to the regeneration of the town centre 
bus station. In addition we will seek to explore ways we can work in collaboration 
with and private sector/voluntary sectors to improve provision at all locations 
where a need has been identified.

All of the publicly available toilet facilities will be signposted and mapped, so that 
residents and visitors will know where to find them, when they are open and what 
facilities are available. 

Page 219



22

Appendix 1

Summary of responses to needs assessment consultation

Consultation took place from 3rd to 28th September 2018.  The survey was 
available online via Smart Survey and people were signposted to the survey via 
MTCBC’s Facebook page, Twitter page and corporate website.  Paper copies 
were also provided to the 50+ forum by the Supporting People Coordinator.  

438 people accessed the survey online, however only 149 surveys were 
completed.  

Key findings: 

• 131 respondents were residents of Merthyr Tydfil

• 83 responses were relating specifically to the Town Ward 

• Cyfarthfa Park was listed as the attraction visited most often, followed by Parc 
Taf Bargoed 

• The majority of respondents felt that the toilet provision was either inadequate 
or no facilities were available 

• 93.3% of respondents disagreed that there were enough facilities 

• 90% of respondents felt like there was no enough information on where 
facilities are located 

• 84.6% of respondents don't like using toilets in shops or restaurants because 
they feel like they need to buy something

• 85.2% of respondents felt that toilets should be free to use 

Demographic: 

• 74.5% of respondents were age between 36-64 years old 

• 68.46% were female 

• 86.58% were of white ethnicity 

• 36.17% of respondents either had a disability or long-term health problem 

Page 220



23

Appendix 2

Location of Council/ Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust publicly available toilets

Location Post code
Aberfan Community Centre CF48 4QQ
Civic Centre CF47 8AN
Cyfarthfa Park Pandy Toilets CF47 8RE
Cyfarthfa Park Model Railway CF47 8RE
Cyfarthfa Park Splashpad CF47 8RE
Cyfarthfa Park Canolfan (outside) CF47 8RE
Cyfarthfa Park Canolfan (inside) CF47 8RE
Cyfarthfa Castle CF47 8RE
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre CF48 1UT
Orbit Centre CF48 1DL
Redhouse CF47 8AE
Registrars Office CF47 8DP
Taff Bargoed Park (Pavillion) CF46 8AP
Taff Bargoed Park (Lakeside) CF46 6AU
Thomastown Park (below flat) CF47 OHE

Location of Cwm Taf Health Board publicly available toilets:

Location Post code
Keir Hardie Health Park CF48 1BZ

Prince Charles Hospital CF47 9DT

Location of Private Business publicly available toilets:

Location Post code
Dynevor Arms CF48 4HH

Fir Tree Community Centre CF46 5BW

Hills Plymouth Cricket Club CF48 4BJ
Indoor Market CF47 8ED
Pentrebach Labour Club CF48 4BY
Rock UK CF46 6RD
Superbowl CF48 1UT

NB: This is a list of toilets that, at the time of writing, are publicly available. Full details of 
location, opening times and facilities available will be mapped on the Lle and Dewis websites 
and updated at regular intervals.

Page 221



24

Appendix 3

Local Context

The County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil is situated in the Heads of the Valleys Plus 
area within the South East Wales Capital Network region. Covering an area of 
c.11,100 hectares it is the smallest local authority in Wales. Approximately one fifth 
of the County Borough lies within the Brecon Beacons National Park to the north.

Merthyr Tydfil benefits from a number of strategic transport corridors that enable it to 
play a strategic role in the Heads of the Valleys area and the Capital Network region. 
It is intersected by the A465 (Heads of the Valleys road) & A470 in the north and the 
A470 & A472 in the south. These allow easy access to West Wales, East Wales & 
the Midlands and Cardiff / M4 corridor to the south. It is estimated that c. 600,000 
people and 150,000 jobs are within 30 minutes of Merthyr Tydfil.

The County Borough has a population of 59,700. Of this approximately 43,000 reside 
in the main town – Merthyr Tydfil. The town functions as the main commercial, retail 
and service centre of the County Borough and the Heads of the Valleys Region. It 
contains administrative headquarters (e.g. the County Borough Council), primary 
shopping areas, the majority of the County Borough’s employment opportunities and 
many other higher order services & facilities which also serve surrounding 
settlements. The rest of the County Borough comprises of eight interdependent 
settlements situated south along the Taff and Taff Bargoed river valleys. These 
contain a range of lower order services & facilities serving local needs and more 
limited job opportunities. The historical development of the County Borough has 
been heavily influenced by the location and exploitation of mineral resources.

The area contains an assortment of urban, semi-urban and rural communities 
located in a variety of natural, semi-natural and historic environments. It is rich in 
outstanding wildlife habitats, historic landscapes and archaeological features. The 
steeply sloping valley sides with their high ridges and moorland vegetation define the 
character of the area; affording an environmental and ecological context for its 
settlements.

In terms of Merthyr Tydfil’s widely acknowledged industrial heritage the potential of 
the area to act as an important tourist destination / resource has yet to be fully 
realised.

Page 222



25

  

Merthyr Tydfil is recognised, within national plans, as having a critical role to play in 
the success of the Cardiff Capital Region. However, for it to contribute to regional 
objectives it must overcome economic & social challenges at the local level not least 
economic inactivity, long-term health issues and out-migration. Achieving this will not 
only require a coordinated and targeted approach but significant investment. The 
latter of these points can be particularly difficult in the current economic climate. As 
the funding available for economic and community regeneration gets tighter the need 
to target its investment to where it’s needed most and can have greatest effect 
grows. At the policy and programme level resource allocation usually has an area or 
regional focus, lacking the sophistication to drill down to the local level. This is 
problematical when there are places which exhibit severe levels of deprivation. 
Sustained, targeted intervention is required if Merthyr Tydfil is to achieve local, 
regional and national regeneration objectives.

Socio- economic profile

This section summarises information contained within our socio-economic analysis 
of Merthyr Tydfil (2018) and that of supporting documents such as the Labour market 
strategy (2017).

Page 223



26

Economic restructuring during the late 20th Century has brought about considerable 
economic and social challenges for the County Borough. The impact of this has been 
worsening economic & social conditions and the greatest fall in population of all 
Local Authorities in Wales (7.5% between 1991 and 2004). This out-migration has 
been acknowledged by the Local Development Plan (LDP) (2011) as contributing to 
a high rate of dependency where fit, younger people leave to take up employment, or 
to enter higher education, and sicker, older and more disabled population remain. 
The current rate, which is higher than the Wales average, is 71 dependents for every 
100 people of working age.

The socio-economic condition of Merthyr Tydfil is such that 8 of its 36 Lower Layer 
Super Output Areas (LSOA) (22%) are amongst the most deprived 10% of LSOAs in 
Wales. Furthermore: 30% of its LSOAs fall within the 20% most deprived LSOAs in 
Wales; 61% of its LSOAs fall within the 30% most deprived; and 81% of its LSOAs 
fall within the 50% most deprived. The County Borough compares unfavourably with 
Wales and Great Britain averages across many key socio-economic indicators and 
faces significant challenges around: high levels of economic inactivity; low 
educational attainment and skill levels; low quality jobs and opportunities; and high 
incidences of long term health problems.

Prior to the latest economic downturn the number of jobs in Merthyr had been 
steadily increasing since 1998, due principally to growth in the public administration, 
education and health sectors, and latterly manufacturing, transport & 
communications and construction. The county borough is now fast becoming a 'hub' 
for tourism with the creation of associated jobs (albeit lower skilled, lower paid 
jobs).Despite this growth the County Borough’s job-density and wage levels continue 
to be lower than the Wales and United Kingdom averages. Even before the 
downturn, many of the sectors strongly represented in the County Borough were not 
expected to grow over the next 10-15 years. Compounding this issue the County 
Borough’s LDP identified that the area is not well represented in the likely “key 
growth” sectors such as air transport, computing services and financial and 
professional services. 

• The difference in the economic activity, employment and unemployment rates 
between Merthyr and Wales has steadily narrowed since 2011 and rates in 2016 are 
almost equal on all these measures.

• Unemployment and Worklessness remain significant issues across Wales and 
in the borough, whilst qualification levels remain lower for Merthyr residents in 
general, and for those employed at workplaces in the borough. There remain 
significant skills issues which place some challenges on bringing higher value, higher 
skill employers to Merthyr, though the situation is improving. Emerging growth 
sectors (tourism, retail and care services) in the County Borough have primarily low 
skilled, low paid jobs.

Page 224



27

• Merthyr Tydfil is currently a net exporter of labour to other areas, with more 
people travelling to work outside the borough than those who travel in to work.

• Just over 8,500 people travel in to workplaces in Merthyr from areas outside 
the Merthyr area with 83 per cent coming from four particular areas – RCT, 
Caerphilly, Blaenau Gwent, and Cardiff.

• 8,790 employed Merthyr residents work in workplaces located outside Merthyr 
Tydfil with 72 per cent travelling to locations in RCT, Cardiff, Caerphilly, and Blaenau 
Gwent.

• Merthyr Tydfil is over reliant on employment in the public sector and lacking in 
private sector opportunities in higher value, higher wage employment. The high 
levels of employment in the public sector are likely to be falsely inflating overall wage 
levels in the county borough and are likely to be increasing the tendency for 
employees to be travelling in from outside the authority area.

• Merthyr wage levels for all those working in Merthyr are generally lower than 
those earnt by Merthyr residents who work outside of the borough (41 per cent who 
commute outside the borough to work). This is one factor that could contribute to 
recruitment difficulties for those seeking to recruit to posts based in Merthyr 
particularly in male dominated industries such as Manufacturing, Engineering.

Access to services and activities is a particular concern to the rural communities of 
Cwm Taf.  The percentage of households with no car in rural Cwm Taf is high 
compared to the Wales average (27% rural Merthyr Tydfil, 28% in rural RCT 
compared to 23% across Wales).  Feedback provided at a workshop delivered by 
Rural Action Cwm Taf, in October 2014, highlighted some of the risks and issues 
affecting the local rural community. These included accessibility and isolation 
concerns, lack of public transport and the support of community facilities.

Families living in poverty are not just the ones suffering from ill health or 
unemployment; fuel poverty and in-work poverty are real issues facing the 
communities in the Rural Action Cwm Taf area.  Through the reduction of non-
statutory services locally, this poverty is compounded by fewer community 
engagement hubs, threatening the community cohesion of a rural area, leading to 
increased isolation for some members of our rural communities and a reduction in 
access to services.  

Cuts to public sector support to public transport will also limit the rural communities’ 
access to services further, which will put greater demands on community facilities to 
provide additional services such as public toilets.

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Housing Renewal Policy

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Legislation requires that local authorities create and publish a Housing Renewal 
Policy which clearly defines the types of assistance available and who is eligible to 
apply. 

1.2 The updated version of the Policy covering the period 19th December 2018 – 31st 
March 2021 is available via the Background Papers link.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Housing Renewal Policy (19th December 2018 – 31st March 2021) be approved 
with immediate effect.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 2002 
repealed previous prescriptive legislation concerning housing renewal grants and 
provided local authorities with increased flexibility to address local housing needs 
and priorities. It required local authorities to create, publish and keep under review 
Housing Renewal Policies, which clearly define the types of assistance available and 
who is eligible to apply.

Date Written 31st October 2018 **
Report Author Steve Peters
Service Area Public Protection and Housing 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 227

Agenda Item 11



3.2 This latest version of the Council’s Housing Renewal Policy outlines all of the types 
of housing grant and loan assistance available to local citizens, who meet the 
eligibility criteria for each product.

3.3 The statutory framework has also been added to by the coming into force of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act 2014.

3.4 This Housing Renewal Policy has been refreshed and replaces the 2015-2018 
version to take account of the fact that the Council’s third and final Renewal Area – 
Bedlinog and Trelewis, expired in May 2017. This was as a direct result of changes 
in capital grant funding provided by Welsh Government, and the cessation of their 
national housing renewal programme. The Housing Renewal Team was therefore 
disbanded in summer 2017 and hence why many of the grant products which were 
previously available within the county borough are no longer available.

3.5 This revision of the Housing Renewal Policy has been undertaken in recognition of 
the changes which have occurred within the County Borough and nationally in recent 
times. Housing need, stock transfer, global recession and ethnic migration are just 
some of the variables which have changed significantly in recent years, all of which 
have a significant impact on the local housing market and wider communities.

3.6 This Policy, whilst outlining the broad set of policy tools available, also contains 
detailed information within the Appendices, relating to the various types of financial 
assistance which may be available, subject to available funding.

4.0 WHAT’S CHANGED

4.1 This new Policy contains a number of changes from the previous Policy. Said 
changes are summarised below:

 Expiry of Renewal Area funding in 2017 – means that some forms of grant are 
no longer available locally.

 References to Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 have been 
included in the policy document, including the insertion of a section relating to 
‘Exceptional Circumstances – Well-being Considerations’ which aims to clarify 
what the Council will do in circumstances where a client or carer need has 
been identified, but where current adaptation products do not address such 
need(s).

 References to the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 have 
been included.

 The local policy context has been updated.
 The housing needs section of the Policy has been rewritten using information 

from the 2016 ORS – Local Housing Market Assessment information.
 Some of the terms of the loans products have been updated to reflect greater 

scope provided to local authorities by Welsh Government
 The Council’s Grant Waiver Policy – has been updated and inserted (as 

Appendix 3) to this Policy, whereas previously it was a stand-alone document.

Page 228



 A DFG Discretionary Top Up Grant has been inserted into the Policy – at a 
maximum value of £10,000, to help fund DFG eligible works which exceed the 
mandatory DFG limit of £36,000 inclusive of fees.

.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 The DFG Discretionary Top Up Grant, shall be funded within the current DFG capital 
allocation within the Council’s capital programme. 

5.2 ‘The Exceptional Circumstances – Well-being Considerations’ is a new policy 
development and is likely to lead to additional costs to the Council. The financial 
implications of this additional criteria cannot be quantified at this time. 

5.3 The Loans funding pot provided to the Council by welsh Government is ring fenced 
and recyclable. Only available loan funds will be administered, so there is no current 
financial implication arising from loan products.

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term

 Prevention

 Integration

 Collaboration

 Involvement

4 of 5 0 of 5 1 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 2 of 10  0 of 10  8 of 10

4. Biodiversity
0 of 1  0 of 1  1of 1

Page 229



Summary:

The main positive impacts are the Policy provide advice and assistance to those in 
greatest need, particularly elderly and vulnerable residents; improves the condition of 
private sector dwellings within the County Borough; promotes independent living, by 
providing disabled aids and adaptations to the homes of less able residents and ensures 
more residents (particularly elderly and vulnerable) can live safely, securely and in 
relative comfort within their homes 

The main negative impacts are. None identified

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Housing Renewal Policy 22nd November 2018 – 
31st  March 2021

MTCBC Website

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 230



Housing Renewal Policy

8th November 2018 – 31st March 2021

Public Protection & Housing 
Place & Transformation Directorate

Page 231



2

If you would like this information in Braille, large print, on audiotape or in other languages, including 
Welsh, please contact the Council on 01685 725000

Page 232



3

Contents Page
Foreword 4
Recent Policy Developments 5

1.0 Introduction 6

2.0 Purpose of this Policy 7

3.0 Policy Objectives 7

4.0 Legislative Framework 8-9

5.0 National Policy Context 10-11

6.0 Local Policy Context 12

7.0 Housing Requirements and Needs Assessment Merthyr Tydfil  13-14

8.0 Disability 15-18

9.0 Financial Assistance Available & Resources 19

10.0 Home Improvement Agency Services 20

11.0 Grant Waiver Policy 20

12.0 Performance Targets 20

APPENDIX A – Grant Assistance 21

(i) Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
(ii) Disabled Facilities Grant – Top Up Discretionary Grant
(iii) Exceptional Circumstances – Well-being Considerations
(iv) Disabled Persons Relocation Grant

APPENDIX B – Loan Products 27

(i) Houses into Homes – Empty Property Loan
(ii) Home Improvement Loan
(iii) Lifetime Loan for Owner-Occupiers
(iv) Miscellaneous or New Grant or Loan Products

APPENDIX C – Grant Waiver Policy 2018 31

APPENDIX D – Definition of Terms 35

APPENDIX E – Useful Contact Details 37

Page 233



4

Foreword

Following the introduction of The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) 
Order 2002, which came into force on 18 July 2002 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is 
required to develop and keep under review, a Housing Renewal Policy 

The Order had significant implications for local housing authorities as it repealed much of the 
existing prescriptive legislation governing the provision of housing renewal grants and replaced 
them with a new wide-ranging power to provide assistance for housing renewal.

The statutory framework has also been added to by the coming into force of the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

This Housing Renewal Policy has been refreshed and replaces the 2015-2018 version, to take 
account of the fact that the Council’s third and final Renewal Area – Bedlinog and Trelewis, expired 
in May 2017. This was as a direct result of changes in capital grant funding provided by Welsh 
Government, and the cessation of their national housing renewal programme. The Housing 
Renewal Team was therefore disbanded in summer 2017, and hence why many of the grant 
products, which were previously available within the county borough are no longer available.

This Policy, whilst outlining the broad set of policy tools available, also contains detailed 
information within the Appendices, relating to the various types of financial assistance which may 
be available, subject to available funding. 

This revision of the Housing Renewal Policy has been undertaken in recognition of the changes 
which have occurred within the County Borough and nationally in recent times. Housing need, 
stock transfer, global recession and ethnic migration are just some of the variables which have 
changed significantly in recent years, all of which have a significant impact on the local housing 
market and wider communities.

Kind regards,

Ellis Cooper
Ellis Cooper
Deputy Chief Executive 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Page 234



5

Recent Policy Developments 

17th February 2010 (Council Approved)

1. The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996: Disabled Facilities 
(Conditions relating to approval or payment of Grant) General Consent - gave Local 
Authorities general consent to place local land charges on properties of owner occupiers 
where the cost of adaptations exceeds £5,000.

22nd June 2011 (Cabinet Approved)

1. Cosy Homes Grant -the introduction of this new grant type, restricted to renewal areas and 
subject to available funding. This grant specifically aims to reduce fuel poverty and increase 
the thermal comfort of the homes of owner-occupiers aged 65 years +; with savings and 
capital of less than £16,000.

4th July 2012 (Council Approved)

1. The provision of empty homes loans under the Welsh Government’s ‘Houses into Homes’ 
Scheme.

18th July 2012 (Council Approved)

Council approved the following amendments to Empty Homes Grants (this product is now 
revoked):

1. Permit EHG applications from prospective owner-occupiers (not just prospective landlords)
2. The eligible property must have been empty for 6 months prior to 1st April of that year.

7th January 2015 (Council Approved)

1. Introduction of Home Improvement Loans to the Council’s assistance offer to citizens, 
following the provision of capital funding by Welsh Government, specifically for this 
purpose.

2. Inclusion of strategic domestic energy improvement schemes for the first time.
3. Minor amendment to Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) policy, whereby the Council shall 

prioritise DFG applications where the disability is as a result of service in the Armed Forces
4. Introduction of the new Vacant Property Grant, which is funded through external Vibrant 

and Viable Places (Regeneration) funding.

May 2017

Cessation of the Council’s Housing Renewal Programme, which run for 16 years from 2001 until 
2017. The Housing Renewal Team was disbanded in 2017. 

More detailed explanation of each policy amendment is contained in the relevant section(s) of this 
Housing Renewal Policy document.

November 2018 

Policy update to reflect capital funding changes, product availability, introduced DFG Top Up 
discretionary grant and introduced well-being considerations.

Page 235



6

1.0 Introduction

This policy describes how, in partnership with a range of organisations, Merthyr Tydfil CBC seeks 
to assist people improve local housing conditions. It is a recognised fact that poor housing 
conditions have an adverse impact on the health, safety and well-being of residents. Unsafe and 
unsatisfactory housing increases the risk of ill-health or injury to occupants. 

Vulnerable groups including the elderly, disabled individuals or families with young children are of 
particular concern as they are more susceptible to these risks. While the primary responsibility for 
the maintenance of a property rests with the owner, very often those in vulnerable groups do not 
have the resources to keep their properties in good repair and may require some assistance.

Thousands of substandard homes have been repaired, improved and adapted following 
intervention by the County Borough Council over the last 25 years. For many years more than £1.5 
million per annum, was spent in this way. However this level of investment was not sustainable.

In recent years capital funds available from external sources such as Welsh Government, for 
investment in private sector housing have decreased significantly. There has however been a 
continued promotion of repayable loan funding as a mechanism to fund repairs or improvements to 
private sector homes, in both the owner-occupied and private rented sector.

Despite reduced capital resources available, we remain committed to improving local resident’s 
quality of life by working with homeowners to tackle the worst housing conditions and meet local 
needs.

Investing in housing is not only about bricks and mortar. Besides improving people’s homes, it 
brings benefits for people too, contributing to improving their health, well-being and quality of life.

Investing public money in building and refurbishing homes also contributes to national and local 
economies, creating and supporting jobs and training opportunities. It helps regenerate 
communities, improving the way they look, their safety, and helping people feel good about where 
they live.

This revision of the policy reflects national and local issues, relevant local policies and strategies 
and is written in accordance with the Welsh Government Guidance. 

This policy will require review and updates periodically, in response to changes to local or national 
policy or legislative changes.

Page 236



7

2.0 Purpose of this Policy 

This Policy has four key aims:

i. to clearly outline the financial assistance available to local citizens
ii. to identify private sector housing investment priorities
iii. to contribute towards the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Well-Being priorities
iv. to contribute towards the delivery of the Public Service Board’s priorities 

The Policy shall outline:

 The types of assistance available
 Who is eligible for assistance
 The level of assistance available
 Conditions attached to the provision of assistance
 How to make an application or enquiry

3.0 Policy Objectives

The key objectives of this Policy are:

 to provide advice and assistance to those in greatest need, particularly elderly and vulnerable 
residents

 to improve the condition of private sector dwellings within the County Borough

 to promote independent living, by providing disabled aids and adaptations to the homes of less 
able residents

 to ensure more residents (particularly elderly and vulnerable) can live safely, securely and in 
relative comfort within their homes

 to maximise inward investment into the County Borough from all sources 

Page 237



8

4.0 Legislative Framework

A vital consideration in the development of this Policy is the national legislative framework which 
places a number of mandatory and discretionary duties upon local authorities.

Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996

The 1996 Act made all housing grants discretionary, except Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs), 
where mandatory entitlement was retained.

The obligation to provide DFGs to eligible applicants for eligible work (subject to the test of the 
applicant’s resources – excluding DFGs for children) is primary, absolute and remains irrespective 
of tenure.

Local Government Act 2000 (Section 2)

(1) This section of the Act, provides every local authority with a power to do anything which they 
consider is likely to achieve any one or more of the following:

(a) the promotion or improvement of the economic well-being of their area,

(b) the promotion or improvement of the social well-being of their area, and

(c) the promotion or improvement of the environmental well-being of their area.

(2) The power under subsection (1) may be exercised in relation to or for the benefit of—

(a) the whole or any part of a local authority’s area, or

(b) all or any persons resident or present in a local authority’s area.

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 2002

This Order repealed previous prescriptive legislation concerning housing renewal grants and 
provided local authorities with increased flexibility to address local housing needs and priorities. It 
required local authorities to create and publish Housing Renewal Policies, which clearly define the 
types of assistance available and who is eligible to apply.

Housing Act 2004

The 2004 Act came into force in April 2006. One of the main changes introduced was the dwelling 
assessment process. The previous system called the ‘Fitness Standard’ was repealed and 
replaced with the Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS).

This new evidence based system requires officers to risk assess the presence of 29 typical 
hazards which may be present within a property, requiring in depth assessment of any hazard 
considered to be ‘significant’.

The HHSRS allows local authorities to prioritise intervention based upon the risk and severity of 
health and safety hazards to occupiers (and/or) visitors of dwellings.

The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996: Disabled Facilities
(Conditions relating to approval or payment of Grant) General Consent 2008

This Order gave Local Authorities consent to place local land charges on properties of owner-
occupiers where the cost of adaptations exceeds £5,000.

Page 238



9

Equalities Act 2010

This Act provides a new cross-cutting legislative framework to protect the rights of individuals and 
advance equality of opportunity for all; to update, simplify and strengthen the previous legislation; 
and to deliver a simple, modern and accessible framework of discrimination law which protects 
individuals from unfair treatment and promotes a fair and more equal society. 

Housing (Wales) Act 2014

Although a groundbreaking piece of legislation in respect of homelessness and other matters, the 
Act has little direct consequence for Housing Renewal Policies.

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014

The Act changed the way people’s needs are assessed and the way services are delivered. 
People have more of a say in the care and support they receive.

It also promotes a range of help available within the community to reduce the need for formal, 
planned support.

 Services will be available to provide the right support at the right time

 More information and advice is available

 Assessment is simpler and proportionate

 Carers have an equal right to be assessed for support

 There are stronger powers to keep people safe from abuse and neglect.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The Act imposes broad ranging requirements for local authorities to consider the long-term impact 
of their decisions, to work better with people, communities and each other, 
and to prevent persistent problems such as poverty, health inequalities and climate change. The 
Council has implemented the Act by the implementation of its own Well-being Plan, Focus on the 
Future.

Page 239



10

5.0 National Policy Context

Not all of the following impact on Housing Renewal Policy, but are included here for reference and 
to provide a broad overview of national housing policy.

Private Rented Homes – The Rent Smart Wales Scheme introduced by Welsh Government in 
November 2015 requires all landlords and agents in Wales to be registered or licensed along with 
their property portfolio. 

Housing Renewal – nationally, funding only exists for loan products. Some local authorities in 
Wales continue to provide grant funding. Periodically, national energy programmes are available 
where local authorities can apply for funding from Welsh Government or Energy Companies to 
invest in insulating homes of the most vulnerable or fuel poor.

Disabled Facilities Grants – local authorities remain legally responsible for providing DFGs to 
eligible applicants to assist with the cost of adapting homes to allow people to remain living 
independently at home. Housing Associations receive Physical Adaptations Grants (PAGs) from 
Welsh Government for their tenants with adaptation needs.

Home Improvement Loans – this scheme has been developed in partnership between the Welsh 
Government, WLGA and local authorities in Wales, in recognition of the reducing availability of 
capital funds for the private sector housing market. In 2018 local authorities were invited to sign up 
to a revised scheme, whereby each local authority must provide three loan products: Houses 2 
Homes loan (empty properties), Home Improvement Loan and a Lifetime Loan.

Empty Homes – Environmental Health Teams continue to address empty home issues. The only 
funding available nationally in the Houses 2 Homes loan product referenced above. 

Strategic Role – local authorities continue to have a vital role in the local housing market in 
assessing need, determining local priorities and planning how the need for good quality affordable 
housing can be met. Local authorities have a range of strategies in place including Housing 
Strategy, Homelessness Strategy (2018) and a Supporting People operational plan. All of which 
also inform other policies and strategies including the Local Development Plan (Planning).

Affordable Housing - A key part of the local authority strategic housing role is planning for, and 
facilitating the provision of affordable housing in the area to meet housing need. This involves a 
range of different approaches including:

 rigorous assessment of local housing markets, housing need and housing demand
 the use of planning powers to ensure that housing developers assist with the provision of 

affordable private housing
 partnerships with housing associations to ensure that social housing grant, and other 

resources, are invested to develop new social housing and low cost home ownership 
schemes

 empty homes strategies to ensure that existing homes can be brought into use
 supporting the improvement of private housing stock with loans, equity release schemes 

and grants

Supporting People Programme - Housing related support provides flexible services that enable 
vulnerable people to live independently. They also play a critical role in preventing homelessness 
and also reduce pressures on a wide range of other public services such as health and criminal 
justice. Local authorities have responsibility for assessing the need for housing related support, 
strategic planning and commissioning services.

Page 240



11

Homelessness - Local authorities have a duty under the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 to review 
homelessness in their area, develop a strategy to prevent homelessness and provide help for 
people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness.

Well-being – the Local Government Act 2000 confers a power to local authorities to improve well-
being of its areas or any persons. Additionally, more recently in Wales, the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 changed the way people’s needs are assessed and the way services 
are delivered. People have more of a say in the care and support they receive. Further, the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the local authority to assess the long term 
impact of its policy decisions and places well-being, in the broadest sense, at the heart of decision 
making.

Page 241



12

6.0 Local Policy Context

Focus on the Future is the Council’s Well-Being Plan and has been developed in response to the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. It outlines how it will work with others to deliver 
a our shared vision and achieve our collective goals.

6.1

6.2 The Local Housing Strategy (2012 - 2015)

The Merthyr Tydfil Housing Strategy 2012-15 sets out a locally agreed, vision for housing and the 
outcomes and objectives necessary to achieve it. The strategy is evidence based, utilising the 
Local Housing Market Assessment and other key data sources.

The local Housing Strategy is intended to outline the future direction of housing provision and 
housing services in Merthyr Tydfil. It sets out five outcomes, underpinned by a number of actions 
and measures to facilitate delivery of the plan:

 Outcome 1 – An Increase in the number of good quality, affordable homes available
 Outcome 2 – Good quality housing related support is available to those in highest Priority 

Need
 Outcome 3 – The prevalence of homelessness is reduced
 Outcome 4 – The services we provide are fair, equitable and accessible
 Outcome 5 – The wider community benefits of housing provision are maximised

These outcomes are delivered through an annual action plan.

Page 242



13

7.0 Housing Requirements & Needs Assessment of Merthyr Tydfil

Households by tenure 1981-2011 (Source: UK census of Population)

Below is a Summary of Key Findings from the Merthyr Tydfil Housing Requirement and 
Needs Assessment (November 2016) Conducted by Opinion Research Services. A study 
commissioned by MTCBC Housing Solutions Team.

Page 243



14Page 244



15

8.0 Disability

This section of the Policy outlines the relative levels of disability in Merthyr Tydfil compared to other 
areas in Wales, using information from a variety of sources.

Wales unitary authorities, 2001, 2011, Usual residents Per Cent
Unitary Authority With activity 

limitations 
20111

Rank 
2011

Rank 
2001

WIMD 2011 
synthetic rank2

Medical and Care 
Establishment rate3

Lowest
Cardiff 18.0 1 1 6 6.1
Flintshire 19.5 2 3 15 5.0
Monmouthshire 20.1 3 2 22 7.8
The Vale of Glamorgan 20.3 4 4 12 7.7
Gwynedd 20.5 5 6 17 7.4
Highest4

Neath Port Talbot 28.0 22 21 3 7.8
Blaenau Gwent 27.2 21 20 2 7.6
Merthyr Tydfil 26.9 20 22 1 7.6
Rhondda Cynon Taf 25.8 19 19 4 7.4
Carmarthenshire 25.4 18 17 14 10.0
Sources: 2001 Census, 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics
Notes:
1. The question asked in the 2011 Census on activity limitation differed to that asked in 2001; therefore it is not 
possible to directly compare 2011 percentages with those from 2001, but the questions are sufficiently similar to 
draw indicative insights on change over time.
2. WIMD 2011 score rank, 1 = most deprived, 22 = least deprived
3. Per 1000 resident population

Page 245

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.40931530044859&centerlong=-2.4155401953124737&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000015&area11=W06000015&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.43201505206545&centerlong=-2.2074252734374795&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000005&area11=W06000005&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=51.761766387629514&centerlong=-2.280541039062541&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000021&area11=W06000021&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.087477853813226&centerlong=-2.3344686953124665&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000014&area11=W06000014&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.608780006979785&centerlong=-2.512900601562478&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000002&area11=W06000002&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=51.730973528558664&centerlong=-2.4822171171874743&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000012&area11=W06000012&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.19420096754733&centerlong=-2.576806117187516&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000019&area11=W06000019&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.14825325636749&centerlong=-2.848809085937546&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000024&area11=W06000024&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.3317996328321&centerlong=-3.0511763046874875&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000016&area11=W06000016&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.06065737178203&centerlong=-2.4258782421875366&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000010&area11=W06000010&op=0.65


16

Wales unitary authorities, 2001, 2011, Usual 
residents Per Cent
Unitary Authority With 

activity 
limitations 

20111

Rank 
in 

2011

Rank in 
2001

Percentage 
difference 

(2011-2001)

Largest falls in prevalence2

Merthyr Tydfil 26.9 20 22 -3.2
Swansea 23.3 12 14 -1.4
Neath Port Talbot 28.0 22 21 -1.4
Rhondda Cynon Taf 25.8 19 19 -1.4
Blaenau Gwent 27.2 21 20 -1.0
Largest rises in prevalence2

Monmouthshire 20.1 3 2 1.1
Powys 21.4 9 5 1.0
Conwy 24.2 15 13 0.7
Isle of Anglesey 23.1 11 11 0.7
The Vale of Glamorgan 20.3 4 4 0.4
Sources: 2001 Census, 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics
Notes:
1. The question asked in the 2011 Census on activity limitation differed to that 
asked in 2001; therefore it is not possible to directly compare 2011 percentages 
with those from 2001, but the questions are sufficiently similar to draw 
indicative insights on change over time.

The four most deprived authorities in Wales were among the five authorities improving the most. In 
the former mining area of Merthyr Tydfil, prevalence of activity limitations reduced by 3.2 per cent; 
however, its prevalence in 2011 remained 4.1 percentage points above the Wales average.

Page 246

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.14825325636749&centerlong=-2.848809085937546&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000024&area11=W06000024&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.157097350340244&centerlong=-2.6637387734374442&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000011&area11=W06000011&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=51.730973528558664&centerlong=-2.4822171171874743&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000012&area11=W06000012&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.3317996328321&centerlong=-3.0511763046874875&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000016&area11=W06000016&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.19420096754733&centerlong=-2.576806117187516&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000019&area11=W06000019&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=51.761766387629514&centerlong=-2.280541039062541&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000021&area11=W06000021&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.29296860782037&centerlong=-2.4741046015624306&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000023&area11=W06000023&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.52249121666861&centerlong=-2.114754505615224&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000003&area11=W06000003&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.97258776596664&centerlong=-3.953243207812534&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000001&area11=W06000001&op=0.65
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/census-map-2-2---healthss/index.html#centerlat=52.087477853813226&centerlong=-2.3344686953124665&zoom=7&column=Activity%20limitations%20(%25)&area01=W06000014&area11=W06000014&op=0.65


17

Economic inactivity (Jan 2017-Dec 2017)

 Merthyr Tydfil
(level)

Merthyr Tydfil
(%)

Wales
(%)

Great Britain
(%)

All People

Total 8,600 23.4 24.0 21.6

Student 1,500 17.7 27.1 27.0

looking after family/home 2,000 23.2 19.3 24.4

temporary sick # # 1.5 2.1

long-term sick 3,500 40.7 27.8 22.1

discouraged ! ! 0.4 0.4

retired 900 10.0 14.3 13.2

other 600 6.5 9.5 10.8

Source: ONS annual population survey as cited on www.nomisweb.co.uk 
#   Sample size too small for reliable estimate
!   Estimate is not available since sample size is disclosive
Notes:   numbers are for those aged 16-64. 
  % is a proportion of those economically inactive, except total, which is a proportion of those aged 16-64

Page 247

http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/


18

Working-age client group - main benefit claimants - not seasonally adjusted (November 2016)

 Merthyr Tydfil
(numbers)

Merthyr Tydfil
(%)

Wales
(%)

Great Britain
(%)

Total claimants 7,320 19.5 14.4 11.0

By statistical group

Job seekers 650 1.7 1.4 1.1

ESA and incapacity benefits 4,320 11.5 8.4 6.1

Lone parents 620 1.7 1.2 1.0

Carers 1,090 2.9 2.2 1.7

Others on income related 
benefits 100 0.3 0.2 0.2

Disabled 450 1.2 0.7 0.8

Bereaved 80 0.2 0.2 0.2

Main out-of-work benefits† 5,700 15.2 11.3 8.4

Source: DWP benefit claimants - working age client group as cited on www.nomisweb.co.uk 
†   Main out-of-work benefits includes the groups: job seekers, ESA and incapacity benefits, lone parents 
and others on income related benefits. 
Notes:   % is a proportion of resident population of area aged 16-64
  Figures in this table do not yet include claimants of Universal Credit

The data presented above outlines some of the health inequalities which exist in Merthyr Tydfil, 
which can have a significant impact on Council services, including housing, social care and 
housing assistance such as Disabled Facilities Grants and other forms of financial assistance.

Page 248

http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/


19

9.0 Financial Assistance Available & Resources

Although listed below and in Appendix A, with the sole exception of Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFGs), all assistance is discretionary and subject to available funding.

9.1 Financial Assistance available throughout the County Borough:

Type of Assistance Indicative 
Budgets

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
General Capital Funding for Adaptations:

 Disabled Facilities Grants
 Fast track stair lift grant 
 Disabled Persons Relocation Grant
 DFG Top Up

£850,000 £850,000 £850,000

Loan Funding for the following products:
 Houses 2 Homes (Empty Property 

Loans)
 Home Improvement Loan
 Lifetime Loan (TBC)

£717,520 Recycled Recycled

NOTE: The Loan Funding pot is a fixed sum, provided to the Council by Welsh Government to 
administer three loan products. The loan fund is ring fenced and recyclable. Therefore the amount 
available in any year for new loan applications will depend on the value of loans already provided 
and the repayment schedules of said loans.

10. Home Improvement Agency Services
Page 249



20

The Council strongly recommends all grant recipients engage the services of a reputable home 
improvement agency. The cost of employing an Agent is an eligible expense and can form part of 
the grant awarded. 

Agent for Disabled Facilities Grants

The Council operates a very efficient and experienced in-house agency service called Grant Line. 
This service is available to all DFG applicants and provides all the professional, technical and 
administrative services required to deal with all aspects of the process, from completing forms to 
managing on site works and paying contractors.

Grant Line charges a fee of 12% of the total cost of works for its services (subject to annual review)

Grant Line has an agreement with the Council allowing the fee to be paid out of the grant sum at 
the completion of the grant. Other agents may require the applicant to pay fees up front.

Grant Line may be contacted on 01685 725000

Applicants are not obliged to appoint the Council’s in-house agent and may appoint an 
independent agent of their choice.

11. Grant Waiver Policy

Please see Appendix C, which outlines when and how repayment of certain types of grant will be 
treated by the Council.

12. Performance Targets

Reference Indicator MTCBC 
Target

PAM/015 Average number of days taken to deliver a Disabled Facilities Grant 200 days

In addition to the above service delivery target, the Council will also commit to introduce any 
service standards proposed by the Welsh Government in due course.

Page 250



21

APPENDIX A 

 GRANT ASSISTANCE

(i)  Disabled Facilities Grant

This is the only mandatory housing grant issued by the Council, and is available for a range of 
works needed to help a disabled person to remain and live more independently in their home. 

Page 251



22

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) are subject to a statutory test of resources prescribed by the 
Government.  Only the resources of the disabled occupant and their spouse or partner are taken 
into account. 

An application made on behalf of a disabled child or young person (i.e. less than 19 years old), will 
not be subject to a means test. The amount of grant awarded is the amount needed to meet the 
costs of the work over and above the applicant’s calculated contribution (called notional loan), 
subject to a maximum grant of £36,000. 

Merthyr Tydfil CBC has signed up to the Royal British Legion’s Community Covenant, and in doing 
so is committed to:

 Fully disregard military compensation payments when means testing for DFGs
 Prioritising Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) applications where the disability is as a result of 

service in the Armed Forces.

Eligible Works

Section 23 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, outlines the purposes 
for which an application for a DFG must be approved (subject to other provisions being satisfied). 

Said purposes are:

a) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to and from:

(i) the dwelling, qualifying houseboat or qualifying park home, or

(ii) the building in which the dwelling or, as the case may be, flat is situated;

b) (b) making 

 (i) the dwelling, qualifying houseboat or qualifying park home, or

(ii) the building, safe for the disabled occupant and other persons residing with him; 

c) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to a room used or usable as the principal family 
room;

d) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled occupant, a 
room used or usable for sleeping;

e) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled occupant, a 
room in which there is a lavatory, or facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of such a 
facility;

f) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled occupant, a 
room in which there is a bath or shower (or both), or facilitating the use by the disabled 
occupant of such a facility;

g) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled occupant, a 
room in which there is a wash hand basin, or facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of 
such a facility;

h) facilitating the preparation and cooking of food by the disabled occupant;

i) improving any heating system in the dwelling, qualifying houseboat or qualifying park home 
to meet the needs of the disabled occupant or, if there is no existing heating system 
there]or any such system is unsuitable for use by the disabled occupant, providing a 
heating system suitable to meet his needs;

j) facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of a source of power, light or heat by altering 
the position of one or more means of access to or control of that source or by providing 
additional means of control;

k) facilitating access and movement by the disabled occupant around the dwelling, qualifying 
houseboat or qualifying park home, in order to enable him to care for a person who is 

Page 252



23

normally resident here and is in need of such care

l) such other purposes as may be specified by order of the Secretary of State.

(2) F20. . provision deleted…

(3) If in the opinion of the local housing authority the relevant works are more or less extensive 
than is necessary to achieve any of the purposes set out in subsection (1) F21. . . , they 
may, with the consent of the applicant, treat the application as varied so that the relevant 
works are limited to or, as the case may be, include such works as seem to the authority to 
be necessary for that purpose.

A grant will only be awarded for works that are:

 Necessary and appropriate to meet the disabled person needs as assessed by the 
Council’s Community Occupational Therapy (COT) Team. Private Occupational Therapy 
reports will not be accepted unless agreed by the Council COT. This is to ensure there is 
consistency and fairness in approach.

 Reasonable and practicable depending on the age and condition of the property, as 
determined by the Council’s authorised Grant Officers.

Eligibility Criteria 

 All owner-occupiers or tenants who are able to satisfy the statutory criteria currently 
stipulated in Section 19 to 22 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 
1996 are eligible to apply for a Disabled Facilities Grant.

 The applicant must be able to provide the necessary ‘Owner’s Certificate’ or ‘Tenants 
Certificate’.

 All applicants are subject to assessment and prioritisation by the Council’s Community 
Occupational Therapy Team, who will determine the need and level of urgency for 
assistance.

Terms & Conditions

Where a DFG in excess of £5,000 has been completed at an owner-occupied property, a local land 
charge will be registered against that property, in accordance with the Housing Grants, 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996: General Consent 2008. Said charge is binding on 
successive owners and/or occupiers, until the terms of the charge have been met (i.e. until the 
debt is repaid or the 10 year period elapses).

In the event of disposal of the property within the 10 year grant condition period, the Council will 
consider the implications to the grant recipient of reclaiming the grant sum (less the first £5,000), in 
accordance with the Order and the Council’s grant waiver policy.

ii) Disabled Facilities Grant – Top Up Discretionary Grant 

The mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant cap is set at £36,000 in Wales. However, there are 
occasions where required works exceed this grant limit/cap.  For this reason the Council can 
consider providing a discretionary Top Up grant. Merthyr Tydfil CBC have hereby decided to offer a 
discretionary top up grant of an additional £10,000 over and above the DFG limit of £36,000. 

This discretionary grant will only be considered where the local housing authority (Housing Grants 
Team) would normally approve a DFG, but where the applicant(s) have no means of raising the 
additional capital to fund the works over and above the £36,000 DFG limit.  

As part of this consideration process, alternative options will first be explored with the family, such 
as moving to a more suitable property which is already adapted, or which can more easily be 
adapted than their current home. 

Page 253

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/part/I/chapter/I/crossheading/disabled-facilities-grants#commentary-c17515491
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/part/I/chapter/I/crossheading/disabled-facilities-grants#commentary-c17515531


24

There is no automatic entitlement to the DFG Top Up Discretionary Grant and an award will be 
made on a case by case basis. If a DFG and £10,000 Top Up grant does still not meet the total 
costs, section iii) below must be followed (i.e. Exceptional Circumstances).

Eligible Works

Merthyr Tydfil CBC have decided that only work which meets the defined purposes for which a 
DFG must be given (by law) will be eligible for this discretionary top up grant (see Appendix A).

Eligibility Criteria 

 The applicant for this grant must have already applied for a DFG which the local housing 
authority would normally approve, but where the cost of works (and fees) exceed the 
£36,000 DFG limit.

 Where the total cost of works to meet the identified need of the applicant exceeds £46,000 
(i.e. the £36,000 DFG plus £10,000 Top Up Grant), the applicant MUST be able to 
evidence that they have sufficient funds in place to pay the balance of the cost of works. 
Without proof of all funds over and above the Grant(s) available from the Council, neither 
the DFG nor DFG Top Up Grant will be approved.

 The application must be supported by the Community Occupational Therapy Team.

Terms & Conditions

If approved, a Local Land Charge will be registered against the property for the duration of the 
grant condition period, which is 10 years.  The charge is binding on successive owners and/or 
occupiers, until the terms of the charge have been met (i.e. until the debt is repaid or the 10 year 
period elapses).

In the event of disposal of the property within the 10 year grant condition period, the Council will 
consider the implications to the grant recipient of reclaiming the grant sum in accordance with the 
Council’s grant waiver policy (see Appendix C).

The charge, whether the grant is provided for an adult or child, shall be registered by the Land 
Registry in all cases.

Approval Process

At the point where the Grants Officer has reason to believe the potential DFG works are likely to 
exceed the DFG limit of £36,000, whether through potential unforeseen works or foreseeable 
costs, he/she is to inform their line manager to discuss the case.

Where the line manager is satisfied that all alternative options have been explored, and is minded 
to approve the DFG along with a discretionary top up grant, a report will be drafted and sent to the 
Chief Officer for final approval, using delegated powers.

iii) Exceptional Circumstances – Well-being Considerations

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 places a duty on the Council to assess an 
individual’s (adults and children’s) need for ‘care and support’ and a ‘carers need for support’.  The 
right to an assessment exists regardless of the level of need, and of the persons financial 
resources. Whereas there is no charge for services to children under the Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act 2014, services for adults are subject to means testing. The assessment must be 
completed in partnership with the individual with a focus on the personal well-being outcomes that 
they want to achieve and must be completed in line with the requirements of the national 
assessment and eligibility tool. 

Page 254



25

Working across professional and organisational boundaries (particularly social services, health and 
housing) is key to making the best use of resources in meeting identified needs and helping 
achieve the best outcomes for individuals and families.  

After a full assessment has been undertaken and it is determined that an adaptation is required to 
meet an assessed need, the Council will seek to facilitate that home adaptation in the most 
appropriate way. This may be via the provision of a Disabled Facilities Grant, where the works 
required are eligible, under said grant (see criteria at section (i)). Where the identified need does 
not fall within the DFG criteria, the Social Services Department of the Council will seek to meet this 
need by some other means.

Adaptations that cannot be met via Disabled Facilities Grant 

The Council will consider the individual circumstances of the situation on a case by case basis.  
This will be based on the assessment that is recorded in line with the requirements of the national 
assessment and eligibility tool, where: 

1.    The need arises for a specified reason (ie disability/caring)
2.    The need relates to certain key activities (‘outcomes’)
3.    The person (or in a child’s case, their parent(s)/carer(s)) is unable to meet that need even     

with the available support from others/the community
4.    The need can’t be met without the local authority providing/arranging support services or   

Direct Payments
5.    Professionals are satisfied that the proposed adaptation will offer a long term solution to 

meeting need. 

Approval Process

Where an unmet need has been identified via assessment but where such a need:

i. Cannot be met solely by a DFG – as the works required do not meet the statutory 
eligible works criteria for a DFG; or

ii. Where they meet said criteria but the total cost exceeds £36,000 (inclusive of fees)

The following process must be followed:

The relevant officer/manager from the department or directorate which has identified said need(s) 
must submit a report to a Recommendation Panel. The Recommendation Panel shall be made up 
of 3 members of the Lead Group (Leader of the Council - chair and the Portfolio Cabinet Members 
for Social Services and the Portfolio Cabinet Member for Housing) and 3 members of the 
opposition to bring independence and demonstrate objectivity to decision making. Relevant Chief 
Officers, Head of Service and Council solicitor together with a relevant independent professional 
advisor will attend to assist the panel.

The role of the Recommendation Panel is to receive reports as outlined above and raise questions 
in pursuit of reaching an informed decision.  Having received information and response to 
questions, the Chair will lead the Recommendation Panel to a consensus decision in line with this 
procedure.  A record will be made of the Panel’s decision. 

The report to Recommendation Panel should at least include the following information:

i. The relevant needs assessment of the client;

ii. Professional opinion as to why the proposed works best meet the client’s needs;

iii. What other options have been explored and discounted (relocation, meeting the need in 
some other way etc.…);

Page 255



26

iv. The possible consequences for the client of not meeting the identified need(s); and

v. The possible consequences for the Council of not meeting the identified need(s) – is there 
a statutory requirement to meet the need(s) in this way.

vi. The impact of additional costs on Council resources

vii. Whether the client (in the case of  an adult) has the means to  pay  for contribute to the 
adaptation

viii. Whether  consideration should be given to a local land charge being registered on the 
property

The Recommendation Panel will consider each report on a case by case basis and may approve, 
reject or amend the proposal put forward.   Full Council will be notified of the decision of the Panel 
and the total additional grant allocated. 

The applicant and/or parent(s) will be informed in writing of the Panel’s decision and their reasons.

(iv)  Disabled Persons Relocation Grant

In appropriate cases where a property is unsuitable to be adapted for a disabled person, a 
Disabled Persons Relocation Grant may be offered up to a maximum of £10,000 to allow that 
person to relocate to a more suitable property.

All applications for Disabled Persons Relocation Grants are subject to a statutory test of resources 
of the disabled occupant and their spouse or partner. If the disabled occupant is less than 19 years 
of age, the resources of their parents are not considered.

Eligibility Criteria 

 Must be owner-occupier
 1 years occupation prior to application
 Means tested contribution
 The application must be supported by the Community Occupational Therapy Team 

Terms & Conditions

 An application for a DFG to the property being acquired may be considered in conjunction 
with this relocation assistance

 The Relocation Grant is to fund the shortfall between the sale price of the applicant’s 
existing home and the dwelling they intend to purchase.

 The dwelling to be purchased must be deemed more suitable to the needs of the applicant 
by the Community Occupational Therapy Team

 The grant condition period shall run for 10 years post completion
 The relocation grant is registered as a local land charge on the purchased dwelling and is 

binding on successive owners within this period
 Any breach of condition will result in grant repayment, in line with the Council’s debt 

recovery procedures

Page 256



27

APPENDIX B

LOAN PRODUCTS

(i) Houses into Homes – Empty Property Loan

Page 257



28

Interest free loans of up to £25,000 per unit (up to a maximum of £250,000 per applicant) may be 
available from the Council, to owners of empty properties (empty for at least 6 months) to assist 
with repair and refurbishment costs. 

Loans are a discretionary product, and are subject to funds being available.

This loan may be available:

- To renovate a dwelling to a reasonable standard, free from any serious hazards (as a 
minimum), so that it is suitable for immediate occupation, whether by for sale (loan to sell) 
or to let (loan to let). The property must have been vacant for a minimum of 6 months

- To convert an empty property or commercial building into one or more units to the Houses 
into Homes Standard (as a minimum), so that it is suitable for immediate occupation, 
whether by for sale (loan to sell) or to let (loan to let)

- Persons applying for the above loans may either be existing or prospective owners, but in 
either case must be able to supply security for the loan. The property must been in the 
applicants name before the loan can be approved.

Eligible Works:

 On completion the property must be suitable for immediate occupation by tenants
 Comply with Building Regulations and all other legal requirements
 Achieve the Houses into Homes Standard (including being free from Category 1 hazards)

Eligibility Criteria

 Applicant must own the vacant property
 Property must have been vacant for at least 6 months at the time of application
 Property must require works to return it to a lettable condition
 Each application undergoes a robust risk assessment procedure
 The Council has discretion when deciding whether to approve or reject applications

Terms & Conditions

 Loan offered at 0% interest
 Application fee applies
 The value of any mortgage and other charges on the property offered as security PLUS the 

H2H loan cannot exceed 80% loan to value (LTV) ratio
 The loan must be registered as a charge with Land Registry and is binding on successive 

owners. The loan may be registered against the vacant property or another property in the 
ownership of the applicant

 £25,000 is the maximum loan available per unit of accommodation
 £250,000 is the maximum loan available to an applicant
 Individuals or companies may apply
 There are two options for applicants: 

o Loan to sell – where the applicant must repay the loan amount within 2 years of 
approval

o Loan to Let – where the applicant must repay the loan amount within 3 years of 
approval

 Repayment is to be made in one instalment, when required
 Breach of the terms or conditions will result in the Council demanding full repayment of the 

loan sum plus interest charged at 6%
 Payment of the loan may be made ahead of works starting or as interim payments of 

smaller sums
 The applicant cannot move into the property for the 2 or 3 year post work period.

(ii) Home Improvement Loan
Page 258



29

Developed by Welsh Government in 2014, this new loan product is to be delivered regionally 
across Cwm Taf, following on from the delivery model established through Houses into Homes 
Empty Property Loans.

The loans are meant to provide a flexible solution to a range of home repair or improvement 
problems faced by property owners. The loan finance can be used to pay a contribution towards a 
grant based project or as stand-alone finance to undertake home repairs or improvements.

Loans of between £1,000 and £25,000 are available and are offered at 0% interest. There is 
however a fixed loan arrangement fee of 15% in all cases. This fee can be added to the loan sum 
or paid upfront by the applicant.

Eligible Applicants

 Loan finance will be targeted towards substandard homes to make them warm, safe or 
secure

 Owner-occupiers or landlords/developers are eligible to apply
 Not available to RSLs
 Applicants must own the property to be subjected to works
 Priority will be given to home owners in the first instance and landlords who offer affordable 

housing or nomination rights to the Council

General Terms & Conditions

 Maximum loan funding per applicant is £250,000 (i.e. 10 loans at a max of £25,000 each)
 Applicants will be subject to a credit reference check
 All loans of £5,000 or over will be registered as a charge at the District Land Registry, and 

will be binding on successive owners
 Loans under £5,000 may be registered as a charge at the District Land Registry or as a 

local land charge, and will be binding on successive owners where registered
 The value of any mortgage and other charges on the property offered as security PLUS the 

Home Improvement Loan cannot exceed 80% loan to value (LTV) ratio
 Applicants may make regular monthly repayments or repay the full loan amount at the end 

of the loan period (or before, where appropriate). The repayment terms will be decided by 
the Council on a case by case basis

 Applicant to arrange and oversee works, unless they employ the Council’s home 
improvement agency

 The loan sum may be paid ahead of works or in instalments
 Any defaults in repayments will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s debt recovery 

policy

Specific Terms & Conditions for Owner-occupier applications

 Maximum of 10 years to repay the loan
 Applicants must undergo an affordability assessment, where all household income and 

expenditure will be considered

Specific Terms & Conditions for Landlord/Developer applications

 Maximum of 5 years to repay the loan
 Applicants may undergo an affordability assessment 
 Funding must be used to eliminate any Category 1 hazards in the property

Page 259



30

(iii) Lifetime Loan for Owner-Occupiers

This loan product is being developed at the time of drafting this Policy, and will be available in 
2019.

(iv) Miscellaneous or New Grant or Loan Products

As the needs and demands of local communities change and external funding sources appear and 
then disappear, it presents new challenges to the Council to try to address specific housing and 
domestic energy and fuel poverty issues, with limited resources. To respond to such challenges, it 
may be appropriate to devise and introduce new grant or loan products. This is often the case 
when new funding streams become available.

Should the need to develop new grant or loan products arise, they shall be drafted in the same 
format as those contained in this policy document. The proposed new product(s) shall require 
approval by Cabinet/Council before becoming operational.

Such new grant types shall be inserted in the relevant Appendix of this Policy and not require 
redrafting of this policy as a whole.

Page 260



31

APPENDIX C

GRANT WAIVER POLICY 2018

          
         

Policy for Waiver of Grant Conditions (2018)

1.0 Relevant Legislation & Guidance

Schedule 3 of The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance)(England and Wales) Order (RRO) 
2002 repealed many elements of The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996  

Page 261



32

and many legislative documents made under it for example The Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 (Grant Repayment)(Wales) General Consent 2001. 

The RRO repealed specific criteria relating to ‘exempt disposal’ amongst many others, and 
empowered local authorities to create their own grant repayment policies and procedures. This 
Grant Waiver Policy is to form part of the Council’s Housing Renewal Policy which is regularly 
amended and updated to ensure it remains current.

The criteria for assessing requests for waiver of grant conditions are outlined in Section A.

Appendix B outlines some material considerations & guidance which should be considered by duly 
authorised officers when making decisions about whether to waiver grant conditions.

While it is recognised that the criteria for waiver of grant conditions should remain balanced, the 
emphasis on preventing profiteering from publicly funded grants or loans will remain and the 
Council will continue to recover grant money on breach of conditions.

Applications for waiver will be entertained only in exceptional circumstances, and must be 
supported by appropriate evidence. Each application for waiver will be considered on its facts and 
merits.

Council officers must consider whether it is reasonable, in the circumstances as they are presented 
at the time:

a) Not to demand repayment; or
b) To demand a lesser sum

This policy applies to: all discretionary housing related grants administered by the local authority; 
and Disabled Facilities Grants for owner-occupiers where the total grant paid exceeds £5,000.

All future discretionary grants/loans included in the local authority’s Housing Renewal Policy will 
also be subject to this policy unless otherwise stated.

2.0 The Sum to be repaid

The amount of money due to be repaid will depend on the type of grant provided.

For discretionary grants – the amount repayable will typically be the grant sum approved (i.e. prior 
to works commencing).

For Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) – the amount repayable will be the total grant sum, which is 
determined upon completion of works. This is because many DFGs encounter significant 
unforeseen costs when on site, all of which are recoverable under this Policy.

3.0 Authorisation

Delegated powers allow the Housing Manager (or equivalent) in discussions with any officer with 
knowledge of the case in question, to accept or reject applications for waiver of grant conditions.

Where a client (or an agent/solicitor acting on their behalf) does not agree with the initial decision, 
they may write to the relevant Head of Service, requesting a review of the decision, outlining the 
reasons why they believe the original decision is flawed.
Any such request for a review must be made within 21 days of the date of the original grant waiver 
decision. Late requests will not be considered in any circumstances.

Section A

If the Council is satisfied that the disposal falls within one of the following categories and that it 
would not be reasonable, in all the circumstances of the case, to demand repayment in full, or part 

Page 262



33

of the grant sum, it may determine not to demand repayment or to demand a lesser sum.

1. Financial Hardship

A disposal made following such a change in the financial circumstances of the relevant person 
meaning that he/she would suffer financial hardship if all or part of the grant sum was repaid.

2. Employment

A disposal made to enable a relevant person to seek, or take up, employment or to change the 
place of his/her employment.

3. Health & Well-Being

A disposal made for reasons connected with the physical or mental health, or well-being, of a 
relevant person.

4. Provision of Care

A disposal made to enable a relevant person to live with, or near, any person:
a) Which is disabled or infirm and in need of care which the relevant person is intending to 

provide; or
b) Which is intending to provide care of which the relevant person is in need by reason of 

disability or infirmity.

5. Suitability for Number of Occupants

A disposal is made to enable accommodation to be provided which is more suitable for the number 
of people occupying the premises to which the application for grant relates.

6. Disposal Proceeds

A disposal of premises to which an application for grant relates, where the disposal proceeds (after 
deduction of any relevant amount) are less than the amount of grant which a relevant person (apart 
from this consent) would be liable to repay.

In this paragraph ‘relevant amount’ means

a) The amount of any expenses incurred by the relevant person in connection with the 
disposal;

b) The amount of any advance secured by a charge on the premises which has been repaid 
by the relevant person.

7. Value of Premises

A disposal of premises to which an application for grant (other than relocation grant) relates, where 
the value of the premises at the date of the disposal, after deducting the amount of the grant that 
has been paid, is less that the value of the premises at the date of the application for grant.

8. Disposal to Local Authority or RSL

A disposal made to a local authority or a registered social landlord.

9. Inheritance 

A disposal by a relevant person of premises to which an application for a discretionary grant 
relates, where those premises were vested in that person as a person taken under a will or on 
intestacy.

Page 263



34

Points 1 – 9 outline the grounds or categories upon which a request to waiver a grant repayment 
condition may be made and hence considered.

Where a DFG recipient passes away the grant is not repayable.

Important Consideration

However the overriding consideration is if the grant works have added value to the property, is 
there sufficient equity in the property upon disposal to repay the Council the total grant amount, or 
is a lesser amount more appropriate.

In the interests of protecting public funds, unless there is likely to be significant financial hardship 
as a result of the Council enforcing its right to repayment, regardless of the reason for the request, 
the Officer making the decision should be minded to demand full repayment of the grant sum paid.

Section B

When considering an application for waiver of grant conditions the following information (some 
provided by the applicant) may be of assistance:

1. Personal financial information
2. Current property value
3. Outstanding mortgage
4. Letters from medical professionals, employers, occupational therapists, care homes etc….
5. Local housing market information (e.g. from local estate agents)
6. Measure of room sizes and confirmation of number of occupants

Calculation of a ‘lesser amount’

Where the appropriate officer deems it reasonable to reclaim a lesser amount, as to demand the 
full repayment would result in significant financial hardship to the client, the following calculation is 
to be used to ensure consistency and equity in arriving at the sum repayable.

Situation1: Where an application for waiver has been formally submitted, the number of months 
remaining until the expiry of the 5yr condition period will be used to calculate the sum repayable:

E.g.1   Proposed sale 24 months after completion of a £20,000 grant:
           60 months – 24 = 36 months remaining of condition period.

Therefore: 36/60 x £20,000 = £12,000 repayable.

Situation 2: A breach of condition is detected by an Officer of the Council. The Council will aim to 
reclaim the percentage of the grant monies paid equivalent to the duration of the breach.

E.g. 2   Improvement Grant (£20,000) completed in May 2005, property remains unoccupied for the 
following two years and becomes occupied in May 2007. The grant recipient has been in breach of 
conditions for 24 months:

Therefore 24/60 x £20,000 = £8,000 repayable. 

The remainder of the grant conditions must be honoured.

Page 264



35

APPENDIX D

DEFINITION OF TERMS

Disabled Person – 

Page 265



36

Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Part 8, s.114; means:

(a) a person who is registered in pursuance of arrangements made under section 29(1) of 
the National Assistance Act 1948 (handicapped person’s welfare); or

(b) any other person for whose welfare arrangements have been made under that 
provision or, in the opinion of the welfare authority, might be made under it [or, (c) a 
person to whom section 17(11) of the Children Act 1989 (disabled children) applies].

Equalities Act 2010 definition: 

6. Disability:
(1) A person (P) has a disability if—

(a) P has a physical or mental impairment, and

(b) the impairment has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on P's ability 
to carry out normal day-to-day activities.

(2) A reference to a disabled person is a reference to a person who has a disability.

Vulnerable – 

To assist the Council in our assessment to determine ‘vulnerability’ for the purposes of this 
policy, the Council may require evidence of receipt of one or more of the following income-related 
benefits:

1. Income Support/Guaranteed Pension Credit
2. Income-Based Job Seekers Allowance
3. Disabled Living Allowance(DLA)/Personal Independence Payment (PIP)
4. Council Tax Reduction

Page 266



37

APPENDIX E

USEFUL CONTACT DETAILS

Housing Grants Team

Page 267



38

Manage the Council’s statutory duty to provide Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs). The Team also 
provides an Agency Service, called Grant Line, to assist with the completion of paperwork and 
appointment of a suitable contractor.

Housing Grants Team
Civic Centre
Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil
CF47 8AN

Telephone: (01685) 725000

Email: grants@merthyr.gov.uk

Loans Officer –

Alison Reddy (01685) 725000 

Part of the Regeneration Team of MTCBC

Duty Desk of Initial Support Services
(Social Services) within the Community Services Directorate, 

Deal with enquiries regarding the provision of aids and adaptations for disabled persons (including 
Disabled Facilities Grants). Allocate eligible clients to Community Occupational Therapists for 
assessment. 

Duty Desk
Keir Hardie Health Park.
2nd Floor,
Aberdare Road,
Merthyr Tydfil,
CF48 1BZ

Telephone:        01685 725000 

Page 268

mailto:grants@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Homelessness Strategy for 2019-2024

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report provides an outline of the key findings of the corporate Homelessness 
Strategy for 2019-2024.

1.2 Following a review undertaken from November 2017 to November 2018 a 
Homelessness Strategy for Merthyr Tydfil CBC has been produced.

1.3 The production of a Homelessness Strategy for local authorities is a requirement of 
the Housing (Wales) Act 2014. The legislation requires Council approval by the 31st 
December 2018.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Council adopts the Homelessness Strategy for 2019-2024 to enable the Local 
Authority to meet the Welsh Government deadline of adoption of the strategy by 31st 
December 2018.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 This report focuses on the outcomes for the Council’s Homelessness Strategy. 
Updates on the progress in developing the strategy were provided to Regeneration 
and Public Protection scrutiny in October 2017, February 2018 and October 2018. 

Date Written 26/11/2018 **
Report Author Cerys Clark
Service Area Housing
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 269

Agenda Item 12



3.2 The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 placed a legal responsibility on all local authorities to 
develop a four year homelessness strategy, to be approved in 2018, which will 
outline the corporate approach to preventing and alleviating homelessness.

3.3 Details of how the Strategy was produced are contained  in section 5. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

4.1 The new homelessness regime within the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 came into force 
in April 2015. As the legislation is complicated and its implementation subjective at 
an operational level; only now are local authorities beginning to record data in a 
more consistent way.

4.2 The national statistics for 2015-16 were de-classified as a national dataset due to 
inconsistency in the recording of outcomes data by local authorities, a major cause 
of which was case management systems which were incapable of recording multiple 
outcomes per case, rather than only one outcome per case (recorded under the 
previous homelessness legislation).

4.3 Figure 1 below outlines the number of households THREATENED with 
homelessness (for which the Council has an opportunity to prevent them becoming 
homeless)

Households 
threatened 
with 
homelessness

Households 
with a 
successful 
outcome

Prevention 
Rate

Welsh 
Prevention 
Rate

2016/17 102 63 62% 62%
2017/18 114 60 53% 66%

4.4 The main reasons for a household being threatened with homelessness have 
remained the same for 2016/17 and 2017/18. These are the loss of a rented 
property, or rent arrears in the private or socially rented sector. 

4.5 Figure 2 below outlines the number of households who presented to the Council as 
currently homeless and those for whom the Council was working with, but could not 
prevent their homelessness

Homeless 
Households

Households 
with a 
successful 
outcome

Relief Rate Welsh relief 
Rate

2016/17 210 76 36% 41%
2017/18 239 79 33% 41%

4.6 The main reasons for a household becoming homeless in 2017/18 is parents 
asking them to leave; Non Violent Relationship Breakdown and leaving prison:

Page 270



4.7 The key information to explain why Merthyr Tydfil’s prevention rate and relief rate is 
lower than the Welsh average is:

 83% of presentations to the service are single people (2017-18)

 The local housing allowance (LHA) rate for a single person under 35 years of 
age is only £48. This is the housing costs they will receive towards private 
rented accommodation. A typical one bed flat or bedsit in Merthyr is between 
£60 - £70 p/w. Therefore the private rented sector is unaffordable for all under 
35’s who are not working.

 The is a distinct lack of one bed accommodation in both the social and private 
rented sector, this leads to significant unmet housing need within the local 
housing market.

5.0 HOW THE REVIEW WAS UNDERTAKEN

5.1 A full statistical analysis of the past two years homelessness data was undertaken. 
This outlined the main reasons for homelessness in the borough as well as the main 
households that were presenting as homeless or threatened with homelessness.

5.2 A further analysis was taken on the impact welfare reform was having on 
homelessness and the availability of affordable housing available to discharge 
homelessness duties into.

5.3 Face to face consultations were held with our partner Registered Social Landlords; 
volunteer organisations and relevant third sector organisations to establish their view 
on homelessness in the area and what could be done to try and tackle 
homelessness

5.4 An event was held in the Orbit Centre to collate views of all agencies working with 
individuals threatened with or actually homeless to raise awareness of the 
homelessness review and to provide another opportunity to collate relevant views

5.5 The current use of temporary accommodation was also analysed to establish where 
there were gaps and any financial implication on the department for continuing use 
of our current provision of temporary accommodation.

Page 271



6.0 KEY FINDINGS OF THE HOMELESSNESS REVIEW

6.1 Some of the key findings include:

6.2 Affordability: The private rented sector in Merthyr Tydfil is becoming increasingly 
unaffordable for households reliant on Housing Benefit or universal Credit to pay the 
rent.

Figure 3:  Rent shortfall if in receipt of full LHA rate

6.3 The graph shows monthly rent amounts following the introduction of Universal 
Credit, those dependent on benefits now receive their payments monthly. The 
monthly rent shortfalls are show below:

Property Type Monthly Shortfall
One Bed under 35 £167
One Bed over 35 £82
Two Bed £110
Three Bed £142

6.4 Analysing these shortfalls using average Universal Credit Rates, the remaining 
income households have for the month is as follows (i.e. money to pay for essential 
living costs- food, travel, energy etc..)

Property Type Monthly Income after 
housing costs

Weekly Income after 
housing costs

One Bed under 35 £117 £27
One Bed over 35 £235 £54
Two Bed £568 £131
Three Bed £767 £177

Page 272



6.5 Welfare Reform: A 2016 report by Sheffield Hallam University found that by 2020/21 
the average annual loss of income for a working age Adult in Merthyr Tydfil would be 
£470 (Beatty et al 2016: 19). This equates to the 17th largest loss of income for the 
UK as a whole. The high level of impact of Welfare Reform in Merthyr Tydfil has 
been attributed to the fact that nearly 25% of the population aged 16-64 claim 
working age benefits (Welsh Government 2014). The loss of income is not 
distributed evenly across the Borough. 

Figure 4: Average annual income loss per household by 2020/21

6.6 There is a significant shortage of one bed accommodation available in the social and 
private rented sector. The properties are available in the private rented sector require 
bonds, payment in advance, references and come with a rental value of £60-£70 
which is totally unaffordable for anyone under 35 years old and on Universal Credit.

6.7 The vast majority of homelessness is alleviated by the Housing Solutions Team 
securing a housing association property for the client. The numbers are increasing 
are probably unsustainable. 

6.8 Service demand is increasing year on year – coupled with an increasing number of 
complex cases, means that the Council’s ability to meet its statutory obligations is 
being increasingly difficult with current resources.

6.9 Merthyr Tydfil has the 5th highest number of citizens in prison of all 22 LAs. The three 
cities are top then Flintshire then Merthyr Tydfil – with 250 citizens in prison as of 
June 2018. This disproportionate number of offenders provides a significant 
challenge for the Housing Solutions Team – as depending on the nature of the 

Page 273



offence, significant additional work is required to secure them or help them secure 
accommodation upon release.

6.10 Housing Need – it is clear that the demand for one bed accommodation is 
outstripping supply. The low numbers of affordable and available one bed 
accommodation in the private rented sector means that the Council are increasingly 
over reliant on social sousing to successfully discharge our prevention and relief 
duties. This is unsustainable.

Figure 5 – Housing Need for general purpose one bed accommodation

6.11 Rough Sleeping - is the most acute and visible form of homelessness. For the last 
two years, the Welsh Government has required local authorities to conduct a count 
of rough sleepers. For a two week period in the autumn, questionnaires are sent to 
third sector and voluntary organisations in the borough known to engage with rough 
sleepers, to establish how many individuals they are engaging with and where they 
are bedding down for the night. This information subsequently informs a mandatory 
(snap shot) one night physical rough sleeper count in November each year. Places 
identified, through intelligence, are visited and rough sleepers engaged with and 
encouraged to access support services.

Page 274



Figure 6: Merthyr Tydfil Rough Sleeper Count Outcomes

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Estimated

Actual

NB: The estimated figures are the numbers provided in completed questionnaires.

6.12 There is a clear rise in the number of rough sleepers found on the one night count in 
the borough. This trend is a national phenomenon, with cities experiencing far 
greater increases in rough sleeping than Merthyr Tydfil. Some local volunteer 
organisations suggest the one night count approach, significantly underestimates the 
true numbers of regular rough sleepers. This may be due to the fact that the local 
rough sleeping population fluctuates throughout the year and is dependent on a wide 
range of factors such as: 

 Weather
 The ability to stay with friends
 Prison sentences

Page 275



6.13 Reliance on Temporary Accommodation - Our bed & breakfast use is increasing 
over time. Since the introduction of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 our use of B&B is 
steadily increasing.

Figure 7 – Increasing Use of B&B Accommodation

The average length of stay in 2018/17 was 16 nights. However there are several 
placements made for shorter lengths of time.

Figure 6: Length of stay for all B&B placements 2017/18

Page 276



6.14 As a Local Authority we do not just use B&B as interim/temporary accommodation. 
We also use the following types of accommodation:

 Private Sector Leasing – 11 properties
 Refuge Accommodation – for domestic abuse survivors
 Hostels x2 – total of 20 beds
 Flooks and Garth Newydd Court – for young people
 ‘Tester’ flats – offered by Merthyr Valleys Homes

6.15 Accurate figures are not available for the number of households placed in this 
accommodation in a financial year due to previous IT constraints which only allow us 
to report on the number of placements on a specific day. However, going forward 
with the introduction of a new IT system CIVICA, we will be able to report on this 
annually from 2018/19.

7.0 FUTURE LEVELS OF HOMELESSNESS

7.1 This review has established the factors that are likely to impact on the prevalence of 
homeless in Merthyr Tydfil going forward. However, many of these factors are socio-
economic factors that are outside of the direct control of the local authority. The 
factors outlined below have also been considered in the drafting of the objectives 
and actions:

 High level of demand for social housing particularly general need single 
person accommodation. A sufficient supply of this accommodation is essential 
for us to meet our homelessness duties. 

 The current shortage of single person accommodation is highly likely to result 
in an increase of presentations from single people who are unable to resolve 
their own housing need due to a lack of affordable suitable accommodation 
for this household type.

 Increasing numbers of people with complex unmet support needs. These are 
mental health, substance misuse and individuals with offending histories. 

 The continuing effects of welfare reform - Merthyr Tydfil as a whole will be 
disproportionately affected by the ongoing reforms. This is going to continue 
to affect affordability of accommodation and the ability of households in 
receipt of benefits to continue to meet their housing costs especially in the 
private sector.

 Ongoing public finding cuts against a background of increasing demand. 

Page 277



 An ageing population which will require suitable housing and appropriate 
support to secure long-term appropriate accommodation for this age group

 Changes to legislation and a possible expansion of the priority need 
categories as recommended by several recently published evaluation reports. 
This would increase the pressures on temporary accommodation.

8.0 KEY OBJECTIVES

8.1 The homelessness strategy outlines the following objectives:-

Improve early intervention and prevention: Too many people are presenting to 
the Local Authority at crisis point and are already homeless. We need to improve the 
awareness of housing related services offered by the Local Authority. There needs to 
be an improvement in signposting of clients to the most appropriate services 
available to them. There is a need for an online directory of services to ensure all 
agencies that may come in contact with an individual who is at risk of homelessness 
re able to signpost effectively to prevent homelessness occurring. Commissioning of 
services need to be relevant in offer to address the main triggers for homelessness 
namely relationship breakdowns. A universal mediation service could provide swift 
and effective intervention to support families to find solutions to their domestic 
issues. Application of a flexible person-centred housing and support approach to 
service delivery which seeks to ensure effective information and advice is available 
at every stage to maximise the positive outcomes for those who may face 
homelessness

Increase the supply of appropriate accommodation: The local housing market 
presents some clear challenges for people reliant on benefits, to access the private 
rented sector locally. In addition to this the rate of homelessness and the needs of 
such clients would suggest the local authority needs to consider increasing the 
supply of certain types of accommodation whilst also considering whether to 
reconfigure the way some supported housing projects operate. 

Ensure appropriate support is available: It is vital that a person or household who 
become homeless has the right support to ensure they sustain any future 
accommodation. Personal Housing Plans should identify both short term and long 
term support needs. We will commission and work in partnership with organisations 
that provide practical help to maintain tenancies, such as budgeting advice, 
furnishing assistance, signposting and advocacy for other services. In addition we 
will ensure that homelessness assessments are undertaken in psychologically 
informed environments to assist in capturing the support needs of clients. Work will 
be undertaken to develop and strengthen in partnership with other organisations 
clear accommodation pathways for different client groups such as those leaving 
prison, hospital or care leavers. This will include appropriate accommodation and 
support. We will continue to procure support services collaboratively ensuring that 
the views and data of other departments or agencies informs future commissioning 
decisions. 

Page 278



Rough Sleeping: The local authority is committed to supporting current rough 
sleepers by preventing its occurrence in the first place, wherever possible and by 
supporting current rough sleepers to reintegrate into society and public services to 
fulfil their aspirations and become values members of the community again. We will 
support the early referral of new rough sleepers via Streetlink by promoting its 
existence through the local authorities multiple communications channels and ensure 
there are appropriate services available for clients with complex needs. A positive 
outreach service and case management approach will be commissioned to help 
each individual rough sleeper. We will support rough sleepers to reconnect with 
family and other positive influences. Housing First is being launched to 
accommodate acute rough sleepers. The Housing First project will be kept under 
review and options to broaden its implementation will also be looked at. 

Maintain and develop partnership working and strategic direction: The 
successful delivery of the homelessness strategy is dependent on co-operation and 
joint working with internal departments, statutory bodies, voluntary sector agencies, 
faith and community groups. In order to co-ordinate our efforts wit will continue to 
provide strategic leadership via the Strategic Housing Partnership. We will also 
establish a homelessness Sub Group specifically tasked with implementing the 
actions contained in the strategy. This sub-group will include volunteers and faith 
based groups. It will report to the Strategic Housing Partnership. We will work 
collaboratively to ensure housing advice and assistance provided to clients is 
consistent and accessible; along with access to suitable support. 

9.0 ENSURING WE DELIVER

9.1 The Strategic Housing Partnership will be ultimately responsible for reviewing 
progress against the actions contained within the Homelessness Strategy and 
ensuring it remains relevant and responsive to emerging needs.

 
9.2 The implementation of the strategy and all associated actions and activity will be 

overseen by the Homelessness Sub Group

9.3 The local authority will publish an annual report on the local authority’s website each 
year.

Page 279



Figure 7: Strategic Housing Partnership Structure

Strategic 
Housing 

Partnership

Housing Needs 
Sub -Group

Homelessness 
Action Sub-

Group

Adaptions Sub-
Group

10.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The more individuals present at crisis point i.e. actually homeless the higher the cost 
providing temporary accommodation. This cost is increasing year on year. By 
approving the strategy to enable its implementation it provides a strategic approach 
to reducing the numbers of individuals and households that become homeless 
reducing the cost of providing emergency accommodation. 

10.2 The strategy also sets out an objective to explore and eventually provide more cost 
effective emergency and supported accommodation to make more prudent use of 
the budget needed to assist individuals and households who are homeless or 
threatened with homelessness.

11.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

Page 280



 Involvement

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 1 of 10 0 of 10 9 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are the reduction of homelessness and increased prevention 
work to further reduce homelessness and its impact on the wider community

There are no negative impacts using the criteria set out in the document

ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR REGENERATION 
AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Homelessness Strategy 
2019- 2023

Dec 2018

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



LOGO

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Homelessness Strategy 2019-2023

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Homelessness Strategy 
2019-2023

D R A F T

Page 283



Page 284



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Contents
Section  Content Page

1 Foreword 2
2 Overview 2
3 Purpose of this Strategy 3
4 Aims of this Strategy 4
5 Objectives of this Strategy 4
6 Key Principles 4
7 Key definitions, local & national context (See Appendices) 5
8 An overview of the statutory homelessness process 5
9 Key achievements to date 6
10 Homelessness in Merthyr Tydfil – Homelessness Review 2018:    7
11 Summary of key findings 20
12 Future levels of homelessness 21
13 Our collective response 21
14 Making sure we deliver 27
15 References 28

Appendix Content Page
1 Definition of Homelessness 29
2 Definition of rough sleeping 31
3 Housing (Wales) Act 2014 32
4 How services are currently delivered 33
5 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2014 38
6 Other Plans 39

Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023
1

Page 285



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

1. Foreword

I am delighted to endorse the aims and objectives set out in this document. Those working to 
prevent homelessness within Merthyr Tydfil have shown real commitment to the work they do in 
both their daily tasks and in exceptional circumstances, such as in response to extreme weather. 
The continued focus on the prevention of homelessness is imperative. In 2017/18, 147 households 
were helped to either remain in their current home or move to alternative accommodation rather 
than becoming homeless and going into temporary accommodation. 

This strategy for 2018-23 will build upon this success. By working together with key partners to 
provide advice, support and help, we aim to prevent homelessness whenever we can. We have 
recognised the local and national issues affecting homelessness in Merthyr Tydfil and identified 
actions to tackle these issues, by working in more flexible ways and looking at how we ensure 
people are provided with the opportunity of a home and the skills to retain it and flourish within it.

In collecting information for the homelessness review and to inform this strategy, consultation was 
undertaken with service users, partner agencies and the wider public. This consultation involved 
an online questionnaire, face to face meetings, workshops and focus groups, to ensure all views 
were captured and considered.

Cllr Geraint Thomas – Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Public Protection

2. Overview

Homelessness of all kinds has increased nationally in the last decade. The rate of increase of 
homelessness has accelerated from 2010 onwards, with the advent of Welfare Reform which is 
set to take over £1 billion out of the pockets of low income households in Wales by 2020-21 
(Fitzpatrick et al, 2017). There has been a rise in rough sleeping across Wales, estimated to be 
between a 16% and 30% increase since 2015, depending on the locality (Fitzpatrick et al 2017). 
Future projections suggest these rises are set to continue, presenting significant challenges for 
local authorities such as Merthyr Tydfil. 

People, as part of everyday life, face experiences or triggers that could lead to homelessness, such 
as a relationship breakdown, financial crisis or the end of a tenancy. In most cases individuals 
cope and find suitable accommodation using their own resources. 

For others it is these life events that tip them into homelessness, either because they lack the 
resources to tackle their immediate challenges - for example, enough money for a deposit or 

2
Page 286



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

because they may suffer underlying problems such as an addiction or a mental health problem, 
which makes it harder for them to deal with their situation. 

Preventing homelessness is more cost effective than dealing with its consequences (DCLG, 2012) 
and it delivers better outcomes for those concerned. 

Using powers and responsibilities set out in the Housing Act (Wales) 2014 the Council will make 
prevention and early intervention the backbone of its approach. However there are challenges, full 
and effective implementation of the Act will depend in part on sufficient resources being available. 
In addition there are fundamental issues that relate to the growing structural difficulties we may 
face in securing more affordable housing and improving people’s access to it.

Throughout this document the term ‘household’ is used. It is important to note that this term 
covers all client types, including single people. 

3. Purpose of the strategy

The main purpose of this homelessness strategy is to provide a framework for the delivery and 
development of homelessness services in Merthyr Tydfil for the next four years. It has been 
developed in a context of reducing financial resources and increasing demand for services. Despite 
the challenging environment, the Council and its partners remain committed to improving its 
collective response to preventing homelessness and when a household becomes homeless, 
to provide them with the necessary help and support to help them secure suitable alternative 
accommodation.

This strategy aims to ensure that effective, efficient and timely services and support are in place 
for those households who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. It is also the intention 
of this strategy, to inform our stakeholders and citizens about the current picture of homelessness 
in Merthyr Tydfil, providing a baseline for future evaluation of progress made in meeting the aims 
and objectives set out in this strategy.  

The development of this strategy was in response to the findings of the 2018 Homelessness Review. 
This initial and comprehensive piece of work reviewed all relevant and available information 
relating to homelessness locally, to provide a comprehensive picture of homelessness in Merthyr 
Tydfil. The review also highlighted gaps in current provision which are highlighted within this 
strategy. Part of the review process involved consultation with stakeholders and service users. This 
work was undertaken to ensure that this strategy takes into account the needs and aspirations of 
those involved with and experiencing homelessness in Merthyr Tydfil. 

3
Page 287



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Please note the 2018 Homelessness Review is a separate document available on request from the 
Housing Solutions Team. 

4.  Aims of the Strategy

The aims of this Homeless Strategy, refer to the intention or desired outcome, as a result of its 
implementation, and are to:

• Reduce the number of households at risk of homelessness
• Reduce the number of households who become homeless
• Reduce rough sleeping

5. Objectives of the Strategy 

The objectives of this Homelessness Strategy outline the measures which must be taken to  
achieve the aims (outlined above), these are:
• Increase awareness of homelessness services and support available
• Improve prevention and early intervention activity to prevent homelessness
• Ensure there is appropriate accommodation available for people who are homeless or at risk 

of homelessness
• Ensure there is appropriate support available for people who are homeless or at risk of 

homelessness
• Maintain and develop partnership working and strategic direction

All of these issues are expanded upon in Section 13 of this Strategy.

6. Key Principles

In order for Merthyr Tydfil to successfully deliver its aims and objectives this strategy will:
• Safeguard people from harm
• Ensure equality of access to services
• Promote social inclusion and community cohesion
• Maximise the available resources to tackle homelessness
• Encourage and promote local partnership and regional working as appropriate to make the 

best use of resources

4
Page 288



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

7.	 Key	definitions,	Local	&	National	Context

All can be found in the Appendices of this document.

8. An Overview of the Statutory Homelessness Process

Homelessness is a very complicated issue, which is reflected in the legislation and guidance drafted 
to address it. This section of the strategy will provide a brief and high level overview of some of the 
key features of the statutory homelessness procedures in Wales.

Anyone is entitled to free housing advice and assistance from any local authority in Wales. Anyone 
who is at risk of becoming homeless is entitled to a homelessness assessment, which seeks to 
establish the household’s current housing issues and circumstances. If the household is likely to 
become homeless within the next 56 days, the local authority may formally open a ‘prevention 
case’ for the household and work with them to try to prevent the household becoming homeless.

If this prevention activity is unsuccessful, the household may become homeless. At this time the 
local authority must determine if it has a duty to provide temporary accommodation for the 
client(s). If there is reason to believe a member of the household is in a ‘priority need’ category, the 
local authority should provide temporary accommodation. Where there is no ‘reason to believe’, 
the local authority is not required by law to provide temporary accommodation, but will continue 
work with the household (for up to 56 days) to resolve their homelessness situation.

To be considered to be in a ‘priority need’ category, someone within the household must have a 
particular vulnerability e.g. very poor health. The full list of priority need categories can be found 
in the Housing (Wales) Act 2014.

The local authority is required to work with homeless households for a period of 56 days, during 
which time the clients and the local authority must make every effort to find a suitable solution to 
address the household’s housing (and other) issues.

Where a suitable solution is found, for example a person applies for property with a local housing 
association and receives an offer for it, the case is closed. Where a suitable solution is not found 
during the 56 day period, the local authority must decide if the household is:

i. In a priority need category; and 
ii. Unintentionally homeless

This two stage test determines whether the local authority has a duty to secure a home for the 
household; or where the household fails one of these two tests – the local authority ends it duty to 
the household and closes the case, even though they are still homeless.

5
Page 289



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Where a household presents again, sometime in the future, their current circumstances will be 
looked at to see if there has been a significant change in their circumstances. Only if there is a 
significant change will a new assessment be taken. Details on how this change is determined can 
be found in the Housing (Wales) Act 2014.

9. Key Achievements to date

In response to the increasing prevalence of homelessness locally and the advent of the Housing 
(Wales) Act 2014 which changed the statutory homelessness approach and procedures, the local 
authority and its partners have made a number of improvements to key services which impact on 
homelessness. Below are some of the changes made to date and some key achievements:

• We currently prevent homelessness for 63% of families. We also rehouse 73% of families 
that present as actually homeless. The majority of families present at a prevention stage.

• A shift in emphasis towards preventing homelessness (work ongoing)
• Co-location of the Supporting People Team with the Housing Solutions Team to improve joint 

working and to provide greater focus on homelessness related services.
• More collaborative procurement and service commissioning practices, involving a range of 

interested parties in the drafting of service specifications for example
• Establishment of the Homelessness Prevention Fund
• Shift in service approach from traditional ‘gate-keeper’, often restricting access to services, 

towards operating in a psychologically informed environment (PIE), where officers look 
beyond the obvious, focussing more on the root cause of certain behaviours, with a view to 
being able to refer clients to appropriate support services

• This shift in approach is evidenced in the following statistics:
- Very low number of intentionally homeless outcomes (just 2 in 2017/18)
- Low numbers of households not co-operating with the case officer (39 in 2017/18 equating 

to only 7% of all outcomes)
• Development of a service level agreement between Housing and Children’s (Social) Services, 

outlining how they will conduct joint assessments of 16-17 year olds who present as homeless. 
This approach ensures the housing, care and support needs of the young person are captured 
effectively and inform the solutions

• Development of an Accommodation Pathway seeks to improve client outcomes by making 
the best corporate use of the assets and services at the disposal of the local authority. The 
Pathway is also a critical development in improving and increasing, move-on accommodation 
options for clients.

• Created a Tenant Ready training course to equip clients experiencing homelessness with the 
skills, confidence and expertise to help them better manage future accommodation 

• A Temporary Accommodation Officer was appointed in November 2017 to operate the 
Pathway effectively

6
Page 290



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

• Co-location of four external support agencies within the Civic Centre – namely:
- Llamau – family mediation service
- Gofal – mental health support
- Wallich – bond board scheme and private rented accommodation support
- Adref – streetsmart service, providing support for homeless clients
• Provision of two units of specially adapted temporary accommodation for households ready 

for hospital discharge but who require their home to be adapted to meet their needs, or are 
waiting for suitable, adapted social housing to become available

• A total of 11 (including the 2 adapted homes) private sector leasing properties are available 
for exclusive use of the local authority to accommodate homeless clients on a temporary 
basis

• Working with a range of local volunteers and faith groups, the local authority helps to 
establish a winter night shelter for the coldest winter months of each year. This ‘pop up’ 
facility provides shelter and hot food for up to 10 homeless clients each night.

• The local authority developed and successfully implemented a Cold Weather Plan in 2017, in 
response to legislative requirements and adverse weather during winter 2017.

• Working collaboratively, the local authority successfully prevents many households from 
becoming homeless by providing discretionary housing payments

• Established a Housing Needs Group to consider and balance the multiple pressures on the 
local authority to commission or provide specialist accommodation, whether it is for clients 
with complex needs, learning disabilities, physical disabilities etc… This Group is a sub-group 
of the Strategic Housing Partnership, which includes a wide range of partners determined to 
face and overcome the numerous challenges facing housing (and other) services

• The commissioning of significantly more services to address homelessness using supporting 
people funding.

10.	 Homelessness	in	Merthyr	Tydfil	-	Homelessness	Review	Key	
 Findings

 Introduction
 It is a requirement of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 that every local authority carries out a 

review of homelessness in their area. The review must inform the drafting of a homelessness 
strategy in order to achieve the following objectives:

• The prevention of homelessness
• Suitable accommodation is and will be available for people who are or may become 

homeless
• Satisfactory support is available for people who are or may become homeless

This section of the strategy document highlights some of the key findings from the ‘homelessness 
review’ which started at the end of 2017 and was completed in September 2018.

7
Page 291



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Throughout this section of the document, only key pieces of information are focussed upon, the 
full range of data and statistics can be found in the 2018 Homelessness Review document.

The Review Highlights are arranged under the following headings:
i. Demand
ii. Supply
iii. Affordability

(i)	 DEMAND

The number of assessments taken by Merthyr Tydfil Housing Solutions is increasing year on year 
with no indication that this is likely to change in the life-span of this strategy. In 2017/18 Merthyr 
Tydfil undertook 503 homeless assessments, up from 476 in 2016/17. 

Due to the change in homelessness legislation in April 2015, (Housing (Wales) Act 2014), 
comparison of homelessness assessment data before 2016 is not possible.

Figure 1: Service Demand

8
Page 292



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Homelessness Prevention 

The 2017-18 Stats Wales data release shows the number of households presenting to MTCBC, 
AT RISK of homelessness was 46.91 per 10,000 households. This is well below the Wales average 
of 67.6. This means that a higher percentage of clients are presenting at crisis point (i.e. already 
homeless) in Merthyr Tydfil than in many other areas.

It is obviously too late for the local authority to undertake any prevention activity with a household 
which turns up as already homeless.

For those who do approach the local authority before becoming homeless, our 2017/18 prevention 
rate was 53% (which is lower than our 2016/17 rate of 62%) and lower than the national average 
of 66%.

Figure 2: Prevention Statistics (MTCBC -v- Wales)

Households 
threatened with 
homelessness

Households with a 
successful 
outcome

Prevention Rate Welsh Prevention 
Rate

2016/17 102 63 62% 62%

2017/18 114 60 53% 66%

The top two reasons for presenting at risk of homelessness are: 
i. the loss of a rented property,
ii. Rent arrears in the private or socially rented sector. 

Loss of rented refers to the loss of a tenancy for any reason other than rent arrears.
The main household type for prevention cases in 2017/18 was single males closely followed by 
single females with dependent children. These were also the main household types in 2016/17.

Households with children typically approach the local authority for help earlier than single person 
households.   

Homeless	Cases
The 2017-18 Stats Wales data release reveals the number of households presenting to the local 
authority as homelessness was 98.35 per 10,000 households. This is above the Wales average of 
84. 

Our 2017/18 successful relief rate was 33%. This is lower that our 2016/17 rate of 36% and lower 
than the national average of 41%. 

9
Page 293



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Figure 3: Relief Statistics (MTCBC -v- Wales)

Homeless 
Households

Households with a 
successful 
outcome

MTCBC Relief Rate Welsh average 
Relief Rate

2016/17 210 76 36% 41%
2017/18 239 79 33% 41%

The top five reasons for a household becoming homeless in 2017/18 was:
i. Relationship breakdown (parental, relative or intimate) – 50%
ii. Leaving prison. – 18%
iii. Loss of Rented – 13%
iv. Domestic Abuse – 10%
v. Other – 9%
 
It is interesting to note that the reasons for being 
at risk of homelessness are different to the 
reasons for being actually homeless. 

Single person households account for only 27% 
of all households in Merthyr Tydfil (StatsWales 
2015) but account for a staggering 83% of all 
homeless cases in 2017-18. We can therefore 
conclude that single people in Merthyr Tydfil 
are at a far greater risk of becoming homeless. 
This is probably due to being reliant on only one 
income (usually welfare benefit(s) and the low 
numbers of affordable one bed accommodation 
available locally.

Duty to secure accommodation (s.75)

It is also important to note some households do not 
reach the end of the statutory homelessness process, 
as they may disengage, withdraw or not co-operate 
with some of the tasks required of them to alleviate their situation.

50%
of homeless cases 

are due to some 

form of 

relationship 

breakdown

83%
of homeless cases

are single

people

83%
of homeless cases

are aged

24-49 years

15%
of homeless cases 

(equivalent of 76 cases) 

pass through the 

statutory homeless

process but still

remain homeless 

at the end 

10
Page 294



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

It can be seen from the table below that the number of households owed a ‘duty to secure 
accommodation’ is increasing year on year i.e. the numbers of cases found to be in priority need 
(often due to a health complaint) and unintentionally homeless are increasing significantly.
 
Figure 4: Duty to Secure Accommodation Increasing

Rough	Sleepers
Rough Sleeping is the most acute and visible form of homelessness. The average life expectancy 
of a rough sleeper is 44 years, highlighting the extreme impact that rough sleeping has on 
individuals. Since 2015 the Welsh Government has required local authorities to conduct a count 
of rough sleepers in their area. For a two week period in the autumn, questionnaires are sent to 
third sector and voluntary organisations in the borough known to engage with rough sleepers, to 
establish how many individuals they are engaging with and where they are bedding down for the 
night. This information subsequently informs a mandatory (snap shot) one night physical rough 
sleeper count in November each year.

Figure 5: Merthyr Tydfil Rough Sleeper Count Figures

 

NB: The estimated figures are the numbers provided in completed questionnaires.

11
Page 295



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Between 2015 and 2017 there has been a rise in the number of rough sleepers found on the one 
night count in the borough. This trend is a national phenomenon, with cities experiencing greater 
increases in rough sleeping than Merthyr Tydfil. The local rough sleeping population fluctuates 
throughout the year, typically between 8 and 15 (2018) and is dependent on a wide range of 
factors such as: 
• Weather
• The ability to stay with friends
• Prison sentences

Prison	Leavers
Merthyr Tydfil is disproportionately affected by the numbers of citizens in prison and hence the 
numbers of prisoners at risk of homelessness upon release. 

Figure 6: Local authority of origin for current prisoners (June 2018 data).

 

Source: Wales Governance Centre (2018)

12
Page 296



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Figure 7: Prison population per capita (June 2018)

 
The above shows that Merthyr Tydfil has 5.6 times more people in prison in June 2018 than 
Blaenau Gwent, a neighbouring local authority with very similar demographics to Merthyr Tydfil. 

Some prison leavers will apply for housing assistance within 56 days of their release. This allows 
officers to undertake prevention activity with the client (a s.66 duty is accepted) in order to try 
and prevent them from being homeless upon release. The proportion of these assessments is 
increasing on an annual basis for the majority of local authorities. In Merthyr Tydfil the numbers 
of assessments for prisoners has quadrupled in recent years.

When there is not sufficient notification of a release or 
homelessness cannot be prevented a s.73 relief duty is 
accepted. Merthyr Tydfil has the third highest proportion 
in Wales of assessments as a result of an individual leaving 
custody.

(ii)	SUPPLY	
The most significant change to housing tenure in Merthyr Tydfil in recent years was the transfer 
of Council owned properties to a newly formed housing association - Merthyr Valleys Homes in 
2009. There was also a 100% increase in households renting privately between 2001 and 2011. 
The current private rented sector market is estimated to be around 14% of total stock in 2018. 
Owner occupation remains the most common tenure in Merthyr Tydfil.

15%
of all assessments

undertaken 

in 2017-18 were

offenders

13
Page 297



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Figure 8: Merthyr Tydfil Housing Tenures
 

The Local Housing Market Assessment 2016 highlighted the following features which impact on 
demand for housing within Merthyr Tydfil.

• Population and household changes: The population in Merthyr Tydfil increased by 2600 to 
58,800 between the 2001 and 2011 census a 5% increase (ONS 2012). In the same time 
period the number of households increased by 1100. The average household size is 2.42. 

• Age	Profile: There is a higher proportion of young adults 15-34 in Merthyr Tydfil than Wales 
as a whole. This is likely to have an impact on the demand for smaller social housing, as single 
person accommodation for unemployed young people in other tenures is unaffordable.  The 
proportion of older people is the same as Wales as a whole.  (Stats Wales 2018)

Affordability issues and the inadequate supply of one bed homes in the private rented sector are 
thought to be increasing the pressures on social housing demand. 
 

36%
of all applicants on the 

common housing

register require a 

ONE BEDROOM

property

401
people

14
Page 298



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Availability of One Bedroom accommodation

In April 2018 the local authority launched its new housing website (www.livingmerthyrtydfil.org.
uk) and simultaneously introduced a new common housing allocations policy and register. Since 
this time we are now able to more accurately monitor demand for social housing and able to 
draw data from the new software system to better understand the housing needs of the local 
population.

As of 1st October 2018 the Common Housing Register has the following number of single people 
registered in the respective Bands, based on priority of need (this is just those looking for general 
purpose accommodation, (excluding sheldered housing)

Figure 9: Common Housing Register Data (October 20180

Band Number of single people registered (Oct 2018)
Band 1 – High Priority 28
Band 2 – Medium/Moderate Priority 96
Band 3 – Low Priority 258
No Priority 19

When you consider there are around 401 single people on the common housing register; and only 
46 or so one bed properties become available for let (social housing only) per year, the problem 
with the local housing market is stark.

It is also important to note that with such a low number of one bed homes becoming available 
each year, the vast majority will be allocated to persons in Band 1 – High priority. This banding 
is typically awarded to homeless persons. Having outlined previously the high numbers of adult 
children still living at home in Merthyr Tydfil, who will be awarded Band 3 status (as their current 

44
ONE BEDROOM social

housing properties

per year become 

available

520
total number of 

ONE BEDROOM social

housing stock

(exc. sheltered 

schemes)

15
Page 299



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

accommodation is adequate), such persons with aspirations to move out of the family home are 
in an almost impossible situation, unless the person is employed and able to access the private 
rented market or home ownership market.
 
Temporary Accommodation

The provision of temporary accommodation is an essential part of a Council’s response to 
homelessness. It is typically used where an officer has reason to believe the client is homelessness 
and in priority need. Whilst clients are in temporary accommodation officers will carry out necessary 
enquiries into the circumstances of the case.

As a local authority we use the following types of accommodation as temporary accommodation:

• Private Sector Leasing
• Refuge Accommodation
• Hostels
• Flats owned by a registered social landlord/housing association 
• Supported housing schemes
• Bed and Breakfast accommodation

Since the introduction of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 our use of B&B is steadily increasing.

Figure 10: Bed & Breakfast use for temporary accommodation in Merthyr Tydfil
  

The average length of stay in 2017-18 was 16 nights. However there are several placements made 
for shorter lengths of time, the most frequent being stays of just one or two nights.

16
Page 300



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

As the use of B&B increases so does the annual cost of this provision. Our expenditure on bed and 
breakfast accommodation has doubled within three years.
 

Figure 11: Length of stay for all B&B placements 2017/18
 

Our private sector leasing project, delivered by Calon Leasing offers a more appropriate and cost 
effective, temporary accommodation offering for clients. 
 

£80k
estimated expenditure

on B&B for 2018-19

17
Page 301



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Between 2015 and August 2018, the following outcomes have been achieved:

We currently have 11 properties in the project, and are keen to increase this number further.

(iii)	AFFORDABILITY

The private rented sector in Merthyr Tydfil is unaffordable for many households reliant on Housing 
Benefit or Universal Credit to pay the rent as the local housing allowance (LHA) for Merthyr Tydfil is 
very low. LHA is the amount that the welfare benefit system will pay towards housing costs (rent). 
Please note LHA does not apply to social housing – where the reasonable rent is covered by welfare 
benefits.

Figure 12: Disparity between LHA rate and private rents locally
 

 

 

606
weeks of temporary

accommodation

provided

44
households

accommodated

101
days average 

stay

18
Page 302



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

The table below highlights the sums of money households have remaining after covering their 
housing costs (rent only), to live on. The weekly income after housing costs – is the money 
remaining, after topping up their LHA to cover the rent due, and is all the money remaining to 
fund household bills, food, clothing, travel and other essential living costs.

Property Type Monthly Income after housing 
costs

Weekly Income after housing 
costs

One Bed under 35 £117 £27
One Bed over 35 £235 £54
Two Bed £568 £131
Three Bed £767 £177

These figures clearly show the unaffordability of the private rented sector for single people. 

 

Welfare	Reform: A 2016 report by Sheffield Hallam University found that by 2020/21 the average 
annual loss of income for a working age Adult in Merthyr Tydfil would be £470 (Beatty et al 2016: 
19). This equates to the 17th largest loss of income for the UK as a whole. The level of impact of 
Welfare Reform in Merthyr Tydfil has been attributed to the fact that nearly 25% of the population 
aged 16-64 claim working age benefits (Welsh Government 2014). 

Universal	Credit: This information is accurate as of October 2018, but is likely to change depending 
on the political will of the Westminster Government over the coming years.

Live Service started in Merthyr Tydfil in September 2015, this was small scale with single households 

£27
per week - is all the 

money a single person 

under 35 would have 

after topping up their 

LHA to pay rent in the 

private rented 

sector.

£48
LHA rate for single 

person under 35 

in Merthyr Tydfil

£70
indicative rent 

charged for a one 

bed home in the 

private rented 

sector 

19
Page 303



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

initally.  Full service started on 27th June 2018 which is a much larger scale change as it includes 
single, couples and households with children as well as those households with health/disability 
issues.  Customers who were previously on live service have now all been transferred on to Full 
Service.  As of October 2018 there are 1900 customers on Universal Credit full Service.

Customers are continuing to migrate from legacy benefits to Universal Credit, this is called natural 
migration, where they have had a change in circumstances that would end their entitlement to 
legacy benefits.  Managed Migration - where other benefit claimants are transferred to UC will be 
completed by 2023.

At the start of September 2018 there were 6400 customers in Merthyr who claimed a combination 
of Jobseekers Allowance, Employment and Support Allowance and Income Support, all of whom  
will need to migrate onto Universal Credit.  The numbers of customers claiming Child Tax Credit 
and Working Tax Credit are not known locally as these claims are currently dealt with by HMRC, 
these will be migrating to UC over the coming years.

Housing Element of Universal Credit - the welfare reforms that began in 2013 such as Social 
Sector Size Criteria, Benefit Cap and LHA restrictions to under 35 year olds will continue to apply 
to Universal Credit claimants.

Discretionary Housing Payments can be requested for Universal Credit customers, providing that 
they have an entitlement to the Housing Element.

11.	 Summary	of	key	findings	from	the	Homelessness	Review

• Merthyr Tydfil has a higher proportion of young adults aged 15-34 than Wales as a whole.
• Merthyr Tydfil has the second highest percentage rate of households with non-dependent 

children at 14.2% of total households. The highest rate is 14.3% (Census 2011). 
• There is a shortage of affordable one bed homes available locally within the private rented 

sector.
• With the shared room rate of local housing allowance applying to single persons under 35; at 

a rate of £48 per week, the private rented sector is unaffordable for persons under 35 reliant 
on benefits to pay rent.

• The number of private sector landlords willing to accept tenants in receipt of benefits has 
decreased in recent years

• There is a shortage of one bed homes in the social housing sector. There are only c.520 one 
bed, general needs, homes (as at 2018) out of a total social housing stock of  5721

•  Welfare reform, and particularly those reforms which came into force since 2015, have a 
disproportionately negative effect on the income of citizens in Merthyr Tydfil. 

• The prevalence of homelessness and those at risk of homelessness continues to increase. 
Merthyr Tydfil saw a  13% increase in homelessness presentations in 2017-18 compared to 
2016-17

20
Page 304



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

• A greater number of households are presenting to the local authority as already homeless, 
compared to the national average, as consequence there is no opportunity with this cohort 
to undertake vital prevention activity

• Fewer households, compared to the national average, are accessing advice and support to 
prevent them becoming homeless

• The success rates of the local authority’s prevention activity and relief activity is influenced 
by the local housing market profile, a low LHA rate and late engagement with services by 
those at risk of homelessness

• The main reasons for a household becoming homeless in Merthyr Tydfil are: parents asking 
children (typically adults) to leave; non-violent relationship breakdown and leaving prison.

• The main reasons for a household being at risk of homelessness in Merthyr Tydfil are: loss of 
a rented property, or rent arrears in the private or social rented sector. 

• The prevalence of rough sleeping is increasing locally, with the local rough sleeping population 
estimated to be between 8 and 15 persons.

• Merthyr Tydfil has a higher than average number of citizens in prison, some prisoners are 
at risk of homelessness upon release, which increases local pressures on services and single 
person accommodation

• Since 2015 the costs associated with the provision of temporary accommodation, and  
particularly bed and breakfast accommodation are increasing year on year, and directly 
correlate with increasing numbers of homelessness presentations

12.	 Future	Levels	of	homelessness

Outlined below are some of the likely challenges in respect of homelessness over the next four 
years (during the life of this strategy): 

• High level demand for single person accommodation is likely to continue and will continue to 
outstrip supply

• Welfare Reform will continue to reduce the money that low income households have available 
to pay rent and living expenses

• Inflation and hence the cost of living will continue to increase
• The numbers of people with complex unmet support needs will continue to increase 
• Austerity will continue for the foreseeable future, resulting in many public and private bodies 

having to reduce their expenditure on key services 
• People will continue to live longer and hence the requirement of suitable housing and 

appropriate support for an aging population must be considered
• Proposed changes to legislation, including changes in the implementation of intentionality 

for households with dependent children, and the possible widening of the priority need 
categories, will increase service pressures on the local authority 

• The effects of Brexit are unknown, but due to the scale of this change, there will be inevitable 
socio-economic effects on communities across the UK

21
Page 305



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

13.	 Our	Collective	Response

The Homelessness Review has established the factors that impact on homeless in Merthyr Tydfil. 
Many of these factors are socio-economic or structural issues that the local authority has limited 
influence over. The Review (and the highlights within this document) has shown that household 
poverty is a significant contributory factor, usually fuelled by welfare reform, in the increasing 
prevalence of homelessness locally and nationally. And like poverty, homelessness cannot be 
effectively addressed by any one agency or organisation. A concerted effort by a range of partners 
from all sectors is required, in order to make the maximum positive impact on tackling this societal 
issue.

The fundamental aim of this strategy is very simple, to reduce the prevalence of homelessness 
and the risk of homelessness in Merthyr Tydfil, which can have devastating effects on individuals, 
families and communities. In order to achieve this aim, it is important to identify the key objectives, 
which if implemented, are likely to have greatest impact. Under each objective will be a range of 
potential actions and measures that can be taken. Some of which are relatively easy to implement, 
others must address long standing structural issues. 

Objective	1:	 	Improve	early	intervention	and	prevention

From the data analysed and the experiences of staff and volunteers working with homeless 
households too many people are presenting to the local authority at crisis point and are already 
homeless. Therefore activity is required to:

• Improve the awareness  of housing related services offered by the local authority – including 
impartial housing advice, access to funding to prevent homelessness such as discretionary 
housing payments and prevention fund payments; along with access to a range of support 
services commissioned by the Supporting People Team

• Promote services available through multiple channels including social media both internally 
and externally of the local authority

• Deliver services accessible to all (including those who won’t enter public buildings) 
• Improve signposting of clients to the most appropriate services available to help them 

address their needs for example: mental and physical health, debt, substance misuse, strained 
relationships etc…

• Develop an on-line directory of services to ensure all agencies that may come into contact 
with an individual who is at risk of homelessness are able to signpost effectively to prevent 
homelessness occurring

• Support access to financial advice, skills, training and employment services and opportunities, 
to help mitigate the impacts of continuing welfare reform and Universal Credit full service

• Shift more of the available resources towards prevention and from dealing with the effects 
of homelessness, which are far more costly in real terms

22
Page 306



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

• Commission relevant services which address the main triggers for homelessness: namely 
relationship breakdown. Universal access to a family mediation service could provide swift 
and effective intervention to support families to find solutions to their domestic issues (where 
safe and appropriate)

• Work with private sector landlords to advise them of the help and assistance available to them 
in relation to managing their tenancies lawfully. Work is also required to advise landlords 
that we can help tenants set up repayment plans to pay off rent arrears over time and even 
assist with some of our own funds where appropriate

• Develop an early intervention and training programme for agencies to ensure a consistency 
in advice and referral routes.

• Review our protocols with housing associations to ensure referrals are made at an earlier 
stage for those at risk of eviction. 

• Apply a flexible, person-centred housing and support approach to service delivery, which 
seeks to ensure effective information and advice is available at every stage to maximise the 
positive outcomes for those who are or may face homelessness.

Objective	2:	 Increase	 the	 supply	 of	 appropriate	 accommodation	 (for	 people	 who	 are	
homeless,	or	at	risk	of	homelessness,	and	the	general	population)

The local housing market presents some clear challenges for people reliant on benefits, to access 
the private rented sector locally. This issue is most acute for persons under the age of 35, due to 
the low local housing allowance rate afforded to this client group. 

There is a gap between the supply of one bed accommodation and the high demand for it.

In addition to the local housing market, the rate of homelessness and the needs of such clients 
would suggest the local authority needs to consider increasing the supply of certain types of 
accommodation, whilst also considering whether to reconfigure the way some supported housing 
projects operate. The following actions may be appropriate to address these issues:

Private Rented Accommodation:
• Increase access to private rented sector accommodation for our clients
• Introduce an incentive scheme to encourage more local landlords to work with the local 

authority and accept some of our homeless clients as tenants.

Increase the supply of general affordable housing:
• Continue to work with housing providers and developers to explore all potential schemes for 

additional social housing provision and/or specialist accommodation provision 
• Produce a new housing strategy to set out the strategic aims of new supply
• Explore opportunities to develop existing public sector or housing association owned land for 

new build affordable housing. Consider innovative delivery approaches where appropriate

23
Page 307



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

• Work with planning colleagues to ensure that the affordable housing provision is secured on 
new developments and to maximise the use of s106 payments for new supply

• Continue to enforce the requirement of significant numbers of one bedroom units on all 
affordable housing schemes, where the local authority provides grant. Consider increasing 
the minimum one bed unit requirement 

Specialist accommodation
• Reaffirm the local authority’s commitment not to place any young person (aged 16 or 17) or 

any family in bed and breakfast accommodation, except in an emergency and when all other 
options have been explored and discounted

• Consider reconfiguration of the existing two homeless hostels – to ensure they meet the 
needs of clients,  which are increasingly presenting with complex and high level needs.  This 
includes consideration of 2 ‘wet hostel’ (or similar) provision for persons addicted to drugs 
and/or alcohol.

• Consider and deliver viable alternative forms of temporary accommodation to bed and 
breakfast

• Continue to increase the number of private sector leasing properties available to the local 
authority 

• Consider innovative ways of blending funding sources to deliver new specialist accommodation 
schemes (with or without support services for clients)

• Explore the potential for conversion of long term vacant properties for use as temporary or 
settled accommodation 

• Establish a Housing Needs Group, with representatives from a range of agencies, to consider 
and propose the number and type of specialist accommodation required locally to meet 
need. Specialist accommodation could include accommodation which must be designed 
with a particular client group in mind, for example: young people (possibly leaving care), 
people with physical disabilities, mental health issues, learning disabilities etc…

• Develop a comprehensive plan (over the next 12 months), ensuring sufficient Tier 1 (24/7 or 
hostel accommodation) and Tier 2 (supported housing, including long term accommodation 
for those unable to live independently) is available locally.

Objective	3:	 Ensure	appropriate	support	is	available

It is vital that a person or household who become homeless has the right support to ensure they 
sustain any future accommodation. Personal Housing Plans (required under Housing (Wales) Act 
2014) should identify both short term and long term support needs.

We will commission and work in partnership with organizations that provide practical help to 
maintain tenancies, such as budgeting advice, furnishing assistance, signposting and advocacy 
for other services.

24
Page 308



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

The co-location of the Supporting People Team with the Housing Solutions Team in November 2017, 
puts the local authority is an favourable position to ensure that support services are commissioned 
based upon robust data and evidence, and which reflect current demand and emerging trends. 
The following actions will assist the local authority in meeting this objective:

• Ensure homelessness assessments are undertaken in psychologically informed environments 
to assist in capturing all support needs of clients

• Ensure client’s Personal Housing Plan, clearly outlines what each party should do, to address 
the persons housing AND support issues

• Housing Solutions Officers will continue to engage with drug and alcohol treatment agencies 
and interaction with the criminal justice system will remain critical points for identifying and 
helping those at risk of homelessness

• To continue to develop and strengthen, in partnership, clear accommodation pathways for 
different client groups such as those leaving prison, hospital, care leavers or social care; that 
includes appropriate accommodation and support 

• Consider new approaches for dealing with clients with complex needs such as establishing a 
Mental Health Tracking Panel (or similar)

• Continue to work with partner issues to tackle the health inequalities faced by homelessness 
people, including supporting them to register with GPs, dental practices and smoking cessation 
programmes

• Continue to procure support services collaboratively, ensuring that the views and data of 
other departments or agencies, informs future commissioning decisions

• Ensure support services are considered as part of the Housing Needs Group 
• Introduce a training programme available to volunteers and those working with people that 

are homeless. 

Objective	4:		 Rough	Sleeping

In February 2018, the Welsh Government produced its first national Rough Sleeping Action Plan, 
recognising the increasing prevalence of this issue in recent years whilst also prioritising actions 
to reverse this trend. The trend of increasing prevalence of rough sleeping is relevant to Merthyr 
Tydfil. The local authority is committed to supporting rough sleepers by preventing its occurrence 
in the first place, wherever possible and by supporting current rough sleepers to reintegrate 
into society and public services, to fulfil their aspirations and become valued members of the 
community again. The sub headings below are taken from the national action plan, the proposed 
actions are specific to Merthyr Tydfil:

Prevention:
• Support the early referral of new rough sleepers to services via Streetlink, by promoting it’s 

existence through the local authorities multiple communication channels
• Continue to use psychologically informed environments to better understand how adverse 

childhood experiences (ACEs) are contributory factors to how someone ends up sleeping 
rough

25
Page 309



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

• Continue to roll out trauma informed practice training for staff
• Ensure there are appropriate services available for clients with complex needs

Support: 
• Work with partners to increase their service offering to this client group
• Encourage the development of peer support to help rough sleepers move away from the 

streets
• Encourage local volunteer and faith groups to co-ordinate their efforts to achieve maximum 

impact
• Promote positive messages to the public about the best way to help a rough sleeper. This will 

also address concerns about street begging

Outreach
• Commission a positive assertive outreach service and case management approach to help 

each individual rough sleeper
• Support rough sleepers to reconnect with family and other positive influences
• Support rough sleepers to access temporary accommodation as a first step towards getting 

off the streets (consider whether Housing First is more appropriate – depending on the 
client’s needs and aspirations)

Emergency Accommodation:
• Consider establishing emergency housing arrangements for rough sleepers, negating the 

requirement for them to sleep on the streets
• Establish improved move on options from such accommodation, to free up bed spaces
• Review our severe weather plan annually to ensure it remains effective, offering adequate 

protection and support for rough sleepers

Housing First
• Establish Merthyr Tydfil’s Housing First model – to accommodate acute rough sleepers
• Once established, keep under close review and explore options to broaden its implementation

Objective	5:		 Maintain	and	develop	partnership	working	and	strategic	direction

The successful delivery of this strategy is dependent on co-operation and joint working with internal 
departments, statutory bodies, voluntary sector agencies, faith and community groups. There are 
a number of forums within Merthyr Tydfil that facilitate this but with rising public concern about 
homelessness and rough sleeping we need to better co-ordinate our efforts.

In order to meet this objective the local authority will:
• Continue to provide strategic leadership via the Strategic Housing Partnership
• Establish a Homelessness Sub Group – specifically tasked with implementing the actions 

within this strategy. This sub-group will include volunteers and faith based groups and will 
report to the Strategic Housing Partnership

26
Page 310



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

• Ensure that relevant accommodation pathways exist for certain client groups, and will raise 
concerns with appropriate agencies where such pathways are not used

• Form stronger and closer links with our registered social landlords (RSL) partners to improve 
early notification, intervention and support for tenants struggling to manage their tenancy. 
We must also establish formal systems to better monitor and understand failed tenancies 
and abandonments

• Ensure information sharing agreements and consent forms are General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) compliant

• Work collaboratively to ensure housing advice and assistance provided to clients is consistent 
and accessible; along with access to suitable support

• Work collaboratively with local volunteers and faith based groups to better integrate the 
services offered to homeless people from statutory and voluntary agencies

• Work closely with partners in the criminal justice sector through Multiagency Risk Assessment 
Conference (MARAC) and Multi-agency Public Protection Arrangement (MAPPA) procedures 
to provide appropriate support, including housing. 

14. Making Sure We Deliver
 
The Strategic Housing Partnership will be ultimately responsible for reviewing progress against the 
actions outlined in this strategy and in ensuring it remains relevant and responsive to emerging 
needs.

The implementation of the strategy and all associated actions and activity will be overseen by the 
Homelessness Sub Group.

The local authority will publish an annual report on the local authority’s website each year.
 

 

27
Page 311



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

15.		 References

1) Beatty, C & Fothergill, S. (2016).  The uneven impact of welfare reform, the financial losses 
 to places and people [online].  Accessed at:
 https://Shura.Shu.ac.ok/15883/1/welfare-reform-2016.pdf (21.08.18)

2) DCLG (2012) Making every contact count. A joint approach to preventing homelessness 
 [online]. Accessed at: 
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
 attachment_data/file/7597/2200459.pdf (21.08.18)

3) Fitzpatrick, Suzanne. Pawson, Hal. Bramley, Glen. Wilcox, Steve. Watts, Beth. Wood, Jenny. 
 (2017) The Homelessness Monitor Wales 2017 [online]. Accessed at 
 https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237787/the_homelessness_monitor_wales_2017.pdf 
 (21.08.18)

4) Office of National Statistics (2012) 2011 Census: Population and Household 
Estimates for Wales, March 2011 [online]. Accessed at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/
bulletins/2011censuspopulationandhouseholdestimatesforwales/2012-07-16 (21.08.18)

5) Stats Wales (2018) Population estimates by local authority and age [online]. Accessed at: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/
Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-age (21.08.18)

6) Welsh Government (2014) Impacts of  Welfare Reforms on the Social Rented Sector.  Report 
of a Welsh Government Task and Finish Group [online].  Accessed at :

 https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/140218-impacts-of-welfare-reforms-on-social-
rented-sector-en.pdf (21.08.18)

28
Page 312



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Appendix	1	–	Definition	of	Homelessness		 	 	

Homelessness is defined in the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 Part 2 s.55. A person is homeless if there 
is no accommodation for their occupation or anyone who may reasonably reside with them in the 
UK or elsewhere, which they are:

a) Entitled to occupy by virtue of an interest in in by virtue of an order of the court
b) Has an express or implied licence to occupy
c) Occupies as a residence by virtue of any enactment or result of law giving the person the 

right to remain in occupation or restricting the right of another person to recover possession
        
A person is also homeless if they have accommodation but
a) Cannot secure entry to it, or
b) It consists of a moveable structure, vehicle or vessel designed for human habitation and 

there is no place where the person is entitled or permitted both to place it and to reside in it.

A person is not to be treated as having accommodation unless it is accommodation which it would 
be reasonable for the person to occupy. A person is threatened with homelessness if it is likely that 
the person will become homeless within 56 days. 

For the purpose of this strategy the broader Welsh Government definitions of homeless and rough 
sleeping have been adopted. This is to ensure our strategic definition of homelessness is broad 
and encompasses all possible forms of homelessness within Merthyr Tydfil. This broader definition 
is:

“Where a person lacks accommodation 
or where their tenure is not secure”

 
This includes individuals and households that are:
• Sleeping rough
• Living in insecure/temporary housing (excluding assured/assured shorthold tenants)
• Living in short term hostels, night shelters, direct access hostels
• Living in bed and breakfasts
• Moving frequently between relatives/friends 
• Squatting
• Unable to remain in, or return to, housing due to poor conditions, overcrowding, affordability 

problems, domestic abuse, harassment, mental, physical and/or sexual abuse
• Living in accommodation that does not meet the needs of people with :Physical or learning 

disabilities, sensory impairments or mental health conditions

29
Page 313



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

• Threatened with losing their home and without suitable alternative accommodation for any 
reason, e.g. domestic abuse

• Leaving hospitals, police custody, prisons, the armed forces and other institutions or 
supported housing without a home to go to

• Required to leave by family or friends or due to relationship breakdown; 
• Within 56 days of the end of tenancy, facing possession proceedings or threat of eviction.

30
Page 314



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Appendix	2	-	Definition	of	rough	sleeping	

We have decided to use the Welsh Government’s recommended definition of rough sleeping:

“People who are sleeping, or bedded down, 
in the open air; people in buildings or other places 

not designed for habitation”. 

This definition will include:
• People sleeping on the streets, in doorways, in parks, in bus shelters,
• People sleeping in buildings not designed for habitation, such as barns, sheds, car parks, cars, 

derelict boats, stations, squats, tents, or makeshift shelters.

31
Page 315



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Appendix	3	–	Housing	(Wales)	Act	2014

This is Wales’ first piece of housing legislation and contains the following key elements to improve 
the quality, supply and standards of housing in Wales:

• Introduction of a compulsory registration and licensing scheme for private rented sector 
landlords and letting and management agents, which will be delivered by Rent Smart Wales 

• Reform of homelessness law, including placing a stronger duty on local authorities to prevent 
homelessness and allowing them to use suitable accommodation in the private sector.

• The reform of the homelessness law also placed a responsibility on all Local Authorities to 
produce a homelessness strategy in 2018 to provide a four year plan on how they will address 
homelessness in their area

• Placed a duty on local authorities to provide sites for Gypsies and Travellers where a need 
has been identified

• Introduction of standards for local authorities on rents, service charges and quality of 
accommodation

• Reform of the Housing Revenue Account Subsidy system
• Giving local authorities the power to charge more than the standard rate of council tax on 

long-term empty properties and certain types of second homes
• Assisting the provision of housing by Co-operative Housing Associations,
• Amendment of the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993.

32
Page 316



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Appendix	4	–	How	Services	are	currently	delivered	

a) Housing Solutions Team

In 2014 the local authority made the decision to reconfigure its housing services, moving from 
a few specialist (and small) teams, towards having multi-skilled Housing Solutions Officers which 
deal with the following:

• Housing advice and assistance (available to all)
• Homelessness
• Access to temporary accommodation for eligible households
• Managing the Common Housing Register 
• Ensuring all four registered social landlords apply the terms of the common allocations 

policy, consistently
• Provide information and assistance in relation to the Council’s new website: www.

livingmerthyrtydfil.org.uk, through which the public must register, if they want to apply for 
social housing 

• Information relating to accessing specially adapted properties

During the course of an officer’s interaction with a client, referrals to other departments or agencies 
are often made, with client consent, to request support or financial assistance for example. The 
Housing Solutions Team provide services to clients in prison who are due for release and clients in 
hospital who are ready for discharge. 

The local authority encourages anyone with a housing related problem to contact the Housing 
Solutions Team in the first instance for help and advice. If they cannot provide direct support, they 
can and will refer the client to another agency that can.

b) Youth Homelessness

There are several organisations in Merthyr Tydfil who will work in partnership with the local 
authority to prevent or relieve a young person’s homelessness. These are:

• Children’s (Social) Services: These work with Housing Services to implement our duties for 
16/17 year olds who present as homeless. A joint assessment of the young person’s housing, 
care and support needs is undertaken. Emergency accommodation will be provided until 
more suitable accommodation can be provided for the young person. Children’s Services 
also involve the Housing Solutions Team in some of the pathway planning for children who 
are looked after, so that timely advice about the young person’s housing options can be 
provided to the client and other professionals supporting them.

33
Page 317



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

• Llamau: provides a mediation service for 16-24 year olds who present as homeless or at 
risk of homelessness. The aim of this service is to enable the young person to safely return 
home. The mediation worker also works in schools on occasions providing 15/16 year olds 
with information relating to the local housing market and the costs associated with running 
a home. 

• Llamau also operate two supported housing schemes for 16-24 year olds. One is a six bed 
scheme with 24/7 support, whilst the other is a scheme containing four self-contained flats 
and low level support. Not everyone who accesses the schemes comes from a background 
of homelessness some will be care leavers who need a period in supporting housing.  These 
projects provide support and education to the residents to enable them to have the skills to 
live independently with or without ongoing future support.  Llamau also provide

• Barnardos : tenancy support for care leavers. Provide the leaving care service for the Local 
authority

• Adref: This organisation operates two 10 bed hostels within the Borough. One of which caters 
for single people aged 16-34. The other hostel caters for anyone over 18 years old. To access 
either provision a client must be homeless, in need of support (not just accommodation) and 
must present to the Housing Solutions Team for assessment.

c) Tenancy Support

This is provided to households in order to assist them in maintaining their tenancy. Tenancy support 
is allocated following a referral to the Supporting People Team who will then match a household to 
the most appropriate tenancy support scheme according to their lead need. Our current schemes 
provide specific support for: Mental health; general support needs; young people; and domestic 
abuse. The tenancy support workers will also refer to other specialist agencies for other support 
that cannot be classed as housing related support such as support for substance misuse.

Supporting people allocate tenancy support for individuals in social housing and private rented 
accommodation. Housing associations may also have in house tenancy support services for their 
tenants and will not access support from a supporting people funded service. The core aim of 
tenancy support, funded by supporting people, is to provide housing related support to prevent 
homelessness and to help clients manage the running of their home. In 2017 the Supporting People 
Team was co-located with the Housing Solutions Team, to allow for more effective partnership 
working in delivering and commissioning housing related support services.

In 2018 the Supporting People Team funds (via Welsh Government grant) fixed site supported 
accommodation (e.g. hostels) and floating support provision, to the total sum of circa £600,000 
per annum.

34
Page 318



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

d) Temporary Accommodation

Temporary supported accommodation currently funded by the local authority Supporting People 
Team includes:
• Garth Villas Hostel
• Chaplins Hostel
• Flooks (4 individual ‘training’ flats)
• Garth Newydd Court (6 bed scheme with 24/7 support for young people)
• The support provided to temporary accommodation units (currently 11 self-contained flats 
provided by local RSL)).

In addition to the accommodation above, the local authority has also contracted with Calon 
Residential Leasing to operate a private sector leasing scheme. Under this scheme Calon manage 
a portfolio of properties (currently eleven (2018), on behalf of a private landlords. Calon offer 
these properties to the local authority exclusively for occupation by homeless households.

The local authority is reliant on bed and breakfast accommodation for emergency and some short 
term placements. The demand and hence cost for this type of provision is increasing, suggesting 
that alternative emergency accommodation options need to be explored.

e) Rough Sleeping

Currently there is no Local authority run or funded outreach service for rough sleepers in Merthyr 
Tydfil. Outreach is solely provided by different volunteer groups who often provide hot meals, 
clothing and items needed to sleep rough safely. These services tend to run on evenings and 
weekends. During the winter there is a volunteer run winter night shelter in a vacant property 
provided by the Local authority. Referrals are made via the Housing Solutions team. This provision 
is also used to satisfy our cold weather plan when the forecast temperature is below zero for 
three or more nights. There is not sufficient provision for accommodating high risk rough sleepers 
during extreme weather events due to the risk they may pose to other residents and the volunteers 
providing the accommodation.

f) Domestic Abuse

The Housing Solutions Team provides advice and assistance to households where domestic 
abuse is present. In such circumstances, where a woman is fleeing domestic abuse, temporary 
accommodation is provided in the form of a women’s refuge, operated by Llamau and funded by 
Supporting People Team. The refuge is available for single females with or without children. There 
is no local provision for men fleeing domestic abuse. Depending on the circumstances of the case 
and the availability of bed space at the refuge, it is not uncommon for survivors of domestic abuse 
to be placed out of county in another women’s refuge.

35
Page 319



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Other provisions include:
• Target hardening – the provision of home security measures to allow those at risk of domestic 

abuse to remain safely in their own home.
• Representation at the monthly Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) to 

ensure the best solution for a household experiencing domestic abuse, can be found
• A regional five year Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 

to improve the prevention, protection and support for people affected by violence and abuse

g) Accommodation Pathway

The term accommodation pathway or gateway, essentially refers to a co-ordination of effort, 
so that clients, support agencies, external partners and internal departments and officers are 
clear how processes work, how services are accessed and the relevant eligibility criteria for each 
‘project’/service available.

The implementation of the pathway is underway – Phase 1 – removal of direct access hotels 
occurred in January 2018, since which time all homeless clients must first present to the Housing 
Solutions Team for a statutory assessment. Phase 2 – refining referrals in and out of the hostels 
and monitoring the support provided more closely, is also complete. Phase 3 –involves aligning the 
final couple of projects or services, formally into the pathway process. 

Once this is achieved there will be a single point of access for anyone wishing to access any of 
the different forms of temporary accommodation or supported accommodation, provided for 
homeless clients. The benefits of one ‘complete’ pathway are numerous including – sharing of 
data, capturing demand, unmet need, identifying service gaps, identifying poor support, value for 
money, better outcomes for clients etc….

To assist with operational elements of this new way of working, a Temporary Accommodation 
Officer was appointed in November 2017. A challenge moving forward is to increase the move on 
options for clients who come through the appropriate pathway.

h) Funding

At a time of increasing pressures upon homelessness services and upon other public services and 
other sectors, resources continue to decrease. 

Welsh Government have provided transitional grant funding to local authorities since the advent 
of the new Act in 2015, in recognition of the increased resources needed in order to carry out  their 

36
Page 320



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

new and broader statutory duties. This funding has been critical to the local authority in recent 
years. To date these monies have been spent on:

• A prevention fund to provide rent in advance and to cover rent arrears to secure a tenancy
• Two additional Housing Solutions Officers (to replace 2 which retired) - new care funded
• The development of a new computer system to accurately case manage record and analyse 

housing need and homelessness in Merthyr Tydfil
• Provision of an emergency winter night shelter
• Research into the feasibility of a Housing First Scheme
• The appointment of a Prevention and Early Intervention Officer (September 2018)
• Provision of a target hardening service for domestic abuse survivors

In 2018-19 the transitional grant funding was included in the local authority’s annual settlement 
from Welsh Government. Additionally in 2018-19 a Homelessness Prevention Grant was included 
as one of the ten grant streams combined into the Welsh Government’s Funding Flexibilities 
programme. The purpose of which is to allow local authorities greater flexibility to allocate funds 
to is priorities.

In October 2018, Welsh Government announced that from April 2019, the Homelessness Prevention 
Grant will be fenced along with Supporting People Grant and Rent Support Wales Implementation  
Grant.  This move recognises the important role of these three funding sources in combating 
homelessness and poor accommodation standards and management.

37
Page 321



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Appendix	5	-	Well-Being	of	Future	Generations	(Wales)	Act	2015

The Act aims to improve the economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. 
Homelessness will have a negative impact on future generations. Homelessness prevention is 
therefore a national indicator for how a local authority is meeting the national well-being goals 
which are:

The Act also sets out five ways of working:
• Looking at long-term challenges: This strategy looks at how we will assist households in 

securing long- term sustainable accommodation suitable for their needs and how support 
will be provided to maintain these tenancies when it is needed. This strategy also looks at 
ways we can tackle rough sleeping, the most visible and extreme form of homelessness

• Integration: Any changes to the homelessness services currently provided may impact other 
public bodies and partner organisations. This was addressed during the consultation process 
where opportunities were provided to advise the housing department on any possible 
positive or negative impacts the strategy would have on their current service delivery. 

• Involvement: The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 puts an emphasis on a person centred approach 
to its implementation. This strategy recognises the importance of this approach and looks 
to establish service users at the heart of our service delivery. The strategy also looks at ways 
we can incorporate the principles of co-production into the design, delivery and ongoing 
evaluation of services

• Collaboration: Many homeless households have multiple needs that cannot be solely met by 
the provision of a home. In order to meet all the needs of a household we need to work in 
partnership to prevent homelessness and provide sustainable housing solutions through the 
provision of appropriate additional support. 

• Prevention: The enactment of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 placed an emphasis on the 
prevention of homelessness. The strategy looks to reinforce the good work currently undertaken 
with an objective to prioritise the early intervention and prevention of homelessness.

38
Page 322



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Appendix	6	–	Other	Plans	

The following plans, reports and legislation have been considered in the drafting of this strategy
• The Ten Year Homelessness Plan for Wales 2009-2019
• Welsh Governments Rough Sleeping Action Plan 2018-20
• Welfare Reform Act 2012
• Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014
• Evaluation of homelessness services to adults in the secure estate 2018
• Wales Audit Office Report “How Local Government manages demand – Homelessness” – 

2018
• Post- Implementation evaluation of Part 2 of the Housing Act (Wales) 2014: Final  

Report – 2018
• Shelter Cymru’s report: “From Intention to Action: Strategies for Avoiding Intentional 

Decisions” – 2018

a) Cwm Taf Public Service Board and Local Well-Being Plan
The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 made it a duty for every local authority in 
Wales to have a Public Services Board. Locally our Public Services have agreed to come together 
across Cwm Taf. The Cwm Taf Public Services Board has agreed to develop collaborative public 
services that puts the people of our communities at its centre. Following the assessment of Well-
Being in the Cwm Taf area a Local Well-Being Plan has been produced which has identified the 
high level priorities to improve Well-Being in the area. These are:

• To promote safe, confident, strong and thriving communities improving the well-being of 
residents and visitors and building on our community assets.

• To help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any challenges.
• To grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that attracts people to live, work 

and play in Cwm Taf.

Housing is a key theme in the Well-Being plan. Housing can support the delivery of some of the 
drivers identified to meet the Well-Being objectives:
• Target our support in the areas with the biggest challenges, working with our communities 

to make sure everyone has the best chance to live long and happy lives
• Make the most of the investment and return opportunities of the £1.229 billion Cardiff 

Capital Region City Deal and Metro locally within Cwm Taf.

39
Page 323



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

b) Corporate Vision and Priorities
The prevention of homelessness is a statutory function of the Local authority. It is also an essential 
element of achieving Merthyr Tydfil’s vision:

“To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre 
for the Heads of the Valleys and to be a place to be proud of.”

This strategy will also reflect the corporate priorities:
i. People in Merthyr Tydfil have the opportunity to learn and develop their skills to maximise 

their potential
ii. People in Merthyr Tydfil benefit from a strong, sustainable and diverse economy
iii. People who live and work in Merthyr Tydfil are supported to enjoy a heathier and better 

quality of life
iv. People enjoy a vibrant, attractive, safe and sustainable environment in which to live, work 

and play

The measures outlined in this strategy shall make a direct contribution to iii) and iv)  
above, and indirect but valuable contributions to priorities i) and ii).

c) Links to Local Strategies
In order for the homelessness strategy to be fully effective it needs to link in with the following 
local strategies:

• Local Housing Market Assessment 2016-2021
• Living Merthyr Tydfil Common Allocations Policy
• ‘Southwark’ joint working protocol
• Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Strategy 2017-22
• Gypsy Traveller Accommodation Assessment 2018 update
• Supporting People – Local Commissioning Plan
• Children Looked After – Children’s Services Guidelines
• Permanence Guidelines (Children’s Services)
• Hidden Ambitions – the Local Authoritiy’s offer to Care Leavers

This strategy has been developed in partnership with the stakeholders responsible for these  
strategies.

40
Page 324



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023Page 325



Homelessness                                Strategy 2019-2023

Homelessness Strategy 2019-2023
Designed by 

Print and Graphic Design Department, 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council,

Unit 5,
Pentrebach,

Merthyr Tydfil

Page 326



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Scrutiny Report – Chairperson Comments

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report sets out comments and observations from each Scrutiny Committee 
Chair; reflecting on the past year in relation to their respective committee.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Each year the Council’s Scrutiny Committees produce an Annual Report.  This report 
includes a retrospective insight into the work undertaken by each of the Council’s 
Scrutiny Committees during the municipal year.  A key part of the report includes 
comments from Scrutiny Chairs.

2.2 The Annual Scrutiny Report 2017 / 2018, although comprehensive, did not reflect the 
views of Scrutiny Chairs.  It was therefore requested in ‘Full Council’ on 26th 
September 2018 that a report is produced reflecting the ‘voice of the Chairs’.  

 

Date Written 3rd December 2018
Report Author Anne Powell
Service Area Performance and Scrutiny
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 19th December 2018

Page 327

Agenda Item 13

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s41659/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


3.0 CHAIRPERSON COMMENTS

3.1 Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Committee

Main achievements this year 2017-2018

“As a new chair in the first year of the role, this year has been a 
steep learning curve, I have had to adapt and learn on the job. 
My main objectives this first year were to learn more about the 
formal processes involved in Chairing but also about building a 
strong professional relationship with the committee. 

It was important that I learnt how the governance committee fitted 
into the scrutiny function and how much of an overview role it 

played. In setting the work plan for the year ahead I was able to draw on previous 
experiences of chairs before me and ensure that the work plan fitted in and 
complimented the overall corporate plan whilst providing sufficient opportunity for 
scrutiny and challenge. This first year has been about building relationships, 
observing, learning and shaping the agenda and work plan. 

The introduction of the ‘Well-being of Future Generations Act’ dominated the 
landscape for much of this year, providing one of our first opportunities for 
scrutiny. Questions such as; did each piece of new work adopt the approach, how 
would the new approach fit in with existing longer term plans, what would real 
change look like and how would we measure and deliver this new approach. 
Perhaps more importantly the new Act allowed us an opportunity to look at how we 
could do things differently. With this in mind, towards the end of the first year I took 
the opportunity to review the WAO recommendations we had received; specifically 
around our existing scrutiny function and our support to Third Sector services. I was 
able to identify certain areas of best practice within other local authorities and 
determined the need for us to adopt a pre-scrutiny model utilising a cabinet forward 
work programme, thus enabling us to be more proactive and efficient.

In looking at areas of best practice it also highlighted other areas for improvement 
such as, the need to establish a clearer understanding of the overview function of 
this committee, the lack of public engagement and towards the end of the year we 
were able to identify duplication when trying to evidence work relating to the 
wellbeing of future generations act. Current meetings also tend to be led from 
officers rather than directly from Cabinet, reports can sometimes feel like information 
only rather than being part of a process that shapes policy, identifies potential pitfalls 
and makes recommendations as effective scrutiny should.

Initial work has begun in this area in the form of meetings with the current 
administration to start forming the forward work plan and I was able to set up a Task 
and Finish group has to start reviewing the support currently on offer to Third sector 
Organisations. So far, we have been able to explore current practices and consider 
what can be done this work is ongoing with the hope of making more significant 
progress in the year ahead.

Chair:  
Cllr. Tanya Skinner

Page 328



Looking ahead 2018-2019

My 3 main objectives for the year ahead are:

1. Improve the value and reputation of scrutiny as part of the comprehensive review, 
focusing on the introduction of a cabinet forward work programme, pre-scrutiny 
model, effective overview function that accurately achieves a golden thread 
throughout all committees and measuring impact for the future.  We also need to 
ensure that cabinet members are leading and not officers and that 
communication is very clear around what it is the committee are scrutinising. To 
do this we must continue to learn from best practice models in other LA’s and 
encourage more open and clear lines of communication between officers, chairs 
and cabinet members. 

2. Continue to address the WAO recommendations by continuing the work that has 
begun with the Third Sector Task and Finish Group.

3. Increase engagement with public including our co-opted members, explore 
different methods of gaining their views and concerns not just around items on 
the agenda but also how we currently deliver scrutiny e.g. are the reports difficult 
to understand, is too much jargon used, do they feel too nervous to ask questions 
etc and look at how we can encourage both our youth representatives and co-
opted members to be more active and involved. When cabinet are conducting 
consultations or roadshows, I feel there may be an opportunity for a scrutiny table 
to be included so members of the public can learn more about what we do and 
put suggestions forward. 

On a more general level it is also important that we remain focused on the ‘Well-
being of Future Generations Act’ and the changes that it will mean for the Third 
Sector and Public sector. The Cwm Taf partnership offers many opportunities to not 
only work collaboratively but also more efficiently. There are many opportunities for 
scrutiny to start working more as a safety net and a critical friend over the coming 
years and in times of potentially huge changes it is imperative that we have a 
scrutiny function that is fit for the future”. 

3.2 Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee

“The Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee continues to 
give high priority to Education. Members have worked effectively 
to ensure a strong focus on improving education outcomes for all 
our learners. Through reports to the Scrutiny Committee, 
members continue to have a good overview of the Education 
Services, in order to challenge these services effectively and 
make well informed decisions. Scrutiny members have also held 
managers to account for the services and outcomes that they are 
responsible for.

Chair:  
Cllr. Harvey Jones

Page 329



The Scrutiny Committee agreed an appropriate and well-planned programme of work 
that included a robust monitoring of action plans arising from the Education Service's 
self-evaluation arrangements. The Committee has established an appropriate annual 
programme of reporting which includes end of key stage performance, NEET figures, 
inspection outcomes and categorisation of schools.

The Scrutiny Committee has been effective in holding the Learning Department to 
account and has challenged the nature of some support services where there were 
concerns. For example, a Task and Finish group was set up to undertake detailed 
analysis of pupil attendance and attainment within all primary and secondary schools 
across the County Borough. Since then, action plans have been produced as part of 
the improvement process.

The Annual Performance Report, Self-Evaluation Reports, School and Pupil 
Performance Reports and a range of other Performance Reports were presented to 
the Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee throughout the year for scrutiny and 
challenge, as part of the Scrutiny Work Programme. The Committee ensures a 
comprehensive evaluation and monitoring of data relevant to standards and the 
quality of education; including consideration of trends and progress over time.

It has indeed been a privilege to chair the Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny 
Committee. I would like to thank all members of the committee, the Cabinet member 
for Learning and Officers, who have contributed to the work of the Committee over 
the past twelve months”.
 

3.3 Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee

“The Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside 
Scrutiny Committee drafted its first work program last year with 
the intention of gauging the effects of cuts on residents, due to 
the austerity measures we have had to endure, by calling in 
various Departments to give detailed presentations and answer 
questions.   

Some of the topics looked at by this Committee have included 
Pitch Fees payable by sports teams, Fly Tipping & Street 
Cleansing, participation in the food waste recycling scheme, 

Parks & Grounds maintenance and working with Community Groups.

Now that the Committee have a good understanding of what the Authority has had to 
endure, we are starting to take the next step which will be to create Task and Finish 
Groups in an effort to hopefully come up with solutions or alternatives to previous 
cuts or possible future cuts which can in turn be passed onto the Cabinet.

The role of this Scrutiny Committee is not only to challenge the Cabinet, Officers, 
previous decisions or future decisions but also to work with the Cabinet and Officers 

Chair:  
Cllr. Declan Sammon

Page 330



for the Wellbeing of every resident in Merthyr Tydfil.  As a member of this Scrutiny 
Committee means that members have a lot of responsibility, not just to ask the 
difficult questions but also to offer possible solutions.

I am hopeful that going forward, this Committee, while working together with the 
Cabinet and Officers, will help to positively shape the future of Merthyr Tydfil for 
future generations.

I’d like to take this opportunity to thank the members of the Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning and Countryside Committee, the Officers and the Cabinet for their 
contributions throughout the last year.   I would also like to thank all members of the 
Performance & Scrutiny Team and the Democratic Services Team for their 
invaluable support and guidance in ensuring that this Committee ran smoothly and 
members had all the information they needed to perform their Scrutiny role”.

3.4 Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

“The committee has built on and developed its Work Programme 
from last year.  This has included such areas as: the Cyfarthfa 
Heritage Area; the Homelessness and Homelessness Prevention 
Strategy; the Economic Growth Strategy and Partnership; the Air 
Quality Management Action Plan; the continuing development of 
the town centre and night time economy strategy. 

Sitting as the Crime and Disorder Committee, it has considered 
Violent Crime, in particular violence against women and girls. 
The Committee has looked at departmental work processes and 

their effectiveness as measured by external audits and self-evaluation programmes.

In addition to departmental officers the contribution of the Scrutiny Support Officer to 
the work of the Committee has been invaluable. On behalf of the committee I would 
like to extend my gratitude to her”.

3.5 Social Services Scrutiny Committee

“The Social Services Scrutiny Committee drafted their ‘Work 
Programme’ early last year; knowing that with reducing budgets, 
and an increase in pressure on the department; the need for a 
more robust scrutiny was required.

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act came into force 
in April 2016 with the result that it has changed the way people’s 
needs are assessed and the way services are delivered.  Since 
its’ implementation, we have continued to receive regular 
updates on progress in ensuring the Council is meeting the 
statutory requirements of the Act.

Some of the topics that have been scrutinised and challenged as part of the 
Committee Forward Work Programme included:

Chair:  
Cllr. Julian Amos

Chair:  
Cllr. Bill Smith

Page 331



 Progress and performance updates in relation to the Council’s Living Well 
Objective

 Children’s Services Strategy for implementing well-being
 Adult Social Care Strategies
 Annual Report on Social Services (ACRF) 2017 / 2018
 Budget updates
 Cwm Taf Integrated Family Support Team Annual Report 2016 / 2017
 Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Action Plan 2018 / 2019
 Wales Community Care Information System (WCCIS)

In addition to the above, the Committee also received an in-depth presentation from 
Barod (formally known as Drug Aid).  Barod provides information and support to 
individuals affected by alcohol and drugs, their family and friends.

The presentation included an overview of current issues and trends; campaigns; 
interventions and services across Cwm Taf. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my scrutiny colleagues and Cabinet 
Members, Officers of the Local Authority and partners for their support”.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report.

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity
0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Page 332



Summary:

The Report (Annual Scrutiny Report – Chairpersons Comments) is for information only and 
does not contain any proposals for approval by Council.

Any developments or proposals made reference to in the Chairpersons comments would 
have already been subject to an EQIA or IIA on an individual basis as appropriate.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Council Report :  Annual 
Scrutiny Report – 2017 / 
2018

Full Council Minutes 
(Item No. 355)

Committee Date:  
26th September 2018

Committee Date:  
26th September 2018

Full Council - Link to Report 

Full Council – Link to Minutes

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 333

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s41659/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=2920&Ver=4&LLL=0


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 335

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 339

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 343

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Full Council: 7/11/2018
	3b Full Council: 21/11/2018
	3c Cabinet: 21/11/2018
	3d Planning, Regulatory and Licensing: 28/11/2018
	3e SACRE: 23/10/2018
	3f Scrutiny : Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services: 20/11/2018
	3g Scrutiny : Regeneration and Public Protection: 27/11/2018
	3h Scrutiny : Social Services: 23/10/2018
	4 Council Tax Base for 2019/20
	5 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2017/18
	6 Treasury Management Half Year Review Report 2018-19
	7 Review of Statement Of Licensing Policy Under the Gambling Act 2005
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Five Year Revision Of Statement of Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 2003
	Appendix 1

	9 Representatives to Other Bodies 2018-2019 (Updated)
	10 Draft Local Toilet Strategy
	Appendix 1

	11 Housing Renewal Policy
	Appendix 1

	12 Homelessness Strategy for 2019-2024
	Appendix 1

	13 Annual Scrutiny Report – Chairperson Comments
	15 Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station - Local Transport Fund 2018 - 2021
	16 Social Care Future Provision Planning
	17 Domiciliary Care Pressure Costs

